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About Akfen Holding

Since the first company was founded in1976, Akfen Group
has accomplished many important projects in Turkey

in the fields of infrastructure, construction, real estate
and so on. The Group has adopted a “continuous growth
strategy” since its establishment. As arequirement of this
strategy, all the values created were used for the need

for equity in the creation of new assets. 1997 was also an
important turning point for Akfen Holding. In this year, the
Istanbul Atatiirk Airport International Terminal Tender,
which would be built with the Build-Operate-Transfer
(BOT) method, was won and this increased Akfen's
orientation towards long-term infrastructure works.

The accumulation of knowledge and experience that
started at that time has made Akfen Group a sought-after
company in the construction of national infrastructures
such as airport management, port management, energy,
maritime transport, water and wastewater management,
not only in Turkey but also in various countries around the
world.

Our strategy is to work with partners and
financial institutions experienced in their sectors

Akfen Group's fields of activity include construction,
energy, sea port management, maritime transportation,
real estate, mining, and water, wastewater and solid
waste management services. As required by its strategy,
the Group works with partners and financial institutions
which are experienced and strong in their sectors. Among
the partnerships of Akfen group companies are nationally
and internationally renowned entrepreneurial partners
and financial institutions such as Tepe Construction

Inc., PSA International, IFM Investors, EBRD, IFC, Accor,
Souter Investments, LLP. Kardan N.V.

At the end of 2021, with the simplification of the Group
structure, Akfen Holding merged with its main partner
Akfen Infrastructure Holding. As aresult of the merger,
Group companies now include Akfen Renewable Energy,
MIP, Acacia Mining, Akfen Environment and Water, IDO,
Akfen Construction, and also Akinist Machinery (the

first company founded by the Akfen Group founder
Hamdi Akin), Akfen Merter, Akfen Consulting and Project
Development, Travelex, Akfen Real Estate Portfolio
Management and Tepe Akfen Reformer.

The environment of uncertainty created by the epidemic
in 2020 adversely affected global growth. The Covid-19

Akfen Group, as
always, aims to
continue making

new investments
by developing new
businesses

epidemic has greatly affected every field from economy
to social life, from production to consumption and has
led to significant changes. Due to Covid-19, the biggest
epidemic of the last century, on a global scale, the most
severe recession of recent years was experienced in
2020. In 2021, the fight against the pandemic continued.
However, with the widespread use of vaccines, 2021

has been a year in which the negative effects have
decreased in comparison to the previous year.

Tourism, restaurant services and maritime
transportation showed significant improvement
in 2021 compared to the previous year

Our companies, especially the ones operating in the
fields of tourism, restaurant services and maritime
transport, were adversely affected in 2020, but with a
series of measures taken in 2021, showed significant
improvement in their performance. On the other hand,
there was no significant negative impact due to the
pandemic in the fields of energy, port management and
health.

Akfen Group completed its ongoing investments mainly
inrenewable energy, hospital PPP, mining and real
estate/hotel sectors in 2020. In 2021, when the pandemic
and the uncertainties it created continued, no significant
investment program was started, and only the ongoing
investments continued. In this context, activities in the
port, mining and energy sectors can be counted among
the ongoing investments.

We care about creating new business areas

The Group attaches great importance to creating

new business areas in line with its growth plans. For

the company, which has a deep experience in asset
trading, the value created through sales is critical for
starting new businesses and raising funds for ongoing
investments. Group companies continue to ensure their
organic and inorganic growth and support investments
by using advanced financial instruments effectively.

This is one of the most important reasons for high
profitability. With this vision, as in the past, Akfen Group
aims to continue to make new investments by developing
new businesses, in order to increase employment,
contribute to the development of the country's economy,
and create value for its shareholders.
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B Selim Akin 47.10%

Sha reholding m Hamdi Akim 329%
S Akfen Holding 2.27% - g
trUCtu re Akinist Makine 0.24% 47.10% | &

Akfen Construction

Acacia Mining

Akfen Environment
&Water

Akfen REIT
DO

AkfenRen. Energy

Akfen Holding Subsidiaries

Isparta City Hospital
Eskisehir City Hospital
Tekirdag City Hospital

Akinist Machinery 100%

Akfen Tourism A

Akfen Merter 91.52%

Akfen Adv. & Project Dev. 100%

Akfen Real Estate Port. Man. 100%
Travelex . 10%

Other Subsidiaries and Affiliates* » [Jlll26%

* Other subsidiaries of Akfen Holding; Adana Ipekyolu, BiZ Mining, Akfen Energy Gas,
Akfen Wind Energy and Akfen Solar Energy.
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Milestones

1976 1977 1980 1986
® ® ® ®
* The foundations of * The first company  Akfen won the first o Akfen Construction
Akfen were laid by the of Hamdi Akin, Akfen state tender with Bank was founded.
establishment of Akinist Engineering Consultancy of Provinces'“Forged
Makina by Hamdi Akin. Contracting and Parts and Molds

Distributorship, was
founded.

1990
O,

1992

Manufacturing Project”.

1993 1997

®
= )
« DHMI Isparta Airport

apron and runway
construction started.

* As the first project
with DHMI, the Antalya
Airport Terminal
Building renovation
agreement was signed.

O
=
« Akfen Construction

entered the housing
sector with the
construction of
Ankara Oran Carst
dwelling project.

@
@)

« TAV Istanbul was
established and the
foundations of TAV
Airports were laid when
the Istanbul Airport
International Terminal

BOT tender was won.
1999 2000 2003 2004
O, O, O, O,

« With the stablishment * TAV Airports * TAV Construction e Akfen Holding's share
of Akfen Holding, all began operating was founded. inKusadasi cruise
companies affiliated the Istanbul » Together with port was sold to other
with Akfen were Atatiirk Airport Royal Caribbean partners.

International
Terminal.

restructured under the
holding company.

Kusadasi cruise
port privatization

* TAV Construction
won the Cairo Airport

« TIKAV was founded. tender was won. project in Egypt.
2005
U
« The tender for the * PSA-Akfen Joint Venture  « TAV Airports won « The framework

privatization of vehicle
inspection stations was
won, and TUVTURK was
established in equal
partnership with Dogus

won the privatization

tender of Mersin Port.

» Construction and opera-
tionrights of lzmir Adnan
Menderes International

the Thilisi and Ba-
tumi International
airports tender in
Georgia.

agreement on cooper-
ation between Akfen
Holding and Accor was
signed.

Group and TOV SUD. Terminal was transferred
2006 to TAV Airports.
Op
« |zmir Adnan Menderes » Akfen Water won the * Aksel Tourism « TAVConstruction

Airport Int. Terminal tender for the Giilliik
and Esenboga

Airport Domestic and
International Terminals

started operation.

Project and the plant
became operational.

Municipality Water and
Wastewater Concession

Investments and
Management
became Akfen Real
Estate Investment
Partnership.

won the Doha Airport
project in Qatar.
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2007
O,

* Public offering of TAV
Airports was completed.

» Batumi International

« TAV Airports won the tender  » Akfen's 100% subsidiary

for the Monastir and Enfidha

airports in Tunisia.

Akfenhes Investments
and Energy Generation

* Mersin Port was
taken over from
TCDD.

Airport started « TAV Airports won the tender Inc. was founded. « Akfen REIT's 4
operation. for the operation of Antalya hotels started
Gazipasa Airport. operations.
2008
O,
* Dilovast Industrial Park * Inordertobuildanatural < TAV Airports took over « TAV Airports won the

Wastewater Treatment gasbased power plant the operation of Monastir ~ tender and signed the
BOT project tender was in Mersin province, an Airport in Tunisia. concession agreement
won. application was made for the operation of

« TUVTURK Istanbul Vehicle
Inspection Stations
Management Inc. started
operation.

2009

to EMRA for generation
license.

* Ahotel of Akfen REIT
started operation.

Skopje and Ohrid
airports in Macedonia
and the construction
of the Shtip Cargo
Airport, which it had
the options for.

O,

* Akfen Holding sold its * Akfen launched its first * TAV Gazipasa became * TAV Construction
shares in TUVTURK to renewable HEPP project. operational at Antalya won the Muscat
Bridgepoint Capital Ltd. Gazipasa Airport. Airport MC1 package

tender with a partner.
2010
O,

* 28.3% of Akfen Holding * Piringlik HEPP, which * HAVAS acquired 50% * Akfen Water started
shares were offered to belonged to Akfen's HEPP of North Hub Services, Dilovast Industrial
public. Group and has a capacity aground services Park wastewater

« Akfen Holding made its first ~ 0f 225MW, was sold. company operating in treatment operations.

bond issue in the amount of
TL 100 million and this was
the first and largest real
sector bond issue of Turkey.

201
O,

« TAV Airports took over the
operations of Skopje and
Ohrid airports.

LatviaRiga International
Airport.

« 5hotels of Akfen REIT
started operations.

» TAV Construction won
the tender for the
New Doha Airport.

* TAV Airports took over
the operation of Medina
Airport, inwhichit has
50% share.

* The joint venture, in which
TAV Construction takes
part, won the tender for
the Midfield terminal in
Abu Dhabi.

* 2HEPPs and two hotels
started operation.

« The sale of Akfen
Holding's 18% share in
TAV Airports, 20.325%
share in TAV Investments,
and Akfen Construction’s
%0.5 share in TAV
Investments to ADP
Group was completed.

« Akfen Holding
completed the sale
of 40% of the shares
in 5 power plants in
Karasular to Aquila.

« Akfen Holding made

a TL 200 million bond
public offering.
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2013
O,

* MIP issued USD 450 o Akfen Constructior] « Akfen Holding sold o Akfen Thermal
million Eurobond to started working on Incek 60% of its sharesin Energy bought
qualified investors Loft project. |deal Inc, which has 50% of Adana
abroad. « The license change for 5power plants in Ipekyolu.

« Akfen Construction won power plant capacity (1,150 Karasular, to Aquila.
the tender for Isparta MW) for Mersin CCGT was
City Hospital. approved.

« TAV Construction won * The contract for “Damac * The consortium, in which * Two HEPPs and

the tender for the Riyadh
Airport terminal.

2014

Towers by Paramount”
project in Dubaiwas
signed.

TAV Airports takes part,
took over the operation of
Zagreb Airport.

three hotels
started operation.

@
» Akfen Construction, made

* EnEngineering News

the best offer in the Eskisehir Records magazine chose

City Hospital tender and
acquired.

TAV Construction as the
“World's Largest Airport

« TAV Construction, New Doha  Construction Company”.

Int. Airport opened.

* TGS, 50% subsidiary of
HAVAS, won the ground
services tender for Turkish
Airline's 8 airports.

» AHEPP and a hotel
started operation.

* MIP started $170
million investment
in new berths and
deepening and
started expansion
project.

* TAV Airports took over
Milas-Bodrum Airport
Domestic Terminal.

« |zmir Adnan Menderes
Domestic Terminal

opened.
2015

« Akfen Holding made the
public offering of a total
of TL 400 million bonds
and completed its share
buyback program in April
2014.

* 45% share inthe
guesthouse project which
will serve in Hacettepe
University campus.

* Incek Loft press launch.

* 75% of Artt Foreign
Exchange sold to
Travelex.

« Contract signed for
Isparta City Hospital.

®
» When Hamdi Akin and the

partners acting together
became the controlling
shareholders, the process
of using the right of sale
of investors started in 23
December 2015-22 March

* TAV Airports,ina
consortium with ADP and
Metro Pacific Investments,
was prequalified for the
PPP tender for 5regional
airports in the Philippines.

« ATU won the right to
operate duty free shops
located in George Bush
Airport, Houston.

« AUSD 100 million
partnership
agreement was
signed with EBRD for
20% share of Akfen
Renewable Energy.

2016.

* ENR chose TAV * AHEPP and a hotel * Contract signed withBank < Akten Holding,
Construction as the started operation. of Provinces for Istanbul transferred
"World's Largest Airport « The best offer for Tekirdag ~ Atasehir Office. 08.85% of Akfen
Construction Company” City Hospital was from « Eskisehir City Hospital Construction to

for the second yearina
TOW.

Akfen.

groundbreaking ceremony.

Akfen Infrastructure.
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2016

®

* The principal of the TL140  « The division of Akfen * The principal of the * An agreement
millionbond issuedin2014 ~ Holding was completed. TL 200 million bonds was signed for the
was repaid. Thebondissue  With the division; issued in 2014 was transfer of 8.119%
with 9 January beginning subsidiaries other than repaid. Bond issue with stake at TAV Airports
date, 3 year maturity, a TAV Airports, Akfen a 23 March beginning to Tank OWA Alpha
nominal value of TL 300 Renewable Energy, date, 3 year maturity, GmbH for USD 160
million was realized. MIP and PSA Port were anominal value of million (June 9). The

transferred to Akfen TL150.360.000 was share transfer was
Engineering. realized. completedon July 7.

* As of June 9, Akfen * An agreement was * AHEPP withan « Akfen Construction’s
Renewable Energy's capital  signed for the sale of installed power of 8.8 Boulevard Loft Project
was increased fromTL705  40% of Akfen Holding's MW and 18 SPPs with in Ankara was added to
million to TL 793 million with  shares in MIP to Global total installed capacity AkfenREIT's portfolio
premium. In this context, InfraCo SPNEUM SLU of 15.94 MW went into in November.

EBRD and IFC transferred for USD 869 million. operation. « Akfen Water started

USD 55.5 million to the
company. After the transfer,
EBRD and IFC's shares
increased t019.99% and
Akfen Holding's share in the
company became 80.01%.

2017

®

(July 28). Share transfer
was made on October
27t

On June13, the
acquisition of three
WPP in Canakkale and
one in Denizli, with
242 MW license and
not in operation was
completed.

to provide waste
service to Yozgat
City Hospital, Mersin
Integrated Health
Campus and Isparta
City Hospital floor.

+ Akfen Holding Board of Di-
rectors decided to split the
company in June 2016. It was
decided that assets other
than MIP, TAV Airports and
Akfen Renewable Energy
would be transferred to
Akfen Engineering. The split
was completed in February

+ With the approval
of the CMB, Akfen
Holding share trading
was suspended on
29 April 2016 and as
of 12May 2016 the
company shares were
delisted from the Stock
Exchange.

TAV Airports subsidiary
BTA Inc won the tender

for the management

of food and beverage

areas in New Muscat
International Airport in
Oman.

Novotel Istanbul
Bosphorus started

TAV Construction and
its partner Arabtec, on
25 January 2016, won
the tender for the new
terminal building and
related projects of
Bahrain International
Airport amounting to
USD 1.1 billion (TAV
Construction share:

2017. operation.
40%)

* InJune 2016, EBRD and * In the second half of « Akfen Water started « Solentegre SPP with
IFC decided to acquire the year, IDO presented service in solid waste alicensed capacity
16.667% of Akfen novel services such as Management at Mersin of 8MW became
Renewable Energy by free open buffet and International Port, too. operational in
paying USD 100 million children’s play areas in « MIP completed the October.
each With the capital anallinclusive service first stage of the port « Tekirdag City
increase of 12 July, in the on Eskihisar - Topgular expansion project as of Hospital signing
first stage EBRD and IFC ferries. 8 August 2016. ceremony.

each transferred USs
44.4 million for 5% share.
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2018

O,
* The merger of Akfen
Holding and Akfen Engi-
neering was completed
in February 2018.

« In March 2018, Akfen
International was
established as a100%
subsidiary of Akfen
Holding in Amsterdam,
Netherlands.

* InMarch 2018, 37%
IBS Insurance shares
belonging to Akfen
Infrastructure Holding
was transferred to
Akfen Holding.

* InMay 2018100% of
Selim Akin's shares
in Masanda Tourism
were transferred to
Akfen Infrastructure
Holding.

* InMay 2018, the title
of Akfen Infrastructure
Consultancy was
changed to "Akfen
Infrastructure Holding"

2019

®

* After the share transfer
transactions made
within Akfen Holding
in August 2018, Akfen
Infrastructure Holding
owned 99.36% of
Akfen Holding capital.

* InNovember 2018,
Akfen Holding
completed the
merger by acquiring
Akfen Thermal
Energy and Akfen
Energy Distribution.

* All Akfen Holding shares
of Akfen International BV.
were sold to Hamdi Akin
on7 February 2019.

2020

» On 6 March 2019, Akfen
Holding repurchased
9.868% shares from
Akfen Infrastructure
Holding.

» On 29 May 2019, Akfen
Holding transferred its
21.68% share in TAV
Investment Holding
to Gazelle Yachting
Real Estate Tourism
Automotive Trade Inc.

« After the capital
increase made by
Akfen Renewable
Energyon9
December 2019, the
shares of EBRD and
IFCincreasedto
16.933% each, Akfen
Holding's share
became 66.134%.

U

O * Bodrum Loft holiday
village was opened on 1
July 2020.

* The opening ceremony
of Tekirdag City Hospital
was held on13 November
2020.

«In2020,15SPP with13
MW installed capacity
started operations and
2WPPs with 80 MW
installed capacity were
purchased and added to
Akfen Renewable Energy
portfolio.

* An agreement was
signed for the sale of
the remaining 20% of
the shares in IBS on 28
December 2020 (the sale
was completed on 28
January 2021).

* Within the scope of
the restructuring of
IDO's project finance,
after the share
transfers as of 14
October 2020, Akfen
Holding's share in
the company became
50%.
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Developments
A in2021

AKFEN HOLDING
(@ January

Akfen Holding completed the sale of the remaining
20% of its shares in IBS as of 28 January 2021.

(® March

The merger with Akfen Energy Generation, a100%
subsidiary of Akfen Holding, was completed on 5
March 2021.

(® August
Akfen Holding sold to Hamdi Akin 38,362,889 shares
out of the 65,838,800 shares, which corresponds to
9,868% of the company's total shares, taken over
from Akfen Infrastructure Holding on 24 August 2021.

(@ November
At the Extraordinary General Assembly meeting held
on 2 November 2021, the merger of Akfen Holding
with Akfen Infrastructure Holding, which owns the
g no C majority shares, was accepted. As of 10 November
| @ 2021, the merger of Akfen Holding and Akfen
i Infrastructure Holding was completed.

T | LG Ui Cirily — D0 ol el o S1ADM I This space.

gtehold (HOH) [ Qualitying widowier [SW)
W b, enter the child's name if the qualitying

= Your iWIul';Cl-lm'l"'l"

Spouse’s ser

On17November 2021, the maturity principal payment
of the 200mn TL bond issued in 2019 was made.

A On18 November 2021, approval was obtained from
s D the CMB for the issuance of debt instruments with a
v nominal value of up to1billion TL and a maturity of up
,1,- to 60 months, to qualified investors or by private sale

method, without public offering.

(® December
E On14 December 2021, Turkrating confirmed Akfen
i Holding's Long-Term National Credit Rating as TR
He AAA, Short-Term National Credit Rating as TR A1 with
o astable outlook.
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Developments in Subsidiaries (2021

Akfen Construction Akfen REIT

+ Akfen Construction transferred its shares in Isparta Dormitory and * As part of the conversion of Akfen
Masanda Tourism (“Bodrum Loft" project) to Akfen REIT in February 2021. REIT's convertible bonds into shares, the
process of increasing the issued capital
from 184 million TL to 243 million TL was
carried out on12 January 2021.

« As of 9 February 2021, Akfen REIT pur-
chased the shares of Masanda Tourism

+*As of 10 November 2021, the merger of Akfen Holding and Akfen Infra-
structure Holding was completed, and Akfen Holding's share in Akfen
Construction, in which it had previously held a 50% stake, became 100%.

MIP iDo (“Bodrum Loft") and Isparta Dormitory.
A . * Akfen REIT, which reached an agree-

» MIP won the "Port Operator of * Aspart of DO's loan restructuring | i December 2020 with the banks

the Year" award for the 11" time efforts, on 5 May 2021 Marmara torestructure its financial debt of EUR

inarow. The award ceremony for 5ea Buses Investment apd Manj 178 million with a maturity of 10 years,

the Atlas Logistics Awards, which agement Inc. was established with announced that the restructuring of

has beenheld for 12 years, took 350-50% partnership between Ak- | g2 a1 debts was completed on11 April

place on 11 November 2021, hosted f?” Holding and Tepe Construction. 5021,

by the International Logitrans +IDO's project finance loan -Akfen REIT carried out a series of capi-

Transport Logistics Fair. jﬁf;rz%c;g?]gt‘(]vszacr?qn;%g:?ggj talincrease transactions in 2021.

* MIP paid Akfen Holding a total » ' ° ) .

dividend of 152mn TL in 2021. MIP S[\:/fllares of ISDO évere tLan;,Erred tg rilgnhlfczti)sr:l?(raybigal ét:ﬁﬂgﬁ[ :0

also became the largest container armara oea buses Dy Akren an e )

portin Turkey in 2021, Tepe. 344.6 million TL was completed.

-In August 2021, the transactions
regarding the increase of Akfen
REIT's capital by 555 million TL to
900 million TL via a rights issue were

Akfen Renewable Energy

Akfen Renewable Energy achieved the top grade A1 with an overall score completed.

of 67 and was ranked 46" among 4,914 companies globally in the sus- -The process of increasing Akfen
tainability report prepared by Vigeo Eiris, which was established under REIT's paid capital to 1.3 billion TL by
the international rating agency Moody's to inform asset managers and increasing 400 million TL via a bonus
investors. It also ranked first among 54 companies in the international issue was completed in December
developing markets segment. 2021.

Acacia Mining Akfen Water

Over the 2.5 years since Acacia Mining started operating, its total The wastewater treatment and reuse plant
export has reached USD 350 million. Thus, the company has become project for Acacia Mining was completed in

the largest metallic mineral exporter in Turkey. 2021.
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Fields of Activity

PSA Akfen Liman isletmeciligi ve Yonetim Danismanligt A.S.

= Subsidiary Share | Adjusted Turnover Total Assets
o ' 3 city hospitals (Isparta,
o $'|73mn $'|,'|54mn Eskigehir and Teklr.dag)
g Akfen in Akfen Construction's
o Construction portfolio continued their
- ) activities in 2021.
9 AdustedEBITDA | Numberof Employees
S s115mn 70
o Akfen Renewable Energy,
Subsidiary Share | - Turnover Total Assets which has one of the largggsxc
renewable energy portfolios
G Akfen $146mn $1'093mn in Turkey, continued its
E Renewable activities in 2021 with a total
installed power capacity of
E Energy Partners EBITDA Number of Employees 706 MW IF; 13 hydrEeleczgr‘lc
EBRD, IFC s‘logmn 214 and 35 solar and 6 wind
power plants.
The Gokirmak Copper
Subsidiary Share |  Turnover Total Assets Mine project in the Hanénii
. ittt of Kestamont
O | Acacia $|92mn $370mn started production in March
= Mining 2019. In 2021, a total of
=2 1.9 million tons of ore was
S Partners EBITDA Number of Employees  processed and 105 thousand
ilbak, izbir tons of copper concentrate
$113mn 226 was produced.
Gokirmak Bakir Maden I¢ ve Dis Ticaret A.S.
- Subsidiary Share |  Turnover Total Assets The volume of containers
handled by MIP in 2021
4 . y
w | Mersin 0 $321mn $l,274mn reached 2.1 million TEU
E E International with anincrease of 4.4%
2 g Port Partners EBITDA Number of Employees compared to the previous
year. MIP became Turkey's
E Iﬁ%ﬁ;:ﬁn $230mn 2,028 largest container port in 2021.
B | - eeeeeseeee e eeeRR R sRR R e
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AkfenHolding
continues to create
added value in the

infrastructure sector
with its partners

and thousands of
employees

Subsidiary Share | T Total Asset:
- | bul S HImOYEL OENER With the decrease of the
w o stanbul Sea effects of the pandemic
= 8 Buses/Marmara sglmn $190mn in 2021, the number of
E (é) Deniz Otobiis- passengers carried by IDO
<< leri Yatirum ve ) became 28 million and the
s E i§letme AS.  Partners Operational EBITDA Number of Employees numberofvehiclesl;/'vas
Tepe szsmn 1'018 5.9 million.
Construction
w W Subsidiary Share | - Turnover Total Assets AkfenREIT's hotel portfolio
=B consisting of 21 hotels
ﬁ E 4 a szzmn $515mn (3,720 rooms) was positively
‘Iﬂ = | Akfen 23.94.; affected from the reduction
_ B REIT EBITDA Number of Employees  of the effects of the pandemic
= e in 2021, with an average
E ; s‘lgmn 20 occupancy rate of 55% with
- anincrease of 22 points YoY.
2
e S Subsidiary Share | Justed Turnover Total Assets
Eal T
E W | Akfen $12mn $4mn In 2021, the amount of
g g Environment waste collected was
5 thousand tons.
x v and Water Adjusted EBITDA Number of Employees
> E Partners B S
Sw| | eee——
w E Kardan $1mn 6
=
Subsidiary Share
""""""""""""""""""""""""""" Turnover Total Assets Travelex, which opened
its first store in London in
E o l $36mn $3mn 1976, is the world's leading
|:l_: ravelex independent foreign
o Partners EBITDA Number of Employees exchange trading company.
Travelex, Sera It operates in12 locations
Tepe Cons. $2mn 45 in Turkey.

Company financial data and employee numbers in this section are as of the end of 2021.
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Operation Map;?%f

& City Hospital (Completed)
*Isparta City Hospital
* Eskisehir City Hospital
» Tekirdag City Hospital

<&, Dormitory (Completed/
Akfen Cons.& Akfen REIT)
*Hacettepe Guest House / Ankara
*Isparta Dormitory
* Kiitahya Dormitory

ig—) Housing Projects (Completed)
*Incek Loft / Ankara
*Bulvar Loft / Ankara
(S
= Levent Loft /Istanbul
* Levent Bahge /Istanbul

Hotel Investments (Akfen Cons.)
(Construction Ongoing)
*Uludag Loft

Hotel Investments
(Akfen REIT) (In Operation)
* Novotel Zeytinburnu / istanbul
* Novotel Istanbul Bosphorus
* Novotel Trabzon
* Novotel Gaziantep
* Novotel Kayseri
+ Ibis Hotel Zeytinburnu / istanbul
+ Ibis Hotel Esenyurt / Istanbul
* Ibis Hotel Eskisehir
+ Ibis Hotel Gaziantep
+ Ibis Hotel izmir
+ Ibis Hotel Kayseri
+ Ibis Hotel Bursa
+ Ibis Hotel Adana
+ Ibis Hotel Esenboga / Ankara
+ ibis Hotel Tuzla / Istanbul
* Bodrum Loft

Office/House Projects (Completed)

(o

g Mining (In Operation)

(Acacia Mining)
* Gokirmak Copper MineProject /
Kastamonu

Water and Wastewater Projects
(In Operation) (Akfen Water)

» Giillik Municipality Fresh Water and
Waste Water Concession Project/
Mugla®

+iDO Solid Waste Man. Ser./ istanbul
* MIP Solid Waste Man. Ser. / Mersin
* Yozgat City Hospital Solid Waste
Man. Ser.**

* Isparta City Hospital Solid Waste

» Eskisehir City Hospital Solid Waste
» Tekirdag City Hospital Solid Waste
Maritime Transportation (IDO)

(In Operation)

* European Side: 9 Terminals

* Anatolian Side: 12 Terminals

» Marmara Region: 14 Terminals

Port Concessions (MIP) (In Operation)
* Mersin International Port

HEPP Investments (In Operation)
*Sirma / Aydin

* Demirciler / Denizli
* Camlica lll / Kayseri
* Otluca / Mersin

* Kavakeall/Mugla

* Saragbendi/ Sivas

* Yagmur / Trabzon

* Gelinkaya / Erzurum
* Sekiyaka Il / Mugla
*Dogangay / Sakarya
*Doruk / Giresun

* Calikobas! / Giresun
* Cicekli -1 / Artvin

& WPP Investments (In Operation)

*Kocalar / Canakkale

+ Ucpinar / Canakkale
*Hasanoba / Canakkale
* Denizli

* Saritepe / Osmaniye

* Demirciler / Osmaniye

% SPP Investments (In Operation)

* Denizli Projects (7 SPP Projects)
* Yaysun /Konya
*Solentegre / Elazig
*Karine /Elazig

* Amasya

* Tokat Projeleri

* Omicron Engil / Van
* Omicron Ercis /Van
*PSi/Van

* ME-SE / Konya
*MT Dogal / Konya
+I0TA /Malatya

@ Other (Travelex) (In Operation)

* Antalya: 4 exchange points

e izmir: 3 exchange points

* Ankara: 3 exchange points

* Alanya: 1 exchange points
*Kusadast: 1 exchange points

Exited Investments

* TAV Construction

* TAV Airports

* TUV Turk Vehicle Inspection Stations
* Kusadas! Cruise Port/ Aydin
*Karasu-1and 2HEPP / Erzurum
*Karasu-4.2, 4.3 and 5HEPP / Erzincan
* Piringlik HEPP / Karabiik

*|BS Insurance
(istanbul/Ankara/izmir/Mersin)

* All shares of Akfen Giilliik Environment and Water Investment Construction Operations Inc, a wholly owned subsidiary of Akfen Environment and
Water, were transferred to Hzr Environment and Water Investments Inc. on 19 April 2021 with all its rights and obligations.

**Yozgat City Hospital contract and accordingly waste services has been terminated as of 26.10.2021.
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Foreign Investments

Hotel Investments

Moscow/ Russia Yaroslavl/Russia Samara/ Russia
(Akfen REIT - In Operation) (Akfen REIT- In Operation) | (Akfen REIT-
In Operation)

Kaliningrad / Russia
(Akfen REIT- In Operation)

@ Ibis Hotel (ilbis Hotel @ |bis Hotel @ Ibis Hotel

1ozd /}
@Mem Park Hotel - TRNC (® Kibris Bafra Hotel - TRNC -

(Akfen REIT- In Operation) (Akfen Construction -
Construction Ongoing)
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IFC
The International Finance
Corporationwas established in
1956 as the private sector arm of
the World Bank Group. Headquartered
in Washington. The corporation provides
investment, consultancy and asset manage-
ment services to encourage the progress of
the private sector in developing countries; in
order to reduce poverty, it aims to produ-
ce projects that increase employment
and life standards by enabling the
private sector to create new

TRAVELEX
Travelex, headquarteredin London,
is the representative of a140-year
tradition of in the field of foreign exchange
Andrelated services. Travelex operates in more
than 20 countries with more than 900 ATM and
1,700 service points at airports and non-airport
locations. Travelex has created a platform to globally
reinterpret the cross-border movement of physical
and digital currency. Through this platform, it
provides financial institutions with areliable,
effective and accurate international money
transfer service and complements this
service with secure cash delivery
serviceinall currencies

The European Bank for
Reconstruction and Development,
basedinLondon, is an international
financial institution founded in 1991.
The EBRD was established to support
the creation of anew era in the post-cold
war period in Central and Eastern Europe.

At present, it operates in more than 30

countries in the Southern and Eastern
Mediterranean region, and in a vast
area from Central Europe to
Central Asia.

ACCOR

Foundedin1967,
the Accor Group,
based in France, has 5,200
hotels in 110 destinations
including economic, me-
dium, luxury and top
classes.

Our Partners : /
O O
[
[
KARDANN.V.
In addition to the real
estate projects developed 4
in Southeastern Europe, Kardan

entered the Chinese market in 2005 and
provides housing and shopping center

development and management services.
The company has also been providing
services globally in the field of water
and wastewater since 1952. Also, the
company provides financial services

and products in Bulgaria,
Romania and Ukraine.

TEPE
CONSTRUCTION

Tepe Construction was founded

by the Hacettepe University
Foundation in Ankara in1969. The

restructuring process was completed

in 1986 and the company continued its
activities as a part of Bilkent Holding. Tepe
Construction touches all aspects of life
with the residential building, shopping
center, hospital, educational building,
industrial facility and infrastructure
projects that it has constructed
since the day it was

IFM

For more than 20
years, IFM Investors,
a fund management
company serving more than
590 institutional investors
worldwide, has managed
approximately AUD 180
billion in funds.

ILBAK HOLDING

Ilbak companies came
together in 2010 under a holding

structure. llbak Holding, with Ilan founded PSA
Marble, TETE Albania and Acacia ; PSA, one of the
Mining companies under its roof, aims largest port operators

tobe aprominent brand in the mining
sector. llbak Holding currently continues
its active mining and exploration work in
Turkey, primarily in Rize, Trabzon, Ordu,
Giresun, Erzincan, Erzurum, Burdur,
Kastamonu, Konya and Mersin
provinces, and also in
Albania.

in the world, was established
in Singapore in1972. Serving at
50 ports in 26 countries, PSA
handled a total of 91.5 million
TEU containers in all ports
worldwide in 2021.



Dear Partners,

The years 2020 and 2021 were a period in which we experi-
enced unexpected experiences globally. It had its benefits as
well as its disadvantages, but the point that should be empha-
sized is that the pandemic was instructive. The first thing it
taught and | believe will create significant change in the future
was remote access. In fact, the Turkish business world clearly
saw that remote work, which already has aready infrastruc-
ture globally, is possible, and we have not only seen it, but put
itinto practice.

Another instructive issue was the necessity of leaving old
technologies behind and penetrating new business lines as
soon as possible. Not only Akfen, but also the Turkish busi-
ness world have an obligation to turn to technology-based
businesses. | think that we should rise above the old familiar
works and support different sectors such as biotechnology
and biochemistry, where we lag behind the world.

Onthe other hand, like many other holdings, we as Akfen
Holding spent 2021 with financial structuring rather than
strategic investments.

Inthe environment of uncertainty brought by the pandemic
period, it became extremely important for all companies to
maintain their presence in different areas. The pandemic,
initially, has created an environment where there was no
income and expenses continued. Later, this effect gradually
decreased, but huge deficits had occurred. Time was spent to
eliminate them and to heal the wounds. 2021 was such a year.
Despite this challenging environment, we managed to protect
our staff and investments last year, while realizing our invest-
ments within the time frame we committed to.

We've seen the worst and pondered how to keep the system
afloat with the financial data at hand. The area that experi-
enced the greatest negativity in the pandemic was the city
hotels. We reduced the debts by taking financial measures
and putting capital in the company as a shareholder.

As Akfen we

will continue
to create value

for our beloved

country

B

o -
T Y
— Ak .n

Apart from city hotel management, we tried a brand new
model by conducting long-term rentals in our Bodrum Loft
holiday village project, which we included in Akfen REIT's
portfolio, and we were successful. Bodrum Loft, which we op-
erate, has reached full occupancy rates almost a year ago, and
made an important place for itself as an exemplary project
that will continue its popularity for many years due to its high
demand as well as its respectful approach to nature.

We will rehabilitate the train station in the Sog(tlicesme Pro-
jectinKadikdy district of Istanbul. Our desire to continue with
projects harmonious with nature in Bodrum continues as well.

We will start the expansion investment that will allow giant
container ships to dock at Mersin International Port (MIP).
Although the year 2022 has started with difficulties due to
the conflict between Russia and Ukraine, as in the pandemic,
we think that it will be an instructive process despite the
negativities it will bring. While it is clear that the West will
accelerate the process of reducing its dependence onfossil
energy, it has once again been clear how important domestic
and renewable energy resources are for Turkey.

Any energy investment that is not in harmony with nature

no longer has a chance. | believe that the world will evolve
towards renewable energy sources, even like methane and
hydrogen. The era of fossil fuels is coming to an end. The
resources to be obtained from the public offering we planned
at Akfen Renewable Energy will be used for energy
investments.

| fully believe that Akfen Group's ingrained financial
management skills will enable it to find its way again in these
choppy waters together with our partners.

Regards

HAMDI AKIN
Akfen Holding Chairman of the Board of Directors
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SELIM AKIN

Akfen Holding
Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors
and CEO

s

We are cautious, but
we continue to look for
new investment areas
and opportunities.

We design our budget
within the framework
of this understanding

Dear Stakeholders,

For Akfen Holding, 2021 has been a year in which we continued on
the road with determination despite the negative effects of the
economy and the pandemic.

The sensitivity to climate change in the world in recent years and
the trend in the energy sector have shown us how accurate our
choice of investing inrenewable energy is.

As Akfen Renewable Energy, we focused only on energy production
from wind, solar and water. In a short time, we reached a portfolio
of 706 MW in this field.

Thanks to the green and clean energy we produce in the power
plants we own, we have achieved a reduction equivalent to 4 million
tons of carbon dioxide. This figure is considered to be equivalent to
the clean air provided by approximately 562,000 trees.

We ranked 46" among 4914 companies in the world in the
sustainability report prepared by Vigeo Eiris, which was
established as a subsidiary of the international rating agency
Moody's. We aim to do our part by improving our role and
responsibility here every year.

We have a young portfolio that will not be harmed for another 6-7
years inrenewable energy. We are planning an IPO in energy. With
the capital obtained from this public offering, we will continue to
grow by creating new investments.

The area that experienced the greatest negativity in the pandemic
was the city hotels. We took a few steps. First, we discussed our
strategic partnership with Accor which has been going on since
2005, and made improvements to our lease agreements. We
reduced the debts by taking financial measures and putting capital
in the company as a shareholder.

100 percent occupancy achieved in Bodrum Loft

As Akfen, we have the ability to closely monitor investment
opportunities, sometimes utilize the portfolio we have, and
sometimes make investments from scratch, depending on the
investment environment and attractiveness.

Our Bodrum Loft hotel, which we have built in line with the
opportunities in the Turkish tourism sector, whose land has been
in our possession for a long time and which we completed and
put into service the previous year, set an important example

for this. Bodrum Loft, which we have developed as a modern,
environmentally friendly holiday village, has attracted great
interest from abroad as well as in Turkey in just two years.

In Bodrum Loft, we have extended the tourism season, which is
limited to three months in Turkey, to six months with rentals for the
period of 1May-1 November. We achieved 100 percent occupancy
rate with only domestic tourists. We believe that the success we
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As Akfen Holding,
we expect 2022 to
be ayear in which we
follow the economic
environment closely
while completing our
current investments

have achieved by making long-term rentals of 1,3 and 6 months
in the hotel business can set an example for the sector.

Our desire to continue with nature-friendly
projects continues in Bodrum as well

We will rehabilitate the train station within the Ségitliigesme
Project in Kadikdy district of istanbul. With a project accepted
and approved by Kadikdy Municipality, State Railways and the
Ministry of Environment, we will create a more environmentally
friendly, open-space concept than its counterparts in Europe.
As Akfen REIT, we will develop a real estate project in the area
that will be left after the relocation of Penguen Gida's factory
in Bursa that will add value to the region.

With the investments we made, Mersin International Port (MIP)
has grown by an average of 7.5 percent annually over 14 years
and has become Turkey's largest port for the last three years.
In 2022, we will begin a USD 375 million expansion project that
willincrease its total capacity to 3.6 million TEUs and the port
will be able to simultaneously serve two 400-metre-long mega-
ships, the world's largest.

The havoc the pandemic created is slowly passing. The
epidemic, which started in 2020, is slowly retreating, leaving
heavy damage especially for global economies. Turkey,

with high inflation rates and exchange rates as well as price
increases, also suffered from this negative environment and it
continues to do so. In this context, the government is trying to
take some economy oriented measures. We believe that 2022
will be a year when we will see the results of these steps.

Although advantages arise for some sectors, especially in
production, exports and tourism due to the high exchange
rate, the high risks that the Russia-Ukraine conflict creates

eliminate the relative advantages. PELIN AKIN OZALP
Although we have hedged our foreign exchange risk, Akfen Holding
the volatility in exchange rates is important for our free Board of Directors Member

cash position in our budget. In addition to the negative
developments in the exchange rates, the rise in commodity
prices complicates our future investments and budget
forecasts. Ol prices for IDO and copper prices for Acacia
Mining determine the course of the budget.

In Akfen Holding, we expect 2022 to be a year in which we
closely monitor the economic environment as we complete our
current investments. We are cautious, but we continue to look
for new investment areas and opportunities, and we design our
budget within the framework of this understanding.

Regards
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Akfen Holding

Financial Results for 2021

below.

AkfenHolding
significantly
increased its net

profit, equity and

The important developments affecting Akfen Holding's financial results
in 2021 and the main changes in the subsidiary portfolio are summarized

The merger of Akfen Holding and Akfen Infrastructure Holding, which
owned the majority shares (89.49%), was completed on 10 November 2021,
by joining the Company as a whole without liquidation.

» As aresult of the merger, Akinist Machinery, Akfen Consulting, Akfen
Tourism, Akfen REPIC, Akfen Merter and BISS Defense (new title: BiZ
Mining) were taken over as subsidiaries and Travelex and Tepe Akfen
Reformer companies as financial investments. Additionally, Akfen

total assetsin
2021

Holding's share in Akfen Construction, which previously the holding had a
share of 48.81% and accounted for using the equity method, became 100%
owned, and the company was thus fully consolidated in financials as it is
now a subsidiary.

» In this context, the 2020 financials have been restated as if the merger
had occurred as of the beginning of the reporting period.

Moreover;

» Akfen Holding completed the sale of the remaining
20% of its shares in IBS Insurance on 28 January 2021.
IBS Insurance, which was removed from the balance
sheet dated 31.12.2021, was consolidated only for January
2021inthe income statement.

» On 18 January 2021 Akfen Holding took over the
remaining 0.75% of Akfen Energy Generation, of which it
had a 99.25% stake, thus becoming the 100% owner of
the company. Akfen Holding's merger with Akfen Energy
Generation was completed on 5March 2021.

» The redemption of Akfen REIT's convertible bonds was
carried out on12 January 2021, and after the completion
of the transaction, Akfen Holding's share, which

was 56.88% before, became 43.06%. Following the
completion of Akfen REIT's rights issue on 9 February
2021 Akfen Holding's share became 30.37%. After the
rights issue on 20 August 2021, Akfen Holding's share
became 23.94%. Akfen REIT, which was consolidated
with 23.94% in its balance sheet

on 31.12.2021, has been added to the consolidation inits
income statement with 56.88% in January 2021,30.37%
in 31 January-30 September 2021, and 23.94% in 4Q21.

» All of the shares of Akfen Giilliik Environment and
Water Investment and Construction Operations Inc,,
awholly owned subsidiary of Akfen Environment and
Water, were transferred to Hzr Environment and Water
Investments Inc., with all its rights and obligations, on 19
April 2021.

» Within the scope of the restructuring of IDO's project
finance loan, Marmara Sea Buses Investment and
Management Inc. (MDO') was established on 5May 2021,
as a 50/50 equal partnership of Akfen Holding and Tepe
Construction.

» With the restructuring completed on 8 July 2021, Akfen
Holding and Tepe Construction transferred their shares
in DO to MDO and MDO became the 100% owner of
IDO. In the balance sheet dated 31122021, MDO has been
consolidated using the equity method.
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BALANCE SHEET

Consolidated Assets:

Akfen Holding's total consolidated assets in 2021 amounted to 29.2
billion TL, with an increase of 62% compared to 2020. The main reasons
for this increase were the financial assets related to concession agree-
ments whose fair value increased in 2021, financial investments and the
increase in the investments valued by the equity method, mainly due to
Akfen Renewable Energy and Akfen REIT.

Consolidated Equity:

At the end of 2021, Akfen Holding's consolidated equity reached 13.2
billion TL, with an increase of 98% compared to the previous year.

Consolidated Financial Debt:

While Akfen Holding's total consolidated financial debt was 8.9 billion TL
in 2020, it reached 13.7 billion TL in 2021. On the other hand, the Company's
net financial debt, which was 6.3 billion TL in 2020, reached 9.5 billion TL in
2021. Since a significant portion of financial debt is in foreign currencies,
the increase resulted from the depreciation of TL against foreign curren-
ciesin2021.

INCOME STATEMENT

Revenues

Akfen Holding's revenue for 2021 was 601 million TL (2020:1.184 million
TL). The fact that Akfen Construction completed its ongoing construction
projects in 2020 was the main reason for the decrease compared to 2020.

Operating Profit

Gross profit was 65 million TL in 2021(2020: 146 million TL). Akfen
Holding's operating profit in 2021 was 7,276 million TL (2020: 1,279 million
TL). The reason for the significant increase in the operating profit in 2021

was the significant increase in the shares of the profits of the investments
valued by equity management.

Profit for the Period

Net profit for the period, which was 47 million TL in 2020, reached 2,760
million TL in 2021. Other developments that significantly affected the
increase in net profit in 2021 are summarized below:

» In 2021, other income from main activities increased significantly
t06,439mn TL (2020:1,683mn TL) due to mainly the increase in value
resulting from the fair value calculation of the Service Concession
Agreements (6bln TL increase in the value of Akfen Construction's
hospital PPPs) and the value increase of investment properties (451mn TL
value increase),

» Shares in profits of investments valued using equity method in 2021
amounted to 895mn TL (2020: 466mn loss TL).
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Main Financial Indicators

O,

O,

O,

Restated Restated
Summary Balance Sheet (million TRY) 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 1.01.2020
Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,980 1,627 2,085
Financial Investments 1,024 475 20
Financial Assets Related to Concession Agreements 1,368 862 423
Other Current Assets 321 350 537
Assets Reclassified as Held for Sale 0 15 3
Total Current Assets 4,693 3,328 3,068
Financial Investments 4,882 2,620 2,415
Other Receivables 848 752 535
Financial Assets Related to Concession Agreements 11,077 6,514 4,361
Investments Accounting Using the Equity Method 5 2,188 1,368
Investment Properties 1,304 1133 875
Deferred Tax Assets 991 914 627
Other Non-Current Assets 283 542 993
Total Fixed Assets 24,496 14,663 1,174
TOTAL ASSETS 29,188 17,991 14,242
Financial Liabilities 13,699 8,950 7,039
Other current liabilities 334 1,259 1,357
Other non-current liabilities 1,987 1138 805
Total Liabilities 16,020 1,347 9,201
@) Equity 13,169 6,644 5,041
982 /O Equity Att, to Equity Holders of the Parent 13,202 6,665 5,066
Change in Equity Non-controlling interests -34 22 -25
TOTAL LIABILITIES 29,188 17,991 14,242
Restated
Summary Income Statement (million TRY) 2021 2020 Change
Revenues 601 1,184 -49%
Gross Profit 65 146 -56%
Share of profit/(loss) from investments accounted
4690/0 using the equity method 895 -466 n.m.
_ Operating Profit 7.276 1,279 469%
ng(’)efE?itr']’;%ease Income / Expenses from Investment, Activities, Net 164 194 -16%
Financial Expenses, Net -4,789 -1,652 n.m.
Tax income/(expense) 109 226 -52%
XS 9 Net Profit for the Period 2,760 47 5,714%
Non-Controlling Interests -7 3 n.m.
Net Profitincrease Equity Holders of the Parent 2767 44 6,138%
Summary Cash Flow Statement
(Loss)/profit for the period 2,760 47 5714%
Other adjustment for profit/loss reconciliation -1,024 420 n.m.
Changes in working capital 126 -483 n.m.
Cash flows from/ (used in) operations 1,862 -16 n.m.
Cash Flows from Operating Activities 2,751 459 500%
Cash Flows (used in)/from Investment Operations -1,322 433 n.m.
Cash Flows from/ (used in) Financing Activities -1,073 -408 n.m.
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents 356 -382 n.m.
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 1,620 2,002 -19%
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 1,977 1,620 22%
Financial Indicators
Current Ratio 1.88 0.75 113
Liquidity Ratio 1.87 0.74 113
Total Financial Debt / Equity 1.04 0.68 0.36
Financial Leverage 1.02 113 -0M




CHAPTER 2

Akfen Holding
Group Companies

CONSTRUCTION
» Akfen Construction
House/Health/Dormitory Investments
* Incek Loft
* Bulvar Loft
* [sparta City Hospital
* Eskisehir City Hospital
* Tekirdag City Hospital
* Hacettepe Guest House
Other Investments
* Kibris Bafra Hotel

ENERGY
» Akfen Renewable Energy

PORT SECTOR
» Mersin International Port (MIP)

COPPER MINING SECTOR
» Acacia Mining .
WASTE WATER & SOLID WASTE SECTOR
» Akfen Environment and Water

REIT and TOURISM SECTOR

» Akfen REIT

MARITIME TRANSPORTATION SECTOR
» istanbul Sea Buses (IDO)

OTHER

» Travelex

» Other Subsidiaries
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Construction
Sector

The construction sector, which stands out with the demand it
creates for more than 200 sub-sectors in the economy, grew
in the first half of 2021, albeit quite limitedly, and started to
contract sharply again in the third quarter, and contracted by
3.9% in the last quarter of the year.

The construction sector, which contracted by 3.5% in 2020,
continued to shrink in 2021, when the economy grew by 11%, and
overall contracted by 0.9% compared to the previous year.

Ry rrre
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Costs increased, construction slowed

Increasing construction costs have slowed the progress of
ongoing projects. The current situation in the construction
sector, which also stands out with its employment potential,
points to difficulties in achieving the sustainable growth target.
With the financial difficulties, it has become very difficult

to make short-term forecasts in the sector, especially the
investment programs of the public sector are needed as a guide
in this framework.

The demand changes in market conditions and the high housing
loaninterest rates in 2021 had a negative impact on housing
sales, which decreased by 0.5% compared to the previous year
and amounted to 1million 491 thousand 856. Istanbul had the
highest share in house sales with 276,223 units and a share of
18.5%. Istanbul was followed by Ankara with 144,104 units and
9.7% share, and Izmir with 86,722 units and 5.8% share. The
provinces with the lowest number of house sales were Hakkari
with 267 units, Ardahan with 377 units and Bayburt with 871 units.

™
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Distribution of
House Sales (>02)) Construction Sector Development

Total sales
(unit)
Ankera 144104  97%
Istenbul 276223 | 185% 201
Others 1071529
W & Construction Sector Development Rate (%)  -O- GDP Growth(%) Sources: TurkStat, TMB

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
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Akfen Construction,
the flagship of Akfen
Holding, has completed
more than USD 3.5bn in
construction projects
over 35years since its

establishment

Akfen
Construction

Akfen Holding's flagship Akfen Construction, multiplies
its energy with new areas of expertise that it adds to its
portfolio. As of 2013, new areas were added to the high-

skill requiring projects of the construction industry such .
as hotels, airport terminals, runways, industrial facilities, Shareholding Structure

hydroelectric power plants, and pipelines. —
PPP projects brought great experience Akfen Holding 100%

Hospitals are at the forefront of these areas. Akfen
Construction quickly gained a great deal of experience in the
construction of city hospitals built with the Public-Private
Partnership (PPP) model. Among the three city hospitals
built in Isparta, Eskisehir and Tekirdag, Akfen Construction
completed the Isparta City Hospital within a short period of
12 months and 12 days in March 2017. Eskisehir City Hospital
was completed in October 2018 and Tekirdag City Hospital
within 2 years and started giving service in 2020. Thus, Akfen From the EstabﬁShment to the

Construction delivered all the projects it undertook on time,

providing the Ministry of Health with the greatest support Present Executed Prq,'ects

against the Covid-19 pandemic, which it successfully fought.
Field of expertise expanded with housing projects Modern apartment

Akfen Construction brought its expertise to a higher level by built in Ankara —— 3 City
adding giant housing projects such as Bulvar Loft and Incek B B2 T T B2 |B] wd Hospitals
Loft in Ankara to the office-residences it built with the Loft ' '

conceptin Levent, Istanbul.
The company has successfully completed many 2
superstructure construction projects such as hospitals, J 2

Student
Houses

dormitories, schools and mixed-type real estate projects,
as well as different infrastructure constructions such as
airport terminals and related infrastructure, hydroelectric
power plants, water distribution, sewerage systems [ = ]

and wastewater treatment. Overall, the company has

completed over USD 3.5 billion of construction projects. —

Akfen Construction's experience, while making significant SEEEE 14 H 1 1
contributions to the group activities, has played animportant o o] o Guest
role as the driving force of the ever-growing Turkish economy. Hotels Resorts | | ce
Continuing on its way by creating a strong network of

relations with global partners who have a voice in every 5 oo
field, Akfen's partners in these construction projects, too, Airoort 14 A
are national or regional governments or major local industry Termingl 3 ' ron i — ||| ||| |||
groups, enabling it to strengthen its reputation at home and and rur'1w2y HEPP[ — )
abroad.
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Akfen Construction’s
Housing Investments

Akfen Construction has a significant
investment portfolio in superstructure
projects as well as infrastructure projects.
The company provides services for project
design, engineering and construction
works in a wide range of housing estate,
luxury housing, hotel, shopping mall,
hospital, school, library, lodging and
military building projects. In addition

to the Levent Loft, which was built in
Levent, Istanbul with the Loft concept,
two important housing projects were
completed successfully in Ankara.

Akfen Construction completed its first
investment in 2016 in the Incek District,
which is rapidly growing as the new
residential area of the city and is called
the “golden triangle”

80% of Incek Loft was quickly sold out
due toits proximity to educational and
health institutions. Following this success,
the second project was Bulvar Loft. The
project with 822 flats was completed at

Akfen Construction's
half amillion
squaremeter

residential construction

corresponds to an area

the size of 700 football
flelds

the end of 2018. Thus, Akfen Construction
has added more than 2,000 modern, luxury
apartments to the Ankara housing market.

Half million square meters

construction

Akfen Construction, which has built
aconstruction area of nearly half a
million square meters on a total land of
145 thousand square meters, has also
treated nature with respect in its housing
projects. Just like how the Group turned to
renewable sources of energy, it offers the
citizens and the country an opportunity
for ahealthy life with its social facilities
and landscaping area that reaches 70% in
housing projects.

Akfen Construction's housing
investments, which offer investment
opportunities as well as peaceful living
spaces, have succeeded in providing high
returns to its investors over the last 2-3
years, despite the ups and downs in the
economy.
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IncekLoft  Bulvar Loft

The foundations of Incek Loft, the first real estate Levent Loft, Loft Garden gnd Incek Loft, Akfen

project of Akfen Construction in the region defined Construction completedits fourth project of the Loft

as the ‘golden triangle’ of Ankara, were laid in 2014. concept, Bulvar Loft, inMay 2019 as promised, and
Looking at the general silhouette, it is described as the delivered it to the beneficiaries.

most beautiful project of Ankara by far. Bulvar Loft carries the signature of A Architectural

The project offers significant opportunities toreal De;ign, the largest architectyral ofﬁce Qf the Capital,.
estate investors in terms of price performance, which has worked on many big projectsin Ankara. Unlike
product segment and visuals. Working with Tabanlioglu |”C?k Loft, Bulvar Loft focuses on living spaces. The
Architecture, the architect of Levent Loft, one of the project ha.s been dev.eloped to appeal tomiddle/

iconic projects of Istanbul, and Loft Garden, Akfen upper soclo-economic groups.

Construction has created buildings to meet different The project is located at the intersection of Yavuz Sultan
living and investment demands in Incek Loft. Selim Boulevard, which connects northern settlements
One of the most important features of incek Loft is suchas Etimesgut, Gayyolu and Beysukent, to the south,
that 68% of the project consists of landscaping and and Incek Boulevard, which connects.Orar.], Mamak and
social facilty areas, within the framework of respect Incek settlements in the east-west direction.

for urban values and natural resources. In the project; 75% green and landscape area

the garden, terraces and all residences have been
designed to make optimal use of daylight and the
general view.

In the central part of the Bulvar Loft project, 75 percent
of which is allocated to green landscaping, there is
asocial region with 31 commercial areas built on 10
Commercial areas thousand square meters.

In the project, the shopping area, which is organized
as open, semi-open and closed areas, is called “Loft
Street’ which is open to pedestrian access at street
level, and is designed to also serve those coming
from outside. Incek Loft has 43 commercial areas
spread over 8,027 square meters. Akfen Tourism was
established to operate commercial areas.

Numb Nurmber of Land Area Construction Area
umber —_— —_— umber o
of Houses (228 oea|  Commercial Area 37'000 m? 170'000 m?
el - ,_,_
1199 = 43(TC e
C:DO feooRan Number — — Number of Commercial

~ of Houses [zz= ooo Area o

S i IF .l.t. d ooo ooono ooo

T 68% 0 . U 822 HEE 3 [
Opening Date 2016 April Opening Date 2019 May

Bodrum Loft Project’

*As of February 9, 2021, Akfen REIT took over
Masanda Turizm (Bodrum Loft).
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The system in the city hospitals
project covers a period of 28-29
years intotal, Tyear of which s

preparation, 2-3 years of investment

and 25 years of operation

City hospitals have been put into practice to
meet the quality and modern health service
needs of the Turkish people. The first of the
projects implemented with PPP was put into
service in January 2017.

The system was founded on the idea that

the construction of the hospitals and the
implementation of all the main services would
be carried out by the private sector inreturn

for a certain rent from the public. In this model
managed by the Ministry of Health, Public
Private Partnership Department, the target is to
increase the quality of health services provided
to the public with a lower cost. In the project, the
construction and completion process covers 28-
29 years, 1year of which is preparation, 2-3 years

of investment and 25 years of operation. It is
envisioned that the hospitals built at the end of
the contract will be transferred to the public.

Currently, there are 13 PPP city hospitals in
Turkey that are in operation and 5 are under
construction.

The Ministry of Health has decided to use the
contracting model instead of the PPP model for
new hospitals to be built. The tenders for new
hospitals will be decided according to the lowest
cost offer, within the feasibility prepared by the
General Directorate of Health Investments.

e |:—|.:\;!.,;|*'_;.

- -

Akfen Construction'’s
City Hospital Investments

Akfen Construction, which undertook the construction and
operation of three city hospitals in Isparta, Eskisehir and Tekirdag,

successfully completed the Tekirdag City Hospital in 2020 and now
all the projects are in the service of the Ministry of Health. Akfen
Construction undertook three of the city hospitals to be built

with the PPP model after the restructuring in the Turkish health
sector. Of the 18 health complexes approved by the state, Akfen
Construction won the tenders for the construction and operation
of city hospitals in the provinces of Isparta, Eskisehir and Tekirdag,
and committed to invest a total of USD 1.1 billion in this area.

Served 7.7 million patients over 5 years in Isparta

Isparta City Hospital, the first of the three city hospitals, was
handed over to the Ministry of Health with a ceremony held on

24 March 2017. Working with a performance beyond its capacity,
Isparta City Hospital succeeded in serving 7.7 million patients over
fife years of operation.

Hospitals stood out with their services
during pandemic

Eskisehir City Hospital, which was put into service on 27 October
2018, reached 3.4 million patients in its second year. Finally,
Tekirdag city hospital was added. All hospitals stood out for their
greatest service to the Ministry of Health in the successful fight
against the Covid-19 pandemic throughout 2020. The newest
devices of modern medicine are used in hospitals with a total
construction area of 705,960 square meters. The Ministry of
Health stated that Isparta City Hospital is considered as an
example for many hospital investments currently in progress, both
in terms of construction and hospital equipment.
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26 AUGUST 2014
Project contract was signed

1MARCH 2017
Construction
completed

JANUARY 2015
Credit agreement
was signed

16 FEBRUARY 2016
Construction started

Isparta City Hospital

Isparta City Hospital,
whose construction
was completedin 12

months and started to
operate inMarch 2017,
has served 7.7 million
patients to date

Isparta
City Hospital

It is the first city hospital of Akfen Group to be
putin service. Isparta City Hospital, which is
built on an area of 178 thousand square meters
and has a bed capacity of 835, started accepting
its first patients after the ceremony held on 24

-y March 2017.

Employment provided to 1,528

2| people, 900 of which were newly

employed

The Ministry of Health will be a tenant for
25years in Isparta City Hospital, which

provides free health services to citizens as

a public hospital. As the responsibility of
medical services remains with the publicin

the system, the employment regime of health
personnel does not change. The total number of
employees in the facility was 1,528, 940 of which
were newly employed. All services such as data
processing, security, cleaning, dining hall and
parking lot are covered by Akfen Construction,
which undertook the construction and operation
of the hospital.

179 thousand m?

Construction Area Investment Amount
222.6 thousand m? 8328 mn
Operating Duration Polyclinic Services
25 years 4,355 people/day
Polyclinic Operating Rooms

7 20
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20 AUGUST 2015
Project contract was signed

AUGUST 2016
Credit agreement
was signed

30 DECEMBER 2016
Construction started

® " 270CTOBER 2018
Construction
completed

Eskisehir City Hospital,
the largest of the three
projects undertaken
by Akfen Group, meets
animportant need

not only of the city but
also of the surrounding
provinces

Eskisehir
City Hospital

Eskisehir City Hospital, the second city hospital of
the Akfen Group to be put into service, is built on an
area of 188 thousand square meters and has a total
bed capacity of 1,235. The hospital, which was put into

service on 27 October 2018, has a total construction
area of 333 thousand square meters.
While 972 of the beds were allocated

to general health units, 63 beds were
allocated to the oncology unit, 100 beds
to the cardiovascular unit, and 100 beds
to the High Security Forensic Psychiatry
(HSFP) unit. The hospital occupancy
rates, which meet an important need of the region,
are also at a very high level.

World class medical equipment

The hospital also has special areas such as anursery
for children receiving treatment, dialysis and burn
units. The hospital is among the leading hospitals

in the region with its 254 outpatient clinics and
worldclass advanced technology medical equipment.
With 37 operating rooms, it serves not only Eskisehir
but also patients from surrounding cities.

Eskisehir City Hospital

Total Area Construction Area Investment Amount
188 thousand m? 333 thousand m? $512 mn

Opening Date Operating Duration

2018 25 years

Total Beds Single Rooms Double Rooms
1,081 829 (289 intensive care) 213

Polyclinic Operating Rooms Polyclinic Services

254

37

10k people/day
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Tekirdag City
Hospital, the largest
health campus of
the Thrace Region,
became operational
in November 2020

" 12 AUGUST 2016 Tekir dﬂg
Project contract was signed
City Hospital

The hospital, which is the third project undertaken by
Akfen Group, was put into service in 2020 and became
DECEMBER 2017 the largest healthcare center in the Thrace Region.

Credl? agreement Tekirdag City Hospital, with a total capacity of 595
was signed beds, stands out as the largest hospital in the Thrace
Region. The contract was signed with the Ministry of
Health on12 August 2016 and the hospital was built on
an area of 114 thousand square meters.

Investment is $260 million

Tekirdag City Hospital, with an investment amount

of USD 260 million, was designed as a smart hospital
like the other two hospitals of Akfen Group. Like in the
Isparta and Eskisehir City Hospitals, seismic isolators
were used in the construction of the Tekirdag City
Hospital, which came into service in 2020, to increase
earthquake resistance. This was a technology that was
notused in hospitals until that day.

Tekirdag City Hospital has a parking area of 45

thousand square meters with a capacity of 1,054
vehicles in the closed and 297 vehicles in the open air

1NOVEMBER 2018
Construction started

¢ parking lots. With the opening of the hospital, the total
e NOVEMBER 2020 bed capacity of the three hospitals, which Akfen Group
Construction undertook, increased to 2,665, the number of operating
completed theaters to 73 and the number of polyclinics to 579.
Tekirdag City Hospitals
124 POLYCL'N’CS Total Area Construction Area Investment Amount
’ 114 thousand m? 159 thousand m? 8260 mn
16 OPERATING ROOMS , . .
] o Opening Date Opening Duration
The hqspttal has124 .polycll.nlcs,16 . 2020 25 years
operating rooms, an intensive care unit
with 121 beds and a dialysis unit with 22 Total Beds Single Rooms Double Rooms
beds. The hospital also has a neonatal 595 81 189
intensive care unit, 8 high-security . :
forensic psychiatry units, two burns units f;zdymc fsperatmg oo

and a delivery room.
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[ ]
70%

Akfen's share in the project

7
Total block

7,300
Total beds

e 15,000
Planned bed
capacity

*As of 9 February 2021, Akfen REIT purchased all
of the shares of Isparta Dorm (Kitahya and Isparta
dormitories) from Akfen Construction.

Dormitory & Guest
House Projects’

Hacettepe
Guest House

The Hacettepe Guesthouse Project, which will be
developed and operated on the Hacettepe University
Beytepe Campus in Ankara, started with the share
transfer on15May 2014. Akfen Construction undertook
the project by acquiring 45% of the Hacettepe Teknokent
Training and Clinical Research Center Health R&D
Consulting Project Inc. on said date. Akfen Insaat acquired
another 25% of the company in 2020 and its ownership
rate in the company increased to 70%.

The project, which was planned as seven blocks with a
total bed capacity of 7,300 on a land of 68,000 square

~ meters at the first stage, willbe able to increase to a

bed capacity of 15,000 over time. An agreement has
been reached with TSKB (Industrial Development Bank
of Turkey) regarding financing. Two buildings were
completed in the first quarter of 2016 and 5 buildings are
under development.

When Hacettepe
Guesthouse reaches full
capacity, it will be able to
accommodate 40.5% of
the 37,004 undergraduate
students at Hacettepe
University
Hacettepe Guest House
Construction Area (1 Stage-2 Block) Construction Area (2" Stage-5 Block)
27,450 m? 83,600 m:
Starting Date Delivery Date (1 Stage)
2014 Q2 Sept.2016
Number of Beds (1° Stage) Number of Beds (2" Stage) Allocating By
2,264 5,036 Hacettepe
Univercity
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Bodrum/Mugla

Long-term
rental

128
No. of Rooms

. Occupancy
. Rate
°

40
Double Rooms

Resorts 52
Two Single Beds

[
TRNC/Bafra

Tourism
°

1* stage
201rooms

2" stage
202 rooms

Holiday

Sun PY

Accommodation

Bodrum Loft

AkfenHolding has also rolled up its sleeves to develop a project
in Bodrum, where world-famous giant hotel chains flock to. The
Bodrum Loft project implemented by Akfen Constructionis a
five-star holiday village built on a land allocated by the Mi-
nistry of Culture and Tourism, 15 kilometers from the center of
Bodrum. The allocated company is Masanda Tourism Invest-
ments Inc. and the allocation period is 49 years. The project
land area is 57,000 m? and total floor area is 14,5177 m2. The
concept design and architecture of the project was carried out
by Tabanlioglu Architecture. The project was delivered in 2020.
As of 9 February 2021, Akfen REIT took over Masanda Tourism
(Bodrum Loft).

Bodrum Loft Hotel

Allocating By Land Area Construction Area
Min.of Culture&Tourism 57,000 m 22,586
No. of Blocks No. of Villas No. of Beds

19 units 36 units 192 units
Delivery Date Design

49 years Tabanlwoglu Mimarlik

TRNC Bafra Hotel

BafraHotel Project is being built on the Bafra Village Beach of
Cyprus. The land has been allocated to Akfen Tourism and Trade
Inc. for 49 years by the Cyprus Forestry Administration. The
construction to be made on an area of 224,527 square meters will
cover 85,364 square meters.

The construction area in the hotel project, which will consist of
two stages, is planned to be 50,924 square meters in the first
phase and 34,440 square meters in the second phase. There
are a total of 403 rooms and 1,042 beds in the hotel part of the
project. The first stage will consist of 201 rooms and 522 beds
and the second stage will consist of 202 rooms and 520 beds.
Additionally, the project includes 50 villas with a total of 200
beds. When the project is completed, it will serve as a hotel
with 453 rooms and 1,242 beds. The construction permit for the
project was obtained on 03 October 2016.

TRNC BafraHotel

Allocating By Land Area Construction Area
TRNC Forestry Admin. 224,527 m? 85,364

No. of Rooms No. of Beds Permitted Floor Area
453 1,242 78,585
Allotment Period Design

49 years(30.12.2059) YPU Architecture
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The share of
renewable energy
in Turkey's total
installed capacity

was 35.9% in 2011
and this rate
reached 51.7%

by 2021

Energy sector

The share of renewable energy in Turkey's total
installed capacity was 35.9% in 2011 and this rate
reached 51.7% by 2021.

One of the main components of Turkey's energy
policy is the more effective use of domestic and
renewable energy resources.

Although Turkey tries to reduce foreign
dependency in energy, it still imports the primary
raw materials in the production of electrical
energy and the machinery-equipment used in
production to a large extent. Foreign dependency
is at high levels, especially in high-tech machinery
and equipment used in generating energy from
wind, solar, geothermal and biomass.

Share of Renewable Energy is 52%

While the share of renewable energy plants in the
installed capacity was 36% in 2011, it increased to
52% in 2021.

Over the last 10 years, the installed capacity has
almost doubled (88.7% increase). Turkey's total
installed capacity of 99,820 MW in 2021 has
grown by 4.1% compared to the previous year.

On the basis of resources, the highest share in the
installed capacity development is hydraulic with
31.5% (31,493 MW). Following hydraulic power
plants respectively, natural gas + LNG account
for 25.6%, coal for 20.4%, wind for 10.6%, solar
for 7.8% and other power plants (geothermal-
biomass) for 4.0%.

There has been a significant change in
electricity generation

Over the last 10 years, there has been a significant
increase in the installed capacity of renewable
resources other than hydro, arising from the
change in energy production in Turkey.

Although its share in the total installed capacity

is low, wind power plants increased by 20%
compared to the previous year and reached 10,607
MW, while the installed capacity of solar power
plants increased by 17% and reached 7,816 MW.

Over the last 10 years, there has been anincrease

of 3.7% in electricity generation and 3.6% in
consumption in Turkey.

The share of renewable energy in
generation is increasing rapidly

The share of renewable energy in generation has
increased rapidly over the last 10 years. While
25% of the electricity produced in 2011 came
from renewable sources, this increased to 34% in
2021.1n 2011, the share of renewable energy plants
consisting of geothermal, wind and solar power
plants, excluding hydroelectric power plants, was
only 2.4% in total production, while in 2021 this
number increased t016.9%.

There is a direct relationship between social and
economic development and energy consumption.
Energy consumption increases in parallel with the
increase in economic and social welfare.

In line with the economic growth in 2021, electricity
generation increased by 12.5% and consumption
by 12.1%.

Over the last 10-year period, while Turkey's GDP
increased by 5.2% on average, the annual average
growth in energy demand remained at the level of
3.6%. This indicates that Turkey has a long way to
goinenergy. e "




The share of
renewable
energy in Turkey's
installed capacity,

which has reached
100 thousand
megawatts, has
increasedto51.7
percent

Development of Installed Capacity by Sources Share of Renewable
88.6 .
Installed Capacity (021)

(00OMW)  20m 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 = 2020 = 2021
mHydraulic 171 196 223 236 259 267 273 283 285 30 315 Installed Cap. Share
m Natural Gas & (MW) (°/°)
LiquidFuels 195 204 246 255 249 255 265 259 259 257 256 Hydraulic 31493 315
i Coal 126 126 126 148 51 180 193 197 203 203 204  Wind 10,607 106
[ Other 37 45 45 56 73 83 121 147 166 189 224 Sqlar 7816 78
TOTAL 529 571 640 695 731 785 852 886 913 959 998  Gogthermal 1676 17
Source: TEIAS Other 48228 483
Total 99,820 100.0
Generation & Consumption in Turkey (G\h)

P y o Share of Renewable

PEREEEAEE Energyin Total

Generation (2021)

©)

(GWh) 201 | 202 2013 | 2014 | 2015 2016 | 2077 | 2008 @ 2019 | 2020 | 2021 Generation Share
@ Generation 229395 239,497 240154 250381 261783 273388 290545 202779 291024 292231 328644 (GWh) (%)
© Consumption 230306 242370 245484 255545 265724 278346 289975 292172 290447 291582 326822 4 jrayic 55,475 16.9

Wind 30,901 94
Solar 13,650 4.2
Geothermal 10,106 31
Other 218513 66.6

Total 328,644 100.0
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Akfen Group took its first step into the sector in 2007
with HEPP investments in order to meet Turkey's
increasing energy needs and thus make significant
contributions to reducing the current account deficit.
Sirma HEPP was the first HEPP project to become
operational in 2009. Akfen has implemented all of the
18 HEPP projects it has undertaken to date in the field
of renewable energy resources, has sold five of them,
and is still operating 13 of them.

The development of SPP projects started in 2013, and
the development of WPP projects started in 2014 with
wind measurements.

In December 2015 Akfen Holding, structured its sub-
sidiaries operating in the field of renewable energy
Akfenhes, Akfenres, Akfen Toptan and following its
transfer to the Holding, Karine SPP, under a single roof
and established Akfen Renewable Energy Inc.

Akfen Renewable Energy partnered with EBRD and IFC
in 2016. The investment made by the two institutions
has been the largest capital investment ever made in
the Turkish energy sector. With this investment, Akfen
Renewable Energy has become one of the most impor-
tant players in the renewable energy sector.

The installed power portfolio of the company is current-

ly operating at 706 MW. This portfolio consists of HEPP.
SPP and WPP projects.

All generation is sold to YEKDEM

In 2021 all power plants other than Sirma HEPP eva-
luated their generation within the scope of YEKDEM
(Renewable Energy Sources Support Mechanism).

In 2022, all operational power plants except for Sirma,
Otluca, Camlica and Saracbendiwill be within the scope
of YEKDEM.

In 2021, the YEK price for all HEPPs is 7.3 USD cents/

Total Installed
Capacity of Akfen
Renewable
Energy is

& 706,0 MW

Shareholding Structure

L AkfenHolding !EBRD !IFC

66.91% 17.10% 15.99%

kWh and will continue at the same price in 2022.

Alllicensed SPPs sold at 13.74 USD cents/kWh including
domestic contribution in 2021; except for Solentegre whose
domestic contribution ended in 2022, for all licensed SPPs,
the price is 13.74 USD cents/kWh including domestic cont-
ribution. For the Solentegre SPP it will be 13.3USD cents/
kWh.

In 2021, for Hasanoba WPP, Ucpinar WPP, Kocalar WPP,
Denizli WPP projects the price was USD 7.9 cents/kWh
including domestic contribution, and for Saritepe and
Demirciler WPP the price was 8.7 USD cents/kWh including
domestic contribution. In 2022, for Hasanoba WPP, Ugpinar
WPP, Kocalar WPP, Denizli WPP projects the price willbe 7.9
USD cents/kWh. For Saritepe and Demirciler WPP whose
domestic contribution has expired, the price will be 7.3 USD
cents/kWh within the scope of YEKDEM.

Feed-In Tariff (USs/MWh)

B Feed-In Tariff £ Local Component Premium
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T
Development of Generation
H 17504, ©
and Installed Capacity g
HEPP 2095 2106 2106 2198 2287 2357 2357 2357
SPP
WEPP 2686 3489 3489
~o-Generation @ HEPP Installed SPPInstalled & WEPP Installed
(GWh) Capacity (MW) Capacity (MW) Capacity (MW)

USD-based purchase guarantee

For the power plants that have received the Renewable En-
ergy Resources Certificate and completed their investments
by 30 June 2021, HEPP projects have the right to benefit from
the government's 'purchase from production' guarantee of
minimum 7.3 USD cents/kWh for 10 years from the date of
commissioning,

Within the scope of the support mechanism, for the power
plants whose investments are completed by 30 June 2021, the
WPP portfolio can benefit from a minimum purchase guaran-

tee of 7.3USD cents/kWh and the SPP portfolio a minimum of

13.3USD cents/kWh.

On the other hand, the prices to be applied in the first quarter
of 2022 for electricity generation facilities based on renewa-
ble energy sources with YEK certificate, which will be put to
operation between1July 2021 and 31 December 2025, were
announced in the Official Gazette. According to this, the guar-

anteed tariff is 51.44 TLkr/kWh for hydroelectric power plants,

4116 TLkr/kWh for wind power plants, 69.44 TLkr/kWh for
geothermal power plants and 41.16 TLkr/kWh for solar power
plants. Additionally, if domestic equipment was used in the

installation of the renewable energy power plant, an additional
price incentive of 10.29 TLkr/kWh was offered for the first five

years after the power plant was put into operation.
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Realised Generation Output of HEPPs (Gwh):
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5642
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3963

3368 3228
2013 ﬂ
69 ﬂ

*As of 30 November 2012, the transfer of 40% of Karasular Energy
Production and Trade Inc. to Aquila HydropowerINVEST Investitions GmbH &
Co KG was completed, and with the completion of the transfer of the
remaining 60% shares to Aquila in June 2013, 5 power plants with a total
installed capacity of 26 MW were removed from the portfolio. Data shown
exclude Karasular.

Realised
Generation
Output

of SPPs (Gwh)

10495

9599 AN

Realised
Generation
Output

of WPPs (Gwh)

3489
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The annual generation
capacity of Akfen HEPPs

can meet the annual
electricity consumption
of 321,000 families of
four

HEPP As of 31 December 2020, 13 HEPPs belonging to Akfen Renewable Energy have an installed capacity of
235.7MW.The annual energy production capacity of these power plants is 916.8 GWh. Total electricity
Group generation in 2021 decreased by 25% compared to 2020 and was 453 GWh.

Realized Generation
Company HEPP Installed | Generation Cap. Cortlmercial Output (GWh)
Cap. (MW) (GWh/years) Operation Date 2021 2020
Otluca 48.8 224.0 April 2011 139.5 185.0
Sirma 6.7 232 June 2009 6.0 10.9
Sekiyakalll 35 171 Jan.14- Aug.5 121 13.2
HEPP Camlicalll 285 1045 April2o11 | 293 64.5
PROJECTS g Saracbendi 263 100.5 May 2011 246 59.6
Demirciler 87 345 August 2012 15.8 14.8
Kavakcall n.4 443 March 2013 232 224
Gelinkaya 71 258 June 2013 7.8 77
Dogancay 31.6 7.7 Aug-Sept.14 83.0 100.0
'3 HEPP BT Bordo Yagmur 9.2 315 November 2012 213 217
2357MW Yenidoruk | Doruk 289 755 Sept. 2014 577 62.4
HH.K.Enerji | Calikobast 181 423 June'17-May"18 21.6 263
Kurtal Cigekli -II* 7.0 219 Sept.2019 1.1 17.3
Total 235.7 916.8 453.0 605.7

*As aresult of the flood disaster on July 22, 2021, generation at the facility stopped.
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_ Akfen Renewable

Energy's annual
electricity generation

of 1,706 GWh is more
than the electricity
consumption of 56
provinces in 2021

WPP Akfen Renewable Energy's WPP portfolio reached and Demirciler WPP projects with aninstalled
an installed capacity of 348.9 MW by the end of capacity of 80.3 MW in Osmaniye. Following the
Group 2021. The WPP Group's 2021 energy generation was addition of Saritepe-Demirciler WPP, which stands
1,049.5 GWh with an increase of 9.3% compared to out as the largest purchase agreement of 2019, to
the previous year. Akfen Renewable Energy signed the portfolio, the operational wind installed power in
ashare purchase agreement in December 2019 for Akfen Renewable Energy's portfolio is 348.9 MW as
ZorluWind Energy Electric Production Inc.'s Saritepe  of the end of 2021.

Realized Generation
Installed Commercial Output (GWh)
Company Project Name Cap.(MW) Location Operation Date 2021 2020
— ]l
ar Isider Energy Kocalar 30.6 Canakkale March 2019 1.0 113.0
o] .
Derbent Energy Ucptnar 12.2 Canakkale May-June 2019 353.8 3445
Kovanct Energy Hasanoba 51.0 Canakkale Aug-Sept. 2019 1373 1285
6 WPP Korda Energy Denizli 74.8 Denizli Sept.-Oct. 2019 2271 166.0
3489Mw  ImbatEnergy Saritepe 57.0 Osmaniye Aug. 2016 160.7 151.0
imbat Energy Demirciler 233 Osmaniye Aug. 2016 59.5 56.9
Total 348.9 1,049.5 959.9
SPP The solar energy group's 2021 energy production amounted to 203.4 GWh, with an increase of 10%

compared to the previous year. As of the end of 2021, the SPP portfolio has been completed and the
Group installed power has reached 121.4 MW.

Realized Generation
Installed Commercial Output (GWh)

Project Name Type Cap.(MW) Location Operation Date 2021 2020
Yaysun Unlicensed 0.6 Konya Feb.2014 0.9 0.9
DenizliProjects  Unlicensed 74 Denizli May 2015 12.2 12.2
Solentegre Licensed 9. Elazig Oct. 2016 14.8 14.1
Solentegre Unlicensed 0.6 Elazig Feb.2016 0.9 0.9
Amasya Projects  Unlicensed n.2 Amasya 16-23 Aug.'17 16.9 17.5
Karine Unlicensed 0.6 Elazig Aug.2017 1.0 0.9
Tokat Projects Unlicensed 56 Tokat Oct. 2017 82 8.8
'4 Spp Omicron Engil Licensed 121 Van Sept. 2018 217 20.5
Omicron Ercis Licensed 121 Van Sept. 2018 217 205
1214MW Yaysun Licensed 121 Konya Sept. 2018 201 19.7
ME-SE Licensed 121 Konya Sept. 2018 19.4 19.2
MT Dogal Licensed 121 Konya Sept. 2018 20.4 19.9
PSi Licensed 13.0 Van July 2019 238 223
IOTA Licensed 13.0 Malatya Aug.2020 215 73

Total 121.4 203.4 184.8
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Port Sector

2.1 million TEU of the 12.1 million TEU, which is the total amount of
containers handled in Turkey in 2021, was carried out by MIP.

90% of world goods trade and 87% of Turkey's goods trade is carried
out by sea transportation. The most important reason for preferring
the seaways globally is the lower costs compared to land and air
transportation.

Geographical superiority

In Turkey, in addition to the lower costs, Turkey's geographical loca-
tion, its closeness to the Asian, European and African continents are
important factors in the advantage and development of the maritime
transport sector. Additionally, Turkey has made large investments

in port operations over the last ten years, doubling capacity and the
number of containers. Sea transportation has become a very common
and preferred mode of transportation in Turkey. Ports such as Izmir
Port, Ambarli Port, Mersin Port are important both in foreign trade
and in transportation to neighboring countries.

The container port sector is affected by all developments in the glo-
bal economy. Container volume and economic growth develop parallel
to each other. On the other hand, the anticipated improvement in
containerized trade brings with it the expectation of growth in the
number of containers handled globally.

According to the Drewry 2021 Container Forecast Report, the amount
of containers handled worldwide is expected to reach 849 million
TEU in 2021 with anincrease of 8.3%. In Turkey, on the other hand, the
increase in foreign trade volume, increases in trade with neighboring
countries and private capital's port investments ensure the rapid
growth of the sector.

According to TURKLIM data, the amount of containers handled in
import-export and domestic transportation reached 8.7 million TEU
(2020: 8.4 million TEU) in 2021, while the volume of transshipment
cargo reached 3.5 million TEU (2020: 3.0 million TEU).

The total amount of cargo handled in 2021 reached 12.1 million TEU
(2020:11.4 million TEU). Conventional cargo amount was measured as
140 million tons (2020:134.9 million tons).

In 2021, when GDP grew by 11.0% and total foreign trade volume by
27.6% in Turkey, the growth in the volume of containers handled was
6.7%, while the increase in conventional cargo was 3.8%.

10-year container growth exceeds national growth

Over the 10-year period between 2011-2021, the container volume
growth was above the country's growth. While the Turkish economy
has grown by an average of 5.2% over the last 10 years, container
transportation has grown by 6.2%. In the same period, our total
foreign trade volume increased by an average of 2.5% annually. In
conventional cargo, the average growth of the last 10 years has been
calculated as 3%.
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World Container Volume
Distribution by Region (2021-%)

Asia 53.9

© Europe 16.7

. North America 9.0

L4 Middle East / South Asia 8.7
® Latin America 6.4

® o Africa 3.7
Oceania 1.6

World 100.0

Source: Drewry Report 2021
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in Turkey
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The Development
of Conventional
Cargo in Turkey
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Source: Turklim
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Leading Port with
its Unique Location

MIP as Turkey's largest multi-purpose export-import
container port, is Turkey's leading container port

with its land, air and rail connections. MIP, with its
6,200 customers to whom it provides regular service
worldwide, has a17.1% market share among Turkish
container ports and a 20.5% market share in terms of
import-export-transit container business volume.

Thanks to its strategic location, capacity, and land, air
and railway connections, MIP is Turkey's leading port
with combined transportation options it offers to
industrialized cities and neighboring countries. It also
has a diversified, fast-developing hinterland with an
established ecosystem.

Gateway to 190 countries

MIP is directly connected to the Mersin Free Zone with
atotal area of 836,322 m2 MIP, one of the world's top
100 container ports with its high quality infrastructure,
trained human resources, strong relationships with
customers and shipping companies, is Turkey's gateway
to mutual trade with 190 countries.

Transit trade connection to neighboring
countries

MIP plays animportant role in regional trade, especially
for industrialized cities of Turkey such as Adana, Ankara,
Gaziantep, Kayseri, Kahramanmaras and Konya, and is an
important transit trade connection point to neighboring
countries.

With its 124 hectare area, MIP is Turkey's largest multi-
purpose port, providing container, conventional, Ro-Ro
and maritime services, and provides regular service

to0 6,200 customers around the world. With over 2,000
employees, MIP has a market share of 75.4% among the
Eastern Mediterranean ports (MIP, Assan and Limak)
with a total of 32 services it offers.

MIP's paths crossed with Akfen Holding as a result of
the tender held by the Privatization Administration in
2007. Akfen-PSA partnership won the 36-year transfer
of operating rights for MIP with a USD755 million offer.
MIP. which handled 800 thousand TEU containers when
it was taken over from Turkish State Railways in 2007,
handled 1.6 million TEU containers in 2017 when Akfen
Holding sold 40% of its shares to Global InfraCo SP
NEUM SLU.

Akfen Holding sold 40% of its shares in MIP to Global

MIP one more time,

managed to complete
2021 as the sector
leader, as Turkey's

largest container port

Shareholding
Structure

!Akfen H. !PSA Turkey Pte LTD LGlobal InfraCo

10% 51% NEUMSLU 39%

Subsidiary Structure
Mersin Denizcilik Faaliyetlerive Tic. A.S. 100%

InfraCo SP NEUM SLU for USD 869 million. The
signature for the sale was signed on 28 July 2017 and the
sale was completed as of 27 October 2017.

Investments exceeded 1.2 billion dollars

In accordance with the concession agreement signed

in 2007, between 2007 and 2020, a total of USD 407
million investment was made, USD 120 million of which
was for operational efficiency and USD 282 million

for capacity increase. With the USD 755 million paid in
return for operating rights, the total investment cost
exceeded USD 1.2 billion. After the investments, before
the transfer of the concession rights, the capacity of the
port, which was 900 thousand TEU in 2007 was increased
approximately 3 times and reached 2.6 million TEU in
2016. The first phase of the EMH project, which enabled it
toreach this capacity was started to be built in 2014 and
was completed on 8 August 2016.

First phase investment of USD 152.8 million

In the first phase of the EMH Project a total of USD
152.8 million investment was made, of which USD 52.5
million was for equipment and USD 100.3 million for
infrastructure. Thanks to this investment of the port, the
berth capacity has reached 2.6 million TEU and the field
capacity has reached 2.2 million TEU. Additionally, the
port, which has a depth of 15 meters, can serve ships up
to 387 meters in length.

As of the end of 2017, the work of the EMH Phase-2 has
started. When EMH Phase-2 is completed, the quay
capacity will be increased to 3.6 million TEU and it will
be able to serve two mega ships at the same time. The
target is to gradually increase the handling capacity of
the port to 4.6 million TEU within10 years.
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Container Regime Breakdown ()

Transit Transhipment Transit

51% 6.6%

Transhipment

Cabotage 0.01% Cabotage 0.01%

MIP Port Development (2007-2021)

2021 2007

Capacity (million TEU) 26 09
Container 9 6 Allocated,
3multi purpose

Max Ship Size (thousand TEU) 18 5
Gantry Crane 12 5
Mobile Crane (MHC) 5 1
Container Stacking Site 38ha 20ha
-RTG 0 7
-E-RTG 38 0

- Full Container Handling Machine 17 10
-Empty Container Handling Machine 21 13
Number of Container Slots 15,564 7,000

Approximately 174
football fields fit on

the area of MIP which
serves on 124 hectares

MIP’s

Position in the

Mediterranean Basin
Strengthened

MIP continues to increase its competitiveness in
the Mediterranean with its pier, environmentally
friendly equipment, transformer center providing
its own electricity and technology investments.

In addition to EMH investments, MIP's position
in the Mediterranean basin has become even
stronger with its 500-meter-long dock, state-of-
the-art and environmentally friendly equipment,
a15,500- volt transformer center to meet the
electricity it needs, and a106 thousand m?
backyard.

As aresult of all these investments, MIP has
become a port that handles 2 million TEU
containers annually, has a conventional cargo
capacity of over 10 million tons, and has an annual
transaction volume of over 30 million tons.

USD 600 million bond issue

Continually improving its port capacity, MIP

is also getting stronger financially. Through
international banks, MIP issued new bond
amounting to USD 600 million in November

2019 as part of the refinancing of the USD 450
million bond it issued abroad in 2013, and made an
early repayment of the USD 450 million bond in
December 2019. S&P rated the USD 600 million
bond issued in November 2019 with BB- and Fitch
rated BB-. As of 31 December 2021, the price

of the bond was USD 102,067 and its yield was
4.21%.

Dividend Payment

With the temporary article 13 added to the
Turkish Commercial Code numbered 6102 and
within the scope of the measures taken to
alleviate the negative effects of the coronavirus
epidemic on economic activities, restrictions
were put into place on the dividend distribution
rights of capital companies until 31 December
2020; due to the effect of the dividend amount
that could not be paid in 2020, dividend paid in
2021 increased and totaled 1,067 million TL.
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Significant Investments Made in 2021

Construction Investments (2021)

[ ] ([ ] [ ([ ] ([ ]

Dock No. Dock No.8-11seaside Anadditional tank Warehouse No.1has A Gate Pedestrian Crossing
15has been cranerail has been investmentwasmade  beenconvertedintoa Corridor was built and the
renovated. replaced. in the bilge facility. cold storage facility. security level of the port

entrance was increased.

Equipment Investments (2021)

Prime Mover (with trailer) 5 Units
Reach Stacker for outfields 3 Units
Outdoor Truck (with trailer) 15 Units
Rubber Tire Industrial Excavator

for General Cargo Operations-

27 meters reach 2 Units
Forklifts for CFS Operations 12 Units
5 ton Forklifts for General

Cargo Operations 2 Units
100 m3 Bunkers for General

Cargo Operations 2 Units

(Spare for BK02 and BK03)
Conveyor Belts for CFS Operations 4 Units

12 Meter Long Trailer for

General Cargo Operations 6 Units
Telescopic handler for

General Cargo Operations 1Piece
90x70 cm Marble Scales

for General Cargo Operations 2 Pieces
Forklift Attachment for

CFS Operations 1Piece

(Boom for 32-ton Forklift)

Gates Project

Other Investments (2021)

EMH Il Expansion Project

In addition to equipment investments, the environmental sensitivity
of the EMH 2 Expansion Project has been raised to European
Standards.

MIP has recently invested USD250 million for capacity expansion,
equipment and infrastructure projects. Studies continue for the EMH
[l Mersin Port Expansion Project of USD 375 million dollars next year.

MIP has to achieve the capability to serve mega ships, the number of
whichis increasing due to developing industries. With the completion
of the EMH Il Project, which was initiated to respond to this need, the
total capacity of the port will increase by 1 million TEU to 3.6 million

TEU, and it will be possible to serve two mega ships at the same time.

With the expansion project, direct employment opportunities for 500
people and indirect employment opportunities for 5thousand people
will be provided, and MIP will gain a stronger position among Turkey's
Mediterranean ports. Despite the fact that no legal obligations were
present, many environmental impact studies, such as social impact,
sound, biodiversity impact and air quality analyses were conducted
for the project, which was planned with a more livable environment
approach, and this reflects the sensitivity of MIP towards
environmental matters. With these analyses, the environmental
sensitivity level of the project has been raised to European standards.
The project, which will be put into service with a budget of USD 375
million, will be completed in 20 months |
and this investment will be a permanent i | T
value of Mersin.

The budget of the Gates Project, which aims to position Mersin Port and Mersin at a level that can support increasing
global trade, has been determined as USD 27 million. Access to Mersin Port is mostly provided through the
highway-D400 connection in the Adana-D400 direction.

Within the scope of the project, with the direct connection of the port D gate with the highway, the TIRs arriving for

the port will be able to enter the port directly. Thus, the traffic problem caused by the trucks arriving for Mersin Port

at the entrance of the city will be solved. Additionally, the project will provide more efficient truck traffic management
and speed up the cargo handling process, making the logistics chain more cost-effective. The Gates Project, which is of
historical importance for the future of Mersin, will not only divert the port traffic from the city's D400 road, but will also
support the increased capacity in the port as it will accelerate the TIR entries.

(R (s
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Highlights of 2021

» Container volume grew by 4.4%, conventional cargo
volume by 19%

» Turkey's largest container port MIP maintained its
leading port position with 2.1 million TEU container and
9 million tons of conventional business volume in 2021.

» MIP reached another milestone in 2021: The histori-
cal conventional cargo record of 61years was broken
with a business volume of 9 million tons. The container
handling record of 2 million TEU recorded in 2020 in
the container business volume was exceeded in 2021
with approximately 2.1 million TEU.

The growth in transaction volume of MIP in 2021 was
above the Turkey average. In 2021, container business
volume increased by 4.4% compared to the previous
year, from 2 million TEU to 2.1 million TEU. The increa-
sing export figures of Turkey and the region, especially
in the second half of the year, and the resulting incre-
ase in the need for raw materials were effective in the
increase in container volume.

Awards

RANKED 265 IN THE

TOP 500 COMPANIES LIST

MIP ranked 240th in the "Turkey's Top 500 Private ol
Companies" list published by Capital magazine in2021. =% Containers Served

ATLAS LOGISTICS i

'PORT OF THE YEAR' AWARD szMl!)P W,zre l “Fe du I:h)
MIP won the "Port of the Year" award given within the slde y SldE, ale ngt
scope of Atlas Logistics Awards in 2011, 2012, 2013, Of 12 793 km wou [d b a)
2014, 2015, 2016, 2017, 2018, 2019, 2020, and crowned ' 3

its success this year when it received the same award reac h e d . Th (S le ngth
for the eleventh consecutive year, by being selected as 3 .

the "Port of the Year"in 2021. : S almOSt twice the
Ranked 92 on LLOYD'S LIST | distance between
MIP was ranked 92"in the "The World's 100 Largest TU rkey an d ‘th a] U SA
Container Ports" list published by Lloyd's List magazine.
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Copper Mining Sector

Copper, which has the best conductivity among metallic
minerals, is used effectively in energy, communication,
construction, transportation vehicles and industrial mac-
hinery manufacturing sectors. The wide usage areas and
increasing consumption of copper push copper producers
to seek new deposits.

According to the data of the International Copper Study
Group (ICSG), copper mine production in the world was 21
million tons (copper metal content) in 2021 with anincrea-
se of 2.2% compared to the previous year. Refined copper

(]
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Copper Mining In Turkey

» The majority of the mines used in industry exist in Turkey.
According to the research of the General Directorate of
Mineral Research and Exploration, dolomite, marble, lignite
coal, hard coal, rock salt, boron, pumice and copper ore are
among the most abundant minerals in Turkey.

»When we look at the export market composition of Tur-
key's mining sector, it is seen that China, the world's largest
importer of mineral products, ranks first with a share of
29%. Mineral exports to China increased by 17% in 2020
and amounted to around USD 759 million. Spain, Belgium
and Bulgaria stand out as other important export markets
for the sector. In the mining sector, there was a 3% incre-
ase in 2020 compared to the previous year and the total
exports reached USD 2 billion 622 million.

P When we look at Turkey's import market portfolio in the
mining sector, it is seen that the Russian Federation ranks
first with a share of 27%. Apart from Russia, Colombia,
Brazil and the USA are also prominent markets in the

production in 2021 increased by 1.4% to 24.9 million tons,
while consumption increased by 1.4% to 25.3 million tons.
By converting imported copper raw material into refined
copper, China realizes 41% of the world's refined copper
production.

ICSG announced that the deficit in the global copper
market decreased from 484,000 tons to 475,000 tons in
2021, compared to the previous year. In 2021, the price of
copper started the year at USD7,861 per ton and rose to
USD10,460 per ton towards the end of the year.

10,460
() 3 ~ () y ~ [} Y
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Source: Bloomberg

sector's imports. Despite the 3% increase in the exports of
the mining sector in 2020 compared to the previous year,
there was a decrease of approximately 14% in the imports
of the sector..

» When Turkey's mineral foreign trade in 2020 is exami-
ned, it is seen that mineral exports decreased by 18.32%
compared to the previous year and amounted to USD
4,067,628,799, while imports decreased by 17,50% and
amounted to USD 4,716,376,994. Accordingly, the ratio
of exports to imports was 86.24%, and the foreign trade
deficit in mining was USD 648.748.195.

» Countries prominent in mineral exports are China, USA,
Belgium, Spain, Saudi Arabia, Bulgaria, Israel, India, Italy,
and Romania. The prominent ones in mineral imports are
Russia, Colombia, Australia, Sweden, Brazil, Canada, India,
USA, Republic of South Africa, Sweden and Ukraine.

P Inthe ICSG ranking, Turkey ranks 6% in copper metal
consumption in 2020.
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Acacia Mining

Acacia Mining Operations Inc. (Acacia), in which Akfen
Holding is in partnership with ilbak Mining and Iz Bir
Mining, operates Gokirmak Copper Mine located in
Handnd district of Kastamonu province. Akfen Group
became a partner by purchasing 30% of the Company
in 2016.

£340 mn investment, $370 mn export income

Acacia processes copper ore at its flotation plant to
produce copper concentrate, which is an intermediate
product in the metallic copper production process.
The company will spend a total of USD 340 millionin
investment, including the operational period.

The company will process 21 million tons of ore at
its facilities to produce 1,320,000 tons of copper
concentrate during its 11-year mine life.

Acacia has so far produced 260,000 tons of copper
concentrate with 56.000 tons of copper metal content
and exported all of it, providing our country with an
export income of over USD 370 million.

Copper Price (USs/t)

11.05.202 9,7218

04.07.2017
04.07.2018
04.07.2019
04.01.2020
04.07.2020
04.07.2021

Source: Bloomberg, LME copper:

!Akfen Holding ! iz Bir Maden

1.9 million tons of copper
ore processed in 2021 s

equivalent to the load that
approximately 55,000
trucks can carry

Shareholding | . * ¢
Structure LTy

!'tbak Madencilik

30% 40% 30%

Subsidiary Structure
Gokirmak Maden I ve Dis Ticaret A.S.* 100%

*Gokirmak Mining., which was decided to be established with the
decision of the Ordinary General Assembly dated 19.04.2021. It
was established in 2021 as a100% subsidiary.

31.12.2021

31122021

The Goal Is To Extend Mine
Life Over 20 Years

In the commissioning of Gokirmak Mine, 48% of the
financing was provided from equity, the remaining part
was provided by the consortium formed by European
banks BNP Paribas S.A., ING European Financial Services,
Societe Generale and Traxys. The resource was given as
project financing. The Concessional Loan Agreement and
Traxys Agreement, to which the Company is a party, have
been amended as of 28 January and 15 February 2022
respectively, and the interest rates have beenrevised as
3.90%+Libor and 6%+Libor annually. Societe Generale
Bank exited the consortium and its share in the consor-
tium loan was taken over by BNP Paribas SA and ING
Bank NV equally.

In addition to the mining license on which the com-
pany is currently producing, there are 5 more op-
erating licenses for the same region. As part of
its exploration activities, the Company's drilling

andreserve determination activities continue,
and its target is to increase the mine reserve
and increase the mine life to over 20 years.

Employment for 1,100 people

The foreign exchange return that the company will

provide during the 11-year mine life is estimated to
be USD 1.9 billion. The company employs 850 people

directly and 250 people indirectly, 1,100 people in total.

Acacia Mining

Copper Concentrate
Processed Copper Ore (tons) Production (dry tons) Produced Copper Metal (tons)
2021 2020 Change 2021 2020 Change 2021 2020 Change
1,908,534 1,829,459 4.3% 105,127 101,392 3.7% 21,632 22,589 -4.2%
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Features of Gokirmak Copper Mine
Production of Copper
2 million tons of Copper Concentrate Containing
Ore Produced EveryYear 229% Copper Metal

The ore extracted from the mine is
transported by trucks to the ore enrichment
facility with an annual ore processing
capacity of 2,000,000 tons, located 5.3km
from the mine. The ore fed to the facility in
75 cm pieces is reduced to 20 microns in the
crushing, sifting and grinding units and fed
to the flotation unit. Copper ore is converted
into copper concentrate containing 22%
copper in the flotation unit. Annual
average concentrate production is

In the region where the open pit copper
mine is located, more than 113,000
meters of drilling has been carried out
to date, and an economically producible
copper reserve of 21 million tons
containing an average 1.4% copper has
been found.

120,000 tons.
(] o L]
A Mine Project Create Add Value in
L]

Important for Turkey Many Fields
Our country’s annual consumption of The socio-economic impacts of the
copper and its products is 400,000 tons, project; it creates value inareas
and the annual production of copper metal such as local industry, employment,
equivalent from mining activities and scrap transportation, material supply,
is approximately 120,000 tons. engineering and contracting services,
The difference of 300,000 tons (USD local construction sector, local

21billion) is covered by imports. Acacia public support programs, electricity

produces 26,000 tons of copper containing consumption, tax, other mineral
copper concentrate per year with the exploration and project investments,
Gokirmak Copper Mine. This corresponds to and exports.
10% of our country's imports.
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Wastewater and
Solid Waste Sector

The annual amount of usable water per capita in our country
was 1.652 m3in 2000, 1.544 m3 in 2009 and 1,346 m3in 2020.
Considering the per capita usable water potential, Turkey is
among the countries experiencing water pressure (Source:
DS]). According to TUIK data, 45.4% of the total water
withdrawn in 2020 was used in thermal power plants, 35.6%
in municipalities, 14.2% in manufacturing industry workp-
laces, 2.3% invillages, 1.5% in mining enterprises and 1% in
0OlZs.Based on this data, water recovery, reuse and water
saving are important. In the wastewater sector, technology
solutions that enable water to be treated and reused rather
than treated and discharged to the receiving environment
are becoming arising trend.

According to the results of the Municipal Water Statistics
Survey for 2020 applied to all municipalities in Turkey, 1,387
out 0f 1,389 municipalities were served from drinking and
utility water networks. 6.5 billion m? of water was drawn
fromwater sources to drinking and utility water networks
by municipalities. 40.9% of the withdrawn water was
obtained from dams, 29.3% from wells, 15.6% from springs,
10.1% fromrivers and 4% from lakes, ponds or seas.

Parliament ratified the
Paris Agreement in 2021

Recycling of waste is an important step in preventing clima-
te change by reducing greenhouse gas and carbon emissi-
ons, as well as providing energy and raw materials. With the
ratification of the Paris Agreement by the Turkish Grand
National Assembly as of 6 October 2021, Turkey has made a
commitment to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. The long-

termgoal of the agreement is to keep the global average
temperature increase below 2°C compared to the pre-in-
dustrial period, and to continue the global efforts to keep
this increase below 1.5°C. Increasing the adaptability and
climate resilience to the negative effects of climate change,
ensuring development with low greenhouse gas emissions,
and ensuring that food production is not harmed while these
arerealized are stated as another main objective (Source:
Ministry of Environment and Urbanization). The correct
management of waste is of great importance in the field of
sustainability and in the fight against climate change, and

it becomes the primary goal to develop methods that will
ensure recycling rather than eliminating waste.

The amount of processed
waste increased by 22%

In 2020, from127.4 million tons of waste processed in waste
disposal and recovery facilities, 78.3 million tons were
disposed of and 49.1 million tons were recovered. The total
amount of processed waste increased by 22% compared to
2018.

The total capacity of the sanitary landfills was determined
as 1.2 billion m3.77.8 million tons of waste, 31.9 million tons
of which was hazardous, was disposed of in a total of 174
landfills.

Energy recovery was achieved by burning 1.3 million tons
of waste in co-incineration facilities with waste recovery
licenses. Other licensed waste recovery facilities excluding
compost and co-incineration facilities, recovered a total of
47.6 million tons of metal, plastic, paper, mineral, etc.
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Sea Water Treatment Plant An
Important Step For Istanbul

In terms of waste management,
the Sea Water Treatment Plant and
Deep Sea Discharge projects plan-
ned for Istanbul are animportant
development for the sector.

It is estimated that the waste
management sector in Turkey exce-
eds 5hbillion Euros. Long-standing
cooperation agreements between
Turkey and the EU in the field of
waste management have led to the
harmonization of Turkish waste
legislation with the EU and the
gradual modernization of waste-re-
lated infrastructure.
Environmental protection expen-
ditures increased by 8.9% in 2020
compared to the previous year

and totaled 41.7billion TL. 59.1% of
environmental protection expen-

ditures were made by financial and
non-financial companies, 32.8% by
general government and non-profit
organizations serving households,
and 8.2% by households.

Environmental protection in-
vestments increased by 21.5%
compared to the previous year and
amounted to 7.8 billion TL.81.9%
of this was made by financial and
non-financial companies, and18.1%
by the general government and
non-profit organizations serving
households.

While 3.5 billion TL investment was
made on waste management servi-
ces and 2.9 billion TL on wastewater
management services, 1.3 billion TL
investment was made on environ-
mental protection in other areas.

Environmental Protection
Expenses by Subject (>020)

Waste management 54.4%
Waterwaste management 31.4%
Other environment
protection exp.
Protection of biodiversity
and landscape

Soil, groundwater and
surface water protection 3.2%
and quality improvement

Source: TurkStat

6.7%

4.3%
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Akfen

Environment 4

and Water

Akfen Environment and Water, serving with Build-Operate-
Transfer, Concession, Turnkey Construction and Operation
&Maintenance contract models, develops projects for

the design, financing, construction and operation of water
and sewerage networks, network water distribution from

underground and surface water reservoirs, treatment plants,

desalination plants and integrated waste management
facilities.

Providing services with models such as Public Private
Partnership, EPC and EPCf, Akfen Environment and Water
offers quality, reliable, efficient and competitive solutions
to Public and Private Sector employers in the planning and
implementation of project management, detail engineering,
construction, mechanical and electrical works.

Kardan NV, 50% shareholder of the company, is an
international investment company with an engineer staff of
more than a thousand, established in the Netherlands and
is among the leading companies in the world with its water,

wastewater and waste infrastructure investments in Europe,

Africa, Asia, South America and the Mediterranean Basin.

As of 31 December 2021, the number of Akfen Environment
and Water employees is 6.

Dilovasi was transferred in 2019

Akfen Environment and Water signed a BOT contract with
the Dilovast Organized Industrial Zone Directorate on 3
August 2007. As of 1July 2010, the waste water treatment
plant, sludge drying facility and waste water collector lines
with a capacity of 21,144 m3/day (11,000 m2 of which is active)
were put into operation within the framework of the 29-
year BOT contract. With this project, Akfen Environment
and Water became the implementer of the first BOT model
developed for the solution of wastewater treatment
problems in organized industrial zones in Turkey. The project
was transferred to Kocaeli Gebze Dilovast Organized
Industrial Zone on1August 2019.

AkfenWater is the first
private sector company
in Turkey that provides
services in the fields

of potable water and
wastewater networks,
wastewater treatment

m integrated waste
. management with
' “concession and

| -~ WSSPPP models

Shareholding Structure

! kfen Holding 50% !Kardan 50%

Waste Management

K'Yozgat City Hospital Waste Management™
* Eskisehir City Hospital Waste Management
*Isparta City Hospital Waste Management

* Tekirdag City Hospital Waste Management
«IDO Solid Waste & Environment Man.

\°Mersin International Port Waste Man.

Within the framework of the Concession Agreement
for the Construction and Operation of Potable and
Utility Water Supply and Wastewater Treatment
Plant signed with the Municipality of Gillik on 29
August 2006, all investments related to this project,
whose right of concession has been transferred for 35
years, have been invested by the Akfen Environment
and Water's own resources and project finance loan
from the European Reconstruction and Development
Bank (EBRD). The project, which is the first and only
concession agreement in which the privileges of
water supply, distribution, waste water collection

and treatment of a municipality are transferred to

the private sector with the opinion of the Council of
State and the decision of the Ministry of Interior, was
transferred to Hzr Environment and Water Investments
Inc.on19 April 2021 with all its rights and obligations.

Leader in waste management

Akfen Environment and Water successfully continues
to provide services to IDO within the framework of

* All shares of Akfen Giilliik Environment and Water Investment Construction Operations Inc, a wholly owned subsidiary of Akfen
Environment and Water, were transferred to Hzr Environment and Water Investments Inc. on 19 April 2021 with all its rights and obligations.
**Yozgat City Hospital contract and accordingly waste services has been terminated as of 26.10.2021.
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With the recycled portion
of 5,162 tons of waste,
approximately 1,700 trees
were saved, 1,300 tons of
metal raw materials were
obtained and 41,000 kg of

greenhouse gas
emissions were
reduced

the Waste and Environmental Management Agreement it signed
with the company in 2012. Since August 2016, the company has
also started to provide the "Disposal and Recycling of Hazardous
and Non-Hazardous Wastes" service for MIP. Being the first
company to provide Integrated Waste Management services to
City Hospitals with the PPP model, Akfen Environment and Water
has designed the Waste Management Services of the first 3 City

(® Construction of water and

Hospitals opened in Turkey with the supervision and approval of wastewater networks

the Public Administrations and started to operate them as of 2017. )

The Company, which has established and managed the integrated (® Improvingreserves

waste management systems of 6 City Hospitals with a total bed .
capacity of 7,987 since 2017, has become the pioneer and leading (® Treatment systems construction
Company of the sector by establishing the method and service o

standards of City Hospitals Waste Management Services. (® Distribution of groundwater
Continuing to serve 4 city hospitals in 2021, Akfen Environment . .
and Waterggives Integratz/ed Wgste Management Services to (® Development of sustainable solid

Yozgat City Hospital with a capacity of 475 beds that started waste management systems
accepting patients in January 2017, Isparta City Hospital with a
capacity of 855 beds which started accepting patients in March
2017, and Eskisehir City Hospital with a bed capacity of 1,081 that
started service in October 2018 and finally the 605-bed Tekirdag
City Hospital, which was opened in December 2020.

Aiming to implement exemplary services, practices and strategies
with water and waste management investments for a sustainable
development, Akfen Environment and Water, continuing to
provide 7/24 uninterrupted service for the sorting, recycling

and disposal of medical, hazardous, packaging and household
wastes at the source, ensured the disposal and recycling of a

total of 420 tons/month of waste, with an average of 120 tons of
medical waste and 300 tons of other waste per month in 2021,
with processes and technologies that minimize the environmental
impacts of said waste.

Leading company in waste management
services of city hospitals

Akfen Environment and Water continued to be a prominent
and qualified player in this field by undertaking the waste

management services of 4 city hospitals with a total bed capacity
of 3,016in 2021.

Being the first company to design and implement integrated
waste management services in city hospitals, Akfen Environment
and Water closely monitors the integrated waste management
works of health institutions which are expected to be opened
within the scope of city hospitals projects and industrial facilities
in different sectors, and aims to grow in the sector.
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Acacia Mining
Treatment Plant Project

Akfen Environment and Water won the tender for, using
the latest technology integrated treatment systems
applied today, the design, planning, construction and
operation for 3 months of the 9,600 m3/day capacity
treatment plant, needed to treat the wastewater stored
in the Waste Storage Facility (ADT-1) with a capacity of
Smillion m3where the wastes coming out of the copper
mine and ore enrichment facilities operated by Acacia
Mining Operations in Handnii district of Kastamonu
province. The project design and turnkey construction
contract for the facility for the reuse and/or return to
the nature of the top water collected in the tailings dam
has been signed.

Following the completion of the engineering and project
design studies, the construction that started in 2021
were completed in the same year and the facility started
operation. The wastewater originating from the copper
mine and ore enrichment facilities is treated with physi-
cal, chemical and membrane systems, and the tail water
is recovered as high quality process feed water, and drin-
king and utility water quality parameters are achieved.

Akasya Mine Recycled
@ Water Amount 2.6 million 9,600
m3 has the capacity to fill g
WRRRRXS approximately 1,050 olympic m/day
pools in1year.

In order to ensure the uninterrupted operation of the
mining processes, the system capacity was divided into
two, with process redundancy, and hot redundancy with
equipment on the line, thus eliminating the risks that
may be encountered in continuous operation. More than
80% of the treatment plant piping works were built as
open lines (gallery structures), thus enabling the fastest
response to possible operational risks. In every step

of the process, thanks to the location MCCs and the
advanced SCADA system, full control is provided within
the facility, while the full integration of the operation
into the mine production processes is ensured, and the
required amount and quality of water are under control
and automation during the operation phase.

Highlights of 2021

The First Copper Mine
Wastewater Treatment and
Recovery Plant in Turkey

became operational

The Copper Mine Wastewater Treatment
and Recovery Plant EPC project with a
capacity of 9,600 m3/day has been suc-
cessfully completed. With this project,
which is the first in Turkey, the wastewa-
ter originating from the mine is treated
with advanced treatment systems and
recovered, thus saving water.

Yozgat C.H. Waste Management
Service Terminated

As of October 26, 2021,
Yozgat City Hospital Waste
Management service has
been terminated.

Akfen Giilliik Inc. transferred

The transfer of the 5 E

project was carried out

on19 April 2021.
Active mission at
TAYCED continues

After the acceptance of Akfen Environ-
ment and Water to TAYCED (Waste and

Environmental Management Association),
Akfen Water General Manager Mr.
Emre Sezgin was elected a Member of
the Board of Directors of TAYCED at the
TAYCED Extraordinary General Assembly
on17 October 2018. Active role in TAYCED
studies continued in 2021.
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REIT & Tourism Sector

Turkey's Tourism Revenues & Number of Tourists
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The tourism sector, which with the reduction of the effects of the pandemic and the removal of
restrictions in 2021, saw an increase in the number of visitors by 85% and in revenues by 103%

The tourism sector makes a significant contribution to

the country's economy. The number of tourists, which was
around 10 million in the 2000s, reached 52 million by the end
of 2019.In 2021, with an increase of 85% compared to the
previous year, 29.4 million people visited our country.

37.7% of the foreign tourists who came to Turkey in 2021
came to Antalya, 35.1% to Istanbul and 4.4% to Mugla. The-
se three provinces were followed by Izmir and Ankara with
shares of 2.6% and 1.6% respectively. The COVID-19 epi-
demic, which was first diagnosed in China at the beginning
of 2020, started to show its effects in European countries,
especially Italy, at the beginning of March, and in Turkey as
of the second week of March. In 2021, after the restrictions
were lifted with the increase in vaccination rates, Turkey's
tourism performance started to recover as the number of
visitors increased compared to the previous year.

While the occupancy rates for 2020 were 35% for Turkey
in general, the occupancy rate for Istanbul was 37%. While
the average room price in Turkey for the same period was
70 Euros, it was 78 Euros in Istanbul. In 2021, the occupancy
rate, which was 52.1% in Turkey, was 54.5% in Istanbul.

The average actual room price in this period is 82 Euros in
Turkey and 91 Euros in Istanbul. The negative effect of the
Covid-19 epidemic on hotel occupancy and actual room pri-
ces decreased compared to the previous year, and average
room prices exceeded the level of 2019.

The expenditures of approximately 12.7 million foreign
tourists coming to Turkey in 2020 amounted to an average
of USD 716 per person. Considering that the average ex-
penditure per capita in 2019 was USD 642, it is seen that
per capita expenditures have increased. Looking at the
year 2021, it is seen that approximately 24 million foreign
tourists visited our country and spent an average of USD
785.

76.8% of the revenue was obtained from
foreign visitors

Tourismrevenues in 2021 increased by 103% compared to
the previous year and amounted to USD 24.5 billion. 76.8%

of the income was obtained from foreign visitors and
23.2% from citizens living abroad.

As aresult there was a significant recovery in the tourism
sector in 2021, but the growth prospects for the next period
remain unclear after Russia's invasion of Ukraine, which
started in February 2022.

Onthe other hand, besides the normalization, it is neces-
sary to take into account the competitive advantage arising
from the appreciation of foreign currencies against TL. This
factor, which will provide arelative advantage for Turkey
compared to neighboring countries, will positively affect
the contribution of accommodation and tourism revenues
to the country's economy and its effect on growth.
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Akfen REIT, which started
the concept of city hotel
management that provides

long-term sustainable rental
income in Turkey in 2007 and
has expanded its portfolio with
holiday villages and student
dormitories, has reached a
portfolio consisting of 20
hotels in 3 countries, Tholiday
village, 2 dormitories and1

Akfen Real Estate <
Investment Trust |

Akfen REIT has reached a portfolio of 21 hotels, 2 dormi-
tories, 1Tresort and 1 office building over 14 years since
2007, with the “Contemporary City Hotels" project that it
pioneered in the sector. Thus, Akfen REIT has become one
of Turkey's main hotel investors, primarily with its Accor
expertise. The company, which started its operations as

Aksel Tourism Investments and Management Inc.in 1997, Shareholdmg StrHCture
was transformed into a real estate investment trust in

2006. !Akfen Holding !HamdiAkm Leakfenint.  LOther*

The company has taken action to fill the gap it identified 23.94% 40.83% 20.96%  14.27%
inthe 3 and 4 star hotel classes, especially in cities other *Actual Free Float
than Istanbul, under an international brand. After the pub-

lic offering process in 2011, Akfen REIT shares started to

be traded on the Borsa Istanbul on 11 May 2011. The actual Subsidiary Structure (Direct and Indirect)

free float is 14.10%. At the end of 2021, the closing price ) ) .

of Akfen GYO shares was 7.35 TL (Close market value: 9.6 Akfen GayrimenkulTic. ve Ins. 100%

billions TL). With the capital increases in 2021, its capital  Akfen Karakdy Gayrimenkul Yatirimlarive Ins. AS.  91.47%

has i d7times. ,
% lncrea:_:,e 7eimes . . AkfenIns. Tur.ve Tic. AS. ve
Strategic partnership with Accor

Akfen GYO A.S. Adi Ortakligt 100%
Akfen REIT, which became a strategic partner of Accor S
in 2005, one of the world's leading hotel chains, obtains ~ 'erostaviOtellnvest Ltd. 97.8%
regular and predictable rental income by signing long- Samstroykom Ltd. 97.8%
term rental agreements for the hotels it opens in Turkey S
and Russia. Volgastroykom Ltd. 96.17%
In contracts with Accor regarding Akfen REIT's hotels Kaliningradinvest Ltd. 97.8%
(except 3 hotels in Russia, Bodrum and TRNC) Akfen Severnyi Avtovokzal Ltd. 100%

REIT has a minimum guarantee requirement for its rental .
income. Rental income for hotels in Turkey is determi- Firatcan Ingaat Tic. ve Turizm A.S. 51%
ned as the higher of a certain percentage of turnover or
adjusted hotel gross profit. This sharing, on the one hand
guarantees a minimum income, and on the other hand, it
has the potential to share in the income increase that will
be provided by the performance of the hotels.

The business model involves developing city hotel
projects under the Novotel and Ibis brands within the
framework of the strategic cooperation between Akfen
REIT and Accor. The company's domestic investments
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Operational Performance of Hotels

No. of Rooms* Occupancy rate
Hotels 2021 2021 2020
Turkey Total 2,477 56% 33%
Turkey Total 865 51% 33%
Grand Total 3,342 55% 33%
(]
Revenue perroom  Total revenue per room 'nter natlona'
(Euro)* (Euro)** °
& Domestic Hotels
Hotels 2021 2020 2021 2020
Opening No. of
Turkey Total 17 10 23 13 DOMESTIC HOTELS Date  Rooms
Turkey Total 19 1 25 15 Zeytinburnu |bis 2007 228
Grand Total 18 10 24 13 Zeytinburnu Novotel 2007 208
Eskisehir Ibis 2007 108
* The 286-room Merit Park Hotel in the TRNC is not included. TrabzonNovotel 2000
** Revenue Per Room=Average Room FeexOccupancy Rate . =
**The total room revenue include room fees and other revenues (food & w
beverage, seminar-congress, banquet income). Gaziantep Novotel 2010 92
Kay o N L
focus on taking the maximum share from the growing middle Kayseri Novotel 2010 96
class potential and from the steadily increasing activity of the Bursa Ibis 2010 200
Turkish business world in the sector. Adana Ibis 2012 165
On the other hand, the 5-star Merit Park Hotel and casino in the Esenyurt Ibis 2013 156
portfolio of Akfen Real Estate Trade, a subsidiary of Akfen REIT, Ibis Alsancak 2013 140
located in Kyrenia, TRNC, has been operated by Voyager, a Net Ibis Ankara Airport 2014 147
Holding group company, since 2013. m
Financial strengthening Tl 2017 200
Akfen REIT contributes to company value by reducing debt INTERNATIONAL HOTELS
and further strengthening its financial structure. Akfen REIT, Merit Park HoteUTRNC 2007 286 Hotel/TRNC 2007 586
which redeemed the convertible bond issued for the first time IV —
b . . L Yaroslavl Ibis/Russia 201 177
y a public company in Turkey by converting it into shares at =
the beginning of 2021, made its second capital increase and w
added Bodrum Loft and two dormitory buildings to its portfolio. Kaliningrad Ibis/Russia 2013 167
Additionally, the company restructured all its financial debts to a Moscow Ibis/Russia 2015 317
maturity of 10 years and closed its Dutch subsidiaries, therefore TOTAL 3,628
directly connected its Russian investments to Akfen Real Estate T e 0 i N
Trade, and took important measures against the negative effects DORMITORIES P Dat§ Roo.ms
of the Covid pandemic by saving on other general expenses, too. P ey
The company strengthened its financial structure by revising its w_“
lease agreements with Accor in a way to increase rental income Kétahya Dormitory 2019 3200
by 10%-22.5% depending on the hotel. TOTAL 7:232
The Company, which provided EUR 55 million in funding with the Opening No. of
third capital increase (161%) in 2021, paid EUR 44 million of this RESORT Date Rooms

amount and 26% of its financial debts early. As of 31 December BodrumLloft 2020 92
iig?-l'st?ge number of employees of Akfen REIT and its subsidia- ﬁL—_y
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Akfen REIT Share Price Performance (TRy) 312202
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Projects Added to the
Portfolio

Bodrum Loft

The Bodrum Loft project, which was built in Bodrum, one
of the most popular tourism centers in Turkey, is located
in the Demirbiikii Region, 15 kilometers from the center of
Bodrum. The allocation period of the land allocated by the 20 Hotels
Ministry of Culture and Tourism is 49 years. Bodrum Loft, I S
which was added to Akfen REIT's portfolio on 9 February 3,628 rooms in Turkey,
2021, consists of 19 blocks and 36 independent sections. Russiaand TRNC.

There are 92 rooms in total in Bodrum Loft. The holiday
village, which was opened in July 2020, has attracted the '
attention of tourists with its location and comfort, and Resort
has reached 100% occupancy rate in 2021 despite its new 36 villas
opening.

Isparta Student Dormitory

2 Dormitories

Isparta Student Dormitory, which was opened in March
2017, was built in the commercial area of Isparta City 7,232 bed capasities
Hospitals. There are four dormitories and two social
facility blocks in the complex, with six blocks in total. There
are 1,016 rooms and 4,032 beds in the dormitory, which is
designed as ground + seven floors. The project was comp-
leted in May 2018 and student admission started after
an agreement was reached with KYK on the lease of the
building and the contract was signed. '
Other

Kiitahya Student Dormitory

' Office

4,637 m?rentable office
area

viaduct,terminal and
With the tender opened by Kiitahya Dumlupinar University, e e e

the easement right of the land within the university was
taken for 29 years. The project, whose investment started
in 2017, was completed as of the end of 2018 and delivered
to the Credit and Hostels Institution (KYK) in January 2019.
The student dormitory built on the Evliya Celebi Campus of
the university has a total bed capacity of 3,032.
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Highlights
in 2021

SOGUTLUCESME

PROJECT

Akfen REIT's capital
reached 1.3 billion TL
after the rights and

bonus issues in 2021

12 January 2021: The redemption of the Convertible Bonds

with a principal amount of 170 million TL in 2018 was realized as
238.627.432TL, with a price of 4.04 TL (adjusted price 1.50) as a
result of the capital increase allocated to Hamdi Akin, 59,066,196
Group B bonds were issued, the capital was increased to
243,066,196 TL.

9 February 2021: In order to enrich and diversify Akfen REIT's asset
portfolio, to provide additional resources for the repayment of

the new loan structure, to ensure that it attains a more sustainable
structure that will reduce the impact of the epidemic inits revenues
with the contribution of regular and continuous income-generating
assets; all of the shares of Masanda Tourism Investments Inc, which
has an investment of a 5-Star Holiday Village with 184 beds in Bod-
rum, were leased by Akfen Infrastructure Holding Inc to the General
Directorate of Credits and Dormitories for 13 years; Isparta Yurt
Investments, which owns two dormitories with a total of 7,232 beds
has been purchased from Akfen Construction Tourism Trade Inc; and
the total purchase price of the two assets, 450,000,000 TL, required
for the purchase is covered by the capital increase realized at a price
of 4.43 (adjusted price of 1.65) allocated to Hamdi Akin and paid as a
premium. The capital of the company has reached 344,646,332 TL.
11 March 2021: Rental agreements with Accor Group, which operates
19 hotels, 15 of which are in Turkey and 4 in Russia, have been revised
and improved in favor of the Company. Effective from1January 2021,
AGOP rates are increased from between 72.5% and 85% to 95%.

19 March 2021: A total of 6,233,384 shares, representing 1.81% of
the Company's capital, bought back by the Company previously, were
sold at a price of 4.24 TL (adjusted price 1.58) for 26,429,548.20 TL.
29 March 2021: 51% shares of Firatcan Construction Tourism Trade
Inc. were purchased for 6.2 million Euros. The company has commit-
ted the SogUtliicesme High Speed Train Station Project to TCDD and
will construct a viaduct terminal, commercial area and parking lot
within the scope of the project.

9 April 2021: The loan debt of 177.7 million Euros was refinanced with
amaturity of 10 years with the current interest rate and conditions,
and the Russian portion of the loan was converted to Rubles.

30 June 2021: Isparta Yurt Investments Inc. and Masanda Tourism
Inv.Inc.was taken over by Akfen REIT with all its assets and liabilities.
3 August 2021: With a 161% rights issue, the Company's issued capi-
tal of 344,646,332 TL increased to 900,000,000 TL, with anincrease
of 555,353,668 TL, all in cash, by using the preemptive rights of the
existing partners.

7 September 2021: As aresult of the early payment made with the
fund obtained from the capital increase, the net debt of the Com-
pany decreased to 130 million Euros. (200 million Euros at the end of
2020).

10 November 2021: An Interest Rate Swap Transaction was carried
out for 75% of the Euro-denominated loans (77.7 million Euros) held
by Credit Europe.

29 November 2021: An agreement was reached with Penguen Gida
Sanayi Inc. to develop a concept project in Bursa and the project
process has started.

7 December 2021: Through a bonus issue (wholly covered by emis-
sion premiums), the 900,000,000 TL issued capital of the Company
was increased to1,300,000,000 TL, by exceeding for one time the
1,000,000,000 TL registered capital ceiling.
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Bodrum Loft became a IL{
memberof WWHin2021 W'
Leading Hotels of the World £ womLo

(LHW) s an organization that was founded
in1928 by 38 hotels. Today 600 independent
hotels in the luxury segment in 80 countries
are affiliated with it. The organisation does
not accept chain hotels, constantly inspects
member hotels, and also supports their sales,
marketing and reservation systems.

Bodrum Loft has been included in the Leading
Hotels of the World as of 2021.

y” ASSETS ADDED TO THE
PORTFOLIO

in 2021 Y.

Bodrum Loft
Project’

Bodrum Loft, owned by Akfen REIT, set out to bring a

different perspective to tourism by using the long-termrental
method. Located in the Demirbiikli Region, 15 kilometers

from the center of Bodrum, one of the most popular tourism
destinations not only in Turkey but also in the world, the facility
has 92 bedrooms. 40 of the rooms have double beds and 52
bedrooms have two single beds. There are 36 living spaces in
totalin Bodrum Loft.

Although summer tourism in Turkey is accepted as 3 months,
considering the fact that Bodrum Loft will provide active
service from1May to1November, the season has been
determined as 6 months. The hotel reached 100 percent
occupancy rates inits first year.

The income model in Bodrum Loft has opened the doors to a
new system for Turkish tourism. This model should be thought
of as "purchasing a seasonal option” rather than arental. At
this point, long-term accommodation programs such as 4-6
months have been prepared for the summer of 2021.

100% occupancy rate reached

When the renters cannot stay 4-6 months, the system enables
them torent out weekly or monthly through foreign agencies,
thus providing the seasonal renter to earn income, too. For the
option buyer, Akfen Tourism sales team carries out the leasing
for free periods.

*As of February 9, 2021, Akfen REIT took over
Masanda Turizm (Bodrum Loft).

Bodrum Loft

Land Area Cons. Area Allocated by

57 thousand m? 22,586 Min.of Culture &Tourism
Opening Date Allotment Period Design

2020 49 years Tabanlwoglu Architecture

J
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Kiitahya Dormitory’

With the tender opened by Kiitahya Dumluptnar
University, the easement right of the land within the
university was taken for 29 years. The project, whose
investment started in 2017, was completed by the end
of 2018.

The "Kiitahya Student Dormitory” built in the Evliya
Celebi Campus of Kiitahya Dumlupinar University has
atotal bed capacity of 3,032. The 59 thousand square
meter dormitory was delivered in January 2019 and
rented to CDI.

Isparta Dormitory

Dormitory o Another dormitory project of Akfen Construction is
the Isparta Dormitory Project, which was built in the
4,032 commercial area of Isparta City Hospitals, and opened
beds in March 2017. In the dormitory, which consists of a
Credit and Dormitories / total of six blocks, there are four residential blocks and
Institution two social facility blocks. There are 1,016 rooms and
o« 4,032 beds in the dormitory, which consists of a ground
— 6 floor +seven floors. The project was completed in May
1,01 2018. An agreement was signed with CDI regarding the
/ rooms lease of the building.
*As of 9 February 2021, Akfen REIT purchased all of the
shares of Isparta Dorm (Kiitahya and Isparta dormitories)
from Akfen Construction
4 . ] . )
Isparta Dormitory Kiitahya Dormitory
Land Area Construction Area No. of Beds Land Area Construction Area No. of Beds
31,848 67,000 4,032 units 59,000 v’ 22,586 m? 3,032 units
Delivery Date Right of Use Design Opening Date Delivery Date Right of Use
2018 May 25 years Ediz Architecture 2017 April 2019 Jan. 29 years
- J
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Sogiitliicesme
Project

Akfen REIT, for 6.2 million Euros, took over 51% of the
shares of Firatcan Construction, Trade ve Tourism Inc,,
which will build the Ségitlicesme High Speed Train
Station Project belonging to TCDD. The High Speed
Train Station Project, which will be built on an area of
28 thousand square meters, includes the construction
of aviaduct, terminal, commercial area and parking lot.

Additionally, on 29 November 2021, an agreement
was reached with Penguen Gida to develop a concept
project in Bursa and the project process started.

Saéqutlicesme Project

Rentable commercial area Investment ShareinFirat AS.
18,000 €6.2mn 51%

The value of the company Construction Start
€13.7 mn 2022
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In our country, 88.8% of
the passengers carried
on seas and

88.9% of vehicles are
transported on Marmara
Sea lines

Maritime
Transportation Sector

Maritime transport has great potential in terms of
freight and passenger transport in Turkey, which is
surrounded by seas on three sides. Although it is fast,
safe, economical and environmentally friendly, it has the
lowest share among passenger transportation modes.

Cabotage line passenger and vehicle transportation is
mainly carried out by TDI passenger ships and ferries,
and IDO ferries and sea buses. There are also private
motor boat operators in urban sea transportation.

New highways, bridges, high-speed train services and
cheap airline tickets affect sea transportation negati-
vely. The Yavuz Sultan Selim Bridge, the Eurasia Tunnel
and especially the Osmangazi Bridge which became
operational in 2016, have reduced the interest in se-
aways.

There was an increase in 2021 as the effect
of the pandemic decreased

In 2021, with the increase in vaccination and the slow-
down of the effects of the pandemic, in line with the
normalization process the restrictions were lifted and
the number of passengers carried on Turkey cabotage
lines increased by 13% compared to 2020 to 97 million,
while the number of vehicles increased by 15.9% t0 12.6
million. On the other hand, looking at the averages of L
the last 10 years it can be seen that there was a 2.0% = _}ﬂ“ e
growth in the vehicles transported on the cabotage lines i — )
4%

and a 4.7% decrease in the transported passengers.

89% of the passengers are on the Sea of
Marmara

Almost all of the passengers and vehicles transported
on cabotage lines in 2021 used the Marmara and Aegean
sealines. 88.8% of the passengers carried on the seas
were carried within the Marmara Sea, and 11.2% on the
lines in the Izmir Region.

88.9% of the vehicles were transported within the
Marmara Sea and 11.0% on the lines in the Izmir Region.
61.3% of the shipments in the Sea of Marmara were
carried out in the Marmara basin, and 27.6% in the
Canakkale Region.
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Istanbul Sea
Buses (IDO)

IDO, one of the largest maritime transport companies in the
world with its large fleet, and high vehicle and passenger
carrying capacity, has adopted the mission of economy,
comfort, speed and travel safety on 16 lines where it serves
with1 51 ships.

Contribution to the environment and economy

In 2011, Akfen Holding, Tepe, Souter, Sera Joint Venture,
with ablock sale method, for a value of USD 861 million,
won the tender for the privatization of 100% of the shares
of IDO, which was established by Istanbul Metropolitan
Municipality in1987. In 2020, the shareholding structure of
IDO was changed and as a result of the exit of one foreign
and one domestic partner, it became a 50-50 partnership
of Akfen Holding and Tepe Construction. With 51 ships in its
fleet working between 35 piers and on 16 lines, iDO helps
reduce travel time on the Bosphorus, the Sea of Marmara
and the Izmit Gulf, thus contributing to the economy and the
environment by saving time and fuel for passengers.

As of the end of 2021, IDO provides service with its modern
fleet of 51 sea vehicles (24 sea buses, 20 ferryboats, 7 fast
ferries). It operates on 16 lines on the Marmara Sea with a
capacity of 35,443 passengers in the summer season, 28,799
passengers in the winter season, and 2,570 vehicles for both
periods.

As of 31 December 2021, the number of employees of IDO is
1,019. The most recent collective bargaining agreement with
the Turkish Seafarers' Union has expired as of 31.12.2021.
Negotiations for the new term have started. In 2021, a total
of 3,024,740 liters of fuel were saved. Thus, carbon dioxide

The number of vehicles
(5.9 million) carried
by IDO by ferry and

ferryboat is more
than the number of
registered vehicles in

Istanbul (4.6 million)

Shareholding Structure*

E Marmara Sea Buses 100%

*With the restructuring completed on 8 July 2021, Akfen Holding
and Tepe Construction transferred their shares in IDO to Marmara
Sea Buses Investment and Management Inc., which has the same
partnership structure as IDO, and Marmara Sea Buses has become
the 100% owner of IDO.

Subsidiary Structure

Zeytinburnu LimanIsl. San. ve Tic. AS. 20%

IDO transported 27.8
million people from
one coast to another
in 2021. The number
of passengers carried
is almost twice the
population of Istanbul
(15.8 million people)
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Number of Passengers and Vehicles

2021 2020  Change 2021 2020 Change
Total No. of Passenger 27,814,269 25,051,731 1.0% Total no. of Vehicles 5,870,967 5,187,932 13.2%
FastFerry 4,744,557 3923727 209% FastFerry” 1,154,576 958,525 205%
SeaBus 1452204 1,258,805 154% Conventional Ferry 4,716,391 4,229,407 1.5%
Conventional Ferry 21617508 19869199 88% “Vehicle numbers carried on the fast ferrylines are given by Vehicle
“In-car passenger coefficients, determined according to vehicle class, are Measurement Unit (VMU). VMU consists of the conversion of vehicles of
used in the calculation of the total number of in-car passengers on Eskihi- different classes to automobile units with vehicle coefficients:
sar-Topgular car ferry line. The coefficient assumptions are as follows:

Vehicle Class Coefficient Vehicle Class Coefficient

Vehicle Class Number of In-Car Passengers Motorcycle 0.25 Minibus (19 persons) 1.50
Motorcycle 1 Automobile 1.00 Midibus 2.00
Automobile 3 Disable Car 1.00 Pick-up (0-2,000kg) 1.50
Minivan 3 Minivan 1.00 Pick-up (2,001-2500 kg) 2.00
SUV/Pick-up, Minibus 6 Minibus (12 persons) 1.25 Pick-up (2,501-3,500 kg) 2.00
Midibus (2+1) 9 Jeep 125  Bus 5.00
Truck /2 Axle Bus 26 Tow Truck 1.50
Axle Bus /3 Axle TIR 26
4 Axle and over TIR 2
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Social Responsibility
Developments of 2021

Collaboration with Unicef

In 2021, too, IDO hosted disadvantaged child guests
together with UNICEF. The cooperation between the two
institutions has brought new supporters to UNICEF and
contributed to extending a helping hand to many disad-
vantaged children.

Free Avsa Travel for Disabled Passen-
gers with TSD Cooperation

In line with its cooperation with the Turkish Disabled
Association (TSD), IDO conducted free Avsa trips to
disabled citizens who are included in the "Avsa Accessible
Summer Camp" program of the association..

Awareness with LOSEV, Kizilay and

Dariissafaka posters

LOSEV, Kizilay and Dariissafaka posters were placed on
IDO ships and terminals, helping increase sensitivity and
awareness about leukemia (blood cancer), healthy living,
the importance of blood donation and equal opportunity
in education.

TEMA Foundation Sapling Donation

Due to the forest fires affecting the Mediterranean,
Aegean and Marmara regions in July, IDO made a sapling
donation through TEMA.

~
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Travelexhas more
ATMs than17
banks in Turkey

Travelex

Established in1976, Travelex is the world's leading
specialist organization in foreign exchange and related
services. Travelex, which operates in 24 countries, has
created a platform that reinterprets the physical and
digital money movement across borders globally, with
900 ATMs and 1,100 service points both at airports
and off-airport locations, as well as online and mobile
foreign exchange trading service platforms that are
developing day by day, thus ensuring that all its custo-
mers stay one step ahead of the competition.

Using its expertise and experience, it provides reliab- Shareholding Structure”

le, effective and accurate international money transfer
services to financial institutions, travel agencies and —
hotels, complementing this service with a secure cash Travelex Group AkfenHolding J

delivery service in all currencies. The group also pro- 75% 10% Tepe Construction
vides bulk money supply and delivery services to its 125%
customers, including central banks and international Sera Yap

0,
financial institutions. 25%

Activities in Turkey

Travelex operates in Ankara Esenboga, Izmir Adnan
Menderes, Antalya and Alanya Gazipasa Airports and
Kusadas! Cruise Port in Turkey. After the sale to Trave-
lex in 2014, Akfen Infrastructure has 10% of its shares.

Travelex at a Glance 12
Number of

Officesin

Turkey 1100

Location

20

Countries
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Other Subsidiaries

AKINISI MACHINERY Shareholding Structure”
The company was established in 1976 to operate in the industrial _
heating sector and is now idle and owns a piece of land in Ankara. AkfenHolding

100%

AKFEN REAL ESTATE PORTFOLIO MAN. INC.

Akfen Real Estate Portfolio Management was established in 2017.

The main field of activity of the company is the establishment and AkfenHoldin_
management of real estate investment funds within the frame- 100% &

work of the Capital Markets Law and relevant legislation.

AKFEN MERTER

The company leased the property, which is located in Zeytinburnu
district, Merkezefendi district, CorekciNalbant Cukurlart Street, AkfenHoldin
onblock 3284, parcel 47, which is owned by the General Directo- 44.60% ing
rate of Foundations of Istanbul, for a period of 30 years, according Keskin Holding 8.47%
to the BOT model, with a“construction conditional lease” agree- Other 0.01%
ment dated 21 October 2011.

Akfen Cons. 46.92%

AKFEN TOURISM INVESTMENT AND BUSINESS INC.

Akfen Tourism coordinates the Group's potential tourism invest-
ments. In this context, it operates the Bodrum Loft holiday village, ,

. e . Akfen Holding
various facilities in the Ankara Bulvar Loft commercial area and 100%
the canteens of Isparta, Eskisehir and Tekirdag City Hospitals. It
also provides catering business services in Ankara.

|

AKFEN CONSULTING AND PROJECT DEV. INC.

Founded in 2016, the company is responsible for the sales of
realestate projects such as Incek Loft and Bulvar Loft.

|

Akfen Holding

100%
TEPE AKFEN REFORMER (TAR) S
Established in Poland, the companyowns a plot in Poland. The AkfenHolding = Akfen Cons. Other
company is pursuing opportunities to develop areal estate 26% 30% %44

project on this land.

Other subsidiaries of Akfen Holding; Adana Ipekyol is BiZ Mining, Akfen
Energy Gas, Akfen Wind Energy and Akfen Solar Energy.



CHAPTER3

Corporate
Governance

* Corporate Values & Perspective
for the Future

* Human Resources
* Board of Directors
* Management of Subsidiaries and Affiliates
* Corporate Social Responsibility

» Summary

» Global Compact

» Akfen Sustainability Priorities

» TIKAV

- Individual Development Program

- The Duke of Edinburgh’s International
Award - Tr

-National Projects



79

Corporate Governance / Corporate Values

Corporate Values and
Perspective for the Future

Our Goal

* Our goal is to utilise growth opportunities in
new business areas in all sectors in which we
operate in Turkey and abroad and to create
value for all of our stakeholders, primarily
our employees and partners; we also aim to
be a sustainable national company by
continuing oursuccess in the fields
of business we are experienced in.

Our Strategy

* In light of our deep-rooted experience in acquiring
concessions, management and business develop-
ment, to continue to move forward with strong
domestic and foreign strategic partners in infrastru-
cture sectors, which is our core business.

* To further strengthen our pioneering position in our
main business areas by focusing on concessions and
sectors with high growth potential, monopolistic cha-
racter or low competition, long-term and maximum
income guarantee, and with this power, to enter new
infrastructure areas.

* Creating and maximizing value for shareholders.
» Managing our assets actively.

* Growing our revenues, improving profitability and
optimizing capital structure.

)

Our Corporate Values

Our building blocks that make us a sustainable
country:

* All tasks are important, all employees are valuable.
* We have a dynamic and entrepreneur.
* Honesty is the symbol of our quality.

¢ Our investments are both material
and spiritual.

* We take the road less travelled.

¢ We embrace our business, we
learn every day.

* Our identity is our
reputation.

Our Principles

* To gather development focused, valueadding, participatory,
dynamic and competent manpower under the roof of
Akfen Infrastructure Holding.

* To prioritize our understanding of quality and ethical values
inall business processes and management.

* To complete the work under our commitment in a timely
manner and with the highest quality.

* To fulfill the promises made to our employees, business
partners, shareholders and social stakeholders and to
protect their interests.

* Sustaining a transparent and honest business approach.

* To manage risks with an original and innovative business ap-
proach while evaluating new initiatives and opportunities.

* Investing in people and society through social responsibi-

\_ lity activities.




8o

Akfen Holding Annual Report 2021

Human
Resources

Akfen Infrastructure Holding is aware that it
is the employees who ensure success and the
future. With the basic understanding of "All
tasks are important, all people are valuable”,

it aims to develop a working environment
where the ideas of employees are valued,
their participation is supported and equality of
opportunity is provided for everyone.

The company believes that working in an
environment based on human rights principles,
taking into account all the material and moral
rights of Akfen employees, as well as that of
subcontractors, who have adopted a spirit

of cooperation based on love, respect and
tolerance under the umbrella of Akfen, is the
main criterion for sustainable success and
attaches importance to collaborations in which
corporate values and ethical principles are
shared.

Our HR Policy, created with this understanding,
adopts approaches that protect employee
rights and keep the “"Akfen Family” feeling alive
both within the organization and before all our
stakeholders. Human Resources Management
Department carries out Human Resources
Practices in line with the strategic plan and
objectives of the company, aims to review
them according to the conditions of the day
and to continuously develop them in a dynamic
structure. Thus, human resources planning,

selection, placement, development, job
analysis, preparation of suitable job
descriptions according to changing conditions,
performance and career planning studies,
increase of work motivation and development
of corporate culture are executed to ensure
that the skills and competencies of the
employees meet with the requirements of the
job.

Employee Distribution by
Male and Female Personnel (3112202)

Total Female Male
Companies Employee Employee Employee
Akfen Holding 54 22 32
Akfen Construction 70 24 46
Akfen Tourism 202 82 120
Akfen Cons.&Project Dev. 6 6 0
Akfen Real Estate Portfolio Man. 5 1 4
Travelex 45 15 30
AkfenREIT 20 9 n
Akfen Renewable Energy 214 20 194
MIP 2,028 n2 1,916
IDO 1,018 47 971
Akfen Water 6 2 4
Acacia Mining 226 33 193
TAV Investment 1,297 53 1244
Total 5191 426 4,765

Employee Distribution by Education
Level (31.12.2021)

Associate Degree, Secondary
Bachelor Degree, & High Primary

Masters Degree, School  School
Companies Ph.D Graduate Degree
Akfen Holding 35 17 2
Akfen Construction 56 12 2
Akfen Tourism 66 103 33
Akfen Cons.&Project Dev. 3 3 0
Akfen Real Estate Portfolio Man. 5 0 0
Travelex 36 9 0
AkfenREIT 15 5 0
Akfen Renewable Energy 96 99 19
MIP 488 1,279 261
IDO 516 405 97
Akfen Water 6 0 0
Acacia Mining 110 96 20
TAV Investment 520 16 661

Total 1,952 2,144 1,095
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Organizational

Development

In order to ensure sustainable success and
innovation, the organization, human resources,
business processes and job descriptions are
structured and systematically reviewed in

line with the needs. Studies on sustainability,
improvement and dissemination of target and
competency-based human resource systems
that support a high performance culture and
continuous development are carried out.

Selection & Placement @

Efforts are made to bring in personnel that
create value, is sensitive to the environment,
society and people, is open to innovation and
change, is flexible, entrepreneurial, dynamic,
fast, and aims to develop him/herself

and the company. While positions and job
descriptions are prepared, the capabilities
needed are determined and personnel

most suitable to the job descriptions are
employed.

Performance
Management )

In order to develop a career plan for value
creating humanresources, to reward such
resources and identify aspects that are open to
development, a goal and competency-based
performance evaluation system has been
adopted in which success is evaluated according
to measurable criteria. While the expectations
from the employees are put forward concretely,
itis aimed to define effective and efficient
training and development programs that support
the career paths of the employees in line with
the feedback of the managers. The main purpose
of the ‘Performance Management Model'is

to allow the person to improve him/herself, to
achieve measurable performance within the
framework of fairness, to create developmental
and training opportunities, thereby creating

a highly motivated climate by improving our
corporate performance as the Akfen Family.

O \

~———@© Career Management

Horizontal and vertical promotions

are offered to the employees in order
to provide individual development
opportunities while meeting corporate
needs. Opportunities for improving
competencies are provided through job
enrichment programs.

Employee Profile

AkfenHolding's employee profile is a
human resource open to change and
development, with a high motivation for
success, believing in teamwork and team
spirit, utilizing its resources and time
correctly, and also having a high sensitivity
to social responsibility.

Training Management

In Akfen Holding, continuous training is
seen as an essential element of creating a
sustainable value system and is considered
to be a very important building block of
corporate culture. In this context, various
educational environments are created to
enrich the qualifications of the workforce
and to develop intellectual capital; in
addition to studies within the company
framewaork, orientation and on-the job
training, a training program is conducted
for soft skills and technical capabilities
with partners within the company or other
firms; and training programs are handled in
aprocess that includes the employees and
are reviewed annually according to demand
and needs.
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Board of Directors

Hamdi AKIN

Chairman of the Board of Directors
Akfen Holding

Hamdi Akin was born in1954. He graduated from Gazi University,
Department of Mechanical Engineering. In1976 he founded Akfen
Holding, whose main activity area is to invest in, manage and coordinate
partnerships and subsidiaries active in infrastructure and superstructure
construction, port management, marine transportation, water
distribution and waste water services, energy and real estate sectors. In
addition to serving as the Chairman of the Board of Directors at Akfen
Holding, he is also the Chairman of Board at MIP (Mersin International
Port), Akfen Renewable Energy (Akfen Yenilenebilir Enerji A.S.), Istanbul
Fast Ferries (IDO) and Akfen REIT (Akfen Gayrimenkul Yatirim Ortaklig:
A.S.).In1997, he founded the TAV brand to build and operate Turkey's first
high capacity airport in the aviation sector, one of the hardest sectors of
the world, and he managed the company as Chairman of Board until 2017.

In addition to his private entrepreneurship, Mr. Akin realized projects in
infrastructure, energy and investment in scope of privatization efforts.
He also carried his dynamism and hard work in business to volunteer
efforts and non-governmental organizations as a Manager and founder
of many societies, foundations, chambers of commerce. He has served
as Vice President of Fenerbahge Sports Club (2000-2002), MESS-Metal
Industrialists’ Union President of Ankara Regional Representatives
Council (1992-2004), President of TUGIAD-Turkish Young Businessmen's
Association(1998-2000), Board Member of TiSK-Turkish Confederation
of Employers' Associations (1995-2001), Board Member of TUSIAD-
Turkish Industrialists’ and Businessmen's Association President of
Information Society and New Technologies Commission (2008-2009) and
Board Member of Clean Seas Association/TURMEPA (2011-2018).

Hamdi Akn is a founder of the Contemporary Turkey Studies Chair at
the London School of Economics. He is also the Founding Member and
Honorary President of the Turkey Human Resources Foundation (TIKAV),
founded in1999 to provide Turkey with well-trained human resources.
He is also the Vice Chairman of the Board of Trustees at Abdullah Giil
University Support Foundation and member of the Board of Trustess at
Support and Education Foundation for Basketball.




83 | Corporate Governance /Board of Directors

Selim Akin, graduated from Surrey University, Business Administration
Department in the United Kingdom, and after coming back to

Turkey Mr. Akin started his professional career in the Akfen Holding
Accounting Department and later served in the Project Development
and Finance Departments.

The main projects in which he participated are the privatization and
financing of Vehicle Inspection Stations, the privatization and financing
of Mersin Port and Akfen Holding's public offering and bond issue.
Besides his Chairman of the Board of Directors role at Akfen insaat ve
Turizm A.S., Mr. Akin also serves as the Vice Chairman of the Board of
Directors and CEO at Akfen Holding and its various subsidiaries.

Mr. Akin has become a member of the Turkish Young Businessmen’s
Association. Mr. Akin is a member of TUSIAD, Turkish Tourism
Investors Association (TTYD) and Turkish Contractors Association
(TMB) Supervisory Board. Also he is Vice Chairman of Young
Businessmen Association of Turkey (TUGIAD) and he has also been
serving as DEIK representative since 2018.

Selim AKIN J

Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors
Akfen Holding

After graduating from Surrey University, UK, in 2010, Pelin Akin
Ozalp started her career in the Deutsche Bank. Following her return
to Turkey, she attended the MT Program of TAV Airports Holdings.
Later moving on to the parent company, she has been serving as a
Board Member in Akfen Holding as of 2012.

She is an active member of the Board of Trustees and the Board
of Directors at TIKAV (Turkish Human Resources Education and
Health Foundation) and Vice President of The Duke of Edinburgh's
International Award-Tirkiye National Committee. She is also
Chairwoman at the Advisory Board of the Contemporary Turkish
Studies Chair founded in London School of Economics since 2010.

She has been serving in DEIK(Foreign Economic Relations Board

of Turkey) as a Board Member in Spanish, British and US Business
Councils. She is also a Board Member of Turkish Tourism Investors
Association (TTYD), Turkey Business Women's Association (TIKAD),
the Marine Environment Protection Association (TURMEPA) and
American Turkish Society (ATS) Boards at the moment.

Previously, her experience entails different Board Memberships

in various networks such as Association of Family Businesses
(TAIDER) and Turkey Union of Chambers and Commodity Exchanges
(TOBB) Young Entrepreneurs Advisory Councils, Association of
Women in Board of Directors (YKKD). She was elected as the
youngest deputy board member in TUSIAD in 2014.

Pelin AKIN OZALP

Currently serving as Board Member of Akfen Holding, and Board of
Directors Member of Akfen Renewable Energy, Akfen REIT, Istanbul ~ Board of Directors Member
SeaBuses (IDO) and Travelex. Akfen Holding

She has enjoyed her YPO network from 2013-2020.
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Irfan Erciyas, graduated from Economics and Finance Department
of Gazi University in1977, has started to work in Turkiye Vakiflar
Bankasl. After having worked as inspector and Branch manager

in Tirkiye Vakiflar Bankas\, he continued to work as Vice General
Manager between 1996 and 2002 and as General Manager between
2002-2003.

Erciyas who joined Akfen Holding in 2003 as Vice Chairman of the
Board of Administrators, had worked especially on privatization of
Vehicle Inspection Stations, Mersin International Port and IDO and
also during the foundation and investment processes of Akfen REIT
and Akfen Enerji, for the public offering of Akfen Holding and Akfen
REIT and on the subjects of the share sales of the shareholdings and
long term financing. Irfan Erciyas is working in Akfen Holding,, as
Executive Board Member since March 2010 and he is also Chairman
of the Board of Administrators, Vice Chairman and Member of Board
of Administrators of several subsidiaries and affiliates of Akfen
Holding.

irfan ERCIYAS

Executive Director
Akfen Holding

Sila Ciliz Inang, graduated from Marmara University, Faculty of Law
in1995, joined Akfen Holding in 1997 upon having carried out law
internship in1996.

She took part in Public Private Partnership projects (PPP) in Turkey,
mergers and acquisitions, worked in concern with infrastructure,
construction, energy and competition law. She took an active

role in secondary legislation of Public Tender Law. She worked at
every stage of build-operate-transfer projects, transfer of rights/
concession and all process of privatizations implementations
including tenders and transfers in which Akfen and its subsidiaries
participated, also dealt with establishment of financial structures, ’
facility agreements and both share and bond issues laws and
regulations. She conducted company and holding structure works.

She is Board Member of Akfen Holding A.S. and also Board Member

of various Akfen Holding subsidiaries and Akfen Insaat Turizm ve
TicaretAS.

\_ Sila CILIZ INANC

Board of Directors Member
Akfen Holding
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WS After graduating from Middle East Technical University, Faculty of Engineering, Civil
- Engineering Department in1992, Ruhi worked at Giiris Construction Inc. for a short

3 time and joined Akfen Construction Tourism and Trade Inc in the same year. He has
worked in various positions at construction sites ranging from Project Management

to Site Engineering. Since 2005, he has been serving as the General Manager and as
of January 2016 he is also a Member of the Board of Directors.

Mesut Cogkun RUHI

General Manager,
kAkfen Construction

-

Kayril Karabeyoglu graduated from METU Civil Engineering Department in1998.
Between1998-2001, he completed his master's degrees at New York Lubin School
of Business M.B.A. by doing double major on Finance and Information Systems. He
started his career by working at the New York office of Standard and Poors between
2001-2004. Between 2004-2006 he worked on purchase financing and financing of
energy projects at the Project Finance Department at Garanti Bank.

Between 2006 and 2010 he served as Director at SU Private Equity Management.
Between 2010-2013 he worked as Country Manager for Turkey at U.S. based Advent
International. Between 2013 and 2018 he served as CEO at Dogus SK Venture Capital
Investment Trust. Between 2014 and 2018, he served as a Board Member at Radore
Data Center. Currently he is a member of the Endeavor Advisory Board.

Kaynil KARABEYOGLU

General Manager,
kAkfen Renewable Energy /

MERSIN INTERNATIONAL PORT \
drsa

Johan Van Daele is a graduate of Leuven University, Department of Business Economi-
cs. Hereceived his MSc degree in Marine Science from the University of Antwerp. Van
Daele has 30 years of experience in ports and terminal operations, including operati-
ons, security, security and shipment, HSSE and cargo. He is currently serving as MIP's
General Manager.

In1989, Van Daele joined the maritime sector at Noord Natie, which is a subsidiary

of PSA that operates in bulk cargo business, and served as the Safety, Security and
Shipping Manager at PSA Antwerp from 2006 to 2010. From that time on until 2017, he
worked as PSA Zeebrugge Container Operation Group Manager. Throughout his career,
Johan Van Daele has played an important role in many projects, including mergers and
acquisitions. Van Daele, joined MIP in 2017, and leads new development projects with
Johan VAN DAELE high added value and develops strategic plans accordingly.

General Manager, MIP
\ & J
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M. Zeki SAYILIR

General Manager,
\_ Acacia Mining

Acacia\

Zeki Saylir graduated from Istanbul Technical University as a Metallurgical Engineer
in1985. He completed his MBA in USA on National Education Ministry scholarship
between1986-1990, returned to Turkey and began his career as a marketing
specialist at Eti Mining Operations. Between 1994-2006 he has served as a
marketing manager at Cayeli Copper Operations, a Canadian-owned company which
is the first foreign-owned company in Turkey.

Between 2006-2013 he worked at Inmet Mining Corporation, based in Canada, as
the director of global sales for the mining operations in Finland, Spain, Canada,
Panama and Turkey. In 2013, when Inmet was sold, he left the company and carried
out minerals export activities through the company he founded and also served as

a consultant for various domestic and foreign mining companies. Since the end of
2016, he has been the CEO of Acacia Mining Operations.

J

Sertac KARAAGAOGLU

General Manager,

Qkfen REIT

«* akfen REIT ™~

Mr. Sertac F. Karaagoglu, who started his professional carrier as assistant portfolio
manager at Toprakbank in 1996, and worked at Kentbank between the years of 2000-
2001, then continued his carrier in Fortis Bank (Digbank) in March 2001. He served
duties at various managerial positions as Portfolio Manager, Branch Manager, SME
Banking Director of Anatolian Region, Regional Director for East Mediterranean
Region and Director Responsible for Credits up to the year of 2011 in their respective
orders.

Mr. Karaagaoglu, who continued his professional career as the Credits Director

at TEB BNP Paribas between 2011-2012, worked as the Listing and Private Market
Group Director at Borsa Istanbul in the fields of Corporate Finance (public offerings,
bond issuances and m&a businesses) between 2012-2016. Mr. Sertac Karaagaoglu,
who graduated from the Political Sciences and Public Management of the Faculty

of Economics and Administrative Sciences of the Middle-East Technical University
(ODTU), completed his master degree course in 2015 on Business Management in
Maltepe University.

/
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Murat ORHAN

General Manager,
IDO

ido#—.

After graduating from Anadolu University, Department of Business and Labor
Economics and Industrial Relations, Orhan completed his master's degree in Labor
Economics and Industrial Relations at Marmara University. He is currently continuing
his PhD in Labor Economics and Industrial Relations at Istanbul University (in thesis
stage).

Orhan started his career at Istanbul Glass Industry Inc.in 1987 and held various
positions in the field of Personnel and Human Resources in different companies of
Toprakbank and OYAK. While working as HAVAS Personnel Manager starting 2004, he
also worked as International Projects and Remuneration Manager, Human Resources
Manager and Human Resources Coordinator at TAV Airports Holding. After Orhan

was appointed to IDO in 2012, he had the opportunity to work in different disciplines in
addition to the Human Resources processes in parallel with the changing organizational
structures.

Orhan was appointed as the Acting General Manager on1October 2019 and as General
Manager on 2 July 2020. Orhan, a member of PERYON, gives lectures on Labor
Economics and Industrial Relations at various universities. He is also the Vice Chairman
of the Board of Zeyport Port Management and a member of the Fenerbahge Sports
Club General Assembly.

J

Emre SEZGIN

General Manager,
Akfen Environment &

\_Water

& okfen|CEVREve sU I

After graduating from Bilkent University Faculty of Economics and Administrative
Sciences in 2000, Sezgin started his career at ABN Amro Securities in the same year.
He completed his master's degree in Business Administration in the UK in 2002 and
served as a senior reinsurance specialist in IBS Insurance Brokerage Services Inc. In
2008, he started at Akfen Holding Business Development Department and worked

at project finance, privatization tenders, mergers-acquisitions, public offerings and
bond offerings. In March 2014 he was appointed the Deputy General Manager of Akfen
Environment and Water Investment Construction Management Inc. Sezgin has been
serving as the General Manager since August 2015.
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'Responsibility
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Akfen Holding, which has implemented numerous projects in different fields
in Turkey and abroad since its establishment in 1976, has touched the lives of
thousands of people so far by raising awareness in the fields of education,
women, economy and environment together with its subsidiaries working in
the regions where these projects take place.

Being the first holding in Turkey to sign the United Nations' Global Compa-
ct and Women's Empowerment Principles (WEPs), Akfen also supports He-
ForShe, a global solidarity movement for gender equality. In this section, the
Corporate Social Responsibility Projects of Akfen Holding in 2021 and the
projects of the Human Resources Education and Health Foundation of Tur-
key (TIKAV), which was established in Ankara on 15 January 1999 by the Akin
Family to realize the social responsibility projects of Akfen Holding, are de-
tailed.
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Global Compact

On 2 July 2002 Akfen Holding signed the United Nations Global Compact,

which was formed to create a common development culture in the constantly

competitive business world. The current ten principles included in the Global
Compact cover the areas of human rights, working conditions, environment and

fighting against corruption

10 Principles of the Global Compact

support a precautionary approach to
environmental challenges:.

Principle 8: undertake initiatives
to promote greater environmental
responsibility; and

Principle 9: encourage the
development and diffusion
of environmentally friendly
technologies.

mmss  Human Rights oy Labour
— Principle 1: Businesses should é 6 Principle 3: Businesses should uphold the
support and respect the protection ¢ freedom of association and the effective
of internationally proclaimed human recognition of the right to collective bargaining;
rights; and. Principle 4: the elimination of all forms of forced
Principle 2: make sure that they are and compulsory labour; Principle 5: the effective
not complicit in human rights abuses. abolition of child labour; and
Principle 5: the effective abolition of child labour;
and
Principle 6: the elimination of discrimination in
respect of employment and occupation.
ANAN  Environment - | = Anti-Corruption
AAA Principle 7: Businesses should L Principle 10: Businesses should work against
AR ™

corruptionin all its forms, including extortion and
bribery.
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Akfen Group carries out many

studies on sustainability for
a livable world heritage. In
this context, Akfen Holding

and its group companies
are preparing a detailed
Sustainability Report
covering the years

Akfen
Sustainability Priorities

While directing work and investments

As Akfen, within the Holding, its subsidiaries and affiliates, studies are carried out for the sustainability of
global and local resources. Paying attention to sustainability in its investments enables the company to fulfill
its social duties, while making financing conditions more accessible.

(®) Cares about the future

Akfen especially cares about the equalization of women's positions in social and business life, creating
employment for them, and realizing their efforts and dreams. It implements various projects for women who
build our future with the children they raise.

(®) Prepares youth for the future

It invests in young people, who are our future, both with the Individual Development Program and International
Award Program Turkey implemented by TIKAV, and with various donations and sponsorships..

(®) Respects nature

Aiming to protect the world we live in and to develop the human being, who is the essence of everything, the
company counts caring for the environment as one of its principles in achieving this.

(o) Supports art

Akfen Holding, through various projects, supports arts and culture..

(®) Participates in NGOs

Akfen Group, with all its subsidiaries and managers, takes an active role in many associations and non-
governmental organizations established to contribute to Turkey's economic growth..

(® Quality Certificates
Akfen Holding Inc. has the “ISO 9001:2015 Quality Management System” certificate and has successfully
passed the interim audits regarding the aforementioned management system during the period..

(o) Management of Natural Resources

Energy Consumption: With the aim of reducing energy consumption, our server systems have been migrated
from single physical servers to multiple combined virtual servers. Thus, with the increase in virtualization, we
started to work with fewer physical servers and use less energy with the same system.

Water Consumption: Photocell sink faucets were installed in our offices and all faucets were replaced. Thus,
savings are achieved in water usage.
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Examples of Akfen Holding's

Sustainable Investments

As Akfen, studies are carried out within the body of the Holding, at our subsidiaries and affiliates for the sustainability of
global and local resources. Paying attention to sustainability in its investments enables Akfen to fulfillits social duties and

makes financing conditions more accessible. Some of these are as follows;

General

* Akfen Renewable Energy, has been preparing the
Environmental and Social Performance - Annual Mo-
nitoring Report, also called ESAP-AMR, annually for 5
years.

/4
Y

* Acacia Mining,which operates the Gokirmak Copper
Mine located within the borders of Kastamonu, continu-
es its activities conforming to international standards
with its expert staff.

(@ Environmental

* Akfen Renewable Energy, took action in 2014 to estab-
lish13 all-domestic and renewable wind and solar power
plants in 5regions of Turkey with a total power of 470.3
MW and a total value of USD 530 million.

* We have highlighted the concept of sustainability in
many areas, from construction materials to service, in
Isparta, Eskisehir and Tekirdag City Hospitals and Bodrum
Loft holiday village, which are the latest projects we have
implemented with Akfen Construction. For example, in
Tekirdag City Hospital, thanks to the trigen system, we
have achieved an energy efficiency of 1.2 million kWh

and over 3million TL in the last year. In the Bodrum Loft
project, 32 thousand 400 m3 of wastewater was reused in
2021only.

* Akfen Environment and Water,in line with its founding
purpose, has recycled 25.8 million m3 of waste water so
far, by purifying the waste water into clean water and
making it ready for reuse. On the other hand, within the
scope of solid waste management services, 36,800 tons
of waste, suitable for recycling, has been separated at the
source and brought into the economy.

* Akfen Environment and Water, was established with
the aim of recovering the great economic losses in
Turkey's existing water and infrastructure sector and
ensuring that the people receive continuous, reliable,
healthy water and infrastructure services.

* Combining its expertise in the water and wastewater
sectors with Solid Waste Management services, Akfen
Environment and Water offers Solid Waste Management
systems development and management services in line
with the needs of its customers.

*Akfen Environment and Water, collected 940 tons of
waste suitable for recycling, for which total management
service was provided in 2020 and 2021, separately at the

()
N
source, and brought it back into the economy. The com-
pany, which has expanded its service area, continues its

activities with the aim of recycling 550 tons of recyclable
waste in2022.

* While Acacia Mining is constantly updating its infra-
structure with the aim of using the natural resources of
our country in the most accurate way, its reserves have
been developed in accordance with the JORC standard
with an environmentally compatible and sustainable min-
ing approach. At our open pit copper mine site belonging
to our Acacia Mining Operation, the water used in the ore
preparation facilities is providedin a completely closed
cycle, saving approximately 1.5 million cubic meters of
water per year. With the establishment of the solar power
plant, whichis at the project stage, we anticipate that we
willreduce carbon dioxide emissions by approximately
28,000 tons per year by supplying all the needs of the fa-
cility from an environmentally friendly renewable energy
source.

* MIP continues to improve itself in terms of sustainabili-
ty. While the emission amount of MIP per TEU in 2020 was
0.019tCO2, this value was reduced to 0.018 tCO, in 2021.

*Established to contribute to Istanbul's maritime
transportation and the solution of traffic problems, the
Istanbul Sea Buses company provides transportation of
27 million passengers and 6 million vehicles on average
every year. The company continues its investments in
increasing clean and environmentally friendly transporta-
tion opportunities.

To give examples from our previous investments;

* TAVConstruction - Izmir Adnan Menderes Airport
Domestic Terminal project was cited as an example in the
report of the US Green Buildings Council (USGBC), 2017.

*|IBS has WWF Green Office certification.

/
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Social

* Akfen Holding and Akfen Construction have
completed the construction of 3 schools, Ulkii Akin
Secondary School in Ankara, Hikmet Akin Secon-
dary School in Diizce, and Hasan Akin Anatolian High
School in Balikesir, and delivered them to the Mi-
nistry of National Education in various years.

* The microcredit project was initiated in Turkey by
Prof Dr Aziz Akgiil, President of the Turkish Foun-
dation for Waste Prevention (TiSVA) in 2003, and
reached approximately 170,000 micro-entrepreneur
women in 91 branches in 61 provinces of the country
to date.

Operating in Kayseri under the umbrella of Turkey
Grameen Microfinance Program and providing sup-
port to approximately 2000 low-income micro-ent-
repreneurs, Kayseri Microfinance Branch is named
after Akfen Holding Chairman of the Board Hamdi
Akin and Hamdi Akiwn Kayseri Microfinance Branch
has supported 1574 low-income Microentrepreneurs
so far.

+ In 2017, with the cooperation of TIKAV and Akfen
Renewable Energy, 800 women in 15 regions were
reached regarding the development of children in
the 0-6 age group with the project “Schooling at
Home" Health training was given to 1500 women in

R28”

17 regions with the "Health First” project within the
context of the Health theme of 2018.

In the "Hygiene is Health" project which started in
2019, 2,000 women were reached at 26 different po-
ints.

With the "Savings in Our House, the Future in Our
Hands" project which started in 2020 and was in-
terrupted due to the pandemic, 2000 women were
informed about saving methods within the family.
The number of people reached indirectly through the
projects has exceeded 16 thousand.

* Acacia Mining, carries out various projects for the
social and economic development of the Gékirmak
region where it is located. The Ministry of National
Education pioneered the opening of the Mining Te-
chnologies Department at the Multi-Program Anato-
lian High School in the Handnii District. This depart-
ment became operational with 16 students enrolled
at the beginning of the 2018 - 2019 Academic Year.

In order to support the regional economy in terms
of local employment, vocational training courses
in different branches were opened in cooperation
with the Public Education Center in the district and
KOSGEB to meet today's needs, and 103 participants
successfully completed their training. )

Corporate Management

* Akfen Holding, is managed in accordance with
corporate governance principles. Applications of the
Board of Directors and the General Assembly, infor-
mation sharing platforms such as the annual report
and website, and the implementation of ethical co-
des can be given as examples.

* With Akfen Renewable Energy Inc,, the foundations
of which were laid in 2007, Akfen Holding has imple-
mented a renewable energy platform that consists
entirely of domestic and renewable resources and
invests in sustainable energy. Continuing its invest-
ments over the years, Akfen Renewable Energy has
become Turkey's first and largest renewable energy
platform.

&

*Since Akfen Renewable Energy has international
partners such as EBRD and IFC and Akfen REIT is a
public company since 2011, they are managed in ac-
cordance with corporate governance principles.

¢ Akfen Renewable Energy, received 'Turkey's lar-
gest green energy loan' in 2019, with the giant part-
nership of 6 domestic and foreign banks.

* Mersin international Port (MIP), as Turkey's lar-
gest foreign trade port, with its geographical locati-
on, capacity and wide hinterland, is one of the most
important ports not only in Turkey but also in the
Middle East and Eastern Mediterranean. With its
global partners PSA International and IFM Investors,
MIP is also managed in accordance with corporate
governance principles. )
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Akfen Meet-up

All Akfen employees came together at an event on the show was conducted with surprise gifts for the winners. In
occasion of the 45th anniversary of Akfen Holding's addition to the gifts distributed through drawings throu-
establishment. The event, which was held online on 16 ghout the entire event, seniority awards were presented
December 2021 due to the pandemic, started with the by the management to the personnel who celebrated their
speech of the Chairman of the Board of Directors, Hamdi thirtieth, twentieth and tenth years with Akfen Holding.
Akun. In a period when we could get together less due to the

The event continued with questions asked by all emplo- pandemic, the aim was to meet as the entire Akfen family
yees to both the Board of Directors and senior managers,  online nevertheless and the survey conducted after the

and then Demet Akbag gave aninspiring speechandaquiz ~ eventreceived a satisfaction rate of 84%.

Digitalization Studies

As Akfen Holding, we carry out digitalization studies in
various fields in order to meet the requirements of the age
and to reduce the consumption of natural resources.
Strategy Magazine: Prepared quarterly with the support of
Akfen Holding since 2013, Strategy Magazine offers global
and local news about the business and technology world
independently of Akfen Holding.

The magazine, which was published in print between 2013-
2020, started to be published online as of 2021. Strategy ma-
gazine, prepared in English and Turkish with the slogan "Read
tomorrow today", is available on Akfen Holding's corporate
website, http://www.akfen.com.tr/strategy-dergisi link and can
be downloaded for free on Turkcell's magazine application Der-
gilik. As of the 23rd issue of the October-December 2021 period,
free audio news have also started on various podcast media.

Yot Enerit
Xinemi

et

Awards and Achievements

AKFEN HOLDNG Akfen Renewable Energy was ranked 46™ among 4,914 com-

2 panies in the world, receiving an A1 grade out of 67 points in
%; the sustainability report prepared by Vigeo Eiris, which was
' established as a subsidiary of the international rating agency
25 Moody's to inform asset managers and investors.
{9 eiva- ]

CFO EIJI} @tlrgrﬂpuj MIP won the "Port Operator

Summit Bodrum Loft was selected as one of the "25 Newest of the Year" award for the
Hotels in Europe" by Britain's leading newspaper, The nthtimeinarow. The award -
. Telegraph. ceremony of the Atlas Logistics

Akfen Holding CFO Awards competition, which has

Gilbin Uzuner Bekit been held for 12 years, was held

was among the 50 On14 December 2021, Turkrating confirmed Akfen on 11 November 2021, hosted

Most Influential Holding's Long-Term National Credit Rating as TR AAA by the International Logitrans

CFOsin2020and and Short-Term National Credit Rating as TR A1with a Transport Logistics Fair.

2021. stable outlook.
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Prepares the youth
for the future

(o) Abdullah Giil Univercity

Since 201, Akfen Holding has been contributing to
the Abdullah Giil University Support Foundation,
which was established in order to help Abdullah Giil
University achieve a position line with its vision as
soon as possible and to reduce the obligations of the
public in the field of education and training.

(®) London School of Economics

Akfen Holding is a permanent member of the Ad-
visory Board of the Contemporary Turkey Studies
Chair of London School of Economics, one of the
most prestigious academic institutions in the world.
The Chair was established with the initiative of the
Ministry of Foreign Affairs. On behalf of the Holding,
this task is carried out by Member of the Board of
Directors Pelin Akin Ozalp.

Other Education and
Employment Studies

(®) Full Scholarship Opportunity: \ithin the scope
of the Kog University Anatolian Scholars project,
Akfen Holding gave 2 students full scholarship
during their undergraduate program in the 2021-
2022 Academic Year.

(®) Support for the First Opportunity Program:
Akfen Holding is among the first corporate
supporters of Esas Social's social investments in
the field of youth and employment and the First
Opportunity program, which aims to remove
the obstacles that new graduates face in the
transition from school to work. In addition to the
participation of Akfen Holding employees as
mentors in the First Chance program in 2021, one
of the First Opportunity Program participants
received his first work experience in The Duke of
Edinburgh'’s International Award.

Burhaniye Anatolian High
School where 650 students
attend was rebuilt and
prepared for the 2021-22
academic year, and the

name of the school was
changed to Hasan Akwn
Anatolian High School in
dedication to the father of
Akfen Holding Chairman
Hamdi Akin

(®) Schools

Ulkii Alan Secondary School: Ulkii Akin Middle
School: Named after the late Ulkii Akin, the wife of
Akfen Holding Chairman Hamdi Akin, who died as a
result of a sudden illness at a young age, the school
was founded in Ankara with the protocol signed
between Ankara Governorship and Hamdi Akin at
the beginning of the 1993-1994 academic year. The
school has 21 classrooms, 1laboratory, 1 music and
1arts class, 11T class and library, and currently has
435 students.

Hasan Akwin Anadolu Lisesi: Hasan Akin Anatolian
High School: The construction of Burhaniye Anato-
lian High School in Burhaniye, Balikesir, which was
evacuated at the beginning of the 2020-21 acade-
mic year due to the risk of earthquakes, was comp-
leted by Akfen Construction and put into service at
the beginning of the 2021-22 academic year.

The school, which was built in time for the new
academic season, has 16 classrooms, a conference
hall, a laboratory, and 650 students are attend the
school. The school is named Hasan Akin Anatolian
High School, after the father of Akfen Holding
Chairman Hamdi Akin.

Hikmet Akin Middle School: The School, which
was founded in the Hamidiye District of Diizce at
the beginning of the 2004-2005 academic year,
was built by Akfen Holding Chairman of the Board
of Directors, Hamdi Akin, in the name of his decea-
sed mother, Hikmet Akin. There are 20 classrooms,
1laboratory, 1 multi-purpose hall and library Other
Education and at the school, and has 429 students.
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Support for Youth and Entrepreneurs

Akfen Holding executives, particularly Akfen Holding Chairman Hamdi Akin, attended conferences and summits held in
different cities of our country as speakers in 2021 in order to contribute to Turkey's economic growth and inspire young
entrepreneurs and managers. In the context of “Supporting Youth and Entrepreneurs’, 2021 has been arich year

in terms of online conferences, summits, etc., with the direct participation of Akfen executives.

O, O, @

27 January 2021 3 March 2021 4 March 2021

TUREK Online Fair partici- Clean Energy Challenge Project Sabah Newspaper -

pation (Akfen Renewable "Fostering Private Sector Engage-

Energy) ment to Advance Clean Energy Ac- >trong Women of
Strong Turkey Summit

cess in Displaced Settings in Turkey

O, O ®

5March 2021; 9 March 2021; 10 March 2021;

Meeting on“Istanbul 1. Bosphorus Summit - JP Morgan EMEA

Metropolitan Municipality Wornen Leaders Panel CEOForum
Investment Opportunities” - ] & 81| 1 AT

in cooperation with TUSIAD _ ' emif + -,!_.. ‘5
- Istanbul Investment o |

Agency

O, O,

25 March 2021: 4 May 2021 28 June 2021:

Uludag Economy Summit-  GYODER, Plug & Play Turkey Cons- EBRD2021 AnnualMeeting
“Processes and experiences  truction and Real Estate Vertical gﬁugm" Fordmp v s 3
from family business to Meeting e

e
-~ g

corporate company” panel 4May 2021:

Family Business: Creating Future
Value webinar hosted by Harvard
Business Review

O, (o)

24-25 November 2 December 2021: 15 December 2021:

2021 | i i .
GYODER RE|ITs Senlor Management
Bonds, Loans & i Wy

Sukuk

Re360 New Generation
and New Era Dynamism
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We Care About For The Future

Hamdi Akin Kayseri Microfinance Branch

The first step of the microcredit project in Turkey was
taken by Prof. Dr. Aziz Akgiil, President of the Turkish
Foundation for Waste Prevention (TISVA) in 2003, and
reached approximately 170,000 micro-entrepreneur
women in 91 branches in 61 provinces of the country
since then.

Operating in Kayseri under the umbrella of Turkey
Grameen Microfinance Program and providing support
to nearly 2000 low-income microentrepreneurs, Kayseri
Microfinance Branch is named after Akfen Holding
Chairman of the Board, Hamdi Akin.

On 8 March 2018, women who will use microcredit from
Hamdi Akin Kayseri Microfinance Branch, operating in
Kayseri under the umbrella of Turkey Graamen Microfi-
nance Program and providing support to 1574 low-inco-
me micro-entrepreneurs, received their checks with a
ceremony.

Tiirkiye Is Kadinlar: Dernegi (TIKAD)

Akfen Holding Board Member Pelin Akin Ozalp, who ser-
ves on the Board of Turkish Businesswomen's Associati-
on (TIKAD), supports projects organised by TIKAD that
works with a mission of taking responsility in Turkey's
democratization and integration with the modern world.

Women'’s Empowerment Principles (WEPs)
The WEPs platform, which was established in 2010 under the

HeForShe Project

Akfen Holding Chairman of the Board Hamdi Akin and
Member of the Board of Directors Pelin Akin Ozalp support
HeForShe, a global solidarity movement for gender equality.

Intercompany Mentorship Program for More
Women on Boards of Directors

As Akfen Holding, in line with our corporate culture, we
believe that each task is important and each employee is
valuable. In addition to supporting women's role in society
with applications aimed at our female employees, we also
offer professional career opportunities to them.
Furthermore, Akfen Holding Chairman Hamdi Akin, within
the scope of “Intercompany Mentoring Program to Get More
Women on Boards of Directors” implemented in collaborati-
on with Praesta Turkey and Forbes Turkey, mentors female
executives to get prepared for board duties.

The Association of Women on Boards of Direc-
tors (YKKD)

Pelin Akin Ozalp, Member of the Board of Directors of Akfen
Holding, has an active role in the Association of Women on
Boards of Directors, which works to eliminate gender inequ-
ality and ensure that more women take part in the boards of
directors.

partnership of the United Nations Global Compact and the Uni-
ted Nations Gender Equality and Women's Empowerment Unit
(UN Women), presents the private sector with important points
to consider in order to ensure gender equality in workplaces,

markets and society in general.

In Turkey, Akfen Holding was the first holding to sign Women's
Empowerment Principles (WEPs) which was created by the
United Nations Gender Equality and Women's Empowerment
Unit (UN Women) and the UN Global Compact, and which aims
to create awareness for gender equality in the business world.
The initiative has 47 signatories to Turkey initiative and 900

signatories globally.
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We Support Art

LoftArt

Loft Art, the art space developed by Akfen as part of its
social responsibility project, opened its doors in 2021 with
its first exhibition, Humano, at Nisbetiye On in Istanbul,
Besiktas.

Organizing the Art in Bodrum Loft and Sculptville exhibi-
tions in the Bodrum Loft project, which was completed in
2020 with different collaborations, Akfen opened an art
space called Loft Art at Nisbetiye On, Istanbul Levent.
By supporting young artists, Loft Art aims to provide
space for independent artists who produce works in all
disciplines of art and to make them visible without being
their representers.

111

Works sold in the field of art also become a source for
Akfen Holding's Human Resources Education and Health
Foundation of Turkey (TIKAV), which implements national
and international social responsibility projects by focusing
onwomen, youth and children.

Other Supported Projects

* SAHA Association: Akfen Holding is one of the sponsors
of the association, which aims to increase the recognition
and awareness of Turkish contemporary art and provides
unconditional support to projects in this direction.

¢ Ankara International Film Festival: Since 2018, Bulvar

Loft has been supporting the Ankara International Film
Festival on behalf of Akfen Construction.

We Respect Nature

TEMA

AkfenHolding takes part in projects carried out by the Tur-
kish Foundation for Combating Erosion, Afforestation and
Conservation of Natural Assets (TEMA), and contributes
to the afforestation of our country with both its specific
projects and general donations.

EBRD Sustainability Awards

Akfen Holding has been supporting the EBRD's Sustaina-
bility Awards every year since 2014. The event could not be
held in 2020 due to the pandemic, it was postponed to 2021
and support was given for the seventh time of the Sustai-
nability Awards held online in 2021.

Zero Waste Blue Promise

AkfenHolding, by giving its "Zero Waste Blue Promise",
has committed to work to prevent the pollution of the
seas.

Zero Waste Blue Promise:

“We promise to prevent pollution of our seas and coasts,
to encourage, develop and increase participation in the
fight against pollution, to leave a livable and healthy envi-
ronment for future generations, to develop their creativity
and innovation capacities to develop a good solution, to
use alternatives instead of consuming single-use plastics,
and to support circular economy with Zero Waste Blue”
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We Take an Active Role in NGOs

» Turkish Enterprise and
Business Confederation
(TURKONFED)

» World EComomic
Forum - Global
Shapers

» Real Estate and Real
Estate Investment Trust
Association (GYODER)

tiyic 4 BEST ==DEIiK
NGO uyl E 'cﬂ{’?hTPA'AGPEIDES m;(m)mik iLISKILER KURULU
s we are - FOREIGN ECONOMIC RELATIONS BOARD
a member of » Turkish Investor » Deloitte Best » Foreign Economic
Relations Society Managed Companies Relations Board (DEIK)
(TUYiD) Spain, Ireland, United Kingdom, USA,
Middle East Business Council
WORLD “s "
TURKONFED ECONOMIC GY-:DER PERYON
M TURKIYE iNSAN YONETiIMi DERNEGi

» Human Resources
Association of Turkey
(PERYON)

@TAIDER

» Family Businesses
Association of Turkey

TUSIAD

» Turkish Industry and
Business Association

&

» Young Businessmen
Association of Turkey

6

TIKAD

» Turkish Business Women

(TAIDER) (TUSIAD) (TUGIAD) Association (TIKAD)
» Corporate
[ | |

» Turkish EEEE Governance TTYD > Women on
Quality ==== Association » Turkey Tourism Board.Tu.rkey
Association KalD EEE  of Turkey Investors Association Association
(KalDer) TURKIVgALITEchECI (TKYD) (TYD) (YKKD)

I\:I Turkish 4%, TAYCED Examples of our sponsorships

arine DOCTTEME TORSON :

Environment m » Waste & Environmental and donations

Protection Management Association * SAHA Association

Association (TURMEPA) (TAYCED) «Red Crescent

* Ankara Film Festival

* EBRD Sustainability Awards

* Hikmet Akin Kindergarden

*TEMA

* Kog University Anatolian Scholarship Program

* TIKAV



99

Corporate Social Responsibility / TIKAV

~ V4

_.h.:l‘ & i

Turkish Human esources in l:lealth
and Education Foundation (TIKAV)

Adopting the idea that sustainable prosperity is only
possible through investment in people and society as well
as in the economy, Akfen carries out its corporate social
responsibility projects within the body of the Turkish Hu-
man Resources Education and Health Foundation (TIKAV),
which was founded in 1999 by the Akin Family.

TIKAV aims to find solutions for the adaptation of society
to change, to bring in individuals who will lead the deve-
lopment, and to lead the spread of social responsibility
awareness by working with an innovative understanding in
the rapidly changing information age.

Accordingly, TIKAV aims to increase the knowledge and
experiences of the young generation through its long-term

social responsibility projects, aims to improve the aware-
ness for healthy living and to contribute to the elimination
of today's environmental problems.

In the projects it has carried out so far, TIKAV has met with
different segments of the society, including university
students, people from the business world, young people,
children living in mountain villages, women, village head-
men, relatives of the disabled, children receiving treat-
ment in hospitals and mothers accompanying them, and
has also undertaken the repair of many schools.

2021, was another year in which young people and women
came to the fore in social responsibility projects carried
out by TIKAV.

Investing in people

TIKAV projects aim to provide social
benefits for the development of individuals
who can adapt to innovations in the ever-
evolving information age, who respect
social and universal values, are sensitive

to the environment, and have social
responsibility awareness. It classifies its
projects in three different categories:
Individual Development Program, The Duke
of Edinburgh'’s International Award-Turkey,
and National Projects.
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Individual Development

Program (IDP)

The aim of IDP is to equip university students in Eastern and Southeastern Anatolia regions with various
life skills and prepare them for postuniversity working life and social life.

Within the scope of IDP students are provided with development programs that will help them find equal
opportunities and start working life as selfconfident, well-equipped, tolerant, sociallyresponsible people
open to continuous learning and development, aware of their abilities and able to use their talents.

The project continues with 33 scholarships at Firat University. By the end of 2021, 30 scholarship students
are planned to be included in the program. The Individual Development Program consists of 12 parts:

Orientation Program:

In the Orientation Program, activities are carried out for
all students within the group, to help them get to know
each other; detailed information is given about the Foun-
dation, the program and educational practices.

Scholarship Program:
Students receive scholarships in an amount determined by
the the board of directors each year.

Language and Computer Education:
Each student attends English and computer classes for at
least 18 months.

Personal Development Seminars:

Seminars include Communication and Body Language,
Teamwork, Storytelling, Presentation Techniques, Basic
Dance Training, | Value Myself Seminars, Applied Debate,
Diction, European Union Project Writing, Reveal Your Po-
tential, Time Management, Protocol and Courtesy Rules,
Towards Active Citizenship, Applied Drama, Camp Prepa-
ration, Problem Solving Skills and Conflict Management,
Everyone Equal-Everyone Different, Creative Drama, First
Aid, Emotional Intelligence, Entrepreneurship and Innova-
tion, Research and Reporting Techniques, Applied Inter-
view Techniques, RYLA and reparation for Business Life.

Individual Reading Program:

Students read at least 3 books each academic year and
make presentations about these books in the summer
program.

Culture and Art Program:

The excursions and visits made within the scope of the
cultural program are conducted with the guidance of the
students studying in the province where these will take
place. Additionally, different cultural areas are visited in
the Summer Programs.

Voluntary Service Program:

They provide assistance to groups in need by performing
Social Service Activities on a voluntary basis within social
assistance institutions and non-governmental organizati-
ons for at least 12 months.

Internship and Vocational Programs:

Internship support is also provided according to the inte-
rests, wishes and abilities of the students in accordance
with their field of study.

Summer Program:
Students attend a Summer Program at the end of each
academic year until they graduate.

The Duke of Edinburgh’s International Award - Turkey:
TIKAVhas been implementing the Award Program with stu-
dents who are under the Individual Development Program
since 2001.

International Projects:

Each student participates in international youth projects
organized within the scope of the European Union Youth
Program or The Duke of Edinburgh'’s International Award at
least once during the scholarship process.

TiKAV Career Workshop Mentee-Mentor Program:

The program brings together Akfen Holding managers

and employees (mentors) and senior TIKAV scholarship
students (mentees). Volunteers who receive Mentors-

hip Training within the scope of the program share their
experiences related to business life both online and fa-
ce-to-face with mentees and give them ideas to draw their
own career plans. With the TIKAV Individual Development
Program, it is aimed to open the doors of professional life
to the students who are preparing to become “Leaders of
the Future” and to spread awareness for social responsibi-
lity in the business world.



101

Corporate Social Responsibility / Individual Development Program

The Purpose of the Project

Within the scope of IDP, the project aims to provide
equal opportunities to university students who have
difficulty in accessing education, cultural and personal
development opportunities due to social and econo-
mic reasons. Thanks to the project, starting from the
first year of the university until the end of the fourth
year, scholarship students enrich their knowledge and
skills by participating in various personal development,
foreign language and computer training, culture-arts and
voluntary service programs, national and international
projects, interviews, and professional programs.

Students participate in 40 different programs with IDP,
which continues for three and a half years throughout
their university life. It has been determined that a total
of 95% of IDP students started their business life ina
short period of time, 51% of them in government institu-
tions and 49% in the private sector.

Individual Development Program
from Past to Present

The Individual Development Program first started with
the participation of Elazig Firat University students in
1999. It started at Van Yiiziinci Yil University in 2003
and at Middle East Technical University, Hacettepe
University, Ankara University and Eskisehir Osmanga-
zi University in 2006. With the goal of creating equal
opportunity in accessing educational resources, in 2009,
TIKAV has turned to universities in the Eastern and
Southeastern Anatolia Regions that have completed
tenyears and carried out the project at Elazig Firat
University, Van Yiiziinci Yil University, Sanlwurfa Harran
University, Kahramanmaras Siitcii Imam University and
Erzurum Atatiirk University. Since 2010, the project
continues only for Firat University students.

Since the establishment of TIKAV, 321 scholars have
participated in the Individual Development Program.
211 of 321 scholars completed their TIKAV activities and
graduated, and 33 of them continue their TIKAV activi-
ties. 77 scholars left the Foundation for various reasons
or were dismissed.

Individual Development
Program in Numbers

Programs participated

40

Number of students attending IDP

321

Graduates 21
Current student 33
Interviewed 150
Accepted 25

Annual application

750

Program term (years)

3.5

Total program hours

995

Project budget (million TL)

550
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The Duke of Edinburgh’s

The Award Program is an exciting personal development
program that can be attended by all young people betwe-
en the ages of 14 and 24. The aim of the program is to
equip young people with life skills that will enable them
to make a difference in their own lives, in the society
they live in and in the world. The program first started in
1956 with the support of Prince Philip, Duke of Edinbur-
gh, inthe United Kingdom as the Duke of Edinburgh’s
Award, and has reached more than 8 million young peop-
le in more than 130 countries around the world, and more
than 20,000 in our country.

The Award Program is represented by TIKAV in Turkey.
The program is actively implemented in119 award cen-
ters in 20 provinces and more than 2,500 young people
participate in the Award Program every year.

The Human Resources Education and Health Founda-
tion of Turkey, the only institution authorized to imple-
ment the Award Program in Turkey, is amember of the
International Award Association approved by the United
Nations and the European Union.

There are three types of award categories
that the participant can aim for:

Gold Award
Age of
participation
16-24 years

Bronze Award | Silver Award

Age of
participation
14-24 years

Age of
participation
15-24 years

Program dura-
tionis at least
6 months

Program dura-
tionis at least
12 months

Program dura-
tionis at least
18 months

International Award - Turkey (UGO-Tr)

ez 7
A

The program consists of four areas; In the Gold Category they
also participate in a Social Harmony Project.

Voluntary Service: The \Voluntary Service section aims to
stress the importance of volunteering and taking part in social
services by showing young people that individuals within a
society need one another. In this section, participants need

to find an activity that will help serve their community whilst
developing their own personal skill set.

Skills Development: The aim of this sectionis to encourage
young people to choose a suitable activity from among the
cultural and social activities they are interested in, in order

to help develop their skills. The important thing in the skills
development section is that, more importantly than reaching
a certain level of skill, the young people set goals within the
scope of their skills and interests, and work regularly to reach
these goals.

Physical Development: In this section, participants are
expected to continue a sporting activity of their choice fora
certain period of time, according to the award category they
have chosen. The purpose of this section is to teach the par-
ticipants how to stay in shape, improve fitness, discover new
skills, overcome difficulties, and experience the happiness
that success will bring.

Adventures and Discoveries: The Adventure and Discovery
Journey section aims to increase self-confidence in young
people through teamwork, gain environmental awareness and
respect for nature through developing a spirit of adventure.

Social Harmony Project: This section, which only needs to be
completed within the Gold Category, aims for young people to
take part in an activity for the common good with a team that

they have not worked with before; this allows young people to
improve their life skills.
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Purpose of the Project

Thanks to the Award Program, with the certificate they
receive, the participants gain advantages in their ap-
plications to universities, scholarships, internships and
jobs abroad. Thanks to the Program, within the scope
of Skills Development activities, many young people
improved their existing skills or acquired new ones and
worked on their personal development; strengthened
their fitness and health with the Physical Development
activities; and within the scope of Voluntary Service
activities, contributed to society.

Allyoung people between the ages of 14-24 have had
the opportunity to look at life from a different perspec-
tive with their increased self-confidence.

From Past to Present
Award Program in Turkey

The Award Program was implemented in Turkey for the
first time in1995. The first implementers of the Award
Program in our country were the Turkish-British Friend-
ship Association and a few schools.

The Human Resources Foundation of Turkey (TIKAV),
which put the Award Program on its agenda in 2001,
started the efforts to nationalize the Award Program
in cooperation with the Turkish-British Friendship
Association. In May 2002, the Ministry of Education
approved the implementation of the Award Program in
high schools in 7 pilot provinces, namely Ankara, Aydn,
Bursa, Elazg, Eskisehir, Gaziantep and Kayseri.

In September 2003, the Youth Award Association was
established by the educators and representatives of
non-governmental organizations who implemented The
Duke of Edinburgh'’s International Award within their
own structure, and the program was carried out by the
association.

The program has been continued by the “National
Award Committee” with the representation of the
TIKAV “National Authority” since 01 June 2013,

‘Award Program” in Numbers

Number of Active Reward Centers

119

Number of Award Centers Signing
Sub-License Agreements
(AC signed in 2020 only)

8

Total Award Leaders

428

Total Supervisors

261

Number of Active Participants

3,895

Total Number of Participants

7,081

Project Budget (TL)

1,185,000

2022 Project Goals

Number of Active Reward Centers

130

Number of Award Centers Signing
Sub-License Agreements

10

Number of Active Award Leaders

465

Number of Active Supervisors

290

Number of Active Participants

4,500

Total Number of Participants

7:500

Number of provinces
implementing the program

22
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National Projects

Since 2010, TIKAV has been aiming to implement sustainable projects for the education and development of people in
order to create permanent solutions to the problems it deals with. In this context, TIKAV, which carries out joint projects
with various organizations in different locations in Turkey, met with young people, children living in mountain villages,
women, village headmen, relatives of the disabled, children receiving treatment in hospitals and mothers accompanying
them, and also carried out school repair works.

Projects Partners Period
New Tradition to the Old Villages MIP 2010
The Mothers' School MIP 2011 ve 2012
We Restore, You Study MIP 2012-2016
Hand-in-hand With Headmen in Mersin MIP 2013
The Disabilities Within Us MIP 2014
"Working Life and Women' and ‘Communication Within the Family’ Panels MIP 2015
My Mother and Me Project TUGIAD 2016
Our School at Home Project Akfen Ren. Energy 2017
Health First Project Akfen Ren. Energy 2018
The Hygiene is Health Project Akfen Ren. Energy 2019
Economy at Home for a Prosperous Future Project Akfen Ren. Energy 2020

“The project, which started in February 2020, paused due to the pandemic and has not yet been resumed. It is
planned to restart in June 2022, once the pandemic allows.

Rural Area Education Seminars y)®) Our School at Home Project
With Akfen Renewable Energy 1,000 women

With the financing of Akfen Renewable Energy and the

coordination of TIKAV. since 2017, activities have been carried out

with women living in rural areas where Akfen Renewable Energy 2018 o Health First Project
power plants operate. 1,500 women

In summary; 1,000 women participated in the workshop on the

development of children aged 0-6 with the project “Our School at

Home"in 2017; and in 2018, 1,500 women were given training on first

aid, basic health, cancer screening, gynecological diseases and organ 1 N @) The Hygiene is Health
donation with the “Health First” project. With the “Hygiene is Health” Project
project, which started in 2019, 2000 women who do physical work 2,000 women
were given information about food, body and living space hygiene. 200

women were reached with the “Economy at Home for a Prosperous

Future” project, which started in 2020 and could be carried out p1iPIN @) Economy at Home for a
only in six workshops in four different cities between January Prosperous Future P
and February due to the Pandemic. Due to the pandemic, the 200 women
remaining stages of the project will be completed in 2022.
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Our School at Home Project

In our country, inrural areas where urbanization is low
and women play a lesser role in professional working
life, most of the children start their education life
directly in primary school without getting preschool
education. Inthe preschool period, when people have
the highest learning potential, there is a process in
which their physical, psychomotor, social-emotional,
mental and language developments are completed to a
large extent, the personality is shaped and they develop
rapidly.

Knowing the importance of preschool education for
children aged 0-6, we started the “Our School at Home
Project” We implemented our project with the partici-
pation of women who have children in the 0-6 age group,
residing in rural areas where the hydroelectric and solar
power plants affiliated with Akfen Renewable Energy
Inc. operate. With the “Our School at Home Project’, uti-
lizing practical workshops, it was emphasized that edu-
cation should not be left only to school in order to raise
healthier individuals, and that it is necessary for parents
to spend quality time with their children at home.

Within the scope of the project implemented in15 dif-
ferent locations in Turkey, it was aimed to raise healthier
individuals, to strengthen communication within the
family, and to support the expansion of preschool
educational activities in our country. 1000 people were
reached with the project implemented inregions where
Akfen Renewable Energy Inc. has 15 active hydroelec-
tric, wind energy and solar power plants.

“We Are School At Home"” in Numbers

Health First Project

In our country, many people lose their lives or become
disabled due to home, work or traffic related accidents and
natural disasters. With timely, simple and effective first aid,
the life of the sick or injured person can be saved. In such
cases, the first aid training of the responders plays a decisive
role in sustaining life, preventing injuries and shortening

the recovery period. It is known that most of the permanent
ailments and deaths occur because of insensible first aid
interventions and wrong transportation methods within

the first minutes when panic and turmoil prevail. It is of
great importance to raise awareness about first aid among
people living inrural areas, which are far from health centers,
especially where the ambulance canreach in 45 minutes at
the earliest.

Additionally, it has been seen that the people living in rural ar-
eas do not benefit from the health opportunities offered by
the state due to their negligent approach to health and their
conservative perspectives, and they do not have the routine
health screenings they should have.

With the Health First Project, it is aimed to raise awareness
by addressing subjects such as first aid, basic health, cancer
screening, examination routines, gynecological diseases and
organ donation. The project, which was implemented in17
different locations in Turkey, was carried out with the partici-
pation of women over the age of 18.

The project, which was carried out in the regions where
AkfenRenewable Energy Inc. has 17 active hydroelectric, wind
energy and solar power plants, reached 1,500 participants

“Health First” in Numbers

Number of locations 15 Number of locations 17
Participant 1,000 Participant 1,500
Participants'participationrate in Those who were not aware of
similar studies before 7% first aid practices before training 79%
Project budget 320,000 TL Participants who know their blood type 29%
Number of family members Project budget 475,000 TL
reached through participants 2,621 Number of family members
reached through participants 5,571
Awards

The “Health First”project was deemed
worthy of the Social Responsibility Award
at the 9 Turkey Energy Summit in 2018
and won the first prize. In 2018, it became
afinalistin its own branch in the competi-
tion organized by the Doctors Club.




106

Akfen Holding Annual Report 2021

The Hygiene is Health Project

Hygiene is described as the practices made or cleaning
measures taken to prevent the things that will harm the body's
health. Meeting the needs such as nutrition, excretion and
dressing in order to maintain the health of the individual is
called“self-care” It has been determined that self-care and
hygiene for the people living in rural areas in our country is lim-
ited to general cleaning, and that they do not have the neces-
sary information to know that if enough attention is not given
to hygiene and self-care, they may be exposed to situations
that may cause health problems.

The project, which was implemented in 26 different locations
in Turkey with the participation of women over the age 0f 18,
aims to raise awareness about living space, body and food
hygiene, which are necessary for women living in rural areas
and doing physical work.

2000 people were reached with the project implemented in
regions where Akfen Renewable Energy Inc. has 26 active
hydroelectric, wind and solar power plants.

“Hygiene is Health” in Numbers

Number of locations 26
2,000

Participant

Those who do not know the diseases

caused by hygiene and lack of self-care 79%
Those who do not have a habit of brushing teeth 24%
Project budget 500,000 TL
Number of family members

reached through participants 7,900
Awards

The “Health First”project was deemed

worthy of the Social

Responsibility Award at the 9th
Turkey Energy Summit in 2018 and
won the first prize. In 2018, it became a
finalist in its own branch in the compe-
tition organized by the Doctors Club.

Economy at Home for a
Prosperous Future Project

With the “Economy at Home for a Prosperous
Future” project, which will be implemented with
the coordination of TIKAV and financed by Akfen
Renewable Energy Inc., seminars will be held in the
neighborhoods or villages in 27 different locations
inregions where Akfen-affiliated power plants are
located. In these seminars, we aim to contribute to
both household economy and the ecological
balance of the country and the world, by educating
women living in rural areas about the wise and
conscious use of electrical energy, which has a high
cost among other energy types, and water, our
main non-substitutable source.

Economy at Home for a Prospe-
rous Future Project in Numbers

Because of the pandemic precautions that started
in March 2020, only six seminars could be carried
out in the provinces of Mugla, Denizli, Aydin and
Mersin, and approximately 605 people attended.
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Results of Rural Region
Training Seminars with
Akfen Renewable Energy

According to the results of the “Participant Evaluation
Form" applied after the studies, the Instructor Eva-
luation Reports, the Operations Manager Evaluation
Reports and the observations of the project managers,
there has been more interest and participation in the
projects than anticipated. The participants actively
participated in the studies because interactive acti-
vities were preferred and the subject matter was of
interest for all participants.

In the projects, it was aimed to make an impact on the
entire household by meeting with mothers, who are the
pillars of the family, who develop habits and maintain
order in the family. In addition to receiving information
that will benefit them and their relatives, the parti-
cipants found opportunities to socialize, to express
themselves and their motivation increased.

In the feedback of the project participants, there were
requests to increase the number and frequency of
adult awareness seminars. It has been observed that
the problems that rise from the subjects covered wit-
hin the scope of the projects negatively affect family
relations, social relations and health. With the aware-
ness created in the training, positive traces were leftin
people’s lives..

Rural Region Training Seminars with
Akfen Renewable Energy in Numbers

Since 2017, a total of 4,900 people have participated in
the

seminars on four different topics. Considering that

the families also benefited through the participants,
approximately 18,500 people were reached.
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(Convenience translation of a report and consolidated financial statements originally issued in Turkish)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Board of Directors of Akfen Holding Anonim Sirketi
A) Report on the Audited of the Consolidated Financial Statements
1) Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Akfen Holding A.S. (the Company) and its
subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at De-
cember 31,2021, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement
if changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financiat statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairiy, in all material res-
pects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at December 312021 and its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the
Turkish Financial Reporting Standards (TFRS).

2) Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with standards on auditing as issues by the Capital Markets-
Board of Turkey and Independent Auditing Standards (InAS) which are part of the Turkish Auditing
Standards as issued by the Public Oversight Accounting and Auditing Standards Authority of Turkey
(POA). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibi-
lities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are indepen-
dent of the Group in accordance with the Code of Ethics for Independent Auditors (Code of Ethics)
as issued by the POA, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suWicient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

3) Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in
our audit of the consohdated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addres-
sed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements asa whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.



12

Akfen Holding Anonim Sirketi and its Subsidiaries

(Convenience translation of a report and consolidated flnancial statements originally issued in Turkish)

Key Audit Matters

How key audit matter addressed in the audit

TFRS Comment 12 - Service Concession
Agreements

Taking into account the terms of the service
concession agreement with the government, the
Group applied TFRS Comment 12 financial asset
model and defined a financial asset in its financial
statements.

The Group considers the service concession
agreements as hybrid contracts that contain the
main products in the nature of financial assets.
Related contracts contain more than one
embedded derivative product and vary with
contractual cash flows, a certain inflation rate
and

exchange rate changes.

Financial assets arising from concession
agreements are recognized in the consolidated
financial statements at their fair value. As of 31
December 2021, the total amount of these
financial assets is 12,445,309 thousand TRY,
which corresponds to 43% of the total assets.
This matter is considered as a key audt matter
since the amount of the balance is significant
portion in the consolidated financial statements
and fair

value measurements involve significant
assumptions and estimations.

Explanations on service concession agreements
are disclosed in Note 10.

The following audit procedures have been applied
while auditing the financial assets related to
service concession agreements;

- The service concession agreement was
obtained, and the terms of the agreement were
examined.

- The reasonableness of the assumptions and
estimates used in the fair value calculation has
been evaluated by the audit team and experts
on the subject matter. For this evaluation,
valuation experts of another organization, which
is included in the same audit network as our
organization, were included in ourwork.

- The end-of-period financial asset figure
generated in the service concession model is
mutually confirmed by the end-of-year financial
statements.

- In addition, within the scope of the above
mentioned special accounting, we questioned
the approphateness of the information
contained in the financial statements and the
explanatory notes and the adequacy of the
information disclosed for the readers of the
financial statements.
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Valuation of Financial Assets

The Group has classifled the shares of Mersin
Uluslararast Liman Isletmeciligi A.S. (MIP)

as financial investments and recognized at
fair value in the accompanying consolidated
financialstatements (Note 22).

As aresult of the fair valuation as of December
31.2021, the Company carried the shares of
MIP amounting to TRY 3,625,827 thousand at
fair value in the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.

In our audit work, we have focused on this issue
for the following reasons

- MIP has carried from fair value is significant
for the accompanying consolidated financial
statements and valuation requires to expertise.

- The market approach method has been

used in the (air value calculation and has

been determined by the Company Value /
Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation,

and amortization (“EBITDA") multipliers of peer
group companies that could be used in the
valuation of MIP. As of December 31, 2021, (air
value was calculated by applying peer group
companies EBITDA multipliers to the company's
12-month backward EBITDA.

The following Audit procedures have been
applied while auditing the [air value calculation
of MIP;

-We included experts from another entity that
is a part of same audit network to our audit
team to examine the fair value calculations.

- The compliance of the valuation calculations
with the financial statements and the
mathematical appropriateness of the
calculations are checked.

- The valuation methods and the technical data
used were evaluated by the expert and the
Group management with the support of our
experts.

- The expertise of the appraisers ws evaluated
in according to TDS 500.

- Data obtained from external sources such
as “peer group companies’ multipliers” and
“current transaction” used in valuation have
been checked with relevant independent data
sources.

- in addition, TERS compliance with the
disclosures in the financial statements were
also evaluated.
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Valuation of investment properties and
important information disclosed

After the initial recognition, the Group
recognised ts investment properties with fair
value method. As of December 31.2021, the

fair value of investment properties has been
determined by independent valuation company
with CMB license and details are disclosed.

Due tofact that investment properties
which are detailed in Note 11 and Note 20
are significant part of the Company's assets
and applied valuation methods contain
significant judgements and assumptions, we
have considered the valuation of investment
properties as a key audit matter.

We assessed the qualifications, competencies,
and independence of the professional appraisers
engaged by the management.

In our audit, the appropriateness of the appra-
isai methods used by appraisal experts in the
appraisai reports of the investment properties
were evaiuated in the appraisai reports, the ag-
reement of the vaiues appraised by the appraisal
experts for the reievant real estates with the dis-
ciosed amounts has been checked. In addition, we
reconciled standing data included in the vaiuati-
onreport such asrental income, duration of lease
contracts, occupancy rates and administration
expenses to source documents.

Among the other audit procedures we perfor-
med, we verified the assumptions used by the
external appraisers in their valuations (including
the discount rate, the market rent and the expe-
cted occupancy rates) against external data. For
this assessment we involved valuation experts of
a firm which is in our audit network to our audit
procedures.

Due to high level of judgement by the appraisers
in the valuation of investment property and the
existence of alternative assumptions and valu-
ation methods we assessed if the resuit of the
externai valuation is within an acceptable range.

We also examined the suitability of the informa-
tion in the financiai statements and explanatory
note, given the importance of this information
for users of the financial statements.
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4) Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements
inaccordance with TFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consoiidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicabie, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process..
5) Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Inanindependent audit, our responsibilities as the auditors are:

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consoiidated financial statements as
awhoip are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud gr error, and to issue an auditor's report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with standards on auditing as issued by the Capital Markets Board of Turkey and InAS
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with standards on auditing as issued by the Capital Markets Board of Turkey and
mAS, we exercise professionai judgment and maintain professionai scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting poiicies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.
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- Conclude on the appropriateness of managemenfs use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
signiflcant doubt on the Groups ability to continue asa going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors report to the related disciosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

- Evaluate the overali presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, inciuding
the disciosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underiying transactions and
events in e manner lhat achieves fair presentation.

- Obtain suwicient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain soleiy responsible for our audit
opinion.
We communicate wfth those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant defiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide those eharged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with thern alirelationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the pubhc interest benefits of such communication.



n7

Akfen Holding Anonim Sirketi and its Subsidiaries

(Convenience translation of a report and consolidated financial statements originally issued in Turkish)

B) Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

1) In accordance with paragraph 4 of Article 402 of the TCC, no significant matter has come to our attention that
causes us to believe that the Company's bookkeeping activities for the period 1 January -31 December 2021 and
financial statements are not in compliance with laws and provisions of the Company’s articles of association in
relation to financial reporting.

2) In accordance with paragraph 4 of Article 402 of the TCC, the Board of Directors submitted to us the necessary
explanations and provided required documents within the context of audit.

The name of the engagement partner who supervised and concluded this audit is Mehmet Can Altintas.

Giiney Bagimsiz Denetim ve Serbest Muhasebeci Mali Miisavirlik Anonim Sirketi
A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited

Mehmet Can Altintas, SMMM
Partner

March 11, 2022
Ankara, Tiirkiye
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(All amounts are expressed in thousand Turkish Liras ("TRY") unless otherwise specified.)
Restated Restated
(Note 3) (Note 3)
Audited Audited Audited
Footnote December 31, December 31, January 1,
ASSETS references 2021 2020 2020
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 5 1,979,924 1,626,879 2,085,358
Short term financial investments 22 1,023,720 474,591 19,638
Trade receivables 102,743 75,000 73,898
- Trade receivables from related parties 7-32 19,996 21,521 24,775
- Trade receivables from third parties 82,747 53,479 49,123
Inventories 16 14,989 43,205 71,028
Other receivables 85,047 58,348 91,150
- Other receivables from related parties 8 9 173 105
- Other receivables from third parties 8 85,038 58,175 91,045
Financial assets related to concession agreements 10 1,368,338 861,978 422,851
Assets arising from customer contracts - - 76,912
- Receivables from ongoing construction
and service contracts 10 - - 76,912
Prepaid expenses 9 38,173 27,640 158,169
Current income tax assets 31 10,382 55,002 18,895
Other current assets 23 69,293 90,463 47,416
SUBTOTAL 4,692,609 3,313,106 3,065,315
Assets reclassified as held for sale 11 - 14,922 2,890
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 4,692,609 3,328,028 3,068,205
Non-Current Assets
Financial investments 22 4,882,153 2,619,605 2,414,637
Trade receivables 9,061 12,264 14,673
- Trade receivables from third parties 7-32 9,061 12,264 14,673
Other receivables 847,511 752,437 534,511
- Other receivables from related parties 8-32 835,155 742,603 525,869
- Other receivables from third parties 8 12,356 9,834 8,642
Financial assets related to concession agreements 10 11,076,971 6,513,592 4,361,126
Assets arising from customer contracts 41,760 25,726 721,170
- Receivables from ongoing construction
and service contracts 10 - - 706,831
- Contract assets arising from sales of goods and services 9 41,760 25,726 14,339
Investments accounted using the equity method 20 5,110,706 2,188,084 1,368,198
Investment property 1 1,303,814 1,133,028 875,196
Right of use assets 13 7,792 10,486 8,391
Property, plant and equipment 14 90,492 358,023 110,357
Intangible assets 101,391 105,873 97,935
- Other intangible assets 15 101,391 105,873 97,935
Prepaid expenses 9 6,197 3,355 -
Deferred tax assets 31 991,463 913,824 627,297
Other non current assets 23 26,505 26,707 40,533
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 24,495,816 14,663,004 11,174,024
TOTAL ASSETS 29,188,425 17,991,032 14,242,229

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Restated Restated
(Note 3) (Note 3)
Audited Audited Audited
Footnote December 31, December 31, January 1,
LIABILITIES references 2021 2020 2020
Current Liabilities
Short term borrowings 6 352,068 333,958 113,722
Short term portion of long-term borrowings 6 1,809,952 2,838,527 1,092,222
Trade payables 150,502 1,087,646 1,260,800
- Trade payables to related parties 7-32 9,230 895,171 1,132,906
- Trade payables to third parties 7 141,272 192,475 127,894
Employee benefit obligations 2,232 960 1,121
Other payables 73,085 48,058 57,265
- Other payables to related parties 8-32 40,495 11,948 10,117
- Other payables to third parties 8 32,590 36,110 47,148
Deferred revenue 17 16,559 10,586 6,944
Income tax payable 31 812 18,841 4,815
Current provisions 28,842 41,302 16,672
- Provision for employee benefits 18 9,655 7,222 8,356
- Other short-term provisions 18 19,187 34,080 8316
Other current liabilities 23 62,386 51,950 9,163
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 2,496,438 4,431,328 2,562,724
Non-Current Liabilities
Long term borrowings 6 11,536,810 5,777,097 5,832,694
Other payables 1,395,771 563,654 439,011
- Other payables to related parties 8-32 1,387,002 554,885 429,636
- Other payables to third parties 8 8,769 8,769 9,375
Derivative financial liabilities 12 280,559 266,190 141,290
Obligations arising from customer contracts 17 93,310 67124 41,327
Non-current provisions 8,419 6,119 26,561
- Provision for employee benefits 18 8,419 6,119 6,417
- Other long-term provisions 18 - - 20,144
Deferred tax liabilities 31 208,593 235,104 157133
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 13,523,462 6,915,288 6,638,016
TOTAL LIABILITIES 16,019,900 11,347,116 9,200,740
EQUITY 13,168,525 6,643,916 5,041,489
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 13,202,434 6,665,458 5,066,136
Issued capital 24 700,000 667,181 667,181
Treasuary shares (-) (237,859) (569,966) (569,966)
Share premiums 50,231 2,376 2,376
Effect of business combinations under common control (1,639,614) (1,848,968) (1,848,968)
Other accumulated comprehensive income
that will not be reclassified to profit or (loss) 7,209,800 2,512,500 800,934
- Increases on revaluation of property, plant & equipment 24 4,461,126 1,279,681 -
- Losses on remeasurement of defined benefit plans (6,018) (5230) (4,177)
- Other gains on revaluation and remeasurement 24 2,754,692 1,238,049 805,111
Other accumulated comprehensive income that will be
reclassified to (loss) or profit (1,385,525) 99,689 256,298
- Currency translation difference 24 590,699 281,403 256,298
- Hedge reserve fund 24 (1,976,224) (181,714) -
Restricted reserves appropriated from profits 24 2,493,382 2,812,069 2,789,693
Retained earnings 3,244,658 2,946,212 2,279,065
Net profit for the period 2,767,361 44,365 689,523
Non-controlling interests 24 (33,909) (21,542) (24,647)
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 29,188,425 17,991,032 14,242,229

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income For The Year ended December 31, 2021
(Allamounts are in thousand Turkish Liras ("TRY") unless otherwise specified.)

Restated
(Note 3)
Audited Audited
January 1,- January 1,-
PROFIT OR LOSS FROM Footnote December 31, December 31,
CONTINUING OPERATIONS references 2021 2020
Revenue 25 600,556 1,183,531
Cost of sales (-) 25 (535,964) (1,037,416)
GROSS PROFIT 64,592 146,115
General administrative expenses (-) 26 (117,322) (80,272)
Marketing, selling and distribution expenses (-) 27 (6,249) (3,980)
Other income from operating activities 28 6,552,729 1,734,241
Other expenses from operating activities (-) 28 (113,368) (50,864)
Share of profit/(loss) from investments accounted
using the equity method 20 895,364 (465,989)
OPERATING PROFIT FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 7,275,746 1,279,251
Income from investment activities 30 326,578 213,210
Expense from investment activities (-) 30 (162,928) (19,054)
PROFIT BEFORE FINANCE INCOME/(LOSS) 7,439,396 1,473,407
Finance income 29 1,159,231 1,183,712
Finance expenses (-) 29 (5,947,878) (2,835,442)
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX FROM
CONTINUING OPERATIONS 2,650,749 (178,323)
Taxincome 109,393 225,793
Current period tax expense (-) 31 (32,059) (33,038)
Deferred tax income 31 141,452 258,831
PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD FROM
CONTINUING OPERATIONS 2,760,142 47,470
PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD 2,760,142 47,470
Attributable to
Non-controlling interests (7,219) 3,105
Equity holders of the parent 2,767,361 44,365
Net profit for the period 2,760,142 47,470
Earnings per share
Earnings per share (TRY in full) 33 412 0.07
Diluted earnings per share (TRY in full) 33 412 0.07

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income For The Year ended December 31, 2021

(Allamounts are in thousand Turkish Liras ("TRY") unless otherwise specified.)
Restated
(Note 3)
Audited Audited
January 1,- January 1,-
PROFIT OR LOSS FROM Footnote December 31, December 31,
CONTINUING OPERATIONS references 2021 2020
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 2,760,142 47,470
Other comprehensive income that
will not be reclassified to profit or loss 4,851,733 1,711,566
Losses on remeasurements of defined benefit plans (788) (1,053)
Other comprehensive income items that
will not be reclassified as other profit or loss 24 1,516,643 432,938
Gains on revaluation of property, plant and equipment 24 3,335,878 1,279,681
Other comprehensive income/loss that
will be reclassified to profit or loss (1,485,214) (156,609)
Exchange differences on translation 24 309,296 25,105
Other comprehensive loss related with cash flow hedges 24 (1,794,510) (181,714)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 3,366,519 1,554,957
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 6,126,661 1,602,427
Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to
Non-controlling interests (7,219) 3,105
Equity holders of the parent 6,133,880 1,599,322
Total comprehensive income 6,126,661 1,602,427

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Other comprehensive
income and expenses
accumulated that
will be reclassified in
profit or loss
Effects of
combi-
nations of
entities or Currency
Adjust- businesses trans-
ments Share under lations Loses
Issued | to share |Treasury pre- common differ- on
capital capital | shares | miums control ences hedge
Balances as of January 1, 2020
(previously reported) 667,181 (7,257) |(569,966) |(72,955) (704,281) 80,694 -
Other adjusments (Note 3) - 7.257 -| 75331 (1144,687) | 175604 -
Balances as of
January 1, 2020 667,181 - [(569,966) 2,376 | (1,848,968) | 256,298 -
Transfers - - - - - - -
Total comprehensive
income/(expense) - - - - - 25,105 | (181,714)
Profit for the period - - - - - - -
Other comprehensive
income/(expense) - - - - - 25105 | (181,714)
Balances as of
December 31, 2020 667,181 - (569,966) | 2,376 | (1,848,968) | 281,403 | (181,714)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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123 | (Allamounts are in thousand Turkish Liras ("TRY") unless otherwise specified.)
Other accumulated
comprehensive income and Retained .
expenses that will not be etained earnings
reclassified in profit or loss
Other (Losses)/
gains on Gains on | Restricted
revalua- Increases remeasu reserves Net Non-
tion and on rements appropri | Retained profits control-
remeasu- | revaluation of defined | ated from | earnings for the ling Total
rement fund benefit profits profits period Total |interests equity
761,094 (4,307) (3,294) 2,912,107 | 1,507,269 | 491,056 |5,057,341 13,896 5,071,237
44,017 4,307 (883)| (122414) | 771796 | 198467 8795 | (38543) (29,748)
805,111 - (4077) | 2,789,693 | 2,279,065 | 689,523 |5,066,136 | (24,647) | 5,041,489
- - - 22,376 667147 |(689,523) - - -
432,938 1,279,681 (1,053) - - 44,365 |1,599,322 3,105 1,602,427
- - - - - | 44365 44,365 3,105 47,470
432,938 1,279,681 (1,053) 3 - - | 1.554,957 - 1,554,957
1,238,049 1,279,681 (5,230) 2,812,069 | 2,946,212 44,365 6,665,458 | (21,542) 6,643,916

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Akfen Holding Anonim Sirketi

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the Year ended December 31,2021
(Allamounts are in thousand Turkish Liras ("TRY") unless otherwise specified.)

Other comprehensive
income and expenses
accumulated that
will be reclassified in
profit or loss

Effects of
combi-
nations of
entities or| Currency
Adjust- businesses trans
ments Share under lations Loses
Issued | to share | Treasury pre- common differ- on
capital capital shares | miums control ences hedge
Balances as of January 1, 2021
(previously reported) 667,181 (7,257) |(569,966) | (72,955) (704,281)| 105,798 (181,714)
Other adjusments (Note 3) - 7,257 -| 75331 (1144,687)| 175605 -
Balances as of January 1,2021 | 667,181 - (569,966) | 2,376| (1,848,968)| 281,403 (181,714)
Transfers - - - - 97,236 - -
Total comprehensive
income/(expense) - - - - -| 309,296 ((1,794,510)
Profit/(loss) for the period - - - - - - -
Other comprehensive
income/(expense) - - - - -|  309,296| (1,794,510)
Capital increase 32,819 - - - 17,057 - -
Other contributions of
shareholders - - - - - - -
Increase/(decrease) due to
share repurchase transactions® - - 332107 | 47855 - - -
Increase/(decrease) through
share-based payment
transactions - - - - 130,853 - -
Merger effect ™ - - - - (35,792) - -
Balances as of
December 31, 2021 700,000 - |(237,859) | 50,231 (1,639,614) | 590,699 ((1,976,224)

(*) It is related to the sale of the Group's repurchased shares amounting to TRY 332,107, the details of which are given in Note 24.
(**) It is the effect of the share sales of Masanda Turizm Yatirimlari A.S. on January 9, 2021, and IBS Sigorta ve Reastirans Sigorta

Brokerligi A.S. on January 29, 2021.

(***) It is the effect of the merger of Akfen Enerji Uretim ve Ticaret A.S. on March 5, 2021 and Akfen Infrastructure Holding on November

10, 2021 under Akfen Holding.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the Year ended December 31,2021
(Allamounts are in thousand Turkish Liras ("TRY") unless otherwise specified.)

Other accumulated
comprehensive income and .
expenses that will not be Retained
reclassified in profit or loss earnings
Other (Losses)/
gains on Gains on| Restricted
revalua- Increases remeasu- reserves Net Non-
tion and on rements appro-| Retained profits control-
remeasu-| revaluation of defined priated | earnings for the ling Total
rement fund benefit profits profits period Total |interests equity
1,184,655 1,168,448 (4,351) 2,932,286 | 1,741,027 (61,661) | 6,197,210 13,931 6,211,141
53,394 11,233 (879) (120,217)| 1,205,185 | 106,026| 468248 | (35473) 432,775
1,238,049 1,279,681 (5,230) 2,812,069 | 2,946,212 44,365 6,665,458 | (21,542) 6,643,916
- (50,616) - (2,014) (241) | (44,365) - - -
1,516,643 3,335,878 (788) - - | 2,767,361 6,133,880 | (7,219) 6,126,661
- - - - - | 2767361 2767361 (7.219) 2,760,142
1516,643| 3335878 (788) - - -| 3366,519 -| 3366519
- - - -l (49,876) - - - -
- - - 15,434 - - 15,434 - 15,434
- - - (332,107) 335142 - 382,997 - 382,997
- (103,817) - .| (25744) - 1,292 - 1,292
- - - - 39,165 - 3373 | (5148) (1,775)
2,754,692 4,461,126 (6,018)| 2,493,382 | 3,244,658 | 2,767,361]13,202,434 | (33,909)| 13,168,525

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Restated
(Note 3)
Audited Audited
Footnote December 31, December 31,
references 2021 2020
A. Cash Flows from Operating Activities 2,750,663 458,679
Profit for the year 2,760,142 47,470
Adjustments to reconcile profit (1,024,425) 419,829
Adjustments for depreciation and amortization 25-26 19,289 10,700
Adjustments for losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment 6,784 -
Adjustments for dividend income 30 (151,963) (8,211)
Adjustments for participation fee and income from
other financial instruments 30 - (8,235)
Adjustments for fair value gains (6,644,925) (1,742,034)
Adjustment for fair value gains of financial assets 28-30 (6,207,952) (1,608,058)
Adjustment for fair value gains of investment properties 28 (451,342) (258,876)
Adjustments for the fair value losses of derivative financial instruments 29 14,369 124,900
Adjustments for impairment 5,063 28,044
Adjustment for impairment on receivables 28 5063 9,844
Adjustments for impairment of tangible and intangible assets - 18,200
Adjustments for provisions 35,771 14,890
Adjustments for provisions related with employee benefits 2,859 (996)
Adjustments for other provisions 28 32912 15886
Adjustments for the undistributed (incomes)/losses of
investments accounted using the equity method 20 (895,364) 465,989
Adjustments for unrealized foreign exchange 6,078,533 1,614,151
Adjustments regarding gains related to changes in share or
disposal of associates, joint ventures, and financial investments 30 - (26,306)
Adjustments regarding gains from the disposal of subsidiaries 30 (34,491) (26,774)
Adjustments for interest income and expenses 28-29 507,728 298,337
Adjustments for tax expenses 31 (109,393) (225,793)
Adjustments for other items that cause cash
flows from investing or financing activities 30 150,428 19,054
Other adjustment for profit/loss reconciliation 29 8,115 6,017
Changes in working capital 126,253 (483,310)
Adjustments for increase in trade receivables (33,597) (9,723)
Adjustments for decrease in other receivables related with operations 136,918 97,181
Adjustments for increase in receivables from ongoing
construction and service contracts 10 - (739,225)
Adjustments for decreases in inventories 16 7,889 5,904
Other adjustments for other increase in working capital (15,443) (29,224)
Adjustments for (decrease)/increase in trade payables (54,721) 71,613
Adjustments for increase in other payables from operations 85,207 120,164
Cash flows from/(used in) operations 1,861,970 (16,011)
Tax payments (45,860) (73,436)
Payments for other provisions (75,702) (9,079)
Payments related with provisions for employee benefits (334) (882)
Other cash inflows 10 1,010,589 558,087

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Restated
(Note 3)
Audited Audited
Footnote December 31, December 31,
references 2021 2020
B. Cash Flows Used in Investment Operations (1,321,517) (432,600)
Interest received 7,872 46,345
Dividends received 151,963 9,183
Cash outflows from the purchase of tangible and intangible assets 14-15 (35,588) (42,479)
Cash inflows from sales of tangible and intangible assets 14-15-30 398 7,565
Cash outflows from the purchase of investment property 1 - (91,258)
Cash inflows from the sale of investment property 9,294 -
Cash inflows caused by share sales or capital decrease of
associates and/or joint ventures 558,696 82,000
Cash outflows due to share purchase or capital increase of
associates and/or joint ventures (1,170,587) (156,901)
Cash outflow from participation fee and other financial instruments (843,565) (287,055)
C. Cash Flows used in Financing Activities (1,072,667) (408,276)
Proceeds from borrowings 6 3,046,489 1,261,877
Repayments of borrowings 6 (3,853,608) (1,241,295)
Interest paid 6 (643,654) (498,878)
Cash outflows related to payments arising from lease agreements 6 - (1,063)
Other cash (outflows)/inflows (1,856) 71,083
Cash inflows from the sale of the entity's own
shares and other equity instruments 24 379,962 -
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 356,479 (382,197)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 5 1,620,286 2,002,483
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 5 1,976,765 1,620,286

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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1. ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS OF THE COMPANY

Akfen Holding AS, ("Akfen Holding” or the “Company”) was established in Turkey in 1999, having established its first com-
pany in 1976, Akfen Holding operates to invest in, administer and coordinate its subsidiaries and affiliates operating in
industries such as airport management and operations, construction, seaport management and operations, marine trans-
portation, water distribution and wastewater services, energy and real estate, Akfen Holding, together with its subsidiar-
ies and joint ventures, will be hereinafter referred to as the "Group".

Akfen Holding transferred its contracting operations in infrastructure construction projects that it had been performing
since its establishment to a new sphere outside contracting when it was awarded the Build-Operate-Transfer ("BOT") mod-
el for Istanbul Atatiirk Airport in 1997, transposing the investment planning models it applied for airports to many infra-
structure projects in Turkey as an investor and thus transforming into one of Turkey's infrastructure investment holdings.

Consolidated financial statements of the Group as of December 31,2021 and for the year ended includes the share of Ak-
fenHolding and subsidiaries, the equity accounted joint ventures and financial investments.

With the decision of Akfen Holding Board of Directors dated September 21, 2021, it was decided that Akfen Altyapt Hold-
ing ("Akfen Infrastructure”), which owns the majority shares of the Company (89.49%), joins the Company as a whole, with-
out liquidation. At the Akfen Holding Extraordinary General Assembly meeting held on November 2, 2021, the merger was
unanimously approved. As of November 10, 2021, the merger of Akfen Holding and Akfen Infrastructure was completed
and Akfen Infrastructure was dissolved without liquidation. As aresult of this merger, AkinistMakina Sanayi ve Ticaret A.S.
(“Akinist”), Akfen Danismanlik ve Proje Gelistirme A.S. (Akfen Consultancy”), Akfen Turizm Yatirim ve Isletme A.S. (‘Akfen
Tourism”), Akfen Gayrimenkul Portféy Yonetimi A.S. (‘Akfen REPMC"), Akfen Merter Gayrimenkul Turizm ve Insaat A.S.
(“AkfenMerter”), BIZ Madencilik A.S. (formerly BISS Savunma SanayiA.S."BIZ Mining”) has been taken over and also Akfen
Insaat Turizm ve Ticaret A.S., which was previously considered as a associate, ("Akfen Construction") has become a sub-
sidiary. In addition, Travelex Déviz Ticaret A.S. (“Travelex”) and Tepe Akfen Reformer (“TAR") were taken over as financial
investments.

However, as of December 31,2021, there are 11 subsidiaries directly owned by Akfen Holding (December 31, 2020:14, Jan-
uary 1, 2020: 14). The Company's direct subsidiaries are Akfen Construction, Akinisi, Akfen Consultancy, Akfen Tourism,
Akfen REPMC, Akfen Merter, BIZ Mining, Adana Ipekyolu Enerji Uretim Tic. San. A.S. (‘Adana Ipekyolu”), Akfen Enerji Gaz
Santrali Yatirimlart ve Ticaret AS. (‘Akfen Energy Gas"), Akfen Riizgar Enerjisi ve Ticaret A.S. ("Akfen Wind Energy”) and
Akfen Giines Enerjisi Yatirim ve Isletme A.S. (‘Akfen Solar Energy”).

In addition, as of December 31, 2021, there are 5 joint ventures and 4 financial investments owned by Akfen Holding (De-
cember 31,2020: 6 joint ventures and 3 financial investments, January 1, 2020: 7joint ventures and 3 financial investments).

The Company has joint management rights in Akfen Gayrimenkul Yatirim Ortakligt A.S. ("Akfen REIT"), Akfen Yenilenebilir
Enerji AS. (‘Akfen Renewable Energy”), Acacia Maden Isletmeleri A.S. (“Acacia Mine"), Akfen Cevre ve Su Yatirim Yapim
Isletme A.S. (“Akfen Water"), and Marmara Deniz Otobiisleri Yatirim ve Isletme A.S. (“MDQ"). Mersin Uluslararast Liman
Isletmeciligi A.S. ("MIP"), TAV Yatirim Holding A.S. (“TAV Investment"), Travelex Doviz Ticaret A.S. (“Travelex") and Tepe Ak-
fen Reformer are classified as financial investment. TAV Investment, which was accounted for in the "Assets classified as
held for sale” in the Group's consolidated financial statements as of January 1, 2020 and 31 December 2020, was reclassi-
fied to financial investments as of December 31, 2021.
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1. ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS OF THE COMPANY (cont'd)

However, with the Akfen Infrastructure merger, Company was taken over total of 6 indirect subsidiaries as Isparta Sehir
Hastanesi Yatinim Isletme A.S. (“Isparta City Hospital”), Eskisehir Sehir Hastanesi Yatirim Isletme A.S. (“Eskisehir City Hos-
pital"), Tekirdag Sehir Hastanesi Yatirim Isletme A.S. (“Tekirdag City Hospital”), Hacettepe Teknokent Egi. ve Kli. Ar. Mer.
Sag. Ar-Ge Dan. Pro. San. Tic. AS. ("Hacettepe Teknokent”), Ayrt Gayrimenkul Yatirim A.S. (Ayrt Real Estate”), Zeki Grup
Insaat ve Ticaret A.S. (“Zeki Construction”). As of January 1, 2020 and December 31, 2020, Akfen Enerji Uretim ve Ticaret
AS. ("Akfen Energy Generation”), which is among Akfen Holding's subsidiaries was merged under Akfen Holding on March
5,2021and Isparta Yurt Yatirimlart A.S., (“Isparta Dormitory”) which is an indirect subsidiary of Akfen Holding and Masanda
Turizm Yatirimlart A.S. ("Masanda”) which is an direct subsidiary were sold to Akfen Gayrimenkul Yatirim Ortakligt A.S.,
which s also a subsidiary of the Company, on February 9, 2021.

As of December 31, 2021, the Group manages partnerships with nationally and internationally reputed partners such as,
Tepe insaat Sanayi A S, (“Tepe Construction”), ilbak Holding A.$., Kardan NV, PSA International ("PSA"), Travelex Group,
European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (“EBRD"), Global InfraCo SP NEUM SLU (“Global InfraCo”) and In-
ternational Finance Corporation (“IFC"). The Group also has a framework agreement with ACCOR S,A, ("Accor"), one of
the world's leading hotel chains, for hotel brands Novotel and Ibis, which will have additional hotels constructed in Turkey.

Akfen Holding shares had been traded in Borsa Istanbul A S, ("BIAS") under the code "AKFEN" since May 14, 2010 but were
de-listed as of May 12, 2016.

OnMarch10, 2020, Akfen Holding signed a "Share Sales Contract” to transfer its 123.250 shares (17% of the capital) in IBS
Sigorta ve Reaslirans Sigorta Brokerligi A.S. (IBS Insurance”) for a price of TRY 34mn. After the completion of the tran-
saction, Akfen Holding's share in IBS Insurance decreased from 37% to 20%. Akfen Holding signed a sales agreement on
December 28, 2020 to sell the remaining 20% of its shares in IBS Insurance for TRY 48,000. As of January 28, 2021, sale
transaction has been completed.

The merger transaction on November 10, 2021, was evaluated as a "Business Combination Under Common Control" and
was accounted for using the "Pooling of Interest" method. When the pooling of interest method is applied, the financial
statements have been adjusted as if the merger had been realized at the beginning of the reporting period in which under
common control occurred and they have been presented comparatively since the beginning of the reporting period in whi-
ch the under common control occurred.

As of December 31,2021, 2020 ve January 1, 2020 the shareholders of Akfen Holding are as follows:

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 January 1, 2020
Share Share Share Share Share Share
Amount Ratio % Amount Ratio % Amount Ratio %
Pelin Akin Ozalp 329,732 4710
Selim Akin 329,732 4710 - - - -
Akfen Infrastructure - - 597,056 89.49 597,056 89.49
Akfen Holding (*) 15,883 2.27 65,839 9.87 65,839 9.87
Hamdi Akin (**) 23,002 3.29 0 0.00 0 0.00
Other Shareholders 1,651 0.24 4,286 0.64 4,286 0.64
Paid-in capital (nominal) 700,000 100 667,181 100 667,181 100

(1]t consists of Akfen Holding's Treasury shares.

(**) There is 1B Group registered share of Hamdi Akin

AkfenHolding's legal residence address is as follows:
Koza Sokak No:22 Gaziosmanpasa

06700/ Ankara-Tiirkiye

Tel: 9031240810 00 - Fax: 90 312 44107 82

Web: http://www.akfen.com.tr

As of December 31,2021, the number of employees of the Company and Company's joint ventures/financial investments
is 54 and 5,137 (December 31,2020: 54, January 1,2020: 62) (December 31, 2020: 4,944, January 1, 2020: 6,454)
respectively.
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130

(Convenience translation of the independent auditors’report and consolidated financial statements originally issued in Turkish)
Akfen Holding Anonim Sirketi

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at and For the Year ended December 31, 2021

(Allamounts are in thousand Turkish Liras ("TRY") unless otherwise specified.)

1. ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS OF THE COMPANY (cont'd)

The main subsidiaries and joint ventures/financial investments of Akfen Holding are listed as follows:
i) Subsidiaries
Akfen Construction

A contract was signed between Akfen Holding and Akfen Infrastructure on March 13, 2018 for the transfer of the right to
capital increase of Akfen Construction which is a100% subsidiary of Akfen Infrastructure. As of the registration of Akfen
Construction's capital increase on May 30, 2018, Akfen Holding has acquired a 48.81% stake in Akfen Construction. The
Company's shares in Akfen Construction increased to 100% after Akfen Holding Board of Directors decided to merge
Akfen Infrastructure Holding, which holds the majority shares of the Company (89.49%), with no liquidation and parti-
cipation in the Company as a whole. As a result, while Akfen Construction was accounted for using the equity method in
the pre-merger financial statements, it started to be accounted for using the full consolidation method after the merger.

Akfen Construction, one of the oldest companies in the group, was originally set up to realize the feasibility and engi-
neering services of industrial facilities and has expanded its range of services with the manufacturing, installation and
erection services of industrial plants.

So far, Akfen Construction has built a number of infrastructure, including airport terminals and associated infrastructure
constructions, natural gas pipelines/distribution systems, hospitals, schools, student residences, residential housing pro-
jects, industrial power plants, hydroelectric power plants, water distribution, sewage systems and wastewater treatment
plants project.

Currently, Akfen Construction's field of activity are hospital Public Private Partnership projects via its subsidiaries Ispar-
ta Sehir Hastanesi Yatirim Isletme A.S,, Eskisehir Sehir Hastanesi Yatirim Isletme A.S., Tekirdag Sehir Hastanesi Yatirim
Isletme A.S. (currently, three hospitals built with a Public Private Partnership model with a total bed capacity of 2,316),
the dormitory via Hacettepe Teknokent Egi. Kli. Ar. Mer. Sag. Ar-Ge Dan. Pro San. Tic. A.S. (2,264 bed capacity Hacettepe
Student Residence) and construction/commitment projects with Zeki Construction and real estate/housing projects with
AyriReal Estate.

Akfen Energy Generation

Akfen Energy Generation obtained its production license on March 8, 2012 for its natural gas-based power plant invest-
mentinMersinwithaninstalled capacity of 450 MW.On December 18,2012, anamendment application was made to EMRA
toincrease the installed power of Mersin Combined Natural Gas Power Plant from 570 MW t01,148.4 MW, and the Environ-
mental Impact Assessment ("EIA") Report prepared was accepted as final. In addition to this, a capital increase was made
and the license modification was completed on January 13, 2014. The production license of the Mersin Combined Natural
Gas Power Plant project was terminated with the Board decision of EMRA dated December 30, 2020, numbered 9943-9,
after the positive evaluation of the application made to EMRA.

Akfen Holding took over the remaining 0.75% shares of Akfen Energy Generation, of which it has a 99.25% share from
and Akfen Tourism, Akfen Construction and Akinist equally, on January 18, 2021, thus becoming the 100% owner of the
Company. Subsequently, merger transactions were initiated with Akfen Energy Generation, a 100% subsidiary of Akfen
Holding. With the registration process that took place on March 5, 2021, Akfen Holding's merger with Akfen Energy Gene-
ration was completed.

Akfen Tourism

Akfen Tourism coordinates the Group's potential tourism investments. In this context; It operates the Akfen Club hotel
in Kusadasl, the Bodrum Loft holiday village, various facilities in Ankara Bulvar Loft and incek Loft commercial areas, the
canteens of Isparta, Eskisehir and Tekirdag City Hospitals, and also generates rental income from hotel in Uludag. It also
provides catering services in Ankara.
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1. ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS OF THE COMPANY (cont'd)

Subsidiaries (cont'd)
Akfen REPMC

Akfen Real Estate Portfolio Management was established in 2017. The main field of activity of the company is the estab-
lishment and management of real estate investment funds within the framework of the Capital Market Law and relevant
legislation.

Among the subsidiaries of Akfen Holding, it was also established to develop an imported coal power plant in Adana-Yu-
murtalik with an electric power generation capacity of 615 MWm-600 MWe. Inactive Adana Ipekyolu Enerji Uretim Tic. A.S,
the inactive Akfen Enerji Gaz Santrali Yatirimlart ve Ticaret A.S., Akfen Riizgar Enerijisi ve Ticaret A.S. and Akfen Giines
Enerjisi Yatirim ve Isletme A.S. companies.

In addition, Akinisi, Akfen Consultancy, Akfen Merter and BiZ Mining companies were taken over from Akfen Infrastructu-
re as subsidiaries.

ii) Joint Ventures/associates and financial investments
Akfen REIT

Akfen REIT was firstincorporated on June 25,1997 as a partnership of Hamdi Akin and Yiiksel ingaat AS, to make domestic
tourism investments, Akfen Holding then purchased Yiiksel in§aat ASS, shares in Aksel in 2006 and Akfen REIT became a
subsidiary of Akfen Holding, The restructuring was registered on August 25, 2006 through the resolution of the CMB No,
31/894 of July 14, 2006 following the board resolution of April 25, 2006, thus transforming Akfen REIT into a "Real Estate
Investment Trust", The acquisition of the trade name of Real Estate Investment Trust and the change in field of business
were published on the Trade Registry Gazette of August 31, 2006.

The main field of business for Akfen REIT is to invest in real estate-based capital market instruments, establish and de-
velop areal estate portfolio and engage in business for the purposes and subjects stated in Articles 23 and 25 of the CMB
Communique on Principles Governing Real Estate Investment Trusts (Serial VI, No: 11), Akfen Holding, the controlling sha-
reholder in Akfen REIT, signed a framework agreement with Accor, one of the world's leading hotel chains, to develop hotel
projects in Turkey under the brand names Novotel and Ibis Hotel, Akfen REIT mainly develops hotel projects under brand
names Novotel and Ibis Hotel and leases this out to Tamaris Turizm A,S, ("Tamaris"), a100% affiliate of Accor operating in
Turkey, Akfen REIT shares have been traded on BIAS under the share code "AKFGY" since May 11, 2011.

On February 21,2007, the shares of Akfen Gayrimenkul Ticareti ve Insaat A,S, (“Akfen Trade"), an associate of Akfen Hol-
ding, were transferred to Akfen REIT over their nominal value, The main field of business for Akfen Trade is to make real
estate-based investments, and establish and develop a real estate portfolio, On May 31, 2011, Akfen REIT incorporated a
subsidiary called Akfen Karakdy Gayrimenkul Yatirimlart ve Insaat A,S, in order to develop a hotel project in Karakdy,ls-
tanbul, After the capital increase on May 18, 2018, the Group's direct and indirect ownership interest in Akfen Karakdy
increased from 69.99% to 91.47%.

Akfen Trade holds 97.89% and 96.37% shares, respectively in Russian Hotel Investment BV (“Russian Hotel" or “RHI"),
which was incorporated in the Netherlands on September 21,2007, and in Russian Property Investment BV (“Russian Pro-
perty” or “RPI"), which was incorporated in the Netherlands on January 3, 2008, The main field of business for the Russian
Hotelis to develop hotel investments to be operated by Accor in the Ukraine and Russia. The main field of business of the
Russian Property, on the other hand, is to carry out office projects in Russia.

OnMarch18, 2011, Akfen REIT set up a subsidiary named Hotel Development and Investment BV ( HDI) with 100% owners-
hip in the Netherlands to develop hotel projects in Russia, Ibis Hotel Moscow located in the center of Moscow has started
to operate as of July 16, 2015.
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1. ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS OF THE COMPANY (cont'd)

ii) Joint Ventures/associates and financial investments (cont'd)
Akfen REIT (cont'd)

100% subsidiary of Akfen REIT, Akfen Gayrimenkul Tic. ve Ins. AS.'s subsidiaries residing in the Netherlands and owning
the investments in Russia;

» Russian Hotel Investment BV, in which it has 97.89% participation,
» Russian Property Investment BV, of which 96.37% participated and
» 100% owned Hotel Development Investment BV

In order to reduce the operational costs in the general structure of the company, to simplify the organizational structure
and to facilitate the activities, it was liquidated on November 3,2020 and the investments in Russia were directly transfer-
red to Akfen Gayrimenkul Tic. ve Ins. A.S.'s subsidiary.

As of December 31, 2021, the total number of rooms in the 21 hotels (December 31, 2020: 20 hotels) owned by Akfen REIT
is 3,720 (December 31,2020 3,628) while the total number of beds corresponding to such number of rooms is 7,298 (De-
cember 31,2020:7,114). As of February 9, 2021, the acquisition of Akfen REIT's shares of Masanda Tourism ("Bodrum Loft")
and Isparta Dormitory (Kiitahya and Isparta dormitories) has been completed. Thus, the company added a holiday village
with a capacity of 92 rooms and two dormitories with a bed capacity of 7,232 to its portfolio. On June 30, 2021, with the
registration of the merger, Isparta Yurt Yatirimlart A.$. and Masanda Turizm Yatirimlart A.$. was taken over by Akfen REIT,
along with all its assets and liabilities

As of March 29, 2021, Akfen REIT, has been purchased 51% shares of Firatcan Ins. Turz. Tic. A.S. (“Firatcan Tourism”) which
has the right to lease the S8giitliicesme train station in Istanbul, Kadikdy, within the scope of the High Speed Train Station
Project for 2 years of permission and license, 2 years of construction period and 25 years to operate according to the
Lease Contract for Construction Containing Areas signed with TCDD in amount of TRY 58,375,000 (EUR 6,200,000). In
this context, the Company has undertaken the S6giitliicesme High Speed Train Station Project to TCDD, and viaduct, train
station, commercial area and parking lot will be built within the scope of the project.

On January 12,2021, the Convertible Bonds were redeemed as TRY 238,627,431.84 as aresult of the capital increase within
the framework of the Board of Directors decision dated December 30, 2020 and the CMB approval dated January 7, 2021
the Company's capital was increased to TRY 243,066,196 by issuing 59,066,196 new Group B shares. On February 9, 2021,
by providing a fund of TRY 450.000,002 during company acquisitions, of the issued capital amounting to TRY 243,066,196,
101,580,136 B group shares (traded on the stock exchange) with a nominal value of TRY 101,580,136 allocated to Hamdi
Akinwere issued, and the share capital of the Company was increased to TRY 344,646.332. Akfen Holding's share became
30.37% after Akfen REIT's dedicated, paid-in capital increase completed as of February 9, 2021. After the paid capital
increase on August 20, 2021, Akfen Holding's share became 23.94%.
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1. ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS OF THE COMPANY (cont'd)

ii) Joint Ventures/associates and financial investments (cont'd)

Mip

MIP was incorporated on May 4, 2007 by PSA-Akfen Holding Joint Venture Group, which submitted the highest bid and was
awarded the contract on the transfer of operating rights for Mersin Port, which is owned by the Republic of Turkey State
Railways (“TCDD"), for a period of 36 years during the tender held by the Republic of Turkey Presidency of Privatization Ad-
ministration (“OIB"). Through the concession agreement signed with OIB and TCDD on May 11, 2007, MIP took over Mersin
Port from TCDD to operate the port for a period of 36 years.

As at July 28, 2017, Akfen Holding signed an agreement with Global InfraCo SP NEUM SLU in order to sell its 40% stake in
MIP, for a total consideration of USD 869 million. The sale has been completed as of October 27, 2017, after that date, the
value of the MIP's retained stake has been recognized under financial investments with its fair value on the consolidated
financial statements.

Akfen Yenilenebilir Enerji A.S. (“Akfen Renewable”)

Under restructuring efforts for the renewable energy portfolio, the process of absorption merger for Akfenres Riizgar
Enerjisi Yatirimlart AS. ("Akfen WPP"), a subsidiary of the Company, into AkfenHES Yatirimlari ve Enerji Uretim A.S. ("Ak-
fen HEPP") completely (universally) and without liquidation and of changing the trade name of Akfen HEPP to Akfen Yeni-
lenebilir Enerji A.S. were completed and registered as of January 19, 2016.

On December 15, 2015, Akfen Holding signed a shareholders' agreement with the EBRD worth USD 100 million for a total
of 20 percent stake in the renewable energy company which will be incorporated through restructuring by a merger of
renewable energy subsidiaries, namely Akfen HEPP, Akfen WPP, Akfen Electricity Wholesale and Karine SPP, following the
transfer of the latter to the Holding, under the same roof. On June 23, 2016, the previous agreement signed with the EBRD
was amended, and a new agreement was signed with the EBRD and the IFC in order for them to become shareholders in
Akfen Renewable Energy, each subscribing for 16.667% of shares on a fee of USD 100 million, Following the fulfillment
of closing requirements, the capital of Akfen Renewable Energy was increased, on premium, to TRY 705,000 from TRY
634,500 with the EBRD and the IFC transferring USD 44,444,444 for 5% of shares each to Akfen Renewable Energy. The
capitalincrease was registered on July 12, 2016. The share transfer agreement stipulates that Akfen Renewable Energy be
managed jointly by Akfen Holding, EBRD and IFC, and unanimous decisions of the parties be sought in relation to operati-
ons which significantly impact on Akfen Renewable Energy's returns. Therefore, Akfen Holding considered this transacti-
on to be a sale of shares in a subsidiary, which gives rise to a loss of control, and the equity accounting of the Company's
shares in Akfen Renewable Energy started.

On December 5, 2019, the capital of Akfen Renewable Energy was increased to 959,410 TL with a premium, within this sco-
pe, a total of USD 12,078,804 was transferred to Akfen Renewable Energy by the EBRD and IFC, thus EBRD and IFC's sha-
res were from15,982% to0 16.993%. While the share of Akfen Holding decreased from 68,036% to 66,134%. On February
17,2020, Akfen Renewable Energy's capital was increased to TL 1,016,032 at a premium, within this scope, US $ 5,100,000
was transferred from the EBRD to Akfen Renewable Energy, thus Akfen Holding's share was 66.91% and EBRD and IFC's
share was 15.99%. As of December 31,2020, Akfen Holding's share in Akfen Renewable is 66.91%.
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1. ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS OF THE COMPANY (cont'd)
ii) Joint Ventures/associates and financial investments (cont'd)

Akfen Yenilenebilir Enerji A.S. (“Akfen Renewable”) (cont'd)

HEPP Companies

As of December 31,2021, the HEPP Companies have a total installed capacity of 2357 MW and an annual power generation
capacity of 916,8 GWh, with generation operations going on in13 power plants.

As of December 31, 2021; Akfen Renewable Energy has 5 subsidiaries it owns directly and via companies within the same
controlling structure under HEPP Companies, namely Bt Bordo Elektrik Uretim Dagitim Pazarlama Sanayi ve Ticaret A.S.
("Bt Bordo"), Elen Enerji Uretimi Sanayi ve Ticaret AS. (“Elen”), HHK Enerji Elektrik Uretim A.S. (“HHK"), Kurtal Elektrik
Uretim A.S. (“Kurtal”) and Yeni Doruk Enerji Elektrik Uretim A.S. (“Yeni Doruk”).

WPP Companies

As of December 31, 2021; Akfen Renewable Energy has 7 subsidiaries it owns directly and via companies within the same
controlling structure under WPP Companies, namely, Imbat Enerji A.S. Kanat Enerji A.S., Pruva Enerji A.S., Derbent Enerji
Uretim Paz.ithve IhrAS, Isider Enerji Uretim Paz.ithve IhrAS. Korda Enerji Uretim Paz.ith.ve Ihr.A.S. and Kovanci Enerji
Uretim Paz.ithve IhrAS.

On December 23, 2019, a purchase agreement was signed with Zorlu Riizgar Enerjisi Elektrik Uretim A.S., covering the
entire share price of the company. Pursuant to the share purchase agreement, the purchase process was completed as of
February 5,2020, after obtaining permission and approval from the relevant institutions and organizations. As of February
5, 2020, the purchase has been completed. On April 21,2020, Zorlu Riizgar Enerjisi Elektrik Uretim A.S, imbat Enerji A.S.
combined with this purchase.

As of December 31,2021, a WPP project with a total installed power of 348.9 MW is in operation.
SPP Companies

As of December 31, 2021, SPP Companies continue to work on a portfolio of projects with a total installed power of 121.4
MW, consisting of 26 MW unlicensed and 95.4 MW licensed projects. In this context, there are 33 project companies, Akfen
Renewable, excluding two of these companies (Me-Se Elektrik Uretim A.S. ("Me-Se") 80%, Solentegre Enerji Yatirimlart
Tic. AS.(Solentegre)% 90) has 100% of the rest.

All of the HEPP Companies projects in the portfolio of Akfen Renewable Energy, except for Sirma HEPP, are covered by
the Law on the Use of Renewable Energy Resources for the Purpose of Electric Energy Generation as of December 31,
2021. If the projects under this scope obtain Renewable Energy Resources Certificate and complete their investments by
December 31,2021, they have the right to benefit from the state's purchase guarantee from production for a period of 10
years, atleast7.3US $ cents/kWh, starting from the date of commissioning. Within the scope of the support mechanism, if
the investments are completed by December 31, 2021, the WPP portfolio can benefit from a minimum purchase guarantee
of 7.3 USD cents/kWh and the SPP portfolio from a minimum 13.3 USD cents/kWh purchase guarantee. Again, within the
scope of the same law, if domestic manufactured equipment is used in the production facility, various local additives are
also applicable. Inthis context, the application made on October 19, 2017 for the Solentegre SPP project within Solentegre,
within the framework of the "Regulation on Supporting Domestic Parts Used in Facilities Generating Electrical Energy
from Renewable Energy Sources" was evaluated positively and as of January 1, 2018, 0.44 USD cent/kWh deserved to re-
ceive contribution supplement. However, other licensed GES projects in Akfen Renewable portfolio, Me-Se, MT, Engil 208,
Ercis and Yaysun, Engil 207 as of January 1,2019, USD 0.44 cent/kWh as of January 1, 2020, and lota M. As of January 2021,
Ucpinar, Kocalar, Hasanoba and Denizli, which are licensed WPP projects of 0.44 USD cents/kWh, are entitled to receive a
domestic contribution of 0.60 USD cents/kWh as of January 1,2020.
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1. ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS OF THE COMPANY (cont'd)
ii) Joint Ventures/associates and financial investments (cont'd)
TAV Investment

TAV Investment was incorporated on July 1, 2005 to make investments in aviation and construction sectors. The main fields
of business for TAV Investment are construction and car park operations, TAV Investment's subsidiary is TAV Tepe Akfen
Yatirim Insaat ve Isletme A.S. (“TAV Construction”).

Akfen Holding acquired its 21.68% share in TAV Investment Holding, Gazelle Yatcilik Gayrimenkul Turizm Otomotiv I¢ ve
Dis Ticaret A.S. on May 29, 2019 for USD 500,000, based on the contract dated May 10, 2019. (“Gazelle Yatgulik”) and the
share transfer was notified to the company on June 12, 2019 for the transfer to be recorded in the share register. As of 31
December 2020, since the transfer transaction has not beenrecorded in TAV Investment's share ledger, TAV Investment is
among the assets of the Group and is accounted for in the “Assets classified as held for sale” in the consolidated financial
statements and it was reclassified to financial investments as of December 31, 2021.

Akfen Water

Akfen Water Giillik started operations on August 24, 2006. All the shares of Akfen Su Giillik which is a wholly owned
subsidiary of Akfen Su, were transferred to Hzr Environment and Water Investments Inc. with all its rights and obligations
on April19, 2021.

Akfensu-Arbiogaz Dilovast Atiksu Aritma Tesisi Yapim ve Isletim A.S. (Akfen Water-Arbiogaz Dilovast) was incorporated
onJuly 19, 2007. The company completed its investments on July 1, 2010 and started operations. It continues serving Dilo-
vast district, which has an approximate population of 40,000, via the factories and plants currently operational at Dilovast
Organized Industrial Zone. Akfen Water, which has 75% shares in Akfen Water-Arbiogaz Dilovas, signed Share Transfer
Agreement on December 11, 2018 with the sale of all of its shares to Kocaeli Gebze Dilovasi Organized Industrial Zone.
After all the prerequisites regarding share transfer have been fulfilled, the transfer of the shares to Kocaeli Gebze Dilovast
Organized Industrial Zone has been made on August 1, 2019.

In addition, Akfen Water employs new technologies in line with the needs of its customers to develop and manage sus-
tainable and environmentally-friendly Solid Waste Management systems. Concluding its first contract on Solid Waste
Services with IDO, Akfen Water also started to provide waste management services for City Hospitals projects run by the
Republic of Turkey Ministry of Health within a Public-Private Partnership model. To this end, Akfen Water signed its first
contract with Isparta Sehir Hastanesi Yapim ve Isletme A.S. and provides the services of managing waste management
processes. Subsequently, Akfen Water also started to provide waste management services to Mersin Integrated Health
Campus and Yozgat City Hospital projects. Furthermore, it began to provide hazardous and non-hazardous waste disposal
and recycling services to MIP during 2016.
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1. ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS OF THE COMPANY (cont'd)

ii) Joint Ventures/associates and financial investments (cont'd)
iDO and MDO

The tender held by Istanbul Metropolitan Municipality ("IBB"), the former controlling shareholder of IDO, for the block
selling of iDO on June 16, 2011 was awarded to Tepe Construction, Akfen Holding, Souter and Sera Gayrimenkul Yatirim ve
isletme A.S. Joint Venture Group, IDO carries passengers and vehicles under the name "Sea Bus and Fast Ferry Lines" on
intracity and intercity sea routes. Having a modern fleet of 53 vessels (24 sea buses, 21 ferryboats, 7 fast ferries and 1 ser-
vice ships), iDO carries passengers and vehicles in Marmara Sea on a total of 16 lines. As of December 31, 2021, sea buses,
fast ferries and ferryboats have a total capacity of 35,443 passengers in summer season and 28,299 passengers in winter
season while presenting a vehicle capacity of 2,570 in both seasons.

Akfen Holding's share became 50% (other partner is Tepe Construction with 50% share) after the share transfers made as
of October 14, 2020, within the scope of the restructuring of the project financing at the stage of completion of IDO. In this
context, MDO, which will also operate in the field of marine transportation, was established on May 5, 2021, with 50%/50%
equal shares, in partnership with Akfen Holding and Tepe Construction. With the restructuring completed on July 8, 2021
after the reporting period, Akfen Holding and Tepe Construction transferred their shares in IDO to MDO and MDQO became
the 100% owner of IDO.

Acacia Mine

AsyaMaden isletmeleri A.S. was founded in 2007. In 2011, Akfen Group became a shareholder with a share of 30% in 2016.
The Company is currently operating its Acacia Maden Isletmeleri A.S. under the name of Akfen Holding, Ilbak Holding and
izbir Madencilik A.S. in partnership. The Company is constructing the Gékirmak copper mine project in the Hanénii district
of Kastamonu province. As of March 15, 2019, Acacia Maden produced the first salable copper.

Travelex

Travelex, which opened its first store in London in 1976, is the world's leading independent foreign exchange trading com-
pany. It operates in12 locations in Turkey.

IBS Insurance

IBS Insurance was established in1997. In 2002, IBS Insurance, which has partnered with Lloyd's broker, United Insuarance
Brokers, has had the opportunity to expand into the world, IBS Insurance is one of the 104 largest companies in the insur-
ance brokerage industry in which the firm's activities in Turkey. The Company currently operates in four regions; namely
Istanbul, Mersin, lzmir and Ankara.

As of March 17,2018, 268,250 Group A IBS Insurance shares (37% of the company's shares) belonging to Akfen Infrastruc-
ture were transferred to Akfen Holding at a price of TRY 80,000. After the transfer of Akfen Holding's 17% share in IBS
Insurance on March 10, 2020, Akfen Holding's share in IBS Insurance decreased to 20%.

Akfen Holding signed a sales agreement on December 28, 2020 to sell its remaining 20% share in IBS. As of the reporting
period, necessary permissions are obtained to complete the sales process and the processes regarding the terms of sale
are ongoing. As of January 28, 2021, the sale transaction was completed. As the transfer process has not been completed
as of December 31,2020, IBS Insurance is among the assets of the Group and has been accounted for in the " Non-current
assets classified as held for sale " account in the consolidated financial statements. Since the transfer was completed on
January 28,2021, IBS Insurance is not included in the Group's assets as of December 31, 2021.

In addition, Tepe Reformer company was taken over from Akfen Infrastructure as a financial investment. Established in
Poland, the company owns a land in Poland. The company is pursuing opportunities to develop areal estate project on this
land.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.1 Basis of Presentation of Financial Statements

Declaration of conformity

Akfen Holding companies operating in Turkey employ the Uniform Chart of Accounts as well as the accounting principles
set by the CMB in keeping accounting records and drafting TRY-denominated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements attached are issued in line with the provisions of the "Communique on Principles
Pertaining to Financial Reporting in the Capital Market" Serial Il. No, 14.1("Communique") by the CMB, which was published
in the Official Gazette No. 28676 of June 13, 2013.

The Group applies the Turkish Accounting Standards ("TAS") published by the Public Oversight, Accounting and Auditing
Standards Authority as per Article 5of the Communique, The TAS is comprised of the Turkish Financial Reporting Standar-
ds ("TFRS") and the appendices and comments pertaining thereto.

In the announcement published by the Public Oversight Accounting and Auditing Standards Authority on January 20,2022,
it is stated that TAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies does not apply to the TFRS financial state-
ments as of December 31, 2021, since the cumulative change in the general purchasing power of the last three years accor-
ding to Consumer Price Index (CPI) is 74.41%. In this respect, consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2021
are not adjusted for inflation in accordance with TAS 29.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group are approved by the Company's Board of Directors on March 11, 2022.
Going concern

The Group has prepared its financial statements in accordance with the going concern principle.

Principles of measurement

The consolidated financial statements are issued over historical costs except for financial assets whose fair value dif-
ferences are recognized in profit or loss and whose fair value differences are classified in other comprehensive income.

Applicable currency and reporting currency

Akfen Holding, its subsidiaries operating in Turkey and its affiliates under joint control keep their accounting records and
financial statements in TRY in accordance with the Turkish Commercial Code and the Tax Procedure Code. The attached
consolidated financial statements are presented in TRY, the Company's reporting currency, and are issued in accordance
with the TAS by taking legal accounting records as basis and creating the required adjustment and classification records.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.1 Basis of Presentation of Financial Statements

Applicable currency and reporting currency (cont'd)

December 31,2021 ve 2020 tarihleriitibariyla bagli ortakliklarin, is ortakliklarinin ve finansal yatirimlarin gecerli para
birimleri asagidaki gibidir:

Company Functional Currency
Akfen REIT TRY
Akfen Energy Generation (*) TRY
Akfen Renewable TRY
Akfen Water TRY
MDO/IDO TRY
IBS Insurance (*) TRY
Akfen Construction TRY
Akinisi TRY
Akfen Consultancy TRY
Akfen Tourism TRY
Akfen REPMC TRY
BiZ Mining TRY
Acacia Mine US Dollar

) As of December 31, 2020, it is among the assets of the Group, and as of December 31, 202, it is not included in the Group assets due
to the share sales and mergers. (Note 1).

Principles for consolidation

The attached consolidated financial statements, which are all prepared in consistence with the principles set in the con-
solidated financial statements for the accounting years ended on December 31,2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020 include the
accounts for investments in equity-accounted joint ventures by Akfen Holding, the parent company, and its subsidiaries
that are consolidated via the full consolidation method.

Subsidiaries and joint ventures are consolidated using the following methods:
Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are exposed to, or are eligible for, returns on variable returns due to the relationship Akfen Holding invests
in refers to the companies in which it has control authority because it has the ability to influence it with its power on the
enterprise.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.1 Basis of Presentation of Financial Statements
Subsidiaries (cont'd)

December December DecemberDecember  January January
31,2021 31,2021 31,2020 31,2020 1,2020 1,2020
Share-  Voting Share-  Voting Share- Voting
holding rights  holding rights holding rights

rate (%) (%) rate (%) (%) rate (%) (%) Main Operations
Direct subsidiaries

Adana Ipekyolu 99.96 99.96 99.96 99.96 99.96 99.96 Inactive
Akfen Energy Gas 100 100 100 100 100 100 Inactive
Akfen Wind Energy 100 100 100 100 100 100 Inactive
Akfen Solar Energy 100 100 100 100 100 100 Real estate
Akfen Construction @ 100 100 100 100 100 100 Construction
Akinist ) 99.99 99.99 99.99 99.99 99.99 99.99 Inactive
Consultancy
Akfen Consultancy @ 100 100 100 100 100 100 services
Tourism/restaurant
Akfen Tourism( 99.99 99.99 99.99 99.99 99.99 99.99 administration
Real estate
Akfen REPMCU 100 100 100 100 100 100 portfolio man.
Akfen Merter 1) 91.52 75 91.52 75 91.52 75 Real estate
BiZ Mining " 100 100 100 100 100 100 Inactive
Akfen Energy Generation @ - - 99.25 99.25 99.25 99.25 Inactive
Masanda Tourism - - 100 100 100 100 Tourism

Indirect subsidiaries
Isparta City Hospital 99.88 99.88 99.88 99.88 99.88 99.88 City hospital
Eskisehir City Hospital @ 100 100 100 100 100 100 City hospital
Tekirdag City Hospital @ 100 100 100 100 100 100 City hospital
AyriReal Estate @ 100 100 100 100 100 100 Inactive
Hacettepe Teknokent (1 70 70 70 70 45 45 Dormitory man.
Zeki Construction® 100 100 100 100 100 100 Inactive
Isparta Dormitory ®@ - - 100 100 100 100 Dormitory man.

(t After the merger of Akfen Holding and Akfen Infrastructure Holding on November 10, 2021, it became a subsidiary of Akfen Holding.
@ It merged with Akfen Holding on March 5, 2021.

6 0n February 9, 2021, the Company sold all of its shares in Isparta Dormitory and Masanda to Akfen REIT, another subsidiary of the
Company.

@It is a subsidiary of Akfen Construction.

O The Group controls the company by holding the majority of the voting rights.

Joint agreements and financial investments

Joint ventures are established through an agreement for the Company and its subsidiaries to undertake an economic ac-
tivity in a way to be jointly managed by one or more enterprising partners.

In the equity method, the joint venture investment is initially recognized via the acquisition cost, Following the date of
acquisition, the share of the investor in the profits or losses of the invested enterprise is reflected in the financial state-
ments by increasing or decreasing the carrying amount of the investment. The share the investor will get from the profits
or losses of the invested enterprise is recognized as the profit or loss of the investor. Any distributions (of dividend, etc.)
received from an invested enterprise reduce the carrying amount of the investment. The carrying amount of the invested
enterprise needs to be adjusted in a way to correspond to the share the investor gets from the changes in the other com-
prehensive income of the enterprise. The details of the Company's subsidiaries and financial investments as of December
31,2021,2020 and January 1, 2020 are as follows:
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
2.1 Basis of Presentation of Financial Statements
Joint agreements and financial investments (cont’d)

December 31,2021 December 31, 2020 January 1, 2020

Share-  Voting Share-  Voting Share-  Voting
holding rights  holding rights holding rights

rate (%) (%) rate (%) (%) rate (%) (%) Main Operations

Financial investments
MIP 10 10 10 10 10 10 Port management
TAV Investment ¢ 21.68 21.68 21.68 21.68 21.68 21.68 Construction and
parking man.
Travelex® 10 10 10 10 10 10 Currency trading activity
Tepe Akfen Reformer®™® 26 26 26 26 26 26 Inactive

Associates

Akfen Water 50 50 50 50 50 50 Solid waste services
Akfen Renewable energy 66.91 66.91 66.91 66.91 66.91 66.91 Energy
IDO* - - - - 30 30 Sea bus transportation
MDQ **) 50 50 50 50 - - Sea bus transportation
Acacia Mine 30 30 30 30 30 30 Mine
IBS Insurance *** - - - - 20 20 Insurance
Real estate
Akfen REIT 23.94 23.94 56.88 56.88 56.88 56.88 investment /Tourism

1t is considered as a financial investment as it does not have a significant impact on the business.

(ITAV Investment transferred and delivered its shares to Gazelle Yachting on May 29, 2019 pursuant to the contract dated May 10,
2019, and the share transfer was notified to the company on June 12, 2019 for the transfer to be recorded in the share book. TAV
Investment, which was recognised in the "Assets classified as held for sale" in the Group's consolidated financial statements as of
January1,2020 and December 31, 2020, was reclassified to financial investments as of December 31, 2021.

(") Akfen Holding's share became 50% after the share transfers made as of October 14, 2020, within the scope of the restructuring of
the project financing at the stage of completion of IDO. In this context, MDO, which will also operate in the field of marine transporta-
tion, was established on May 5, 2021, with 50%/50% equal shares, in partnership with Akfen Holding and Tepe Ingaat.

(™Akfen Holding transferred its remaining 20% share in IBS Insurance at the end of 2020 for a consideration of TRY 48,000, and as
of December 31, 2021, Akfen Holding has no IBS Insurance shares.

(") After the capital increases on January 12, 2021, February 9, 2021 and August 20, 2021, Akfen Holding's share in Akfen REIT decrea-
sedto 23.94%.

0 After the merger of Akfen Holding and Akfen Infrastructure Holding on November 10, 2021, it became Akfen Holding's financial
investment.

Combinations of businesses under joint control

Business combinations arising from the transfer of the shares of companies under the control of the shareholder that
controls the Group are recognized like they took place at the beginning of the earliest comparative period offered, and,
if it took place later, on the date the joint control is established. To this end, comparative periods are restated. Acquired
assets and liabilities are recorded over the carrying amount registered in the consolidated financial statements of the
shareholders under the Group's control. The shareholders' equity items for the acquired companies are added to the same
items in the Group's equity except for the capital and the resulting profit or loss is recognized within equity.

Adjustment transactions in consolidation

Intra-group transactions and balances among the companies included in the consolidation are written off during conso-
lidation. Unrealized profits and losses arising from transactions between the company and its consolidated subsidiaries
andjoint ventures are adjusted to the extent of the Group's share in the joint venture.

Business combinations for purchasing from third persons

Purchasing from third persons are recognized by using the purchasing method. Purchasing cost is calculated as the total
of the fair values of assets, of the liabilities that arise or are assumed, and of the equity capital instruments issued to
acquire the control of the affiliate as well as the total of other costs directly attributable to acquisition. In accordance with
TFRS 3, identifiable assets, liabilities and conditional liabilities which meet the registration requirements are registered
over their fair values.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.1 Basis of Presentation of Financial Statements

Foreign currency
Foreign currency transactions

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currencies of the relevant Group companies over the ex-
change rate on the date when the transaction took place. Foreign currency-denominated monetary assets and liabilities
are translated into the functional currency over the exchange rate on the reporting date. Foreign currency-denominated
non-monetary assets and liabilities that could be measured by their historical costs are translated over the exchange rate
on the transaction date. Exchange differences due to translation are recorded in the consolidated other comprehensive
income statement.

Group companies prefer to use USD or TRY as the functional currency since they are widely used or have a significant
impact on the operations of the relevant Group companies and reflect the key economic events and developments perta-
ining to such companies. All currencies except for the currency used to measure the items in financial statements are cal-
led a foreign currency. As per the relevant provisions of TAS 21 (Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates) standard,
transactions and balances not calculated over the functional currencies are re-calculated over the relevant currencies, The
Group adopts TRY as the reporting currency.

The assets and liabilities of Group companies that employ a functional currency other than the Group's reporting curren-
cy are translated into the Group's reporting currency over the exchange rate on the balance sheet date. The income and
expenditures or such Group companies are translated into the reporting currency over the average exchange rate for the
period. Equity capital items are reported over their cost value. Foreign currency translation differences are indicated in
the equity capital under the item "Foreign currency translation difference". When the relevant Group companies are dispo-
sed of partially or fully, the relevant amount under "foreign currency translation difference" is classified into consolidated
profitor loss.

Foreign operations

Assets and liabilities from operations abroad including fair value adjustments due to acquisition as well as goodwill are
translated into TRY over the exchange rates on the reporting date. Income and expenditures from operations abroad are
translated into TRY over the average rates for the relevant period.

Foreign currency translation differences are recorded under foreign currency translation differences under equity. In the
event that operations abroad are sold out partially or fully, the relevant amount in the foreign currency translation diffe-
rence is transferred to the profit or loss.

Comparative information and the adjustment of consolidated financial statements from previous periods

The attached consolidated financial statements are compared to the previous period in order to identify trends in the
financial position, performance and cash flow of the Group. In order to ensure comparability if the way the items in the
consolidated financial statements are represented or classified changes, consolidated financial statements from the pre-
vious periods are also re-classified accordingly and explanations are provided on such matters.

The merger transaction on November 10, 2021, was evaluated as a "Business Combination Under Common Control" and
was accounted for using the "Pooling of Interest" method. When the pooling of interest method is applied, the financial
statements have been adjusted as if the merger had been realized at the beginning of the reporting period in which under
common control occurred and they have been presented comparatively since the beginning of the reporting period in whi-
ch the under common control occurred.

Changes in the financial statements of 2020

The reclassifications and adjustments made in the consolidated statements of financial position of the Group as of De-
cember 31,2020 and January 1, 2020, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and
the consolidated statement of cash flows as of December 31,2021 are explained in Note 3.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.1 Basis of Presentation of Financial Statements

Inventories

The Group's inventories mainly include the costs of construction projects in progress and the units available for sale. In-
ventories are measured at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less the costs of completion and selling expenses.

Tangible fixed assets
Accounting and measurement

Tangible fixed assets purchased until December 31, 2004 are adjusted for inflation in TRY denomination as of December
31,2004 in compliance with TAS 29. Accordingly, tangible fixed assets are indicated by deducting accumulated depreciati-
on and permanent losses in value from the historical costs under inflation. Tangible fixed assets purchased starting from
January 1, 2005, on the other hand, are indicated by deducting accumulated depreciation and permanent losses in value
from their historical costs.

The cost reflects those expenditures that are directly related to the acquisition of the asset concerned. The cost of the
assets constructed by the Group includes the material costs, labor costs and the costs directly related with making that
asset available for the use of the Group as well as the costs for disassembly and replacement of parts and the costs for the
restoration of the space such parts are in. Any software purchased in order to use the relevant equipment is capitalized as
apart of that equipment. ltems constituting tangible fixed assets are recognized as separate items (basic components) of
tangible fixed assets if they have different economic lives.

Profits or losses regarding the disposal of tangible fixed assets are determined by comparing the disposal fee and the
registered value of the asset concerned and are registered in the consolidated comprehensive income statement under
"income and profits/(expenditures and losses) from investment operations".

Subsequent expenses

Expenses arising from replacing any part of tangible fixed assets and including research and maintenance and repair costs
can be capitalized if they increase the future economic benefit of the said tangible fixed asset. The registered values of
the changed parts are removed from the records. All other expenses are recognized in profit or loss as they occur.

Depreciation

Tangible fixed assets are depreciated and registered under profit or loss after the estimated surplus value is deducted
by using the straight-line method of depreciation on the basis of the date of purchasing or installation according to the
estimated useful lives of assets. Terrain and land are not depreciated.

Economic lives in the current period and previous periods are as follows:

Description Years
Buildings 2-50
Furniture and fixtures 2-15
Machinery and Equipment 3-40
Vehicles 5
Special costs 1-15

Special costs are depreciated with straight-line method of depreciation over their relevant rental periods or economic

lives, whichever is shorter.

Depreciation methods, economic lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of each accounting period.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont'd)

Intangible fixed assets
Licenses and other intangible fixed assets

Intangible fixed assets that are acquired by the Group and have a limited economic life are reflected after the accumulated
amortization and accumulated impairments are deducted from historical cost.

Subsequent expenditures

Other subsequent expenditures may be capitalized if they can increase the future economic benefit of the said intangible
fixed asset. All other expenses within the enterprise including those related to goodwill and trademarks are indicated
under profit or loss as they arise.

Amortization

During their economic lives, intangible fixed assets are registered under profit or loss through the straight-line method
of amortization starting from the date when they become available for use. Out of intangible fixed assets. Licenses are
amortized within a range of 3-49 years while other intangible fixed assets are amortized within a range of 3-5years.

Investment properties

Investment properties are initially valued at their cost and recognized at fair value at each reporting date. Gains or losses
on the disposal of investment properties (calculated as the difference between the net income from disposal and pro-
perty, plant and equipment) are recognized in the income statement. Fair value increases are recognized in the income
statement.

The Group classifies its rights regarding the lands it leased to develop investment property as investment property. In
such a case, the right for the land in question is accounted for in the same way as leasing, and in addition, the fair value
method is used for the land in question. Since the fair value determinations of the investment properties of the Group,
which are developed above the leased lands, are made by deducting the lease fees to be paid for these lands from the es-
timated cash flows, the reduced values of the lease payable related to the lands are mutually accounted in the investment
properties and borrowings accounts.

Leasing transactions

KGK published TFRS 16 "Leasing Transactions" standard in April 2018. The new standard eliminates the distinction betwe-
en operating leasing and financial leasing, requiring many leases to be included in the balance sheet under a single model
for companies that are tenants. Recognition for companies that are lessor has remained largely unchanged, and the diffe-
rence between operating lease and financial leasing continues. TFRS 16 will replace the Interpretations on TAS 17 and TAS
17 and will be valid for annual periods beginning on or after 1January 2019.

Tenants are exempt from applying this standard to short-term leases (leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) or le-
ases where the underlying asset is of low value (e.g. personal computers, some office equipment, etc.). At the actual begin-
ning of the lease, the tenant measures the lease liability over the present value of the lease payments not paid at that date
(lease liability) and records the related right-of-use asset as of the same date and is subject to depreciation throughout
the lease term. Lease payments are discounted using this rate if the interest rate implied on the lease can be easily deter-
mined. The tenant uses the lessee's alternative borrowing rate if this rate cannot be easily determined. The lessee must
separately record the interest expense on the lease obligation and the depreciation expense of the right-of-use asset.

It is the case for the lessee to remeasure the lease obligation if certain events occur (for example, changes in the lease
term, forward lease payments change due to changes in a particular index or rate, etc.). In this case, the lessee records the
remeasurement effect of the lease obligation as an adjustment on the right-of-use asset.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont'd)

2.2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont'd)

Right to use assets

The Group recognizes the right of use assets on the date the lease commences (for example, as of the date when the asset
is eligible for use). Right of use assets are calculated by deducting accumulated depreciation and impairment losses from
the cost value. If the financial lease payables are revalued, this figure is adjusted.

The cost of the right-of-use asset includes:
(a) the initial measurement of the lease liability,

(b) the amount obtained by deducting all lease incentives received from all lease payments made on or before the
effective date of the lease, and

(c) allinitial direct costs incurred by the Group.

Unless the transfer of ownership of the underlying asset to the Group at the end of the lease term is reasonably finalized,
the Group depreciates the right of use asset from the effective date of the lease until the end of the useful life of the
underlying asset.

Right of use assets are subject to impairment assessment.
Financial Assets
Classification

Group classifies its financial assets in three categories of financial assets measured at amortized cost, financial assets
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income and financial assets measured at fair value through profit of
loss. The classification of financial assets is determined considering the entity's business model for managing the financi-
al assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. The appropriate classification of financial
assets is determined at the time of the purchase. Financial assets are not reclassified after initial recognition unless the
business model that the Group uses in the management of financial assets has changed; In the event of a change in busi-
ness model, the financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the following reporting period.

Recognition and Measurement

“Financial assets measured at amortized cost”, are non-derivative assets that are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and the contractual terms of the financial assets give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstan-
ding. Group's financial assets measured at amortized cost comprise “trade receivables’, “other receivables” and “financial
investments” Financial assets carried at amortized cost are measured at their fair value at initial recognition and by effe-
ctive interest rate method at subsequent measurements. Gains and losses on valuation of non-derivative financial assets

measured at amortized cost are accounted for under the consolidated statement of income.

"Financial assets reflected at fair value through other comprehensive income" are non-derivative instruments that are
held within the scope of a business model that aims to collect contractual cash flows and sell the financial asset, and in
which there are cash flows that include only interest payments arising from the principal and principal balance at certain
dates in the terms of the contract. are financial assets. Gains or losses arising from the relevant financial assets other
than impairment gains or losses and foreign exchange gains or expenses are reflected in other comprehensive income. In
case the mentioned assets are sold, valuation differences classified to other comprehensive income are classified into
previous years' profits. For investments in equity-based financial assets, the Group may irrevocably opt for the method
of reflecting subsequent changes in fair value to other comprehensive income at initial recognition. In the event that the
said choice is made, the dividends obtained from the relevant investments are accounted in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss. The Group's financial assets, whose fair value difference is reflected in other comprehensive income,
includes financial investments based on equity.
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2, BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont'd)
2.2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont'd)

Financial Assets (cont'd)

Recognition and Measurement (cont'd)

“Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss”, are assets that are not measured at amortized cost or at
fair value through other comprehensive income. Gains and losses on valuation of these financial assets are accounted for
under the consolidated statement of income.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss also include “derivative instruments” and “financial assets related to
concession agreements” in the statement of financial position. Derivative instruments are recognized as an asset if the
fair value is positive and as a liability if the fair value is negative. Derivative instruments of the Company reflected in profit
or loss consist of interest rate fixing contracts.

Financial assets related to concession agreements

Takinginto account the terms of the service concession agreement with the government, the Group applied IFRIC12 finan-
cial asset model and defined a financial asset in its financial statements.

The Group considers the service concession agreements as mixed contracts that contain the main products in the nature
of financial assets. Related contracts contain more than one hidden derivative product and vary with contractual cash
flows, a certain inflation rate and exchange rate changes.

The Group recognizes financial assets arising from service concession agreements at their fair values through profit or
loss and classifies these changes in fair value as reflected in profit or loss as “other operating income expense”.

Derecognition

The Group derecognized a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expired, or it trans-
ferred the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial asset were transferred. Any interest in such transferred financial assets that was created or
retained by the Group was recognized as a separate asset or liability.

Impairment

Impairment of the financial and contractual assets measured by using “Expected credit loss model” (ECL), The impairment
model applies for amortized financial and contractual assets. Provision for loss measured as below; 12-Month ECL: results
from default events that are possible within 12 months after reporting date. Lifetime ECL: results fromall possible default
events over the expected life of financial instrument Lifetime ECL measurement applies if the credit risk of a financial
asset at the reporting date has increased significantly since 12-month ECL measurement if it has not.

The Group may determine that the credit risk of a financial asset has not increased significantly if the asset has low credit
risk at the reporting date. However, lifetime ECL measurement (simplified approach) always apply for trade receivables
and contract assets without a significant financing.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont'd)

2.2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont'd)

Trade Receivables

Tradereceivables, generated by the Group by providing goods or services to abuyer,are presented as netted off unaccrued
financing income. Trade receivables that are not accrued after the unearned financing income are calculated by discoun-
ting the amounts to be obtained in the subsequent periods from the original invoice amount. Short-term receivables with
no stated interest rate are measured at the cost value unless the effect of the original effective interest rate is significant.

In case there is objective evidence that there is no possibility of collection, the Group provides provision for doubtful rece-
ivables for trade receivables. The amount of this provision is the difference between the carrying amount of the receivable
and the amount that can be collected. The amount that can be collected is the discounted value of all cash flows, including
the amounts collected from guarantees and collateral, based on the original effective interest rate of the trade receivable.

After the collection of doubtful receivable, in case of collecting all or part of the doubtful receivable amount, the collected
amount is deducted from the provisioned doubtful receivable and recorded in other income.

For the purpose of calculating the depreciation of trade receivables, which are accounted for at amortized cost and which
do notinclude a significant financing component (less than1year), the simplified approach is implemented. In cases where
the trade receivables are not impaired due to certain reasons (except fort he realized impairment losses), the provision for
losses related to trade receivables are measured by an amount equal to the expected loan losses.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont'd)

2.2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont'd)

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are measured at fair value at initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the burden of
related financial liability are also added to the fair value.

Financial liabilities and borrowing costs

Financial liabilities are recognized initially at the proceeds received, netted off transaction costs incurred. Financial liabi-
lities are followed in the consolidated financial statements with their discounted values calculated with effective interest
rate.

Financial liabilities are debts arising from the disappearance of this obligation, the expiration of the cancellation period
and the situation is derecognized.

Trade payables

Trade payables are the debts arising from the purchase of products and services directly from the suppliers. Trade payab-
les and other liabilities are carried at amortized cost. Trade payables and other liabilities after unaccrued financial expen-
ses are calculated by discounting the amounts payable from the original invoice value in the following periods by using the
effective interest method. Short-term payables with no stated interest rate are measured at cost unless the effect of the
original effective interest rate is significant.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are cash inhand, demand deposits and other short-term investments with a maturity of 3mont-
hs or less than 3 months, which are easily convertible into cash and do not carry a significant risk of change in value. Bank
deposits with a maturity of longer than 3 months and less than1year are classified as short-term financial investments.

Equity
Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. The additional costs directly associated with the export of ordinary shares and
stock options are recognized as a decrease in equity after deducting the tax effect

Employee benefits
Provision for severance pay

In accordance with existing labor law in Turkey, the Group is required to make payments of certain amounts to employees
who have completed one year of service and who quite due to causes such as retirement and military service or who die.
Provision for severance pay represents the present value of future probable obligation of the Group arising from the re-
tirement of employees on a 30-day basis. Provision for severance pay is calculated on the assumption that all employees
will receive such payment, and it is recognized in the consolidated financial statements on an accrual basis. Provision for
severance pay is calculated in accordance with the severance pay cap announced by the Government. All actuarial gains
and losses are recognized under other comprehensive income.

Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation because of past events, it is pro-
bable that an outflow of resources involving economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable es-
timate of the amount can be made. Provisions are calculated by discounting the estimated future cash flows at a pre-tax
discount rate to be computed in consideration of the impact of time value of money and the risks associated with such
obligation.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont'd)

2.2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont'd)

Revenue
Revenue from customer contracts

Group started to use the following five-stage model in the recognition of revenue in line with the TFRS 15 "Revenue from
Customer Contracts Standard".

* Defining contracts with customers

* Defining performance obligations in contracts

* Determining the transaction price in the contracts

* Distribution of transaction price to performance obligations
* Recognition of revenue

According to this model, first of all, the goods or services promised in each contract made with the customers are evalu-
ated and each commitment made for the transfer of the said goods or services is determined as a separate performance
obligation. Afterwards, itis determined whether the performance obligations will be fulfilled over time or at a certain time.

If the Group transfers control of a good or service over time and therefore fulfills the performance obligations related to
the related sales over time, it measures the progress towards the full fulfillment of the said performance obligations and
recognizes the revenue in the consolidated financial statements over time. Revenue related to performance obligations
in the form of goods or service transfer commitments are recognized when the control of the goods or services is taken
over by the customers.

The Group, while evaluating the transfer of control of the goods or services sold to the customer,
a) Ownership of the Group's right to collect on goods or services
b) The customer's ownership of the legal ownership of the goods or services
c) Transfer of possession of goods or services,
d) The customer's ownership of significant risks and rewards arising from owning the property or service,
e) It takes into account the customer's acceptance of goods or services.

The Group accounts for a contract with a customer within the scope of TFRS 15, only if all of the following conditions are
met.

» In case the parties of the contract approve the contract and undertake to perform their own actions.

» In case the company can define the rights regarding the goods or services to be transferred by each party.
» Where the company can define payment terms for the goods or services to be transferred.

» Where there is a contract of commercial importance.

» In the event that the company will collect a price for goods or services to be transferred to the customer.

Sale of goods

In cases where significant risks and returns of revenue are transferred to the customer, the probability of recovery of
goods, associated costs and possible return of goods can bereliably calculated, and in the absence of an ongoing manage-
ment relationship with the goods, the amount of income can be measured reliably. Revenues; Buy-backs, sales discounts,
volume discounts are measured.

The timing of risks and transfer of services varies depending on the terms of the sales contract.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont'd)

2.2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont'd)
Revenue (cont’'d)
Revenue from customer contracts (cont’d)

Construction contracts

Contract revenue includes any difference, claim, incentive payments within the contract that may result in revenue or is
likely to be measured reliably in addition to the initial amount accepted in the contract.

If the outcome of the construction contract can be estimated reliably, the contract revenue is recognized in the income
statement in proportion to the stage of completion of the contract.

The completion stage of the work is measured by reference to a work study performed. Otherwise, contract revenue is
recognized only at the cost of the contract which s likely to be collected.

Contract costs are recognized as they are incurred unless they create an asset related to future contract activities. An
expected loss in a contract is immediately recognized in profit or loss.

Service concession agreements

TFRS Interpretation 12 provides an overview of the infrastructure investments made by companies (operators) that have
acquired the right to operate for a certain period by signing a concession agreement with the public and how the servic-
es they provide during the operation should be accounted for. It requires the operators to account for the investments
made in the scope of TFRS Comment 12 as financial assets and / or intangible assets in accordance with the terms of the
agreement instead of accounting for the investments as buildings, fixed assets and fixtures. The Company recognizes the
amount calculated as per the construction model based on the service concession agreement as a financial asset, as it is
a guaranteed income in the contract made with the Ministry of Health. The accounting policy for the measurement and
classification of financial assets is included in 2. Note “Classification and Measurement - Financial Assets” (Isparta City
Hospital, Eskisehir City Hospital and Tekirdag City Hospital).

Contract assets arising from ongoing construction and contracts

Company financial assets in the financial statements covered by the Republic of Turkey Health Ministry signed City Hos-
pital, which was prepared in accordance with the Agreement Tekirdag City Hospital construction model compatible with
the right to demand fees associated with the use of the concession infrastructure are accounted for. Related assets The
Company takes financial assets arising from service concession agreements as ongoing receivables from service conces-
sion agreements to the financial statements in the projects under construction. Financial assets received as provision for
construction or remediation services ina concession agreement are measured at amortized cost on the initial recognition
date. The estimated useful life of a financial asset arising from a concession agreement is the period during which the
Company may collect from the public sector until the end of the concession period to use the infrastructure.

» The Company management makes assumptions for inflation and foreign exchange rates during the contract period in
order to calculate receivables from concession agreements. In addition, IFRIC 12 interest income is calculated using the
internalrate of return foreseen future cash inflows.

The Group recognizes financial assets arising from service concession agreements as receivables from service conces-
sion agreements at amortized cost in the projects under construction.
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2, BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont'd)
2.2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont'd)
Revenue (cont'd)

Rental revenues

Rental revenues from investment properties are recognized in the consolidated comprehensive income statement by us-
ing the straight-line method during the term of the rental agreement. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consid-
eration received or receivable. Income is realized when the economic benefits obtained by the Group and amount of the
related income is measured confidingly.

Other transactions

Income from delivered services is recognized in the consolidated comprehensive income statement in line with the com-
pletion rate of the transaction by the end of the reporting period.

Government incentives

Government incentives, including non-monetary government incentives measured by their fair values, are recognized in
the consolidated financial statements when there is reasonable assurance that the entity will meet the conditions for
obtaining them and that the incentives will be received by the entity.

Government incentives are presented in the financial statements in the same manner, even if they are obtained in cash or
as areduction of an obligation to the government.

Investment incentives are valued at their fair value if reasonable assurance is provided that the incentives will be received
and that all conditions will be met. If the incentive is associated with an asset item, it is deducted during the calculation
of the fair value of the asset. The incentive is recognized in profit or loss through the acquisition of rental income for the
asset.

Financing income and expenses

Financing income includes interest income, exchange rate difference income, dividend income and gains from derivative
instruments accounted for in profit or loss. Interest income is recognized in profit or loss on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method.

Financing expenses include the interest expenses from bank loans, impairments accounted for in relation to financial as-
sets (except for trade receivables), and the losses from ineffective portions of derivative hedge instruments accounted
for in profit or loss. Borrowing costs which cannot be directly related to the acquisition, construction or production of an
asset are recognized in profit or loss by using the effective rate of interest.

Rediscount and exchange rate difference income/expenses pertaining to trade transactions are recognized in other oper-
ating income and expenses.

Earnings per share

Earnings per share disclosed in the consolidated profit or loss statement are determined by dividing net income for the
period from parent company shares by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period concerned.

In Turkey, companies can increase their share capital through a pro-rata distribution of shares (bonus shares) to exist-
ing shareholders from retained earnings and inflation adjustment. Such distribution of bonus shares is treated as issued
shares in the calculation of earnings per share. Accordingly, the weighted average number of shares used in such calcula-
tions are determined by giving the said distribution of shares aretroactive effect.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont'd)

2.2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont'd)
Taxes on income

Taxes include current period income tax liabilities and deferred tax liabilities. Current tax is recognized in consolidated
comprehensive income statement except for the taxes of items recognized directly in profit or loss.

Current tax is calculated over the taxable part of the income for the period. The current tax liability of the Group is calcu-
lated using the tax rates enacted at the reporting date.

Furthermore, provisional corporate taxes are paid at 25% (will be applied as 23% for 2022 and 20% for 2023 and after tax
periods) over profits declared for interim periods in order to be deducted from the final corporate tax.

With the “Law Amending the Tax Procedure Law and the Corporate Tax Law’, which was accepted on the agenda of the
Turkish Grand National Assembly on January 20, 2022, the application of inflation accounting was postponed starting from
the balance sheet dated on December 31, 2023.

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes, except for the differences of non-tax deduct-
ible goodwill, and assets and liabilities that are not accountable and taxable and are recognized for the first time. Deferred
tax is not recognized in the initial recognition of goodwill, the initial recognition of assets and liabilities that impact on
neither financial profit nor commercial profit in transactions other than business combinations, and in differences per-
taining to associates and joint ventures which are unlikely to be reversed in the near future. Deferred tax is calculated on
the basis of laws applicable by the end of the reporting period and over the tax rates that are expected to be applied once
temporary differences are reversed.

When the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are levied by the same taxation authority and there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and in the event that the acquisition of de-
ferred tax assets and the performance of deferred tax liabilities are simultaneous, deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities can be offset.

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary difference can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting period and
their carrying amount is reduced to the extent that it is not probable that the relevant tax advantage will be available.

Deferred taxes arising from the fair value measurement for available-for-sale assets and their cash flow hedging is rec-
ognized in profit or loss before being recognized in consolidated comprehensive income statement together with other
deferred gains that are previously recognized.

Out of the investment incentives the Group enjoys, those that ensure a corporate tax rebate are recognized under TAS12.

The current tax amounts to be paid are offset with the prepaid tax amounts since they are related to corporate tax. De-
ferred tax asset and liability are also offset individually for each company.

Tax arrangements in Turkey do not allow a parent company and its subsidiaries to submit consolidated tax statements.
Therefore, tax provisions are calculated on a company basis as reflected in the consolidated financial statements at-
tached.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont'd)

2.2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont'd)
Related parties

For the purpose of the accompanying consolidated financial statements, shareholders, key management and board mem-
bers, in each case together with companies controlled by or affiliated with them, and associated companies are consid-
ered and referred to as related parties.

Arelated party is a person or entity that is related to the entity that is preparing its financial statements.
(a) Aperson or a close member of that person's family is related to a reporting entity if that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the reporting entity;
(i) has significant influence over the reporting entity; or
(iii) is @ member of the key management personnel of the reporting entity or of a parent of the reporting entity.
(b) Anentity is related to a reporting entity if any of the following conditions applies
(i) The entity and the reporting entity are members of the same group

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.
(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the reporting entity or an
entity related to the reporting entity. If the reporting entity is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also
related to the reporting entity.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key management per-
sonnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between a reporting entity and a related
party, regardless of whether a price is charged.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are segments of the Group which engage in operating activities from which the Group can reap reve-
nues and through which it can make expenditures, the operating results of which are regularly reviewed by the chief oper-
ating decision maker of the Group for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, and for
which there are separate financial information.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont'd)

2.2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont'd)
Determination of fair values

Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on the following methods. When
applicable, further information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to
that asset or liability. Fair value, according to valuation techniques used is classified into these following levels:

Level1:For identical assets or liabilities in active markets (unadjusted) prices;

Level 2:1st place other than quoted prices and asset or liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from
prices) observable data;

Level 3: Asset or liability is not based on observable market data in relation to the data (non- observable data).

The fair value of other long-term investments, the details of which are given in Note 22, are within the scope of level 3
valuation method techniques and the income discounting method.

Significant accounting evaluation, estimation and assumptions

In the preparation of consolidated financial statements; The Group management has made judgments, estimates and
evaluations affecting the application of the Group's accounting policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, in-
come and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and assessments are reviewed continu-
ously. Adjustments regarding the estimates are made prospectively.

Information on the accounting policies, assumptions and judgments made in applying the estimates that have the most
significant impact on the amounts presented in the financial statements are presented in the following notes:

Financial assets related to concession agreements and contract assets arising from ongoing construction and contracts

Group's financial assets are recognized in the financial statements covered by the Republic of Turkey Health Ministry,
signed City Hospital Agreement Pursuant During the City Hospital are entitled to charge a fee on the use of compatible
concession infrastructure with the construction of the model. In projects that are under construction, the Group includes
financial assets fromservice concession agreements atreduced cost, asreceivables from service concession agreements,
as financial assets related to Concession agreements at fair value in completed and operational projects. The Company
management makes important estimates and assumptions for inflation and exchange rates during the contract period in
order to calculate receivables from concession contracts.

As of December 31, 2021, the discount rate used in the fair value calculation is 10% (Euro) for Eskisehir and Tekirdag City
Hospitals and 11.5% (USD) for Isparta City Hospital. For inflation and exchange rate estimates, fair value calculations are
made with different scenarios and the average value is accepted as the final result. The inflation values used in fair value
calculations are in parallel with the medium and long term inflation rates announced by the CBRT.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont'd)

2.2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont'd)
Significant accounting evaluation, estimation and assumptions (cont’d)

Financial assets related to concession agreements and contract assets arising from ongoing construction and contracts
(cont'd)

Business model assessment

Classification and measurement of financial assets depends on the results of the SPPI and the business model test (Note
10). The Group determines the business model at a level that reflects how groups of financial assets are managed together
to achieve a particular business objective. This assessment includes judgement reflecting all relevant evidence including
how the performance of the assets is evaluated and their performance measured, the risks that affect the performance
of the assets and how these are managed and how the managers of the assets are compensated. The Group monitors fi-
nancial assets measured at amortized cost or fair value through other comprehensive income that are derecognized prior
to their maturity to understand the reason for their disposal and whether the reasons are consistent with the objective
of the business for which the asset was held. Monitoring is part of the Group's continuous assessment of whether the
business model for which the remaining financial assets are held continues to be appropriate and if it is not appropriate
whether there has been a change in business model and so a prospective change to the classification of those assets. No
such changes were required during the periods presented.

Determining the fair value of equity instruments

The Group has classified and recorded the MIP, Travelex and TAR shares held in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements as financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income/ expense. MIP, Travelex and TAR financi-
alinvestments carried at fair value are important in terms of financial statements and valuation studies require expertise.
Valuations are made in accordance with market conditions, taking into account similar company multipliers, discount ra-
tes, current market transactions return and sales prices. In these estimates and assumptions, changes that may occur in
the future may have a significant impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements

Deferred taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded using substantially enacted tax rates for the effect of temporary differen-
ces betweenbook and tax bases of assets and liabilities. Currently, there are deferred tax assets resulting from operating
loss carry-forwards and deductible temporary differences, all of which could reduce taxable income in the future. Based
on available evidence, both positive and negative, it is determined whether it is probable that all or a portion of the defer-
red tax assets will be realized. The main factors which are considered include future earnings potential; cumulative losses
in recent years; history of loss carry-forwards and other tax assets expiring; the carry-forward period associated with
the deferred tax assets; future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences; tax-planning strategies that would,
if necessary, be implemented, and the nature of the income that can be used to realize the deferred tax asset. If based on
the weight of all available evidence, it is the Group's belief that taxable profit will not be available sufficient to utilize some
portion of these deferred tax assets, then some portion of or all of the deferred tax assets are not recognized. The Group
has not recognized deferred tax assets because it is in the development stage and it is not apparent that taxable profit will
be available sufficient to recognize deferred tax assets. If future results of operations exceed the Group's current expec-
tations, the existing unrecognized deferred tax assets may be recognized, resulting in future tax benefits.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont'd)

2.2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont'd)
Derivative instruments

TDerivative instruments are first recorded at their acquisition cost reflecting their fair value at the contract date and
are valued at fair value in the following periods. The derivative instruments of the Group are mainly composed of forward
foreign exchange purchase-sale contracts and foreign currency and interest rate swap transactions. Although these deri-
vatives provide effective protection against risks for the Group economically, when they do not meet the necessary con-
ditions in terms of risk accounting, they are accounted as trading derivatives in the consolidated financial statements and
the fair value changes related to them are reflected in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

2.3. Amendments to the Turkish Financial Reporting Standards
New standards, amendments and interpretations effective from January 1, 2021:
» Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2-Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16
» Practical expedient for changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows as a result of IBOR reform
» Relief from discontinuing hedging relationships
» Separately identifiable risk components
» Additional disclosures
» Amendments to TFRS 16 - Covid-19 Rent Related Concessions
These amendments did not have a significant impact on the financial position or performance of the Company.

The new standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not yet effective and not early adopted:

» TFRS10 and TAS 28: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture (Amend-
ments)

» TFRS17-The new Standard for insurance contracts

» Amendments to TAS 1- Classification of Liabilities as Current and Non-Current Liabilities

» Amendments to TFRS 3 - Reference to the Conceptual Framework

» Amendments to TAS16 - Proceeds before intended use

» Amendments to TAS 37 - Onerous contracts - Costs of Fulfilling a Contract

» TAS 8 Amendments - Definition of Accounting Estimates

» TAS1Amendments - Disclosure of Accounting Policies

» TAS 12 Amendments - Deferred tax on assets and liabilities arising from a single transaction
» Annual Improvements - 2018-2020 Period

These standards, changes and improvements are assessed on the financial position of the Company and its possible im-
pact on performance.

3. RESTATEMENT OF PREVIOUS YEAR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS RESULTING FROM BUSINESS
COMBINATIONS AND SHARE SALES OF ASSOCIATES /SUBSIDIARIES

The merger transaction of Akfen Holding and Akfen Infrastructure Holding which was completed on November 10, 2021,
was evaluated as a "Business Combination Under Common Control" and was accounted for using the "Pooling of Interest"
method (Note 4). When the pooling of interest method is applied, the financial statements have been adjusted as if the
merger had been realized at the beginning of the reporting period in which under common control occurred and they have
been presented comparatively since the beginning of the reporting period in which the under common control occurred.
As aresult of this merger; the effect of the adjustments made in the prior period consolidated financial statements, the
profit or loss and other comprehensive income and expense statement and the consolidated cash flow statement as of
December 31,2020 and January 1, 2020, are as follows:
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RESTATEMENT OF PREVIOUS YEAR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS RESULTING FROM BUSINESS
COMBINATIONS AND SHARE SALES OF ASSOCIATES /SUBSIDIARIES (cont'd)

December 31, 2020:

Previously Akfen Infrastructure
ASSETS reported merger effect Restated
December 31, 2020 December 31, 2020 December 31, 2020

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1,345,933 280,946 1,626,879
Short term financial investments 474,591 - 474,591
Trade receivables 8,384 66,616 75,000
- Trade receivables from related parties 8,384 13,137 21,521
- Trade receivables from third parties - 53,479 53,479
Financial assets related to concession agreements - 861,978 861,978
Other receivables 798 57,550 58,348
- Other receivables from related parties - 173 173
- Other receivables from third parties 798 57,377 58,175
Inventories - 43,205 43,205
Prepaid expenses 1,206 26,434 27,640
Currentincome tax assets 7,032 47,970 55,002
Other current assets 6 90,457 90,463
SUBTOTAL 1,837,950 1,475,156 3,313,106
Assets reclassified as held for sale 14,922 - 14,922
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 1,852,872 1,475,156 3,328,028
Non-Current Assets
Financial investments 2,560,858 58,747 2,619,605
Trade receivables - 12,264 12,264
- Trade receivables from third parties - 12,264 12,264
Financial assets related to concession agreements - 6,513,592 6,513,592
Other receivables 770,961 (18,524) 752,437
- Other receivables from related parties 770,945 (28,342) 742,603
- Other receivables from third parties 16 9,818 9,834
Investments accounted using the equity Method 3,597,845 (1,409,761) 2,188,084
Investment property 58,000 1,075,028 1,133,028
Property, plant and equipment 4,679 353,344 358,023
Intangible assets 846 105,027 105,873
-Other intangible assets 846 105,027 105,873
Right of use assets - 10,486 10,486
Assets arising from customer contracts - 25,726 25,726
- Contract assets arising from sales of goods and services - 25,726 25,726
Prepaid expenses 3,355 - 3,355
Deferred tax assets 8,010 905,814 913,824
Other non current assets 9 26,698 26,707
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 7,004,563 7,658,441 14,663,004

TOTAL ASSETS 8,857,435 9,133,597 17,991,032
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RESTATEMENT OF PREVIOUS YEAR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS RESULTING FROM BUSINESS
COMBINATIONS AND SHARE SALES OF ASSOCIATES /SUBSIDIARIES (cont'd)

December 31, 2020:

Previously Akfen Infrastructure
LIABILITIES reported merger effect Restated
December 31, 2020 December 31,2020 December 31,2020

Current Liabilities

Short term borrowings - 333,958 333,958
Short term portion of long-term borrowings 2,001,813 836,714 2,838,527
Trade payables 3,903 1,083,743 1,087,646
- Trade payables to related parties 1,398 893,773 895,171
- Trade payables to third parties 2,505 189,970 192,475
Employee benefit obligations 145 815 960
Other payables 13,358 34,700 48,058
- Other payables to related parties 10,439 1,509 11,948
- Other payables to third parties 2,919 33,191 36,110
Income tax payable 13,441 5,400 18,841
Deferred revenue - 10,586 10,586
Current provisions 38,227 3,075 41,302
- Provision for employee benefits 4,147 3,075 7,222
- Other short-term provisions 34,080 - 34,080
Other current liabilities 51,870 80 51,950
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 2,122,757 2,309,071 4,431,828
Non-Current Liabilities
Long term borrowings 308,634 5,468,463 5,777,097
Other payables 101,866 461,788 563,654
- Other payables to related parties 101,864 453,021 554,885
- Other payables to third parties 2 8,767 8,769
Derivative financial liabilities - 266,190 266,190
Obligations arising from customer contracts - 67,124 67,124
Non-current provisions 2,361 3,758 6,119
-Provision for employee benefits 2,361 3,758 6,119
-Other long-term provisions - - -
Deferred tax liabilities 110,675 124,429 235,104
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 523,536 6,391,752 6,915,288

TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,646,293 8,700,823 11,347,116




158

(Convenience translation of the independent auditors’report and consolidated financial statements originally issued in Turkish)
Akfen Holding Anonim Sirketi

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at and For the Year ended December 31, 2021

(Allamounts are in thousand Turkish Liras ("TRY") unless otherwise specified.)

3. RESTATEMENT OF PREVIOUS YEAR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS RESULTING FROM BUSINESS
COMBINATIONS AND SHARE SALES OF ASSOCIATES /SUBSIDIARIES (cont'd)

December 31, 2020:
Previously Akfen Infrastructure
Reported merger effect Restated
December 31, 2020 December 31,2020 December 31,2020
EQUITY 6,211,141 432,775 6,643,916
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 6,197,210 468,248 6,665,458
Issued capital 667,181 - 667,181
Capital adjustment differences (7,257) 7,257 -
Treasuary shares (-) (569,966) - (569,966)
Share premiums (72,955) 75,331 2,376
Effect of business combinations under common control (704,281) (1,144,687) (1,848,968)
Other accumulated comprehensive
income that will not be reclassified to profit 2,348,752 163,748 2,512,500
Revaluation and measurement gains 2,348,752 163,748 2,512,500
- Increases on revaluation of property, plant and equipment 1,168,448 111,233 1,279,681
- Losses on remeasurement of defined benefit plans (4,351) (879) (5,230)
- Other gains on revaluation and remeasurement 1,184,655 53,394 1,238,049
Other accumulated comprehensive income that will be
reclassified to (loss) or profit (75,916) 175,605 99,689
-Currency translation difference 105,798 175,605 281,403
-Hedge reserve fund (181,714) - (181,714)
Restricted reserves appropriated from profits 2,932,286 (120,217) 2,812,069
Retained earnings 1,741,027 1,205,185 2,946,212
Net (loss)/profit for the period (61,661) 106,026 44,365
Non-controlling interests 13,931 (35,473) (21,542)

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 8,857,434 9,133,598 17,991,032
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3. RESTATEMENT OF PREVIOUS YEAR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS RESULTING FROM BUSINESS
COMBINATIONS AND SHARE SALES OF ASSOCIATES /SUBSIDIARIES (cont'd)

January 1, 2020:
Previously Akfen Infrastructure
ASSETS reported merger effect Restated
January 1, 2020 January 1, 2020 January 1, 2020
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1,750,395 334,963 2,085,358
Short term financial investments 19,638 - 19,638
Trade receivables 5,382 68,516 73,898
- Trade receivables from related parties 5382 19,393 24,775
- Trade receivables from third parties - 49,123 49,123
Financial assets related to concession agreements - 422,851 422,851
Assets arising from customer contracts - 76,912 76,912
- Receivables from ongoing construction and service contracts - 76,912 76,912
Other receivables 288 90,862 91,150
- Other receivables from related parties - 105 105
- Other receivables from third parties 288 90,757 91,045
Inventories - 71,028 71,028
Prepaid expenses 1,259 156,910 158,169
Current income tax assets 322 18,573 18,895
Other current assets 6 47,410 47416
SUBTOTAL 1,777,290 1,288,025 3,065,315
Assets reclassified as held for sale 2,890 - 2,890
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 1,780,180 1,288,025 3,068,205
Non-Current Assets
Financial investments 2,365,760 48,877 2,414,637
Trade receivables - 14,673 14,673
- Trade receivables from third parties - 14,673 14,673
Financial assets related to concession agreements - 4,361,126 4,361,126
Assets arising from customer contracts - 721,170 721,170
- Receivables from ongoing construction and service contracts - 706,831 706,831
-Contract assets arising from sales of goods and services - 14,339 14,339
Other receivables 552,023 (17,512) 534,511
-Other receivables from related parties 552,007 (26,138) 525,869
-Other receivables from third parties 16 8,626 8,642
Investments accounted using the equity method 2,645114 (1,276,916) 1,368,198
Investment property - 875,196 875,196
Property, plant and equipment 69,050 41,307 110,357
Intangible assets 584 97,351 97,935
- Other intangible assets 584 97,351 97935
Right of use assets - 8,391 8,391
Deferred tax assets 6,637 620,660 627,297
Other non current assets 16 40,517 40,533
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 5,639,184 5,534,840 11,174,024

TOTAL ASSETS 7,419,364 6,822,865 14,242,229




160

(Convenience translation of the independent auditors’report and consolidated financial statements originally issued in Turkish)
Akfen Holding Anonim Sirketi

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at and For the Year ended December 31, 2021

(Allamounts are in thousand Turkish Liras ("TRY") unless otherwise specified.)

3. RESTATEMENT OF PREVIOUS YEAR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS RESULTING FROM BUSINESS
COMBINATIONS AND SHARE SALES OF ASSOCIATES /SUBSIDIARIES (cont'd)

January 1, 2020:
Previously Akfen Infrastructure
LIABILITIES reported merger effect Restated
January 1, 2020 January 1, 2020 January 1, 2020
Current Liabilities
Short term borrowings - 113,722 113,722
Short term portion of long-term borrowings 436,949 655,273 1,092,222
Trade payables 2,998 1,257,802 1,260,800
- Trade payables to related parties 498 1,132,408 1,132,906
- Trade payables to third parties 2,500 125,394 127,894
Employee benefit obligations 280 841 1,121
Other payables 14,042 43,223 57,265
- Other payables to related parties 9772 345 10,117
- Other payables to third parties 4,270 42,878 47,148
Income tax payable 4,074 741 4,815
Deferred revenue - 6,944 6,944
Current provisions 13,124 3,548 16,672
-Provision for employee benefits 4,808 3,548 8,356
-Other short-term provisions 8,316 - 8,316
Other current liabilities 9,163 - 9,163
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 480,630 2,082,094 2,562,724
Non-Current Liabilities
Long term borrowings 1,683,721 4,148,973 5,832,694
Other payables 117,479 321,532 439,011
- Other payables to related parties 117,477 312,159 429,636
- Other payables to third parties 2 9,373 9,375
Derivative financial liabilities - 141,290 141,290
Obligations arising from customer contracts - 41,327 41,327
Non-current provisions 22,758 3,803 26,561
- Provision for employee benefits 2,614 3,803 6,417
- Other long-term provisions 20,144 - 20,144
Deferred tax liabilities 43,539 113,594 157,133
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,867,497 4,770,519 6,638,016

TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,348,127 6,852,613 9,200,740
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3. RESTATEMENT OF PREVIOUS YEAR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS RESULTING FROM BUSINESS
COMBINATIONS AND SHARE SALES OF ASSOCIATES /SUBSIDIARIES (cont'd)

January 1, 2020:
Previously Akfen Infrastructure
reported merger effect Restated
January 1, 2020 January 1, 2020 January 1, 2020
EQUITY 5,071,237 (29,748) 5,041,489
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 5,057,341 8,795 5,066,136
Issued capital 667,181 - 667,181
Capital adjustment differences (7,257) 7,257 -
Treasuary shares (-) (569,966) - (569,966)
Share premiums (72,955) 75,331 2,376
Effect of business combinations under common control (704,281) (1,144,687) (1,848,968)
Other accumulated comprehensive income that will not be reclassified to profit 753,493 47,441
800,934
Revaluation and measurement gains 753,493 47,441 800,934
- (Decreases)/Increases on revaluation of property,
plant and equipment (4,307) 4,307 -
- Losses on remeasurement of defined benefit plans (3,294) (883) 4177)
- Other gains on revaluation and remeasurement 761,094 44,017 805,111
Other accumulated comprehensive income that will be
reclassified to (loss) or profit 80,694 175,604 256,298
-Currency translation difference 80,694 175,604 256,298
-Hedge reserve fund - - -
Restricted reserves appropriated from profits 2,912,107 (122,414) 2,789,693
Retained earnings 1,507,269 771,796 2,279,065
Net profit for the period 491,056 198,467 689,523
Non-controlling interests 13,896 (38,543) (24,647)

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 7,419,364 6,822,865 14,242,229
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3. RESTATEMENT OF PREVIOUS YEAR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS RESULTING FROM BUSINESS
COMBINATIONS AND SHARE SALES OF ASSOCIATES /SUBSIDIARIES (cont'd)

December 31, 2020:
Previously  Akfen Infrastructure

reported merger effect Restated
PROFIT OR LOSS FROM Jan.1- Jan.1- Jan. 1-
CONTINUING OPERATIONS Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2020
Revenue 6,633 1,176,898 1,183,531
Cost of sales (-) - (1,037,416) (1,037,416)
GROSS PROFIT 6,633 139,482 146,115
General administrative expenses (-) (39,583) (40,689) (80,272)
Marketing, selling and distribution expenses (-) - (3,980) (3,980)
Other income from operating activities 12,560 1,721,681 1,734,241
Other expenses from operating activities (-) (34,267) (16,597) (50,864)
Share of profit/(loss) from investments accounted using
the equity method (336,105) (129,884) (465,989)
OPERATING (LOSS)/PROFIT FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (390,762) 1,670,013 1,279,251
Income from investment activities 212,227 983 213,210
Expense from investment activities (-) (19,050) 4) (19,054)
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE FINANCE (LOSS)/INCOME (197,585) 1,670,992 1,473,407
Finance income 337,273 846,439 1,183,712
Finance expenses (-) (132,952) (2,702,490) (2,835,442)
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 6,736 (185,059) (178,323)
Tax (expense)/income (68,362) 294,155 225,793
Current period tax expense (-) (24,900) (8,138) (33,038)
Deferred tax (expense)/income (43,462) 302,293 258,831
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD FROM
CONTINUING OPERATIONS (61,626) 109,096 47,470
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD (61,626) 109,096 47,470
Attributable to
Non-controlling interests 35 3,070 3,105
Equity holders of the parent (61,661) 106,026 44,365
Net (loss)/profit for the period (61,626) 109,096 47,470
(Losses)/Earnings per share
(Losses)/earnings per share (TRY in full) (0.09) 0.16 0.07

Diluted (losses)/earnings per share (TRY in full) (0.09) 0.16 0.07
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3. RESTATEMENT OF PREVIOUS YEAR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS RESULTING FROM BUSINESS
COMBINATIONS AND SHARE SALES OF ASSOCIATES /SUBSIDIARIES (cont'd)

December 31, 2020:
Previously  Akfen Infrastructure

reported merger effect Restated
STATEMENT OF OTHER Jan. 1- Jan. 1- Jan.1-
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(EXPENSE) Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31,2020
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (61,626) 109,096 47,470
Other comprehensive income that will
not be reclassified to profit or loss 1,595,259 116,307 1,711,566
Losses/(earnings) on remeasurements
of defined benefit plans (1,057) 4 (1,053)
Gains on revaluation of property, plant and equipment 1,172,755 106,926 1,279,681
Other comprehensive income items that
will not be reclassified as other profit 423,561 9,377 432,938
Other comprehensive income/loss that
will be reclassified to profit or loss (156,610) 1 (156,609)
Exchange differences on translation 25,104 1 25,105
Other comprehensive loss related with cash flow hedges (181,714) - (181,714)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 1,438,649 116,308 1,554,957
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 1,377,023 225,404 1,602,427
Total comprehensive income attributable to
Non-controlling interests 35 3,070 3,105
Equity holders of the parent 1,376,988 222,334 1,599,322
Total comprehensive income 1,377,023 225,404 1,602,427

December 31, 2020:

Previously  Akfen Infrastructure

reported merger effect Restated

Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2020

A. Cash Flows from Operating Activities 230,850 227,829 458,679
(Loss)/profit for the year (61,626) 109,096 47,470
Adjustments to reconcile (loss)/profit 449,387 (29,558) 419,829
Changes in working capital (125,192) (358,118) (483,310)
Cash flows from/(used in) operations 262,569 (278,580) (16,011)
B. Cash Flows Used in Investment Operations (317,156) (115,444) (432,600)
C. Cash Flows used in Financing Activities (318,152) (90,124) (408,276)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (404,458) 22,261 (382,197)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 1,750,404 252,079 2,002,483

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 1,345,946 274,340 1,620,286
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3. RESTATEMENT OF PREVIOUS YEAR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS RESULTING FROM BUSINESS
COMBINATIONS AND SHARE SALES OF ASSOCIATES /SUBSIDIARIES (cont'd)

Sale of shares of subsidiaries

As of February 9, 2021 Company sold all of the shares of Masanda, which has a184-bed 5-Star Holiday Village investment
in Bodrum, for TRY 235.000 and sold all of its shares in Isparta Dormitory, which has been leased to the General Direc-
torate of Credits and Dormitories for 15 years and has two dormitories with a total of 7,232 beds, to Akfen Gayrimenkul
Yatirim Ortakligt A.S. amounting to TRY 215.000. For the statement of financial position on the date of sale, the date of
January 31,2021, which is the closest to the aforementioned date and where no significant change has occurred from this

date to the date of sale, is taken as a basis.

The financial statements of the related companies as of January 31,2021 are as follows:

Masanda Tourism Isparta Dormitory Total

Assets January 31, January 31, January 31,
2021 2021 2021

Current assets 3,089 7,647 10,736
Cash and cash equivalents 27 3,460 3,487
Trade receivables 3 42 45
- Trade receivables from related parties 3 - 3

- Trade receivables from third parties - 42 42
Other receivables - 1,473 1,473
- Other receivables from third parties - 1,473 1,473
Prepaid expenses 880 125 1,005
Other current assets 2,179 2,547 4,726
Non-current assets 310,477 297,063 607,540
Other receivables 10 - 10
- Other receivables from third parties 10 - 10
Right of use assets (Note 12) 2,394 - 2,394
Investment property (Note 10) - 285,453 285,453
Property, plant and equipment (Note 13) 287,565 - 287,565
Other non-current assets 20,508 11,610 32,118
Total assets 313,566 304,710 618,276
Liabilities January 31, 2021 January 31, 2021 January 31, 2021
Current liabilities 831 1,794 2,625
Short-term borrowings (Note 5) 506 806 1,312
- Lease liabilities (Note 5) 506 806 1,312
Trade payables 315 92 407
- Trade payables to related parties 71 57 128

- Trade payables to third parties 244 35 279
Other payables 3 7 10
- Other payables to third parties 3 7 10
Deferred revenue - 887 887
Other current liabilities 7 2 9
Non-current liabilities 5,278 42,845 48,123
Long-term borrowings (Note 5) 2,507 3,096 5,603
- Lease liabilities (Note 5) 2,507 3,096 5,603
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 30) 2,771 39,749 42,520
Equity attributable to owners of parent 307,457 260,071 567,528
Issued capital 192,504 78,000 270,504
Share premiums - 25,050 25,050
Restricted reserves appropriated from profits 2 - 2
Retained earnings 115,452 156,601 272,053
Net (loss)/profit for the period (501) 420 (81)
Total liabilities 313,566 304,710 618,276
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3. RESTATEMENT OF PREVIOUS YEAR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS RESULTING FROM BUSINESS
COMBINATIONS AND SHARE SALES OF ASSOCIATES /SUBSIDIARIES (cont'd)

Sale of shares of subsidiaries (cont'd)

The difference between the sale price of Isparta Dormitory and the net asset value at the date of sale is recognised in the
Group's financials as a loss on the disposal of the subsidiary as of December 31,2021 and is as follows:

Isparta Dormitory June 30, 2021
Sale price 215,000
Net asset value on the date of sale 260,071
Losses on disposal of subsidiary (Note 32) 45,071

Isparta Dormitory

Total sale price - cash 215,000
Cash and cash equivalents - disposed (3,460)
Cash inflow from sales, (net) 211,540

The difference between the sale price of Masanda and the net asset value at the date of sale is recognised in the Group's
financials as a loss on the disposal of the subsidiary as of December 31, 2021 and is as follows:

Masanda Tourism June 30, 2021
Sale price 235,000
Net asset value on the date of sale 307,457
Losses on disposal of subsidiary (Note 32) 72,457

Masanda Tourism

Total sale price - cash 235,000
Share transfer expenses (2,250)
Cash and cash equivalents - disposed (27)

Cash inflow from sales, (net) 232,723
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3. RESTATEMENT OF PREVIOUS YEAR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS RESULTING FROM BUSINESS
COMBINATIONS AND SHARE SALES OF ASSOCIATES /SUBSIDIARIES (cont'd)

Sale of shares of associate
IBS Insurance

On March 10, 2020, Akfen Holding signed a "Share Sales Agreement" to transfer its 17% stake in IBS Insurance for a pri-
ce of TRY 34,000. After the completion of the transaction, Akfen Holding's share in IBS Insurance decreased to 20%.
The positive difference between the mentioned sales price and the net asset derecognized from the records has been
recorded as income from investment activities in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as of December 31,2020.

On the date of sale

Net assets 42,506
IBS Insurance's share of shares sold 17%
IBS Insurance's net asset amount sold (Note 11) (A) 7,226
Sales price (B) 34,000
Earnings arising from the disposal of subsidiaries (Note 26) (B-A) 26,774

Furthermore, Akfen Holding signed a "Share Sale Agreement" on December 28, 2020 to transfer its remaining 20%
share in IBS Insurance for a consideration of TRY 48,000, and the sale was completed on January 28, 2021. After the
transaction was completed, Akfen Holding had no shares in IBS Insurance. The positive difference between the menti-
oned sale price and the net asset derecognized, was recorded as income from investment activities in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as of December 31,2021.

On the date of sale

Net assets 67,544
IBS Insurance's share of shares sold %20
IBS Insurance's net asset amount sold (A) 13,509
Sales price (B) 48,000
Earnings arising from the disposal of subsidiaries (Note 30) (B-A) 34,491
Akfen REIT

On20 August 2021, Akfen REIT paid capital increase was realized by using the right to preference of the existing sharehol-
ders and the Group transferred 6.43% of its shares in Akfen REIT for a price of TRY 66,433 before the capital increase
and sale price and the value of the shares subject to sale and the loss amounting to TRY 11,304, which is the difference
between the mentioned sale price and the value of the shares subject to sale, is accounted for in the expense from invest-
ment activities in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the Group (Note 30).

Akfen Renewable Energy

On February 17,2020, Akfen Renewable Energy's capital was increased to TRY 1,016,032 at a premium, within this scope,
USD 5,100,000 was transferred from the EBRD to Akfen Renewable Energy, thus Akfen Holding's share was 66.91%, and
EBRD's share 1710% and IFC's share was 15.99%. The effect of the change in the net assets of Akfen Renewable due to
this transaction amounting to TRY 26,306 has been recognized in the Group's consolidated financial statements in the
income from investment activities as of December 31,2020 (Note 30).
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4.SEGMENT REPORTING
January 1-December 31, 2021 Investments accounted using the equity method
Akfen Consolidation  Consoli-
Akfen Akfen Akfen  Akfen Ren. MDO-  Akfen adjustment and dated
Holding Cons. Tourism  REIT®  Energy  iDO®™ Water Acacia Other*™ Total classification Total
Revenue 8,162 520,950 72,966 55647 863,793 401,776 54,354 509,761 8,117 2,495,526 (1,894,970) 600,556
Cost of sales - (465,447) (92,042)  (4,198) (405,868) (316,575) (49,867) (246,475)  (4,740) (1,585,212) 1,049,248 (535,964)
Gross profit/(loss) 8,162 55,503 (19,076) 51,449 457,925 85,201 4,487 263,286 3,377 910,314 (845,722) 64,592
Selling and marketing expenses - (5,855) (1,133) - - (7,905) - (22,715) (33)  (37,641) 31,392 (6,249)
General administrative expenses (61,854)  (54,230) (1,049) (3,612) (22,153) (32,715) (2,016) (21,343)  (5,930) (204,902) 87,580 (117,322)
Other operating income 51,077 6,501,840 5522 603,812 53,655 6,028 68  (2,381) 2,717 7,222,338 (669,609) 6,552,729
Other operating expenses (94,384)  (18,376)  (600) (529) (63,123) (11,288) (3,781) - (1,387) (193,468) 80,100 (113,368)
Share of profit from investments
accounted using the equity method - - - - - 1,374 - - 1,374 893,990 895,364
Operating (loss)/profit (96,999) 6,478,882(16,336) 651,120 426,304 40,695 (1,242) 216,847 (1,256) 7,698,015 (422,269) 7,275,746
Investment activity income 593,091 - 12,758 71,204 - 123 - - 516 677,692 (351,114) 326,578
Investment activity expenses  (352,148)  (45,071) - - - - - - - (397,219) 234,291  (162,928)
Finance income 267,715 897,725 30,027 78,479 5478 80,425 20914 54,751 7,516 1,443,030 (283,799) 1,159,231
Finance expense (585,415) (5,365,516) (24,494) (203,478) (249,436) (988,598) (14,813) (53,526)  (1,191)(7,486,467) 1,538,589 (5,947,878)
(Loss)/profit before tax from
continuing Operations (173,756) 1,966,020 1,955 597,325 182,346 (867,355) 4,859 218,072 5,585 1,935,051 715,698 2,650,749
Tax income/(expense) for the period146,389 (34,881) (1,011) (59,509) 88,426 - (474) (74,707)  (1,463) 62,770 46,623 109,393
(Loss)/profit after tax from
continuing Operations (27,367) 1,931,139 944 537,816 270,772 (867,355) 4,385 143,365 4,122 1,997,821 762,321 2,760,142
Profit/(loss) for the period from
parent company shares (27,367) 1,939,097 944 531,271 272,997 (867,355) 4,385 143,365 4,122 2,001,459 765,902 2,767,361
Depreciation and amortization
expenses 1,974 12,378 4,633 969 208,208 68,011 110 80,662 312 377,257 (357,968) 19,289
Tangible and intangible fixed
asset, investment property and
other investments 7112 18,668 13,643 261 4,002 39155 426 78,266 2 161,535 (121,426) 40,109
December 31, 2021
Segment assets 8,078,333 15,381,029 50,792 1,643,104 9,747,000 1,267,426 29,633 1,477,874 368,64138,043,832 (8,855,407) 29,188,425
Segment liabilities 5,089,156 10,825,985 31,364 600,930 6,083,721 3,287,934 4,969 879,079 52,039 26,855,177  (10,835,277) 16,019,900

The merger transaction on November 10, 2021, was evaluated as a "Business Combination Under Common Control" and was accounted for using the
"Pooling of Interest" method (Note 3). When the pooling of interest method is applied, the financial statements have been adjusted as if the merger
had been realized at the beginning of the reporting period in which under common control occurred and they have been presented comparatively
since the beginning of the reporting period in which the under common control occurred. As a result of the merger, Akfen Consultancy, Akfen REPMC,
Akfen Tourism, Akinisi, Biz Mining, Akfen Merter, Tralelex and TAR companies were taken over and Tralevex and TAR are not included in the segment
reporting as they are financial investments.

() After the capital increases on January 12, 2021 and February 9, 2021, details of which are given in Note 2, the ownership rate of Akfen REIT decreased
from 56.88% to 30.37% and with the capital increase realized on August 20, 202, it decreased to 23.94%. Profit or loss items of Akfen REIT were con-
solidated are at the rate of 56.88%, which is the pre-capital increase ownership rate until January 31,2021, which is the closest accounting period to
the capital increase dates, at the rate of 30.37%, which is the the ownership rate after the capital increase dated January 12 and February 9, between
January 31, 2021 to September 30, 2021 and at the rate of 23.94% which is the ownership rate after the capital increase on August 20, 2021 between
September 30, 2021 to December 31, 2021.

I With the restructuring completed on July 8, 2021, Akfen Holding and Tepe Insaat transferred their shares in IDO to MDO and MDO became the 100%
owner of IDO. 50% of IDO's pre-transfer rate is indirectly included in the Group's consolidation.

() Other companies include Akfen Consultancy, Akfen REPMC, Akinisi, Biz Mining, Akfen Merter, Adana ipekyolu, Akfen Energy Gas, Akfen Wind
Energy and Akfen Solar Energy (subsidiaries).
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4. SEGMENT REPORTING (cont'd)

January 1-December 31, 2020 Investments accounted using the equity method
Akfen Consolidation Consoli-
Akfen Akfen Akfen  Akfen Ren. .MDO- Akfen adjustment and dated
Holding Cons. Tourism REIT® Energy IDO®™  Water  Acacia Other™" Total classification Total
Revenue 6,633 1,224,017 22,054 37,022 682,757 200,338 16,716 285425 26,820 2,501,782 (1,318,251) 1,183,531
Cost of sales - (1,077,283) (28,716)  (5166)  (279,429) (154144) (15734) (128,721) (12,099) (1,701,297) 663,881 (1,037,416)
Gross profit/(loss) 6,633 146,729 (6,662) 31,856 403,328 46,194 982 156,704 14,721 800,485  (654,370) 146,115
Selling and marketing expenses - (3,732 (992) (42) - 3,580 - (15,803) (185) (17174) 13194 (3,980)
General administrative
expenses (42,531) (33303) (1,613) (4914 (16,853)  (30,709)  (2,248)  (16,660) (8,758) (157,589) 77317  (80,272)
Other operating income 892 1,721,599 664 151,851 21,201 3,706 14 384 165,871 2,066,182 (331,941) 1,734,241
Other operating expenses (28,047) 4,611) - (556) (55,738)  (20,734) (12) - 41,119) (150,817) 99,953  (50,864)
Share of profit/(loss) from
investments accounted - - 22,053 - - 402 - - (22,054) 401 (466,390) (465,989)
using the equity method
Operating (loss)/profit (63,053) 1,826,682 13,450 178,195 351,938 2,439 (1,264) 124,625 108,476 2,541,488 (1,262,237) 1,279,251
Investment activity income 386,312 38 588 - - - - - 21,645 408,583 (195,373) 213,210
Investment activity expenses  (21,811) - - - - (71) - - (859) (22,741) 3,687 (19,054)
Finance income 341,506 814,962 252 2,220 2,542 16,122 5,872 18,622 55862 1,257,960 (74,248) 1,183,712
Finance expense (211,102) (2,640,141) (1,884) (300,374)  (600,596) (229,962)  (1,436) (115027) (5170) (4,105,692) 1,270,250 (2,835,442)
Profit/(loss) before tax from
continuing operations 431,852 1,541 12,406 (119,959) (246,116) (211,472) 3172 28,220 179,954 79,598  (257,921) (178,323)
Tax (expense)/income
for the period (45,767) 269,459 1932 (16,723) 45,858 - (1,078)  (23,839) (28,010 201,782 24,011 225793

Profit/(loss) after tax from
continuing operations 386,085 271,000 14,338 (136,682) (200,258) (211,472) 2,094 4,331 151,944 281,380  (233,910) 47,470

Profit/(loss) for the period from

parent company shares 386,085 268747  (7715) (136,754)  (198,647) (211,471) 2,094 4,331 173,965 280,635  (236,270) 44,365
Depreciation and amortization
expenses 1,605 6952 2,062 28 136,219 39,398 322 57,596 483 244,665  (233,965) 10,700

Tangible and intangible fixed
asset, investment property and

other investments 1,472 776,462 3,642 1,201 128,081 15,714 338 59,889 91,345 1,078,144 (197,093) 881,051
December 31, 2020

Segment assets 10,134,357 10,249,082 29,203 1,651,777 5,640,330 1,138,832 30,199 873,070 551,364 30,298,214 (12,307,182) 17,991,032
Segment liabilities 4,165,878 7365176 29,028 1,243,402 3,790,228 2,027,888 7014 661153 92,712 19,382,479 (8,035363) 11,347,116

¢ Due to the capital increase realized on February 17,2020 and the details of which are given in Note 2, the ownership rate of Akfen
Renewable increased from 66.13% to 66.91%. Profit or loss items of Akfen Renewable were consolidated at the rate of 66.13%,
which was the pre-capital increase ownership rate, until 31 March 2020, the accounting period closest to the capital increase date.

) As of October 14, 2020, Akfen Holding's share became 50% dafter the share transfers made within the scope of the restructuring

of the project finance completed by IDO as of the reporting date. Profit or loss items of IDO were consolidated at the rate of 30%
before the share increase until September 30, 2020, which is the accounting period closest to the share increase date, and at the rate
of 50%, which is the new ownership rate after September 30, 2020.

(") Other companies include Akfen Energy Generation, Akfen Consultancy, Akfen REPMC, Akinisi, Biz Mining, Akfen Merter, Adana
Ipekyolu, Akfen Energy Gas, Akfen Wind Energy, Akfen Solar Energy (subsidiaries), IBS Insurance (associates).

Due to the share sale that took place on March 10, 2020 and the details of which are given in Note 2, the ownership rate of IBS Insu-
rance decreased from 37% to 20%. Profit or loss items of IBS Insurance were consolidated at the rate of 37%, which is the pre-sales
ownership rate until March 31, 2020, which is the accounting period closest to the share sale date, and 20% with the post-sale owner-
ship rate from March 31, 2020 until December 31, 2020.
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5. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at and For the Year ended December 31, 2021

As of December 31,2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020 cash and cash equivalents are as follows:

(Convenience translation of the independent auditors’report and consolidated financial statements originally issued in Turkish)

Dec. 31, 2021 Dec. 31, 2020 Jan. 1, 2020

Restated Restated

Cash on hand 1,494 992 804
Banks 780,347 908,881 1,118,342
- Demand deposits 51,630 47078 157,158

- Time deposits 728,717 861,803 961,184
Other cash and cash equivalents® 1,198,105 717,019 966,221
Impairment (22) (13) 9)
Cash and cash equivalents 1,979,924 1,626,879 2,085,358
Restricted bank balance (-) (3,181) (6,606) (82,884)
Impairment 22 13 9
Cash and cash equivalents in the cash flow statement 1,976,765 1,620,286 2,002,483

0 As of December 31,2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020 all of the other cash and cash equivalents consist of Group's overnight repos, fixed

investment funds whose duration is less than 3 months and government and private sector bonds.

As of December 31,2021, TRY 3,172 of the bank's restricted bank balance has been blocked for loan payments, and the
blockage disappears when credit payments are made (December 31,2020: TRY 5,354, January 1, 2020: TRY 82,191). The
remaining amount, TRY 9, is blocked for insurance payments and the blockage is removed when insurance payments are

made (December 31,2020: TRY 1,252, January 1,2020: TRY 693).

Demand deposits

As of December 31,2021,2020 and January 1,2020 TRY equivalent of demand deposits in currency terms is as follows:

Dec. 31, 2021 Dec. 31, 2020 Jan. 1, 2020

Restated Restated

US Dollar 42,390 27,028 4,967

EUR 6,717 15,388 143,136

TRY 2,322 4,542 9,047

Other 201 120 8

Total 51,630 47,078 157,158
Time deposits

As of December 31,2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020 the TRY equivalent of time deposits in currency terms is as follows:

Interest Dec. 31, Interest  Dec. 31, Interest Jan.1,
Maturity rate(%) 2021 Maturity rate (%) 2020 Maturity rate(%) 2020

Restated Restated
US Dollar Jan.2022 0.01-0.2 467.865 Jan.2021 0.01-0.65 647.012 Jan.2020  0.17-195 587,541
EUR Jan.2022 0.01-0.25 243.378 Jan.2021 0.01-0.75 188.316 Jan.2020  0.01-1.00 176,242
TRY Jan.2022  4.75-20 17.474 Jan.2021 5.00-16.00 26.475 Jan.2020 3.00-12.05 197401
Total 728.717 861.803 961,184
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Other cash and cash equivalents

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at and For the Year ended December 31, 2021
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(Convenience translation of the independent auditors’report and consolidated financial statements originally issued in Turkish)

As of December 31, 2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020 the distribution of cash and cash equivalents of the Group in foreign

currency and Turkish lira is as follows:

December 31, December 31, January 1,

2021 2020 2020

Restated Restated

US Dollar 1,189,573 716,857 899,330
TRY 8,532 162 66,891
Total 1,198,105 717,019 966,221

The currency and interest rate risks and sensitivity analyses pertaining to the financial assets and liabilities of the Group

are provided in Note 34.

6. FINANCIAL BORROWINGS

The details for financial borrowings as of December 31,2021,2020 and January 1, 2020 are as follows:

December 31, December 31, January 1,

2021 2020 2020

Restated Restated

Short-term financial borrowings 2,162,020 3,172,485 1,205,944
Short-term secured bank loans 352,068 333,958 113,722
Current portion of long-term secured bank loans 1,633,364 2,583,242 703,736
Current portion of long-term bonds 155,398 228,182 384,243
Current portion of long-term financial lease borrowings 16,871 22,653 -
Current portion of long-term lease liabilities 4,319 4,450 4,243
Long-term financial liabilities 11,536,810 5,777,097 5,832,694
Long-term secured bank loans 11,527,812 5,612,533 5,646,335
Bonds issued - 134,966 174,108
Long-term financial lease borrowings - 15,486 -
Long-term lease liabilities 8,998 14,112 12,251
Total 13,698,830 8,949,582 7,038,638
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6. FINANCIAL BORROWINGS (cont'd)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at and For the Year ended December 31, 2021
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The details for financial borrowings as of December 31,2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020 are as follows:

(Convenience translation of the independent auditors’report and consolidated financial statements originally issued in Turkish)

Nominal Nominal Book

December 31, 2021 Currency interest rate % Maturity value value
Collateralized bank loan ™ TRY 7.50-31 2022-2023 458,987 466,780
Collateralized bank loan @ TRY 10.00 2022-2023 1,800 1,878
Financial lease borrowings TRY 10.70 2022 16,541 16,871
Collateralized project bank loan @ Euro 3M Euribor +5.50 2035 2,537,771 2,552,671
Collateralized project bank loan @ Euro 3M Euribor +4.75 2034 2,135,828 2,128,036
Collateralized project bank loan @ Euro 3M Euribor+6.10 2034 2,135,828 2,130,200
Collateralized project bank loan @ Euro 3M Euribor+5.05 2029 1,161,374 1,175,215
Collateralized project bank loan @ Euro 3M Euribor +6.00 2029 153,790 155,967
Collateralized bank loan @ Euro Euribor +6.55 2022 218,396 218,851
Collateralized bank loan @ Euro 0.7 2022 87,661 87,775
Collateralized project bank loan ™ US Dollar 3M Libor +5.15 2029 1,137,017 1,151,170
Collateralized project bank loan ™ US Dollar 6M Libor+4.90 2027 216,175 216,390
Collateralized project bank loan ™ US Dollar 3M Libor +6.20 2029 149,951 152,188
Collateralized bank loan @ US Dollar 1.33 2026 534,120 535,580
Collateralized bank loan @ US Dollar 1.40 2026 934,710 935,218
Collateralized bank loan® US Dollar 1.36 2025 1,602,360 1,605,325
Bond @ TRY TRYREF Index + 2 2022 150,000 155,398
13,632,309 13,685,513

Nominal Nominal Book

December 31, 2020 Currency interest rate % Maturity value value
Restated Restated

Collateralized bank loan ™ TRY 10.69-18.50 2020-2023 450,699 454,926
Financial lease borrowings® TRY 10.70 2021-2022 37,373 38,139
Collateralized bank loan(2) TRY 10.00 2022-2023 3,000 2,437
Collateralized project bank loan® Euro 3M Euribor +5.50 2035 1,612,938 1,623,195
Collateralized project bank loan® Euro 3M Euribor +4.75 2034 1,363,504 1,357,620
Collateralized project bank loan® Euro 3M Euribor+6.10 2034 1,363,504 1,359,038
Collateralized project bank loan® Euro 3M Euribor+5.05 2029 754,021 763,008
Collateralized project bank loan® Euro 3M Euribor +6.00 2029 100,139 101,557
Collateralized bank loan® Euro Euribor +6.55 2022 130,164 130,411
Collateralized bank loan® Euro Euribor +0.60 2021 40,536 40,568
Collateralized bank loan® Euro 0.7 2022 52,246 52,313
Collateralized project bank loan™  US Dollar 3M Libor +5.15 2029 682,283 694,729
Collateralized project bank loan™  US Dollar 6M Libor+4.90 2027 133,740 133,797
Collateralized project bank loan™  US Dollar 3M Libor +6.20 2029 90,264 92,134
Collateralized bank loan® US Dollar 3.55 2021 513,835 514,894
Collateralized bank loan® US Dollar 3.47 2021 367,025 369,816
Collateralized bank loan® US Dollar 1Y Libor + 0.6 2021 400,057 396,832
Collateralized bank loan® US Dollar 3.47 2021 440,430 442,458
Bond® TL TRYREF Index + 2 2022 150,000 154,120
Bond® TL 3M TRYLIBOR+2.50 2021 200,000 209,028
8,885,758 8,931,020
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6. FINANCIAL BORROWINGS (cont'd)

Nominal Nominal Book

January 1, 2020 Currency interest rate % Maturity value value
Restated Restated

Collateralized bank loan ™ TRY 11.40-18.50 2020-2021 317,595 318,622
Collateralized project bank loan @ Euro 3M Euribor +4.75 2034 1,094,398 1,089,163
Collateralized project bank loan @ Euro 3M Euribor+6.10 2034 1,094,398 1,090,420
Collateralized project bank loan @ Euro 3M Euribor+5.75 2035 909,470 911,511
Collateralized project bank loan @ Euro 3M Euribor +5.05 2029 598,340 604,291
Collateralized project bank loan @ Euro 3M Euribor +6.00 2029 82,326 83,298
Collateralized bank loan @ Euro Euribor+6.55 2022 96,101 96,302
Collateralized bank loan @ Euro 0.7 2022 38,573 38,624
Collateralized bank loan @ Euro Euribor+0.60 2021 29,928 29,952
Collateralized project bank loan ™ US Dollar 3M Libor+5.15 2029 593,106 602,130
Collateralized project bank loan ™ US Dollar 6M Libor+4.90 2027 119,204 119,316
Collateralized project bank loan ™ US Dollar 3M Libor+6.20 2029 81,319 82,724
Collateralized bank loan @ US Dollar 3.55 2021 415,814 416,671
Collateralized bank loan @ US Dollar 3.47 2021 356,412 358,058
Collateralized bank loan @ US Dollar 1Y Libor + 0.6 2021 323,741 323,386
Collateralized bank loan @ US Dollar 3.47 2021 297,010 299,325
Bond ® TRY 3M TRYLIBOR+2.50 2021 200,000 203,551
Bond® TRY DIBS(**) +4.50 2020 252,570 262,881
Bond TRY DIBS(**) +4.50 2020 92,013 91,919
6,992,318 7,022,144

M Akfen Construction loans.

@ Akfen Tourism loans.

6 Akfen Holding loans.

@ It shows the debt arising from the issuance of a floating rate bond with a maturity of 2 years and a quarterly coupon payment
amounting to TRY 150,000 on February 7, 2020.

6 It shows the debt arising from the issuance of a floating rate bond with a maturity of 2 years and a quarterly coupon payment
amounting to TRY 200,000 on November 20, 2019.

© |t shows the debt arising from the issuance of a floating rate bond with a maturity of 3 years and a quarterly coupon payment
amounting to TRY 300,000 on January 9, 2017.

71t shows the debt arising from the issuance of floating rate bond with a maturity of 3 years and a quarterly coupon payment amoun-
ting to TRY 150,360 on March 23, 2017.

Secured project bank loans are secured by the following instruments:

e Transfer and assignment of receivables,
e Pledge of accounts

* Mortgage of rights of construction,

e Share pledge,

Collateralized bank loans are secured by the main Shareholder and other Group Companies.
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6. FINANCIAL BORROWINGS (cont'd)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at and For the Year ended December 31, 2021

(Convenience translation of the independent auditors’report and consolidated financial statements originally issued in Turkish)

As of December 31,2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020 the breakdown of short- and long-term financial borrowings according

to their maturities is as follows:

December 31, December 31, January 1,

2021 2020 2020

Restated Restated
Within 1 year 2,157,701 3,168,035 1,201,701
Between 1 -2 years 1,178,517 1,004,992 2,034,041
Between 2 - 3 years 1,125,810 644,648 572,691
Between 3 - 4 years 2,574,530 612,205 435,207
Over 5 years 6,648,955 3,501,140 2,778,504
Total 13,685,513 8,931,020 7,022,144

The movements in financial borrowings for the years ended December 31,2021 ve 2020 are as follows:

2021 2020
Restated
Opening balance - previously reported 2,310,447 2,120,670
Merger effects (Note 3) 6,620,573 4,901,474
Financial liabilities at the beginning of the year 8,931,020 7,022,144
Proceeds from borrowings 3,046,489 1,261,877
Repayments of borrowings (3,853,608) (1,241,295)
Interest paid (643,654) (498,878)
Accrual 650,474 514,010
Foreign exchange difference 5,554,792 1,873,162
Financial liabilities at the year end 13,685,513 8,931,020

Operation lease liabilities

The Group has started to apply TFRS 16 as of January 1, 2019 and since the fair value of investment properties develo-
ped on the Group's leased land has been deducted from the estimated cash flows, the discounted values of the lease

amounts to be paid related to the lands are classified under operational lease liabilities.

The details of operating lease liabilities are as follows:

December December January

31, 2021 31,2020 1,2020

Restated Restated

Less than 1 year 4,319 4,450 4,243
1-5years 7,863 13,029 12,248
5 years and over 36,554 60,297 63,834
Less: Financial expense for future periods (35,419) (59,214) (63,831)
Total operational lease liabilities 13,317 18,562 16,494
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6. FINANCIAL BORROWINGS (cont'd)

Operation lease liabilities (cont'd)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at and For the Year ended December 31, 2021

(Convenience translation of the independent auditors’report and consolidated financial statements originally issued in Turkish)

The movements of the lease liabilities in the period of December 31,2021 and 2020 are as follows:

2021 2020

Restated

Opening balance - previously reported - -
Merger effects (Note 3) 18,562 16,494
January 1 18,562 16,494
Finance expense 1,670 2,887
Addition - 244
Payments - (1,063)
Subsidiary sales impact (Note 3) (6,915) -
December 31 13,317 18,562

7. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES

The short-term trade receivables of the Group as of December 31, 2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020 are as follows:

Dec. 31, 2021

Dec. 31, 2020 Jan. 11,2020

Restated Restated
Trade receivables due from related parties (Note 32) 19,996 21,521 24,775
Trade receivables due from third parties82,747 53,479 49,123
- Receivables from the Ministry of Health (*) 75,176 39,669 34,737
- Notes receivables 97 1,098 9,233
- Other trade receivables 7,474 12,712 5,153
Total 102,743 75,000 73,898

The long-term trade receivables of the Group as of December 31,2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020 are as follows:

Dec. 31, 2021

Dec. 31, 2020 Jan. 1, 2020

Restated Restated
Trade receivables from third parties 9,061 12,264 14,673
- Notes receivables (**) 9,061 12,264 14,673
Total 9,061 12,264 14,673

131 As of December 31, 2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020 trade receivables from the Ministry of Health consist of the trade receivables

from the agreements signed with the Ministry of Health.

) As of December 31, 2021 notes receivable consists of notes receivable from Incek-Loft. (December 31, 2020 and January 1, 2020: In-

cek-Loft and Bulvar-Loft)

The short-term trade payables of the Group as of December 31,2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020 are as follows:

Dec. 31, 2021

Dec. 31, 2020 Jan. 1, 2020

Restated Restated
Trade payables due to related parties (Note 32) 9,230 895,171 1,132,906
Trade payables due to third parties 141,272 192,475 127,894
- Trade payables 141,268 183,940 116,001
- Expense accruals 4 8,535 11,893
Total 150,502 1,087,646 1,260,800




175

(Convenience translation of the independent auditors’report and consolidated financial statements originally issued in Turkish)
Akfen Holding Anonim Sirketi

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at and For the Year ended December 31, 2021

(Allamounts are in thousand Turkish Liras ("TRY") unless otherwise specified.)

8. OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES

The short-term other receivables of the Group as of December 31, 2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020 are as follows:

Dec. 31, 2021 Dec. 31, 2020 Jan. 1, 2020
Restated Restated

Other receivables due from related parties 9 173 105
Other receivables due from third parties 85,038 58,175 91,045
- Receivables from tax office 84,188 56,776 90,506

- Deposits and guarantees given 157 156 214

- Other receivables 693 1,243 325
Total 85,047 58,348 91,150

The long-term other receivables of the Group as of December 31, 2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020 are as follows:

Dec. 31, 2021 Dec. 31, 2020 Jan. 1, 2020

Restated Restated
Other receivables from related parties (Note 32) 835,155 742,603 525,869
Other receivables from third parties 12,356 9,834 8,642
- Deposits and guarantees given 542 250 225
- Other long-term receivables 11,814 9,584 8,417
Total 847,511 752,437 534,511

The short-term other payables of the Group as of December 31, 2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020 are as follows:

Dec. 31, 2021 Dec. 31,2020 Jan. 1, 2020
Restated Restated

Other payables to related parties (Note 32) 40,495 11,948 10,117
Other payables to third parties 32,590 36,110 47148
- Deposit and guarantees received 21,969 23,682 40,790

- Taxes and funds payable 10,275 12,235 5919

- Other payables 346 193 439
Total 73,085 48,058 57,265

The long-term other payables of the Group as of December 31, 2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020 are as follows:

Dec. 31, 2021 Dec. 31, 2020 Jan. 1, 2020

Restated Restated
Other payables to related parties (Note 32) 1,387,002 554,885 429,636
Other payables to third parties 8,769 8,769 9,375
- Deposit and guarantees received 11 11 14
- Other payables 8,758 8,758 9,361

Total 1,395,771 563,654 439,011
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9. PREPAID EXPENSES /ASSETS ARISING FROM CUSTOMER CONTRACTS

As of December 31, 2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020 short-term prepaid expenses are stated as follows:

(Convenience translation of the independent auditors’report and consolidated financial statements originally issued in Turkish)

Dec. 31, 2021 Dec. 31, 2020 Jan. 1, 2020
Restated Restated
Advance given 25,838 17172 152,718
Prepaid expenses 11,928 10,020 4,902
Other 407 448 549
Total 38,173 27,640 158,169
1t consists of the advances given for construction works as of December 31, 2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020..
Long-term prepaid expenses as of December 31,2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020 are as follows:
Dec. 31, 2021 Dec. 31, 2020 Jan. 1, 2020
Restated Restated
Advances given 6,197 3,355 -
Total 6,197 3,355 -

Long-term assets arising from customer contracts as of December 31,2021, 2020 and January 1,2020 are as follows:

Long-term assets arising from customer contracts/Contract Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Jan.1,

assets arising from sales of goods and services 2021 2020 2020
Restated Restated

Assets arising from customer contracts/

Contract assets arising from sales of goods and services 41,760 25,726 14,339

Total 41,760 25,726 14,339

O The Group has evaluated the service contract submitted to the Ministry of Health within the scope of TFRS 15 and financial state-
ments. As of December 31, 2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020, the balances consist of the advance payments made for the extraordinary

maintenance and repair service expenses to be provided to the Ministry of Health.
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10. FINANCIAL ASSETS RELATED TO CONCESSION AGREEMENTS/CONTRACTUAL ASSETS
ARISING FROM ONGOING CONSTRUCTION AND COMMITMENTS
Dec. 31, 2021 Dec. 31, 2020 Jan. 1, 2020
Restated Restated
Isparta City Hospital
Short-term financial assets related to concession agreements 398,834 254,774 164,468
Long-term financial assets related to concession agreements 3,158,983 1,761,087 1,612,850
3,557,817 2,015,861 1,777,318
Eskisehir City Hospital
Short-term financial assets related to concession agreements 621,114 407937 258,383
Long-term financial assets related to concession agreements 5,447,920 3,257,162 2,748,276
6,069,034 3,665,099 3,006,659
Tekirdag City Hospital
Short-term financial assets related to concession agreements 348,390 199,267 -
Contract assets arising from ongoing construction and commitments - - 76,912
Short-term financial assets related to concession agreements 2,470,068 1,495,343 -
Contract assets arising from ongoing construction and commitments - - 706,831
2,818,458 1,694,610 783,743
Total City Hospital
Short-term financial assets related to concession agreements 1,368,338 861,978 422,851
Contract assets arising from ongoing
construction and commitments - - 76,912
Long-term financial assets related to
concession agreements 11,076,971 6,513,592 4,361,126
Contract assets arising from ongoing construction
and commitments - - 706,831
Total 12,445,309 7,375,570 5,567,720
(*) The purchase of service concession contracts includes the right to charge fees for the use of the concession infrastructure arising
from the City Hospital contract for the construction of City Hospitals models signed with the Ministry of Health, The estimated amor-
tization period of a financial asset in concession agreements is the period during which the Group can allocate to the public to use the
infrastructure until the end of the concession period.
Isparta City Hospital, Eskisehir City Hospital and Tekirdag City Hospital started their activities and collections related to
the operation of the hospitals as of March 31,2017, October 27, 2018 and November 30, 2020, respectively.
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, financial asset movements are as follows:
2021 2020
Restated
Opening balance - previously reported - -
Merger effects (Note 3) 7.375,570 5,567,720
January 1 7,375,570 5,567,720
Increase in value arising from the calculation of fair value of Service
Concession Agreements (Note 28) 6,080,328 1,464,390
IFRIC 12 interest income (Note 29) - 162,322
Additions to contract assets arising from ongoing construction and contracts (Note 25) - 739,225
Collections (1,010,589) (558,087)

December 31 12,445,309 7,375,570
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11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
As of December 31,2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020 t investment properties are as follows:
Dec. 31, 2021 Dec. 31, 2020 Jan. 1, 2020
Restated Restated
Investment properties 1,303,814 1,129,189 869,187
Land leases - 3,839 6,009
1,303,814 1,133,028 875,196
As of December 31,2021 pledge on property, plant and equipment and investment property is TRY 2,177,690 (December
31,2020: TRY 1,335,940 TL, January 1,2020: 1,101,927).
As of December 31,2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020 the types of investment properties are as follows:
Dec. 31, 2021 Dec. 31, 2020 Jan. 1, 2020
Restated Restated
Land 655,516 516,747 344,865
Building 640,343 607,571 520,128
Hotel 7,955 4,871 4,194
Land leases - 3,839 6,009
1,303,814 1,133,028 875,196
For the years ended at December 31,2021 and 2020, the movement table of investment properties is as follows:
2021 2020
Restated
Opening balance - previously reported 58,000 -
Merger effects (Note 3) 1,075,028 875,196
January 1 1,133,028 875,196
Transfer to tangible fixed assets (Note 14) (*)- (158,065)
Transfer from tangible fixed assets (Note 14) (**) 649 46,262
Additions - 91,258
Transfer from inventories (Note 16) 20,327 21,919
Fair value increase (Note 28) 451,342 258,876
Disposals (16,079) -
Transfer to right of use assets-Land leases (Note 13) - (2,418)
Subsidiary sales impact-Land leases (Note 3) (3,839) -
Subsidiary sales impact (Note 3) (281,614) -
December 31 1,303,814 1,133,028

() The Group management has decided that the Bodrum Loft project, which is planned to be leased to a third-party company that is not
included in the scope of consolidation as of January1, 2020, will be operated by Akfen Tourismwith the contract signed in June 2020. For
this reason, the value of the project, which was accounted for as investment property as of January 1, 2020, was reclassified to tangible
assets as of December 31, 2020.

("' The generation license of the Mersin Natural Gas Combined Cycle Power Plant project owned by the Group was terminated with the
Board decision of EMRA dated December 30, 2020, numbered 9943-9, after the positive evaluation of the application made to EMRA.
With the revocation of the license, the land amount recognized under the investments in progress under tangible fixed assets was
classified into investment properties and accounted with its fair value as of December 31, 2020.
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11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (cont’d)

Land leases

The Group classifies its rights on land leased to develop investment properties as investment property. In such a case,
the right to the relevant land is accounted for as it was in the lease, and in addition, the fair value method is used for the
land in question. Since the fair value determinations of the investment properties of the Group developed on the leased
lands are made by deducting the rental prices to be paid for these lands from the estimated cash flows, the reduced va-
lues of the rental prices to be paid related to the relevant lands are accounted in the investment property account. As of
January 1, 2020, amounting to TRY 3,591 of the relevant figure is related with Akfen Construction and the remaining TRY
2,418 is related with Masanda Tourism. With the Group management's decision to operate the Bodrum Loft project by
Akfen Tourism with the contract signed in June 2020, the related balance is TRY 3,839 as of December 31,2020, due to the
transfer of the mentioned project, which is accounted for as investment property, to right-of-use assets. As of February 9,
2021, the sales transactions of the shares of Masanda Tourism ("Bodrum Loft") and Isparta Dormitory (Kiitahya and Isparta
dormitories) to Akfen REIT have been completed and there is no land rent due to the sale of the mentioned company and
have been started to be accounted for under investments accounted using the equity method in the consolidated financial
statements as of December 31, 2021.

As of December 31,2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020 the fair value classifications of investment properties are as follows:

December 31, 2021 Fair value level
1. Level 2.Level 3. Level
TRY TRY TRY
Investment properties - Hotel - - 7,955
Investment properties - Building - - 640,343
Investment properties - Land - 655,516 -
Restated
December 31, 2020 Fair value level
1. Level 2. Level 3. Level
TRY TRY TRY
Investment properties - Hotel - - 4,871
Investment properties - Building - - 607,571
Investment properties - Land - 516,747 -
Investment properties - Land leases - - 3,839
Restated
January 1, 2020 Fair value level
1. Level 2. Level 3. Level
TRY TRY TRY
Investment properties - Hotel - - 4,194
Investment properties - Building - - 520,128
Investment properties - Land - 344,865

Investment properties - Land leases - - 6,009
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12. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

Derivative instruments consist of interest rate swap transactions.

As of December 31,2021, 2020 and January 1,2020 liabilities from derivative instruments are as follows:

(Convenience translation of the independent auditors’report and consolidated financial statements originally issued in Turkish)

Dec. 31, 2021 Dec. 31, 2020 Jan. 1, 2020
Restated Restated
Liabilities from derivative instruments (280,559) (266,190) (141,290)
Total (280,559) (266,190) (141,290)
December 31, 2021
Currency Original contract value Liability
TureDerivative liabilities US Dollar 104,371,438 (8,688)
Derivative liabilities Euro 295,936,694 (271,871)
Total (280,559)
Restated
December 31, 2020
Currency Original contract value Liability
Derivative liabilities US Dollar 118,778,271 (23,619)
Derivative liabilities Euro 313,923,438 (242,571)
Total (266,190)
Restated
January 1, 2020
Currency Original contract value Liability
Derivative liabilities US Dollar 120,460,647 (11,872)
Derivative liabilities Euro 272,502,883 (129,418)
Total (141,290)
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13. RIGHT OF USE ASSETS

Within the scope of the first application of TFRS 16 “Leases”, it has been accounted as leasing obligation in the individual
financial statements related to leasing commitments classified as “operating leases" in accordance with TAS 17“Leasing
Transactions” before 1January 2019. This lease liability is measured at the present value of the unrealized lease pay-
ments as of the transition date, discounted using the alternative borrowing interest rate at the date of initial application.
Right-of-use assets are accounted for at an amount equal to the lease liabilities under the simplified transition applicati-
on of therelevant standard.

As of December 31,2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020 right of use assets are as follows:

Dec. 31, 2021 Dec. 31, 2020 Jan. 1, 2020

Restated Restated

Right of use assets 7,792 10,486 8,391
Total 7,792 10,486 8,391

) As of December 31, 2021, these are right-of-use assets recognized in relation to the leases of the lands leased by Akfen Merter
and on which the project is under development/construction. (December 31, 2020 and January 1, 2020: Akfen Merter and Masanda
Tourism). The contract of the relevant project was terminated unilaterally by the Regional Directorate of Foundations. Due to the
unilateral termination of the contract, the compensation lawsuit filed for the compensation of possible losses that the Group may
incur is continuing.

As of December 31,2021 ve 2020 the movement table of right of use assets is as follows:

2021 2020

Restated

Opening balance - previously reported - -
Merger effects (Note 3) 10,486 8,391
January 1 10,486 8,391
Transfer from investment properties (Note 11) - 2,418
Subsidiary sales impact (Note 3) (2,394) -
Amortization expense (300) (323)
Year end 7,792 10,486

) Group management decided to operate the Bodrum Loft project, which is planned to be leased to a third party company that is not
included in the scope of consolidation as of January 1, 2020, by Akfen Tourism with the agreement signed in June 2020. For this reason,
the value of the project in question, which was recognized as investment property as of January 1, 2020, was reclassified to tangible
fixed assets as of December 31, 2020. For this reason, the land rents for the project in question, which were accounted for under invest-
ment property as of January 1, 2020, were reclassified to right usage assets as of December 31, 2020.
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Land and  Machinery

Furnitures

Ongoing

Special

Cost buildings & equipment Vehicles & fixtures investments  costs Other Total
January 1, 2021 opening balance -

previously reported 862 166 3,592 4,154 - 969 - 9743
Merger effect adjustments (Note 3) 304,681 12,423 3,331 23,526 18,040 21,1779 62 383,242
Balance as of January 1, 2021 305,543 12,589 6,923 27,680 18,040 22,148 62 392,985
Additions - 747 12,587 8,998 792 11126 524 34,774
Disposals - (811) (862) - - - - (1,673)
Subsidiary sales impact (Note 3) (287,843) - - (30) - - - (287,873)
Transfer to investment properties (649) - - - - - - (649)
Balance as of December 31, 2021 17,051 12,525 18,648 36,648 18,832 33,274 586 137,564
Accumulated depreciation

January 1, 2021 opening balance -

previously reported 64 166 870 3,236 - 728 - 5,064
Merger effect adjustments (Note 3) 3,723 8,680 2,755 11,028 - 3650 62 29,898
Balance as of January 1, 2021 3,787 8,846 3,625 14,264 - 4378 62 34,962
Current period depreciation 845 889 2,440 5,335 - 4070 114 13,693
Disposals - (677) (598) - - - - (1,275)
Subsidiary sales impact (Note 3) (279) - - (29) - - - (308)
Balance as of December 31, 2021 4,353 9,058 5,467 19,570 - 8448 176 47,072
Net book value as of Jan. 1, 2021 -

previously reported 798 - 2,722 918 - 241 - 4,679
Merger effect adjustments (Note 3) 300,958 3,743 576 12,498 18,040 17,529 - 353,344
Balance as of January 2021 -

Restated 301,756 3,743 3,298 13,416 18,040 17,770 - 358,023
Net book value as of

December 31, 2021 12,698 3,467 13,181 17,078 18,832 24,826 410 90,492
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14. TANGIBLE ASSETS (cont'd)

The movements of tangible assets as of December 31are as follows:
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Landand  Machinery Furnitures Ongoing Special
Cost buildings & equipment Vehicles & fixtures investments  costs Other Total
January 1, 2020 opening balance -
previously reported 862 166 3,592 3,536 63,860 831 - 72,847
Merger effect adjustments (Note 3) 16,839 9,978 3,303 11,728 17,703 7,359 62 66,972
Balance as of January 1, 2020 17,701 10,144 6,895 15,264 81,563 8190 62 139,819
Additions - 2,907 28 12,416 836 13,958 - 30,145
Transfer from investment
properties (Note 11) ™ 158,065 - - - - - - 158,065
Transfer to investment
properties (Note 11) - - - - (46,262) - - (46,262)
Disposals (7,584) (462) - - - - - (8,046)
Value increase/(decrease)
(Note 24) (Note 28) 137,361 - - - (18,097) - - 119,264
Balance as of December 31,2020 305,543 12,589 6,923 27,680 18,040 22,148 62 392,985
Accumulated depreciation
January 1, 2020 opening balance -
previously reported 57 166 9 2,880 - 685 - 3,797
Merger effect adjustments (Note 3) 3,185 8,363 2,546 10,051 - 1,458 62 25,665
Balance as of January 1, 2020 3,242 8,529 2,555 12,931 - 2143 62 29,462
Current period depreciation 545 778 1,070 1,353 - 2,235 - 5,981
Disposals - 461) - (20) - - - 481)
Balance as of December 31, 2020 3,787 8,846 3,625 14,264 - 4,378 62 34,962
January 1, 2020 net book value -
previously reported 805 - 3,583 656 63,860 146 - 69,050
Merger effect adjustments (Note 3) 13,654 1,615 757 1,677 17,703 5,901 - 41,307
Balance as of January 1, 2020 -
Restated 14,459 1,615 4,340 2,333 81,563 6,047 - 110,357
Net book value as of
December 31, 2020 301,756 3,743 3,298 13,416 18,040 17,770 - 358,023

) The Group management decided to operate the Bodrum Loft project, which is planned to be leased to a third-party company that is
not included in the scope of consolidation as of January 1, 2020, by Akfen Tourism with a contract signed in June 2020. Therefore, the
value of the project in question, which was recognized as investment property as of January 1, 2020, was reclassified to tangible fixed

assets as of December 31, 2020.

As of December 31, 2021, mortgages and pledges on property, plant and equipment and investment properties amounting
to TRY 2,177,690 (December 31,2020: TRY 1,335,940, January1,2020: TRY 1,101,927).
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15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The movements of intangible assets as of December 31, are as follows:
Cost Rights Other Total
January 1, 2020 opening balance - previously reported 5,733 1,878 7,611
Merger effect adjustments (Note 3) 127,017 1,280 128,297
Balance as of January 1, 2020 132,750 3,158 135,908
Additions 1,451 10,986 12,437
Impairment (Note 28) (103) - (103)
Balance as of December 31, 2020 134,098 14,144 148,242
January 1, 2021 opening balance - previously reported 6,222 2,002 8,224
Merger effect adjustments (Note 3) 127,876 12,142 140,018
Balance as of January 1, 2021 134,098 14,144 148,242
Additions 795 19 814
Balance as of December 31, 2021 134,893 14,163 149,056
Accumulated amortization Rights Other Total
January 1, 2020 opening balance - previously reported 5,149 1,878 7,027
Merger effect adjustments (Note 3) 30,205 741 30,946
Balance as of January 1, 2020 35,354 2,619 37,973
Current period amortization 4,065 331 4,396
Balance as of December 31, 2020 39,419 2,950 42,369
January 1, 2021 opening balance - previously reported 5,448 1,930 7,378
Merger effect adjustments (Note 3) 33,971 1,020 34,991
Balance as of January 1, 2021 39,419 2,950 42,369
Current period amortization 1,991 3,305 5,296
Balance as of December 31, 2021 41,410 6,255 47,665
Net book value
January 1, 2020 net book value - previously reported 584 - 584
Merger effect adjustments (Note 3) 96,812 539 97,351
Balance as of January 1, 2020 - Restated 97,396 539 97,935
Net book value as of December 31, 2020 94,679 11,194 105,873
January 1, 2021 net book value - previously reported 774 72 846
Merger effect adjustments (Note 3) 93,905 11,122 105,027
Balance as of January 1, 2021 - Restated 94,679 11,194 105,873
Net book value as of December 31, 2021 93,483 7,908 101,391

1 As of December 31,2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020 majority of the intangible assets consist of the right of construction of the projects

of Akfen Merter and Hacettepe.
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16. INVENTORIES

As of December 31,2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020 inventories are as follows:

Dec. 31, 2021 Dec. 31, 2020 Jan. 1, 2020

Restated Restated

Finished goods 9,911 41,987 70,537
Food and beverage stocks 5,078 1,218 491
Total 14,989 43,205 71,028

As of December 31, 2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020 the finished goods consist of the existing apartments for sale in Incek
and Golbasi related to the housing project.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020 the movement of inventories is as follows:

2021 2020

Restated

Opening balance - previously reported - -
Merger effects (Note 3) 43,205 71,028
January 1 43,205 71,028
Additions 6,032 8,238
Disposals (13,921) (14,142)
Transfers to investment properties (Note 11) (20,327) (21,919)

December 31 14,989 43,205
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17. DEFERRED REVENUES / OBLIGATIONS ARISING FROM CUSTOMER CONTRACTS

As of December 31,2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020 short-term deferred revenue is as follows:

(Convenience translation of the independent auditors’report and consolidated financial statements originally issued in Turkish)

Dec. 31, 2021 Dec. 31, 2020 Jan. 1, 2020

Restated Restated

Hotel lease revenues®™ 15,592 8,654 -
Advances received 911 934 5,869
Other 56 998 1,075
Total 16,559 10,586 6,944

) Bodrum Loft Hotel started operations as of July 1, 2020 and the Group started to earn accommodation income. The mentioned inco-
me consists of rent collected in advance for the months after the reporting period as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 (January 1, 2020:

None).

(**) As of December 31, 2021 the majority of the advances received are related to the Incek Loft and Bodrum Loft projects (December 31,

2020: Incek Loft and Bodrum Loft, January 1, 2020: Incek Loft, Bulvar Loft and Bodrum Loft).

As of December 31,2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020 long-term obligations arising from customer contracts are as follows:

Long term obligations arising from customer contracts Dec. 31, 2021 Dec. 31, 2020 Jan. 1, 2020

Restated Restated
Long term obligations arising from customer contracts (*) 93,310 67124 41,327
Total 93,310 67,124 41,327

) Group evaluated the service contract submitted to the Ministry of Health within the scope of TFRS 15 and carried its effect to its con-
solidated financial statements as of December 31, 2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020. As of December 31, 2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020
deferred revenues consist of the revenue amounts obtained in advance for the extraordinary maintenance and repair service fee to be

provided to the Ministry of Health.
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18. PROVISIONS

As of December 31,2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020 short term provisions are as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at and For the Year ended December 31, 2021

(Convenience translation of the independent auditors’report and consolidated financial statements originally issued in Turkish)

Dec. 31, 2021 Dec. 31, 2020 Jan. 1, 2020

Restated Restated

Unused vacation provision 9,655 7,222 8,356

Other provisions® 19,187 34,080 8,316

Total 28,842 41,302 16,672
As of December 31,2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020 long term provisions are as follows:

Dec. 31, 2021 Dec. 31, 2020 Jan. 1, 2020

Restated Restated

Provision for severance pay 8,419 6,119 6,417

Other provisions ™ - - 20,144

Total 8,419 6,119 26,561

M As of December 31,2021,2020 and January 1, 2020 other provisions are the amounts expected to be paid to the previous shareholders
of the HEPP project companies belonging to Akfen Renewables, depending on the share transfer agreement.
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19. GOVERNMENT INCENTIVES AND GRANTS

Inaccordance with the Investment Incentives Law No. 47/2000, Akfen REIT has a 100% investment incentive without any
time restrictions for its investments in the TRNC until December 31, 2008.

Akfen REIT also has investment incentives as of December 31,2021 within the Bodrum Loft project. The total investment
amount realized within the scope of this document registered of Masanda Tourism is TRY 159,683,611, the contribution
amount to the investment is TRY 23,952,542, which is 15% of the investment amount. Income arising from the investment
within the scope of the incentive certificate received for Bodrum Loft is subject to corporate tax at a reduced rate until
the amount of investment contribution is reached. Masanda Tourism which has the Bodrum Loft project, and Akfen REIT
merged on June 30, 2021, and as a result of this merger, Masanda Tourism was dissolved without liquidation and transfer-
red to Akfen REIT. Since all earnings of Akfen REIT are exempt from corporate tax, as of the reporting date, Akfen REIT
has not recognized deferred tax assets in the individual financial statements within the scope of the investment incentive.

With the decision of the Council of Ministers dated July 1, 2003 and numbered 2003/5868, the amount of the vessels carr-
ying cargo and passengers exclusively in the cabotage line registered to the Turkish International Ship Registry and Natio-
nal Ship Registry, commercial yachts, service and fishing vessels shall be determined according to the technical characte-
ristics of each ship and has decided to reduce the special consumption tax amount of the fuel to be given to the logbook of
the vessel that will use this fuel to zero since the beginning of 2004. Since 2004, IDO has been benefiting from the special
consumption tax deduction.

The resolution of the Council of Ministers No. 2004/5266 of December 2, 2004 provides that the revenues from the ope-
ration and transfer of ships and yachts registered in the Turkish International Register of Ships are exempt from income
and corporate taxes and funds. Therefore, purchasing, sales, mortgage, registration, loan and freight contracts pertaining
to ships and yachts to be registered in the Turkish International Register of Ships are not subject to stamp duty, levies,
banking and insurance transactions tax and funds. To this end, IDO is using corporate tax and income tax discounts.

For HEPP investments, the Group has investment incentives in the form of VAT exemption and customs duty exemption
that it has obtained by submitting various documents.

Moreover, solar panels to be imported are removed from the scope of incentives and VAT exemption through the "Com-
munique (Communique No: 2016/2) on Amending the Communique (Communique No: 2012/1) on the Implementation of
the Decision on State Aid for Investments", which was published in the Official Gazette No. 28329 of June 25, 2016. Out of
our SPP projects, those that have not applied for or received VAT exemption and investment incentive before the date of
publication of the Communique cannot benefit the VAT exemption and customs duty exemption for the solar panels they
will import.

AcaciaMine has received an investment incentive certificate from the Ministry of Economy under the "Large Scale Invest-
ment" plan for the mining facility in Kastamonu on April 27,2014. Under this incentive, 40% of the total investment amount
is based on tax exemption and 80% of the future tax amount of the company will not be paid within the scope of incentive
until reaching the base for tax exemption. In addition, Acacia Mine benefits from SSK employer feel support.

Akfen Construction’s hospital projects are subject to corporate tax at reduced rates, effective from the financial year in
whichthe investment is partially or fully operational until the investment reaches the contribution amount. In this context,
the Group recognizes the tax advantage that it expects to benefit from investment incentive companies as deferred tax
asset in the financial statements.
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20. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED USING THE EQUITY METHOD/NON-CURRENT ASSETS CLASSI-
FIED AS HELD FOR SALE

Investments accounted using the equity method

The carrying amounts of investments accounted using the equity method of the Group as of as of December 31,2021,2020
and January1,2020 are as follows:

Shareholding Dec. 31, Shareholding Dec. 31, Shareholding Jan. 31,
Rates (%) 2021 Rates (%) 2020 Rates (%) 2020

Restated Restated
Akfen Renewable 66.91 3,420,676 66.91 1,607,499 66.13 694,323
Akfen REIT 23.94 1,027,841 56.88 394,817 56.88 534,087
Acacia Mine 30.00 637,525 30.00 254,338 30.00 222,197
Akfen Water 50.00 24,664 50.00 23,186 50.00 21,037
MDO/IDO (*) 50.00 - 50.00 (91,756) 30.00 (115,807)
IBS Insurance - - 20.00 - 37.00 12,361
5,110,706 2,188,084 1,368,198

() Akfen Holding's share became 50% after the share transfers made as of October 14, 2020, within the scope of the restructuring of
the project financing at the stage of completion of IDO. In this context, MDO, which will also operate in the field of marine transporta-
tion, was established on May 5, 2021, with 50%/50% equal shares, in partnership with Akfen Holding and Tepe Construction. On July 8,
2021, all shares of IDO were transferred to MDO.

The Group's shares in the profits or losses of its investments accounted using the equity method in the profit or loss sta-
tement for periods ended on December 31are as follows:

2021 2020

Restated

Akfen REIT 531,271 (136,754)
Akfen Renewable 273,001 (222,501)
Acacia Mine 139,674 641
IBS Insurance (*) 1,477 7,848
Akfen Water 4,385 2,094
MDO/IDO (54,444) (117,317)
895,364 (465,989)

™ 0On January 28, 2021, the remaining 20% shares of IBS Insurance, whose details are given in Note 2, were sold. Profit or loss items of
IBS Insurance were consolidated at the rate of 20% before the share sale until January 31, 2021, which is the closest accounting period
to the share sale date, and profit or loss items after this date are not included in the consolidation.
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20. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED USING THE EQUITY METHOD/NON-CURRENT ASSETS
CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE (cont'd)

As of December 31,2021 and 2020, the movements in investments accounted using the equity method are as follows:

Other adjustments

Period Other Liability related to
January 1, profit equity cap profitorlossin Saleof December
2021 /(loss) movements  adjustment® consolidation shares 31,2021
Akfen Renewable 1,607,499 273,001 1,540,176 - - - 3,420,676
Akfen REIT 394,817 531,271 179,489 - - (77,736) 1,027,841
Acacia Mine 254,338 143,365 243,513 - (3,691) - 637,525
Akfen Water 23,186 4,385 (2,907) - - - 24,664
MDO/IiDO (91,756) (867,355) 146,200 812,911 - - -
2,188,084 84,667 2,106,471 812,911 (3,691) (77,736) 5,110,706

In addition to the profit/(loss) figures in the table above, as of December 31,2021, the profit of TRY 1,477 realized until the
date of sale of IBS Insurance, which is not included in the Group assets due to the share sale in 2021, has been recognized
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss of the Group.

Net assets Transfer
Other recorded tonon-

- Earnings adjustment asaresult current

Other Liability due to related ofthesale  assets

Period equity cap changein to profit of joint classified
January profit move- adjust- partnerships orlossin  venture asheld Dec.
1,2020 /(loss) ments ment® shares ™™ consolidation®™ shares®™* for sale 31, 2020
Akfen Renewable 694,323 (198,649) 1,109,371 - 26,306 (23,852) - - 1,607,499
Akfen REIT 534,087 (136,754) (2,516) - - - - - 394,817
Acacia Mine 222,197 4,332 31,500 - - (3,691) - - 254,338
Akfen Water 21,037 2,094 55 - - - - 23,186
IBS Insurance 12,361 7,848 (952) - - - (7,226) (12,031) -
MDO/IDO (115,807) (211,471) 141,368 94,154 - - - - (91,756)
1,368,198 (532,600) 1,278,826 94,154 26,306 (27,543) (7,226) (12,031) 2,188,084

U After the project financing was restructured in July 2021, the parts of the guarantor amounts between MDO and the Company for the
relevant period were paid as of December 31, 2021. (According to the guarantee and equity contribution agreement between IDO and
the Company, sponsorship contributions and guarantee payments will not exceed USD 12,500,000 annually as of December 31, 2020).

) Acacia Mine's net assets include assets related to mineral reserves and goodwill. Depreciation expense amounting to TRY 4,613
(December 31,2020: TRY 4,612) and deferred tax income amounting to TRY 922 (December 31, 2020: TRY 923) belonging to the assets
related to the mineral reserve accounted in the “Share of income/(loss) from investments accounted using the equity method” in the
consolidated financial statement of profit or loss.

As of January 1, 2017, Goodwill is belonging to Akfen Renewables was accounted provisionally in the consolidated financial statements
has been distributed to the related financial statements as of December 31, 2020, as aresult of the valuation report made in accordan-
ce with the sale date in 2017 and as of December 31, 2020, regarding TRY 14,826 depreciation expense based on property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets and deferred tax income amounting to TRY 2,965 based on depreciation has been accounted under
“Share of income/(loss) from investments accounted using the equity method” As of December 31, 2020, Akfen Renewable has chosen
the revaluation method as the accounting policy for the land, ground improvements, buildings, machinery and equipment of its power
plants as the accounting policy specified in TAS 16 and the related value increases in the Akfen Renewable consolidated financial sta-
tement are under equity as other comprehensive income. Due to their accounting, as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the mentioned
increases in value are not reflected in Akfen Holding's consolidated financial statements.

"I Note 3
Equity effect arising from hedging agreements made by subsidiaries, functional currency differences between Akfen Holding and joint

ventures, remeasurements of defined benefit plans and revaluation of property, plant and equipment are accounted for under other
comprehensive income items (Note 24).
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20. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED USING THE EQUITY METHOD/NON-CURRENT ASSETS

CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE (cont'd)

Akfen Renewable Energy:
Summary financial information on Akfen Renewable Energy is provided below:

Dec. 31, 2021 Dec. 31, 2020 Jan. 1, 2020
Restated Restated
Total Assets 14,567,983 8,430,104 3,963,643
Total Liabilities 9,092,802 5,664,920 3,649,836
Net Assets 5,475,181 2,765,184 313,807
Group's share in Akfen Renewable Energy's net Assets 3,663,279 1,850,102 207,533
Value increase of property, plant and equipment (*) - - 398,267
Value increase of property, intangibel assets (*) - - 572,224
Deferred tax liability - - (194,098)
Change in the share of partnership ¢ (242,603) (242,603) (289,603)
Carrying value 3,420,676 1,607,499 694,323
January 1- January 1-
Dec. 31, 2021 Dec. 31, 2020
Restated
Revenue 1,291,036 1,023,255
Gross profit 684,421 604,497
General administrative expenses (33,111) (25,302)
Other operating income expense, net (14,151) (51,677)
Operating profit 637,159 527,518
Profit/(loss) before tax 272,537 (372,590)
Profit/(loss) after tax 404,699 (304,048)
Profit/(loss) for the year from parent company shares 408,025 (301,610)
Group's share in Akfen Renewable's profit/(loss)
for the year before purchase price allocation 272,997 (198,649)
Group's share in Akfen Renewable's profit/(loss)
for the year after purchase price allocation (**) 273,001 (222,501)
Depreciation and amortization expenses 311,190 204,151

0 As of January1, 2017, Goodwill is belonging to Akfen Renewable was accounted provisionally in the consolidated financial statements
has been distributed to related financial statements as of December 31,2020, as a result of the valuation report made in accordance
with the sale date in 2017, regarding TRY 14,826 depreciation expense based on property, plant and equipment and intangible assets,
and deferred tax income amounting to TRY 2,965 based on the depreciation expense has been accounted under “Share of income/
(loss) from investments accounted using the equity method" As of December 31, 2020, Akfen Renewable has chosen the revaluation
method as the accounting policy for the land, ground improvements, buildings, machinery and equipment of its power plants as the ac-
counting policy specified in TAS 16 and the related value increases in the Akfen Renewable consolidated financial statement are under
equity as other comprehensive income. Due to their accounting, as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the mentioned increases in value are
not reflected in Akfen Holding's consolidated financial statements.

In calculating Akfen Renewable's fair values, the government's minimum purchase prices, details of which are given in Note 1 are used
during the Renewable Energy Resources Support Mechanism (“Yekdem”) period, and the estimated average market selling prices after
Yekdem are used. The discount rates used in the valuation reports prepared as of December 31, 2021 are 11.31% (December 31, 2020:
9.1%) in USD terms.

(**) The ownership rate of Akfen Renewable increased from 66.13% to 66.91% due to the capital increase realized on February 17,2020
and and the adjustments regarding this change are reflected in the consolidated financial statements. The profit or loss items of Ak-
fen Renewable have been subjected to consolidation at the rate of 66.13% which is the pre-capital increase ownership rate until until
March 31,2020, which is the closest accounting period to the capital increase date and from March 31, 2020 to December 31, 2021, it was
consolidated at the rate of 66.91% after the capital increase.

As of 1July 2020, Akfen Renewables has started to apply hedge accounting (hedging against cash flow risk) as an accounting policy,
one of the application methods specified within the scope of TAS 39, and the Group has been able to hedge against cash flow risk
amounting to TRY'1,794,510 in the other comprehensive income statement on December 31, 2021. (December 31, 2020: TRY 181,714).
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20. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED USING THE EQUITY METHOD/NON-CURRENT ASSETS
CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE (cont'd)

Akfen REIT:

The summary financial information of Akfen REIT is as follows:

Dec. 31, 2021 Dec. 31,2020 Jan. 1, 2020

Restated Restated

Total Assets 6,863,235 2,903,965 2,662,936
Total Liabilities 2,569,952 2,209,843 1,723,965
Net Assets 4,293,283 694,122 938,971
Group's share in Akfen REIT's net asset 1,027,841 394,817 534,087
January 1- January 1-

Dec. 31, 2021 Dec. 31,2020

Restated

Revenue 191,494 65,089
Gross profit 177,496 56,006
General administrative and selling marketing expenses (11,890) (8,712)
Other operating income, net 2,518,981 265,990
Operating profit 2,684,587 313,284
Profit/(loss) before tax 2,364,461 (210,896)
Profit/(loss) after tax 2,114,335 (240,296)
Profit/(loss) for the period from parent company shares 2,083,753 (240,425)
Group's share in Akfen REIT’s profit/(loss) for the period 531,271 (136,754)
Depreciation and amortization expenses 3,374 49

() After the capital increases on January 12, 2021 and February 9, 2021, the details of which are given in Note 2, the ownership rate of
Akfen REIT decreased from 56.88% to 30.37%. Profit or loss items of Akfen REIT were consolidated are at the rate of 56.88%, which
is the pre-capital increase ownership rate until January 31, 2021, which is the closest accounting period to the capital increase dates,
at the rate of 30.37%, which is the the ownership rate after the capital increase dated January 12 and February 9, between January 31,
2021to September 30, 2021 and at the rate of 23.94% which is the ownership rate after the capital increase on August 20, 2021 between
September 30, 2021 to December 31, 2021.

Fair values of the Group's investment properties are calculated by areal estate appraisal Group included in the list of
authorized companies to offer appraisal services within the framework of the CMB legislation as of December 31, 2021
and 2020. The fair values of the investment properties of which right of buildings are held, are determined as the present
value of aggregate of the estimated cash flows expected to be received from renting out the property and the fair values
of the investment properties which the Group owns, are determined as the present value of aggregate of the estimated
cash flows for the period of lease agreement made. In the valuation process, a projection period which fits to the lease
term for right of tenancy of each hotels is taken into consideration. The fair value is calculated by discounting the estima-
ted cash flows at arate which is appropriate for the risk level of the economy, market and the business to determine its
present value.

As of December 31,2021, the discount rates used in the Euro valuation report prepared according to different versions
are in the range of 7.9-10.5% (December 31,2020: %7.7-%10.5) and the discount rates for assets valued in Try are deter-
mined as 19% (December 31, 2020: None) in the calculation of the fair values of operating investment properties.

On August 6, 2018, Akfen REIT's privileged shares of Akfen Holding's 1000 A group and 1000 D group were transferred to
Hamdi Akin, the indirect ultimate owner of management control of these shares. In order for the investor to have power
over the business that he invested in, he must already have the right to enable him to manage the relevant activities. Due
to the change in Akfen REIT's Board of Directors at the 2018 Ordinary General Assembly meeting of Akfen REIT, which
took place on April16, 2019, after the transfer of the privileged shares of Akfen REIT to Hamdi Akin, the situation in ques-
tion caused a loss of control by Akfen Holding. The partnership has been evaluated as share sales and the shares of the
Company in Akfen REIT have been recorded with their fair value. The fair value of Akfen REIT has been calculated from
Akfen REIT's equity in the consolidated statement of financial position at that date.
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20. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED USING THE EQUITY METHOD/NON-CURRENT ASSETS

CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE (cont'd)
MDO/iDO

The summary financial information of Akfen MDO/IDQ is as follows:

Dec. 31, 2021 Dec. 31, 2020 Jan. 1, 2020
Restated Restated
Total Assets 2,534,852 2,277,660 1,876,285
Total Liabilities 6,575,868 4,055,772 3,687,436
Net Assets (4,041,016) (1,778,112) (1,811,151)
Group's share in MDO/iDO’s net asset (2,020,508) (889,056) (543,345)
Group's share recognized in the
net assets of MDO/iDO (*) - (91,756) (115,807)
January 1- January 1-
Dec. 31, 2021 Dec. 31, 2020
Restated
Revenue 803,552 574,760
Gross profit 170,402 135,095
General administrative and selling marketing expenses (81,241) (75,788)
Other operating expense, net (10,520) (32,901)
Share of profit from investments accounted using the equity method 2,747 907
Operating profit 81,388 27,313
Loss before tax (1,734,710) (743,375)
Loss after tax (1,734,710) (743,375)
Loss for the period from parent company shares (1,734,710) (743,375)
Group's share in MDO/IDO's loss for the period (867,355) (211,471)
Group share of MDO/iDO recognized as loss for the period (54,444) (117,317)
Depreciation and amortization expenses 136,022 112,263

0 Akfen Holding's share became 50% after the share transfers made as of October 14, 2020, within the scope of the restructuring of the
project financing at the stage of completion of IDO. In this context, MDO, which will also operate in the field of marine transportation,
was established on May 5, 2021, with 509%,/50% equal shares, in partnership with Akfen Holding and Tepe insaat. With the restructuring
completed on July 8, 2021, Akfen Holding and Tepe insaat transferred their shares in IDO to MDO and MDO became the 100% owner
of IDO. After the project financing was restructured in July 2021, the parts of the guarantor amounts between MDO and the Company
for the relevant period were paid as of December 31, 2021. (According to the guarantee and equity contribution agreement between
IDO and the Company, sponsorship contributions and guarantee payments will not exceed USD 12,500,000 annually as of December
31,2020). Therefore, not the entire group's share in the net period loss and other comprehensive income or expenses of IDQ is included,
the part that will not exceed the mentioned liability in the consolidated profit or loss statement.
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20. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED USING THE EQUITY METHOD/NON-CURRENT ASSETS

CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE (cont'd)
Akfen Water

The summary financial information of Akfen Water is as follows:

Dec. 31, 2021 Dec. 31, 2020 Jan. 1, 2020
Restated Restated
Total Assets 59,266 60,394 66,166
Total Liabilities 9,938 14,022 24,092
Net Assets 49,328 46,372 42,074
Group's share in the net assets of Akfen Water 24,664 23,186 21,037
January 1- January 1-
Dec. 31, 2021 Dec. 31, 2020
Restated
Revenue 108,707 33,431
Gross profit 8,976 1,964
General administrative expenses (4,033) (4,497)
Other operating (expense)/income, net (7,427) 5
Operating loss (2,483) (2,528)
(Loss)/profit before tax 9,719 6,344
(Loss)/profit after tax 8,770 4,188
Profit for the period from parent company shares 8,770 4,188
Group's share in Akfen Water's profit for the period 4,385 2,094
Depreciation and amortization expenses 219 643
Acacia Mine:
The summary financial information of Acacia Mine is as follows:
Dec. 31, 2021 Dec. 31, 2020 Jan. 1, 2020
Restated Restated
Total Assets 4,926,247 2,910,233 2,269,193
Total Liabilities 2,930,264 2,203,844 1,682,244
Net Assets 1,995,983 706,389 586,949
Group's share in the net assets of Acacia Mine 598,795 211,917 176,085
Mining property reserves (*) 35,060 38,751 42,442
Goodwill carried at Group level (*) 3,670 3,670 3,670
Carrying value 637,525 254,338 222,197
January 1- January 1-
Dec. 31, 2021 Dec. 31,2020
Restated
Revenue 1,699,202 951,417
Gross profit 877,617 522,347
General administrative and selling marketing expenses (146,858) (108,209)
Other operating (expense)/income, net (7,937) 1,279
Operating profit 722,822 415,417
Profit before tax 726,906 94,068
Profit after tax 477,883 14,439
Profit for the period from parent company shares 477,883 14,439
Group's share in Acacia Mine's profit for the
period before purchase price allocation 143,365 4,332
Group's share in Acacia Mine's profit for the
period after purchase price allocation (*) 139,674 641
Depreciation and amortization expenses 268,874 191,987
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20. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED USING THE EQUITY METHOD/NON-CURRENT ASSETS
CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE (cont'd)

Acacia Mine (cont'd)

(1 Net assets of Acacia Mine include mining property reserves and goodwill. Regarding the recognized the mining property reserves,
amortization expense amounted to TRY 4,613 (December 31, 2020: TRY 4,612) and deferred tax income amounted to TRY 922 (Decem-
ber 31,2020: TRY 923) have been recognized under "Share in profits/(losses) on investments accounted for using the equity method “in
the consolidated financial statements.

On April 27, 2014, Acacia Mine received investment incentive certificate for the mining facility in Kastamonu in the “Lage Scale Invest-
ment”plan from Ministry of Economy. Within the scope of this incentive, 40% of total investment amount constitutes the basis for tax
exemptionand80% of the future taxamount of the companywillnot be paidunder the incentive untilitreaches thebase of taxexemption.

IBS Insurance:

The summary financial information of IBS Insurance is as follows:

December 31, 2020 January 1, 2020

Restated Restated

Total Assets 324,421 329,206
Total Liabilities 264,265 295,797
Net Assets 60,156 33,409
Group's share in the net assets of IBS Insurance 12,031 12,361
Transfer to fixed assets classified for sale (12,031) -
Group share in the net assets of IBS Insurance after the classifications - 12,361

As of December 31,2020, IBS Insurance is included in the Group assets as non-current assets classified as held for sale,
and after the sale of shares on January 28, 2021, it is not included in the Group assets as of December 31, 2021.

January 1- January 1-

Dec. 31, 2021 Dec. 31, 2020

Restated

Revenue 8,611 73,133
Gross profit 6,929 50,441
General administrative and selling marketing expenses (838) (12,535)
Other operating income, net 3,152 3,249
Operating profit 9,243 41,155
Profit before tax 9,178 40,394
Profit after tax 7,403 31,501
Profit for the period from parent company shares 7,403 31,501
Group's share in Akfen Water's profit for the period (*) 1,477 7,848
Depreciation and amortization expenses 152 1,920

) Ownership rate of IBS Insurance decreased from 37% to 20% due to the sale of shares that took place on March 10, 2020 and details
of which are given in Note 2. The profit or loss items of IBS Insurance shall be 37%, which is the pre-sale ownership rate of shares until
31March 2020, which is the closest accounting period to the share sale date, and 20%, which is the share after sale ownership rate from
31 March 2020 to 30 June. On January 28, 2021, the remaining 20% shares of IBS Insurance were sold and details of which are givenin
Note 2. The profit or loss items of IBS Insurance were consolidated at the rate of 20%, which is the pre-sale ownership rate of shares
until January 31,2021, the closest accounting period to the date of share sale and profit or loss items after this date are not included in
the consolidation.
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20. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED USING THE EQUITY METHOD/NON-CURRENT ASSETS
CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE (cont'd)

Non-Current Assets Classified as Held for Sale

Akfen Holding has transferred its 21,68% share in TAV Investment Holding on May 29, 2019 for USD 500,000, based on
the contract dated May 10, 2019 and the share transfer was notified to the company on June 12, 2019 for the transfer to be
recorded in the share ledger. As of December 31,2020, since the transfer transaction has not been recorded in TAV Invest-
ment's share book, TAV Investment is included the assets of the Group with the sale price of TRY 2,890 and it is accounted
in the "Assets classified for sale” in the consolidated financial statements then reclassified to financial investments as of
December 31,2021. Furthermore, Akfen Holding signed a sales agreement on December 28, 2020 to sell its remaining 20%
shares in IBS Insurance. As of December 31,2020, since the aforementioned transfer transaction has not been completed,
IBS Insurance is among the assets of the Group and has been accounted for in the “Assets classified as held for sale” ac-
count in the consolidated financial statements with an amount of TRY 12,031. Since the aforementioned sale transaction
has been completed as of January 28, 2021, IBS Insurance is not included in the Group assets as of the reporting period.

21. COMMITMENTS

Letters of guarantee, pledges and mortgages given

As of December 31,2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020 the Group's statements on its position related to letters of guarantee/
pledges/mortgages are as follows:

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 January 1, 2020

GPM given by the Group Restated Restated
A. Total Amount of GPM Given on Behalf of

Own Legal Entity 25,049,379 14,821,775 11,314,735
B.Total Amount of GPM Given in Favor of

Partnerships which are Fully Consolidated 524,566 445,203 426,056

C.Total Amount of GPM Given for Assurance of Third
Parties Debts in Order to Conduct Usual Business Activities - - -

D. Total Amount of Other GPM Given 3,598,864 4,288,282 3,139,362
i. Total Amount of GPM Given in Favor of the Parent Company - -
ii. Total Amount of GPM Given in Favor of Other

Group Companies which B and C do not comprise 3,598,864 4,288,282 3,109,362
iii. Total Amount of GPM Given in Favor of Third Parties

which C does not comprise - - 30,000
Total 29,172,809 19,555,260 14,880,153

As of December 31,2021, the ratio of other GPM given by the Company to equity is %27 (December 31, 2020: %65, Janu-
ary1,2020: %47).
The breakdown, in foreign currency, of the GPM the Group has given is as follows:

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 January 1, 2020

Restated Restated
TRY Euro US Dollar TRY Euro US Dollar TRY Euro US Dollar

GPM given on behalf
of the Group's 391,557 15,484,511 9,173,311 437,623 9,243,417 5,140,735 360,609 6,835,138 4,118,988
own legal entity

GPM given in favor of
companies under 306,170 218,396 - 315,039 130,164 - 329,955 96,101 -
full consolidation

Total of other
GPMs given 96,824 132,924 3,369,116 111,696 338,239 3,838,347 45,779 99,183 2,994,400
794,551 15,835,83112,542,427 864,358 9,711,820 8,979,082 736,343 7,030,422 7,113,388

O All amounts are expressed in TRY equivalent.
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22, FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS

Short-term financial investments

The details for short-term financial investments as of December 31,2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020 are as follows:
December 31,2021 December 31, 2020 January 1, 2020

Restated Restated
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1,023,720 474,591 19,638
Total short-term financial investments 1,023,720 474,591 19,638

Long-term financial investments

The details for long-term financial investments as of December 31, 2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020 are as follows:

December 31,2021 December 31, 2020 January 1, 2020

Restated Restated
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1,159,125 495,670 519,893
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 3,723,028 2,123,935 1,668,211
Financial assets at amortized cost - - 226,533
Total long-term financial investments 4,882,153 2,619,605 2,414,637

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

As of December 31,2021,2020 and January 1, 2020, all of the financial assets whose short and long term fair value differen-
cesarereflected to profit/loss consist of the Group's bonds and investment funds with a maturity of more than 3 months,
and all of these assets are in US currency.

As of December 31,2021, fair value gain amount of TRY 127,624 related to the mentioned assets is accounted in the conso-
lidated statement of income or expense (Note 30) (December 31,2020: TRY 143,668).y

Financial assets at amortized cost

As of Janunary1,2020, the Group's financial assets to be held until maturity in the form of long-term financial investments
amounting to TRY 226,533 consists of Akfen Holding's nominal amount of TRY 170,000 issued by Akfen REIT on 17 Janu-
ary 2018 and detailed in "Note 6 Financial Borrowings" the amotised cost of the convertible bond at fair value using the
interest rate of 177% determined as the current market interest rate. All of the aforementioned bonds were transferred to
Hamdi Akin for a price of TRY 215,718, together with all the rights, principal and legal interest as of April 14, 2020.

The decrease in the value of the mentioned bond from January 1, 2020 to the bond sale date, amounting to TRY 8235is
recognized in the Group's profit or loss and other comprehensive income and expense under “Expense from investment
activities” (Note 30). As of 31 December 2020, the negative difference between the sale price of the mentioned bond and
the amortized value of the bond, whichis TRY 234,768, is recognised in the Group's profit or loss and other comprehensive
income and expense statement under the “expenses from investment activities” As of 31 December 2020, the negative
difference which is amounting to TRY 19,050, between the sale price of the said bond and the amortized cost of the bond,
whichis TRY 234,768, is recognised in the Group's profit or loss and other comprehensive income and expense statement
under the “expenses from investment activities”
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22, FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (cont'd)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

2021 2020

Restated

Opening balance - previously reported - -

Merger effects (Note 3) 2,123,935 1,668,211

January 1 2,123,935 1,668,211
Revaluation increases accounted for as other

comprehensive income 1,596,465 455,724

Transfer 2,890 -

Other (262) -

December 31 3,723,028 2,123,935

As of December 31,2021, TRY 3,625,827 of other long-term investments consists of MIP, TRY 10,530 of Travalex Group In-
vestment, TRY 80,056 of Tepe Akfen Reformer TAR shares and TRY 6,489 of Tav Investment shares. (December 31,2020
:MIP; TRY 2.065.188, Travelex; TRY 10.530, Tepe Akfen Reformer TAR; TRY 47.824) Sensitivity analysis regarding the fair
value of MIP recognized in the consolidated financial statements of the Group is given in Note 34..

23. OTHER CURRENT/NON-CURRENT ASSETS AND CURRENT/NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

As of December 31,2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020 other current assets are stated as follows:

December 31,2021 December 31, 2020 January 1, 2020

Restated Restated
VAT carryforward 67,539 90,463 46,300
Other 1,754 - 1,116
Total 69,293 90,463 47,416

As of December 31,2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020 other non-current assets are stated as follows:

December 31,2021 December 31, 2020 January 1, 2020

Restated Restated
VAT carryforward 25,934 26,207 17,095
Prepaid taxes and funds - - 22,938
Other 571 500 500
Total 26,505 26,707 40,533

Other current and non-current liabilities

As of December 31,2021,2020 and January 1, 2020 other current liabilities are stated as follows:

December 31,2021 December 31, 2020 January 1, 2020

Restated Restated

Advances received ™ 60,017 50,890 2,970
Other 2,369 1,060 6,193
62,386 51,950 9,163

M As of 31 December 2021, TRY 53,522 of the advances received consists of the advances received by the Group regarding Acacia
Mine. (As of December 31,2020: TRY 48,000 of advances received consists of advances received by the Group for the sale of
remaining 20% shares in IBS Insurance, January 1, 2020: It consists of advances received regarding share sales).
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24.EQUITY

Issued Capital

As of December 31,2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020, the Company's capital distribution is as follows:

December 31,2021 December 31, 2020 January 1, 2020
Restated Restated

Share Share Share Share Share Share
Name of shareholder ratio (%) amount ratio (%) amount ratio (%) amount
Pelin Akin Ozalp 4710 329,732 - - - -
Selim Akin 4710 329,732 - - - -
Hamdi Akin 3.29 23,002 0.00 0 0.00 0
Akinisi Makine Sanayi ve Ticaret A.S. 0.24 1,651 0.43 2,858 0.43 2,858
Akfen Holding A.S. (*) 2.27 15,883 9.87 65,839 9.87 65,839
Akfen Infrastructure - - 89.49 597,056 89.49 597,056
Akfen Tourism (**) - - 0.21 1,428 0.21 1,428
Nominal 100 700,000 100 667,181 100 667,181
Total issued capital 100 700,000 100 667,181 100 667,181

) Akfen Holding sold 38,362,889 shares out of 65,838,800 shares, which corresponds to 9,868% (The portion corresponding to 5.75%
of the total number of shares of the company) of Akfen Holding's total shares taken over from Akfen Infrastructure on August 24, 2021,
to Hamdi Akin for TRY 379,962. The cost of the shares sold is amounting to TRY 332,107 and the difference between the selling price
and the cost of the sold shares is TRY 47,855, which is accounted for as share premium in the consolidated financial statements of the
Group.

(**) Akfen Holding shares owned by Akfen Tourism were sold to Hamdi Akin for a transfer fee amounting to TRY 12,500 as of December
10, 2021, with all its rights and obligations. The all mentioned sale price has been recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income under income from investment activities (Note 30).

With the decision of Akfen Holding Board of Directors dated September 21,2021, it was decided that Akfen Infrastructure
Holding, which owns the majority shares of the Company (89.49%), joins the Company as a whole, without liquidation. At
the Akfen Holding Extraordinary General Assembly meeting held on November 2, 2021, the merger was unanimously ap-
proved. As of November10, 2021, the merger of Akfen Holding and Akfen Infrastructure was completed and Akfen Infrast-
ructure was dissolved without liquidation. Since the companies were merged together with all their assets and liabilities
through dissolution without liquidation, the nominal value of the shares of Akfen Holding, in which Akfen Infrastructure
Holding participates, amounting to TRY 597,057 and the registered value of the shares in Akfen Infrastructure Holding's
assets has been deducted, the capital of Akfen Holding A.S., which took over, became TRY 650,124 as a result of the mer-
ger and thus a capital decrease amounting TRY 17,057 has occurred. However, in line with the decision taken, a simultane-
ous capital increase of TRY 49,876 was made. The entire capital increase was covered by Akfen Holding's profits from
previous years. As aresult of the aforementioned simultaneous capital decrease and capital increase, the capital of Akfen
Holding A.S., which took over, became TRY 700,000.

Restricted reserves appropriated from profits

In accordance with Article 520 of the Law no. 6102, reserve fund is allocated for the shares repurchased. As of December
31,2021, legal reserves in the financial statements is TRY 2,493,382 (December 31, 2020: TRY 2,812,069, January 1, 2020:
TRY 2.789.693).

Foreign currency translation differences

As of December 31, 2021 the translation reserve amounting to TRY 590,699 recognized in the equity is comprised of fo-
reign exchange difference arising from the translation of the financial statements of Akfen REIT, TAV Investment, Acacia
Mine and Akfen Construction from their functional currency of USD, Euro and Ruble to the presentation currency TRY.
(December 31, 2020: TRY 281,403 - Akfen REIT, TAV Investment, Acacia Mine and Akfen Construction - USD, Euro, Ruble)
(January1,2020: TRY 256,298 - Akfen REIT, TAV Investment, Acacia Mine and Akfen Construction - USD, Euro, Ruble).

Currency translation differences recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive in-
come as of December 31,2021 are TRY 309,296 (December 31,2020: TRY 25,105).
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24.EQUITY (contd)

Tangible asset revaluation increases

As of December 31, 2021, the amount of tangible fixed asset valuation increase fund under equity in the consolidated fi-
nancial statements of the Group is TRY 4,461,126 (TRY 4,455,054 from the power plant valuation of Akfen Renewable, TRY
6,072 consists of valuations for buildings owned by Akfen Construction). (December 31,2020, TRY 1,279,681-TRY 1,169,792
consists of the power plant valuation of Akfen Renewable, TRY 6,072 consists of Akfen Construction and TRY 103,817
consists of valuations related to buildings owned by Masanda Tourism).

(Januay1,2020: None). As of December 31,2021, the value increase in the buildings item under tangible fixed assets amoun-
ting to TRY 3,335,878 including the effect of deferred tax income (TRY 4,169,848 excluding deferred tax income effect) in
the buildings under tangible assets, has been accounted for under the other comprehensive income statement. (Decem-
ber 31, 2020: TRY 1,279,681 including deferred tax income effect (TRY 1,599,601 excluding deferred tax income effect),
January1,2020: TRY 5,575 including deferred tax income effect (TRY 6,969 excluding deferred tax income effect)).

Effect of business combinations under common control

Based on the decision of the Board of Directors of Akfen Holding dated 5 January 2018; the merger of Akfen Engineering,
which has the same partnership with the Company, was completed on February 28, 2018, with no liquidation and partici-
pation in the Company as a whole. With the decision of Akfen Holding Board of Directors dated September 21,2021, it was
decided that Akfen Infrastructure Holding, which owns the majority shares of the Company (89.49%), joins the Company
as awhole, without liquidation. At the Akfen Holding Extraordinary General Assembly meeting held on November 2, 2021,
the merger was unanimously approved. As of November 10, 2021, the merger of Akfen Holding and Akfen Infrastructure
was completed and Akfen Infrastructure was dissolved without liquidation. All of these transactions were evaluated as
"Effect of transactions under common control" and accounted "Pooling of Interest" method. The "Effects of business com-
binations under common control" account is used under equity to offset the inconsistency of assets and liabilities arising
under common control effects.

Non-controlling interests

Out of the net assets of subsidiaries, the portions corresponding to the shares out of direct and/or indirect control of the
parent company are classified within the item "Non-controlling interest" in the consolidated balance sheet.

As of December 31, 2021, the amount classified under non-controlling interests in the balance sheet is TRY (33,909) (De-
cember 31,2020: TRY (21,542), (January1,2020: TRY (24,647)). The net profit / (loss) of the subsidiaries that are not directly
and / or indirectly controlled by the parent company is classified under the “Non-controlling interest” in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income. For the years ended at December 31, 2021 and 2020, (losses)/profits of non-control-
ling interests are TRY (7,219) and TRY 3,105, respectively.

Other revaluation and measurement gains

The fair value of MIP, Travelex Group Investment and Tepe Akfen Reformer TAR, which are recognized as financial invest-
ments in the Group's financial statements, as of December 31, 2021. It was evaluated within the scope of TFRS 9 standard
and occurred in the value of financial investment. TRY 1,516,643 of the change of TRY 1,596,465, net of deferred tax, is
recognized as revaluation and measurement gains in the Group's consolidated financial statements under accumulated
other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified to profit or loss. (December 31, 2020: TRY 432,938 net of the
change in the value of the financial investment amounting to TRY 455,724 of deferred tax).

Reserve hedge fund

The Group's hedging losses amounting to TRY 1,976,224 as of December 31,2021 (December 31,2020: TRY 181,714, January
1,2020: None) are due to Akfen Renewables has started to apply hedge accounting (hedging in cash flow risk) as an accoun-
ting policy, one of the application methods specified within the scope of TAS 39, as of July 1, 2020. The Group has recog-
nized other comprehensive expense for hedging cash flow risk in the other comprehensive income statement amounting
to TRY 1,794,510 including the effect of deferred tax income (TRY 2,243,138, excluding the effect of deferred tax income)
for year ended December 31, 2021. (December 31, 2020: TRY 181,714 - including deferred tax income effect, (TRY 227,143
excluding deferred tax income effect).
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25, SALES AND COST OF SALES
The breakdown of revenue for the years ended December 31 is as follows:
January 1- January 1-
Dec. 31, 2021 Dec. 31, 2020
Restated
Construction revenues
Tekirdag City Hospital project revenues - 739,225
Revenues from service concession projects (Note 10) - 739,225
Operational revenues
Hospital service revenues (*) 490,619 362,182
Incek Loft apartment sales revenues 25,472 25,555
Dormitory revenues 11,778 33,308
Accommodation income (**) 47,789 12,829
Commercial area revenues 25178 9,225
Other 6,639 8,582
Sales returns (-) (6,919) (7,375)
600,556 444,306
600,556 1,183,531
Isparta, Eskisehir and Tekirdag City Hospitals started operations as of March 2017, October 2018 and November 2020, respectively,
and the Group started to generate revenue from its hospital management activities.
(**) Bodrum Loft Hotel started operations as of July 1, 2020 and the Group started to earn accommodation income. Accommodation
income also includes other income such as food, beverage, etc.
As of December 31,2021 and 2020, all of the revenue is obtained in Turkey.
For the years ended as of December 31, details of cost of sales are as follows:
January 1- January 1-
Dec. 31, 2021 Dec. 31,2020
Restated
Hospital service expenses (*) 401,989 291,673
Personnel expenses 33,690 19,345
Operational lease expenses 24,058 4,985
Food and beverage expenses 19,893 6,282
Insurance expenses 12,627 295
Construction costs 10,327 688,930
Depreciation and amortization expenses 5,377 4,030
Energy expenses 3,835 2,117
Tax and duties expenses 1,491 531
Dormitory services revenues 537 759
Other 22,140 18,469
535,964 1,037,416

Isparta, Eskisehir and Tekirdag City Hospitals started operations as of March 2017, October 2018 and November 2020, respectively,

and the Group started to generate revenue from its hospital management activities.
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26. GENERAL ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

General administrative expenses for the years ended December 31, are as follows:

(Convenience translation of the independent auditors’report and consolidated financial statements originally issued in Turkish)

January 1- January 1-
Dec. 31, 2021 Dec. 31, 2020
Restated
Personnel expenses 48,911 33,645
Consultancy expenses 18,014 12,168
Depreciation expenses 13,912 6,670
Travel and hosting expenses 7,660 3,107
Donations 7156 1,991
Rent expenses 6,328 6,957
Office expenses 3,753 3,605
Taxes, duties and fees 3,317 4,042
Insurance expenses 1,023 1,212
Advertising expenses 81 16
Other 7167 6,859
117,322 80,272
27.SELLING AND MARKETING EXPENSES
Selling and marketing expenses for the years ended December 31, are as follows:
January 1- January 1-
Dec. 31, 2021 Dec. 31, 2020
Restated
Dues expenses 1,723 2,303
Advertising expenses 1,373 1,000
Other 3,153 677
6,249 3,980
28. OTHER INCOMES AND EXPENSES FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Other incomes from operating activities for the years ended December 31, are as follows:
January 1- January 1-
Dec. 31, 2021 Dec. 31, 2020
Restated
Increase in value due to Service Concession Agreements (Note 10) 6,080,328 1,464,390
Increase in value of investment properties (Note 11) 451,342 258,876
Rent revenue 10,415 5,746
Other 10,644 5,229
6,552,729 1,734,241
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28. OTHER INCOMES AND EXPENSES FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (cont'd)

Other expenses from operating activities for the years ended December 31, are as follows:

January 1- January 1-

Dec. 31, 2021 Dec. 31, 2020

Restated

Rediscount interest expense (Note 32) 62,360 5,951
Transfer fee expenses (*) 28,938 14,700
Loss on sales of investment properties 6,785 -
Impairment of receivables 5,063 9,844
Provision for doubtful receivables 3,974 1,186
Exchange difference expense 2,907 717
Impairment of tangible assets (Note 24) (**) - 18,200
Other 3,341 266
113,368 50,864

() Akfen Holding's Hydroelectric Power Plants belonging to Akfen Renewable Energy are the amounts paid and expected to be paid to
the previous shareholders of the project companies in accordance with the share transfer agreement.

(**) For 2020, it is the impairment resulting from the termination of the generation license of Mersin Natural Gas Combined Cycle
Power Plant project on December 30, 2020. Amounting TRY 18,097 of the aforementioned impairment was recognised in tangible
fixed assets and TRY 103 in intangible assets.

29. FINANCE INCOMES AND EXPENSES

Finance incomes for the years ended December 31, are as follows:

January 1- January 1-
Dec. 31,2021 Dec. 31,2020
Restated
Exchange difference income 886,629 945,039
Interest income 167,419 46,344
IFRIC 12 interest income (Note 10) - 162,322
Rediscount interest income (Note 32) 105,183 30,007
1,159,231 1,183,712

Finance expenses for the years ended December 31, are as follows:
January 1- January 1-
Dec. 31, 2021 Dec. 31,2020
Restated
Exchange difference expense 5,207,424 2,173,466
Interest expense 717,970 531,059
Fair value decreases of derivative instruments 14,369 124,900
Commission expenses 833 -
Other 7,282 6,017

5,947,878 2,835,442
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30. INCOMES AND EXPENSES FROM INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES

Incomes from investment activities:
The breakdown of incomes from investment activities for the years ended December 31, is as follows:

January 1- January 1-

Dec. 31, 2021 Dec. 31, 2020

Restated

Gains due to the sale in the share of subsidiaries (Note 3) 34,491 26,774

Gains due to the changes in the share of joint ventures (Note 3) - 26,306
Total of the gains arising from the disposal of subsidiaries,

joint ventures and financial investments or changes in shares 34,491 53,080

Dividend income (*) 151,963 8,211

Fair value gains of financial assets (Note 22) 127,624 143,668

Profits from sales of company shares (***) 12,500 -

Income from other financial instruments (Note 22) (**) - 8,235

Other - 16

326,578 213,210

) Dividend income as of December 31, 2021 consists of dividend income from MIP. (December 31, 2020: MIP and Travelex)

(**) Income from other financial instruments as of December 31, 2020 consists of the change in the fair value of Akfen
REIT's convertible bond transferred to Hamdi Akin on April 14, 2020 from January 1, 2020 until the bond transfer date.

(***) As of December 31,2021, all of the profits from the sales of the company's shares consist of the share sale of Akfen
Tourism to Hamdi Akin (Note 24).

Expenses from investment activities:

The breakdown of expenses from investment activities for the years ended December 31, is as follows:

January 1- January 1-

Dec. 31, 2021 Dec. 31, 2020

Restated

Loss due to share sale of associates/subsidiaries (Note 3) 131,082 -
Other (*) 31,846 19,054
162,928 19,054

M Expenses from other investment activities for December 31,2021 consist of the Group's investment expenses related to Acacia. (De-
cember 31,2020: TRY 19,050 consist of the negative difference between the sale price of Akfen REIT's convertible bond transferred to
Hamdi Akin on April 14, 2020 and the amortized value of the bond on the sale date) (Note 22)).
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31. TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

a) Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement, except to
the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in such case, the tax is also recognised in shareholders’
equity.

The current income tax charge is calculated in accordance with the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the ba-
lance sheet date in the countries where the subsidiaries and associates of the Group operate. Under the Turkish Tax Code,
companies having head office or place of business in Turkey are subject to corporate tax.

Under the Turkish taxation system, tax losses can be carried forward to be offset against future taxable income for five
years. Tax losses cannot retrospectively offset against the profits of previous years.

Furthermore, provisional corporate taxes are paid at 25% (will be applied as 23% for 2022 and 20% for 2023 and after tax
periods) over profits declared for interim periods in 2021in order to be deducted from the final corporate tax.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on all temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying values in the consolidated financial statements. Currently enacted tax
rates are used to determine deferred income tax at the balance sheet date.

For the temporary differences that are expected to be realized/closed in the deferred tax calculation, a tax rate of 22%
for 2020, 25% for 2021, (2022: 23% and 20% for 2023 and later) is used.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, where deferred tax assets resulting from de-
ductible temporary differences are recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilized.

b) Corporate tax

In Turkey, the corporate tax rate is 20%. However, in accordance with the addition of temporary 10th article to the Corpo-
rate Tax Law, 20% corporate tax rate will be applied as 22% to the profits of the entities for 2020 tax periods (for the
entities with special accounting period, tax periods commenced in the related year) and 25% in 2021 (2022: 23%, 2023 and
after: 20%)This rate is applicable to the tax base derived upon exemptions and deductions stated in the tax legislation
and by addition of disallowable expenses to the commercial revenues of the companies with respect to the tax legislation.
Corporate tax is required to be filed by the twenty-fifth day of the fourth month following the balance sheet date and
taxes must be paid by the end of the fourth month.

The tax legislation provides for a temporary tax of 25% (2020: 22%) to be calculated based on earnings generated for
each quarter. Temporary tax is declared by the 14th day of the second month following each quarter and corresponding tax
is payable by the 17th day of the same month. The amounts thus calculated and paid are offset against the final corporate
tax liability for the year. If there is excess temporary tax paid even if it is already offset, this amount may be refunded or
offset.

Corporate tax losses can be carried forward for a maximum period of 5 years following the year in which the losses were
incurred. The tax authorities can inspect tax returns and the related accounting records for a retrospective maximum pe-
riod of five years.

Dividend payments made to companies in Turkey, those who are not liable for corporate tax and income tax and those who
are exempted, and to real persons and legal entities not in Turkey, are subject to 15% income tax.

Dividend payments made to resident corporations in Turkey again from resident companies in Turkey are not subject to
income tax. In addition, income tax is not calculated if the profit is not distributed or added to capital.
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31. TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (cont'd)

Turkish tax legislation does not permit a parent company and its subsidiaries to file a consolidated tax return. Therefore,
tax liabilities, as reflected in these consolidated financial statements, have been calculated on a separate-entity basis.

Gains arising from the investments received within the scope of the hospital project related incentive certificates are
subject to corporate tax at a discounted rate to be effective as of the fiscal year in which the investment is started to be
fully or partially operated until the investment reaches the contribution amount. In this context, the Company recognizes
the tax advantage that it expects to benefit in the foreseeable future in companies with investment incentives as defer-
red tax asset in the financial statements.

c) Transfer pricing arrangements

In Turkey, transfer pricing arrangements are stated in article 13 of the CTL headed "distribution of concealed gains via
transfer pricing". Communique of November 18, 2007 on the distribution of concealed gains via transfer pricing regulates
practical details.

If a taxpayer trades goods or services with related persons over the fee or price that it sets in breach of the arm's length
principle, the gains are considered to be partly or entirely distributed by concealed means via transfer pricing. Such dist-
ribution of concealed gains via transfer pricing is considered as non-deductible expenses for corporate tax.

Tax income/(expense)

The details of tax (expense)/income for the years ended December 31, are as follows:

January 1- January 1-
Dec. 31, 2021 Dec. 31, 2020
Restated
Current corporate tax expense (32,059) (33,038)
Deferred tax income 141,452 258,831
Total tax income 109,393 225,793
December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
Restated
Profit/(loss) before tax 2,650,749 (178,323)
Local tax rate %25 %22
Tax (expense)/income calculated over tax rate (662,687) 39,231
Non-deductible expenses (51,852) (6,011)
Tax exemptions and exceptions (*) 163,331 13,585
Deferred tax on investment incentives 353,462 288,546
The effect of the shares in the profits/(loss)
of the investments accounted in equity method 223,841 (102,518)
Previous period tax expense (6,563) (11,603)
Temporary differences not subject to deferred tax income (11,964) 5,809
Current period losses not subject to deferred tax income (12,006) -
Effect of tax rate differences 56,282 (2,498)
Tax base increase (6,336) -
Revaluation deferred tax difference (**) 65,051 -
Other (1,166) 1,252
Total tax (expense)/income 109,393 225,793

 Discounts and exemptions consist of the Company's emission premium earnings, participation earnings and exceptions, discounts
and exemptions arising from cash capital increase.

) As of December 31, 2021, the company revalued its buildings within the scope of the legal legislation, and it is the deferred tax effect
that occurs after the legal valuation as the related fixed asset is accounted for as “investment property” at the end of the year with fair
value in the IFRS financial statements (December 31, 2020: None).



207

Akfen Holding Anonim Sirketi

(Allamounts are in thousand Turkish Liras ("TRY") unless otherwise specified.)

31. TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (cont'd)
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(Convenience translation of the independent auditors’report and consolidated financial statements originally issued in Turkish)

January 1- January 1-

Dec. 31, 2021 Dec. 31, 2020

Restated

Deferred tax income 141,452 258,831
Current period tax expense (32,059) (33,038)
Tax deductible 41,629 69,199
Current income tax assets, net 9,570 36,161

) As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, tax exemptions and exemptions are the effect of the Company's emission premium earnings,
participation earnings and exceptions, discounts and exemptions arising from cash capital increase.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes, except for the differences of non-tax deductible
goodwill, and assets and liabilities that are not accountable and taxable and are recognized for the first time.

As of December 31, 2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020 the Group's deferred tax assets are as follows:

December 31,2021 December 31, 2020 January 1, 2020
Restated Restated
Investment incentives 1,329,878 983,900 715,146
Accumulated losses 410,194 275,149 98,960
Service concession agreements (941,415) (447,409) (311,140)
Investment properties and fixed assets 11,287 (48,616) 21,730
Discount on debts 14,245 (33,969) (30,524)
Other (41,319) (50,335) (24,008)
Deferred tax assets, net 782,870 678,720 470,164
Deferred tax asset movements for the years ended at December 31, 2021 and 2020 are as follows:
2021 2020
Restated
Opening balance - previously reported (102,665) (36,902)
Merger effects (Note 3) 781,385 507,066
January 1 678,720 470,164
Recognized in the statement of profit or loss 141,452 258,831
Subsidiary sales impact (Note 3) 42,520 -
Recognized in the statement of profit or loss (79,822) (50,275)
December 31 782,870 678,720
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32. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

a) Trade receivables from related parties / Trade payables to related parties

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at and For the Year ended December 31, 2021
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As of December 31,2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020 the Group's short-term trade receivables from related parties are as

follows:
December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 January 1, 2020
Restated Restated
Akfen insaat Turizm ve Akfen Gayrimenkul Yatirim
Ortakhgr A.S. Adi Ortakligi (“Adi Ortaklik”) 13,438 16,784 20,303
Akfen Renewable 3,896 3,529 3,229
Kurtal Elektrik Uretim A.S. (“Kurtal”) - - 880
Other 2,662 1,208 363
19,996 21,521 24,775
As of December 31,2021,2020 and January 1, 2020 the Group's short-term trade payables to related parties are as fol-
lows:
December 31,2021 December 31, 2020 January 1, 2020
Restated Restated
Akfen Water 3,220 2,260 1,679
Akfen REIT 3,909 - -
MIP 1,892 - -
Company Founding Partner (*) - 882,016 1,126,781
IBS Insurance (**) - 10,640 4,151
Other 209 255 295
9,230 895,171 1,132,906

]t is the commercial debt amount resulting from the transfer of Akfen Holding shares to Akfen Infrastructure, details of which are

givenin Note 1. The related debt amount has been accounted for by discounting.

It is a subsidiary of the main partner of the Company and is the insurance services provider of the hospital. As of December 31, 2021,

itis not arelated party of the Company.

b) Other receivables fromrelated parties / Other payables to related parties

As of December 31, 2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020 the Group's long-term other receivables from related parties are as

follows:
December 31,2021 December 31, 2020 January 1, 2020
Restated Restated
Akfen Renewable (*) 328,998 233,559 199,399
Acacia Mine (¥) 298,208 369,217 123,573
izbir Mine 207,142 107,952 81,875
Hamdi Akin 199 - -
Akfen Water - 31,304 -
iDO - - 115,807
Other 608 571 5,215
835,155 742,603 525,869

1t consists of the amounts given by the Company in order to finance the working capital and ongoing investments of the companies
within the group and the Company calculates financial income for the related receivables at the same interest rates as the market

conditions.
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32. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (contd)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at and For the Year ended December 31, 2021
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As of December 31,2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020 the Group's short-term other payables to related parties related

parties are as follows:

December 31,2021 December 31, 2020 January 1, 2020

Restated Restated

Company Main Partner 25,465 - -
ilbak Madencilik San. Ve Tic. AS. 14,682 7,439 6,084
Company Founding Partner - 3,000 3,000
MIP - 1,313 813
Other 348 196 220
40,495 11,948 10,117

As of December 31,2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020 the Group's long-term other payables to related parties related par-

ties are as follows:

December 31,2021 December 31, 2020 January 1, 2020

Restated Restated

Akfen International BV (*) 542,532 290,675 229,083
MIP Other Partners 293,127 39,091 -
Company Founding Partner 193,103 46,193 85,972
MIP (**) 185,588 112,744 73,179
Firatcan Tourism 162,232 - -
Akfen Water 6,449 8,026 5,500
Company Main Partner - 54,022 4,814
TAV Investment (***) - - 23,188
Other 3,971 4,134 7,900
1,387,002 554,885 429,636

O]t belongs to the founding partner of the Company and the related balances consist of debts whose interest rates are operated under

market conditions.

(") The Company is the financial investment of the shareholder and is accounted at discounted amount since the aforesaid payable has

a certain maturity.

() These companies are joint ventures of the Company's partner and the related balances consist of debts with interest rates at mar-

ket conditions.
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The main transactions with related parties for the years ended December 31, are as follows:

(Convenience translation of the independent auditors’report and consolidated financial statements originally issued in Turkish)

January 1- January 1-

Dec. 31, 2021 Dec. 31, 2020

Restated

MIP Dividend income 151,962 8,211
Travelex Dividend income - 1,936
Acacia Interest income 89,516 18,676
Akfen Renewable Energy Interest income 51,452 27,247
izbir Mine Interest income h6,875 5,508
Other Interest income 767 1,372
MIP Rediscount interest income (Note 29) 105,183 30,007
Company founding partner Sales of convertible bonds - 215,718
Akfen Renewable Energy Other 341 2,878
Company founding partner Rediscount interest expense(*) (62,360) (5,951)
Akfen International Interest expense (11,150) -
Other Interest expense (60) (3,069)
Company founding partner Rent expense - (1,009)
Company main partner Rent expense (1,629) (1,442)
Akfen Water Other expense (14,272) -
Akfen REIT Loss on sales of company (Note 3) (45,071) -
Akfen REIT Loss on sales of company (Note 3) (74,707) -
Akfen International Right to preference sale loss (Note 3) (11,304) -

1t is the amount of the trade debt that arises as a result of the transfer of Akfen Holding shares to Akfen Infrastructure, details of
which are given in Note 1. Related debt amount has been accounted by discounting.

Benefits to senior executives

Total short-term benefits provided to senior managers for Akfen Holding and subsidiaries for the year ended on Decem-
ber 31,2021is TRY 21,708 (December 31,2020: TRY 14,030, January 1,2020: TRY 13,750).

33. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The Group's earnings per share for the years ended December 31,2021 and 2020 are as follows:

2021 2020
Net profit for the period belonging to
the shareholders of the parent company 2,767,361 44,365
Number of shares at the end of the period 700,000,000 667,180,686
Number of shares available during the period 671,766,398 667,180,686
Earnings per share (full TRY) 412 0.07
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34. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

i. Creditrisk
The credit risks exposed by types of financial instruments are as follows (TRY):
Receivable
Trade receivables Other receivables
Contract Financial
assets arising assets
from ongoing related to
Related Third | Related construction | Third concession Bank
December 31, 2021 Party Party Party and contracts Party agreements Deposits™
Maximum credit risk exposure as
of the reporting date ( A+B+C+D+E) 19,996 | 91,808 | 835,164 - 197,394 12,445,309 4,161,275

- Portion of the maximum risk that is
guaranteed with a collateral, etc, - - - -
A. Net book value of financial assets
that are not overdue or not impaired 19,996 | 91,808 | 835,164 - | 97,394 12,445,309 4,161,297

B. Book value of financial assets, the terms of
which are re-negotiated, and which will
otherwise be considered to be overdue or
impaired - - - - - - -

C. Net book value of assets that are
overdue but not impaired - - - - - - B
- Net book value of assets that are
overdue but not impaired - - - - -

D. Net book value of impaired assets - - - - - (22)
- Net book value of impaired assets - | 19,490 - - -
- Impairment (-) - 1(19,490) - - -
- Not overdue (gross book value) - 7,518 - - -
- Impairment (-) - | (7,518) - - - - (22)
E. Elements including off-balance-sheet
financing - - - - -
December 31, 2021 Receivable
Trade | Third

receiv. | receiv.
0-3 months overdue - -
3-12 months overdue - -
1-5 years overdue 19,489 -
1-5 years overdue - -
Total receivables overdue - -
Total provisions reserved - -
Portion guaranteed with a collateral, etc. - -

) As of December 31, 2021, investment funds in other cash and cash equivalents of Akfen Holding amounting to TRY 1,198,105 and other short-term and
long-term investment funds and deposits amounting to TRY 2,182,845 are included in the bank deposits.
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34.NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont'd)

i. Credit risk (cont'd)
Receivable
Trade receivables Other receivables
Contract Financial
assets arising assets
from ongoing related to
Related Third | Related construction | Third concession Bank
December 31, 2020 (Restated) Party | Party Party and contracts | Party agreements| Deposits®™
Maximum credit risk exposure as of the
reporting date ( A+B+C+D+E) 21,521 | 65,743 (742,776 - 168,009 7,375,570 2,596,148

- Portion of the maximum risk that is
guaranteed with a collateral, etc, - - - - - -
A. Net book value of financial assets that
are not overdue or not impaired 21,521 | 65,743 | 742,776 - | 68,009 7,375,570| 2,596,162
B. Book value of financial assets, the terms of
which are re-negotiated, and which will
otherwise be considered to be overdue or
impaired - - - - - - -
C. Net book value of assets that are
overdue but not impaired - - - - - - -
- Portion guaranteed with a collateral, etc. - - - - - - -
D. Net book value of impaired assets - - - - - - (14)

- Overdue (gross book value) -| 15,516 - - - - -
- Impairment (-) - 1(15,516) - - - - -
- Not overdue (gross book value) - 5,876 - - - - -
- Impairment (-) - | (5,876) - - - - (14)
E. Elements including off-balance-sheet
financing - - - - - - -
December 31, 2020 Receivable

Trade | Other
receiv. | receiv.
0-3 months overdue - -
3-12 months overdue -
1-5years overdue 15,516 -
1-5years overdue -
Total receivables overdue -
Total provisions reserved -
Portion guaranteed with a collateral, etc. -

() As of December 31, 2020, investment funds in other cash and cash equivalents of Akfen Holding amounting to TRY 717,019 and other short-term and
long-term investment funds and deposits amounting to TRY 970,261 are included in the bank deposits.
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34. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont'd)

i. Credit risk (cont'd)
Receivable
Trade receivables Other receivables
Contract Financial
assets arising assets
from ongoing related to
Related | Third Related construction Third concession Bank

January 1, 2020 Party Party Party andcontracts Party agreements Deposits® Other
Maximum credit risk exposure as of the
reporting date ( A+B+C+D+E) 24,775 63,796 525,974 783,743 99,687 4,783,977 2,624,085 226,533

- Portion of the maximum risk that

is guaranteed with a collateral, etc, - - - - - - -
A. Net book value of financial assets that are

not overdue or not impaired 24,775 63,796 @ 525,974 783,743 | 99,687 4,783,977 2,624,094 | 226,533
B. Book value of financial assets, the terms of

which are re-negotiated, and which will - - - - - - - -
otherwise be considered to be overdue or

impaired

C. Net book value of assets that are

overdue but not impaired - - - - - - - -
- Portion guaranteed with a collateral, etc. - - - - - - - -

D. Net book value of impaired assets - - - - - - ©) -
- Overdue (gross book value) -1 14,330 - - - - - -
- Impairment () -1(14,330) - - - - R R
- Not overdue (gross book value) - 3,600 - - - - - -
- Impairment (-) - (3,600) - - - - ) -
E. Elements including off-balance-sheet

financing - - - - - - - _
January 1, 2020 Receivable

Trade Third

receiv. receiv.
0-3 months overdue - -

3-12 months overdue - -
1-5years overdue 14,330 -
1-5 years overdue - -
Total receivables overdue - -
Total provisions reserved - -
Portion guaranteed with a collateral, etc. - -

(*) As of January 1, 2020, investment funds in other cash and cash equivalents of Akfen Holding amounting to TRY 966,222 and other short-term and
long-term investment funds and deposits amounting to TRY 539,531 are included in the bank deposits.

(**) As of January 1, 2020, shares issued by Akfen REIT, details of which are disclosed in Note 22, relate to the fair value of the convertible bond amoun-
ting to TRY 226,533.
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34. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont'd)

ii. Liquidity risk

(Convenience translation of the independent auditors’report and consolidated financial statements originally issued in Turkish)

Possession of financial instruments also involves the risk that the counterparty will fail to comply with the terms of the
agreement. The Group management meets these risks by limiting the average risk for the counterparty (excluding related
parties) in each agreement and by obtaining collaterals if necessary.

December 31, 2021 Total
contractual
cash Lessthan 3-12 1-5 Morethan
Carrying outflows 3 months months years years
Maturities under contract amount (1+11+1H1+1V+V) ) (m (1)) (v)
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Borrowings 13,698,830 (17,328,894) (717127)  (1,523,245) (8,200,990) (6,887,532)
Trade payables to third parties 141,272 (141,272) (141,272) - - -
Due to related parties 1,436,727 (1,707,921) (9,230) (40,495) (1,264,335) (393,861)
Other payables(*) 144,050 (144,050) (35,634) (72,041) (36,375) -
Total 15,420,879 (19,322,137) (903,263) (1,635,781) (9,501,700) (7,281,393)
December 31, 2020 Total
(Restated) contractual
cash Lessthan 3-12 1-5 Morethan
Carrying outflows 3 months months years years
Maturities under contract amount (1+11+1H1+1V+V) ) (m (D] ()
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Borrowings 8,949,582 (9,561,912) (402,443) (2,840,627) (2,939,982) (3,378,860)
Trade payables to third parties 192,475 (192,475) (192,475) - - -
Due to related parties 1,462,004 (1,570,722) (895,171) (11,948)  (465,410) (198,193)
Other payables(*) 164,051 (164,051) (55,911) (59,172) (48,968) -
Total 10,768,112 (11,489,160) (1,546,000) (2,911,747) (3,454,360) (3,577,053)
January 1, 2020 Total
(Restated) contractual
cash Lessthan 3-12 1-5 Morethan
Carrying outflows 3 months months years years
Maturities under contract amount  (I+l+l+IV+V) (1) (11) ((1D)] (1v)
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Borrowings 7,038,638 (8,601,879) (203,121) (658,827) (3,715,467) (4,024,464)
Trade payables to third parties 127,894 (127,894) (127,894) - - -
Due to related parties 1,572,659 (1,723,903)  (1,132,906) (10,117)  (420,495) (160,385)
Other payables(*) 114,855 (114,855) (53,084) (25,835) (35,936) -
Total 8,854,046 (10.568.531) (1,517,005) (694.779) (4,171,898) (4,184,849)

' Non-financial liabilities such as deposits and advances received are not included in other liabilities.
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34. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont'd)
iii. Interest risk

Interest raterisk arises fromthe possibility that changes ininterest rates will affect the financial statements. The interest
rate details of the Group's interest-bearing financial instruments at the reporting date are as follows:

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 January 1, 2020

Restated Restated
Fixed-Interest financial instruments (2.920.732) (1.013.193) (243.592)
Financial assets 728,695 861,790 1,187,708
Financial liabilities (3,649,427) (1,874,983) (1,431,300)
Floating-Interest financial instruments (6,668,451) (5,368,757) (3,352,794)
Financial assets 3,380,952 1,687,280 1,470,801
Contract assets arising from ongoing construction and contracts - - 783,743
Financial liabilities (10,049,403) (7,056,037) (5,607,338)

As of December 31,2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020, if interest rates increase by 1 basis point, the consolidated comp-
rehensive income statement would be affected as follows. While performing the analysis, it is assumed that all other
variables, chiefly the foreign exchange rates, remained fixed.

Interest Position Statement |

December 31,2021 December 31, 2020 January 1, 2020

Restated Restated
Interest Position Statement (29,207) (10,132) (2,436)
Financial assets fhsrsoejzgtpffc')%‘t’i'fl‘z . 7,287 8,618 11.877
Financial liabilities (36,494) (18,750) (14,313)
Floating-Interest Financial Instruments (66,684) (53,687) (33,528)
Financial assets 33,810 16,873 14,708
Contract assets arising from ongoing
construction and contracts - - 7,837
Financial liabilities (100,494) (70,560) (56,073)

Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument or future cash flows may fluctuate due to chan-
gesin market interest rates. Payables to related parties and interest rates on financial assets are fixed. The Group risk arising
from changes in market interest rates mainly arises from floating rate loans.

iv. Foreign currency risk

The balances of the Group's foreign currency transactions arising from operating and financial activities as of reporting date
are explained below. With respect to foreign currency denominated payables or creditors; In case of changes in the exchan-
ge rates of these currencies against Turkish Lira, they may be exposed to exchange rate risk. The aforesaid exchange rate risk
is limited by the continuous analysis and monitoring of the foreign exchange position.
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As of December 31,2021, assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are as follows:
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(Convenience translation of the independent auditors’report and consolidated financial statements originally issued in Turkish)

December 31, 2021

TRY Equivalent US Dollar Euro Other (*)
1. Trade receivables 3,000 53 152 -
2a. Monetary Financial Assets (including safe and bank accounts) 2,979,220 204,380 16,600 256
2b. Non-Monetary Financial Assets - - - -
3. Other 1,368,398 29,927 64,262 -
4. Current Assets (1+2+3) 4,350,618 234,360 81,014 256
5. Trade Receivables 641 30 16 -
6a. Monetary Financial Assets 1,159,130 86,963 - -
6b. Non-Monetary Financial Assets 3,632,486 272,525 - -
7. Other 11,588,761 275,219 524,990 -
8. Non-Current Assets (5+6+7) 16,381,018 634,737 525,006 -
9. Total Assets (4+8) 20,731,636 869,097 606,020 256
10. Trade Payables 32,115 209 1,608 278
11. Financial Liabilities 1,519,597 18,136 84,520 -
12a. Other Monetary Liabilities 308,322 21,407 1,487 -
12b. Other Non-Monetary Liabilities - - - -
13. Current Liabilities (10+11+12) 1,860,034 39,752 87,615 278
14. Trade Payables - - - -
15. Financial Liabilities 11,524,989 326,047 474,483 -
16a. Other Monetary Liabilities 1,276,455 75,233 17,988 -
16b. Other Non-Monetary Liabilities - - - -
17. Non-Current Liabilities (14+15+16) 12,801,444 401,280 492,471 -
18. Total Liabilities (13+17) 14,661,478 441,032 580,086 278
19. Net Foreign Currency Asset/(Liability) Position (9-18) 6,070,158 428,065 25,934 (22)
20. Monetary Items Net Foreign Currency Asset / (Liability)
Position (1+2a+5+6a-10-11-12a-14-15-16a) (10,519,487) (149,606) (563,318) (22)
21. Export - - - -
22. Import - - - -
() Assets and liabilities denominated in other currencies are stated in TRY.
As of December 31, 2021, the Company's currency risk analysis is as follows (TRY):

Exchange Rate Sensitivity Analysis Statement
December 31, 2021
Profit/Loss Equity

Appreciation of Depreciation of
foreign currency | foreign currency

Appreciation of
foreign currency

Depreciation of
foreign currency

In the event that

USD appreciates/depreciates by 20% against TRY

1- US Dollar net asset/liability 1,141,136 (1,141,136) - -
2- Portion hedged for USD (-) - R R N
3- USD Net Impact (1+2) 1,141,136 (1,141,136) - -

In the event that

EUR appreciates/depreciates by 20% against TRY

4- Net asset/liability in Euro 78,252 (78,252) - -
5- Portion hedged for EUR (-) - - - -
6- Euro Net Impact (4+5) 78,252 (78,252) - -

In the event that other foreign currencies appreciate/depreciate by 20% against TRY

7- Other foreign currency net asset/liability (79) 79 - -
8- Portion hedged for other foreign currency (-) - - - -
9- Other Foreign Currency Assets

Net Impact (7+8) (79) 79 - -
TOTAL (3+6+9) 1,219,309 (1,219,309) - -
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34. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont'd)

As of December 31,2020, assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are as follows:

December 31, 2020

Restated
TRY Equivalent US Dollar Euro Other (*)
1. Trade receivables 2,922 53 152 1,164
2a. Monetary Financial Assets (including safe and bank accounts) 2,161,121 266,699 22,564 163
2b. Non-Monetary Financial Assets - - - -
3. Other 585,420 34,712 36,703 -
4. Current Assets (1+2+3) 2,749,463 301,464 59,419 1,327
5. Trade Receivables - - - -
6a. Monetary Financial Assets 403,861 55,018 - -
6b. Non-Monetary Financial Assets 2,065,191 281,342 - -
7. Other 5,207,581 254,761 370,509 -
8. Non-Current Assets (5+6+7) 7,676,633 591,121 370,509 -
9. Total Assets (4+8) 10,426,096 892,585 429,928 1,327
10. Trade Payables 120,171 3,579 10,383 370
11. Financial Liabilities 2,474,562 252,036 69,327 -
12a. Other Monetary Liabilities 63,914 6,254 1,999 -
12b. Other Non-Monetary Liabilities - - - -
13. Current Liabilities (10+11+12) 2,658,647 261,869 81,709 370
14. Trade Payables - - - -
15. Financial Liabilities 5,597,808 108,248 533,222 -
16a. Other Monetary Liabilities 679,166 47,440 36,738 -
16b. Other Non-Monetary Liabilities - - - -
17. Non-Current Liabilities (14+15+16) 6,276,974 155,688 569,960 -
18. Total Liabilities (13+17) 8,935,621 417,557 651,669 370
19. Net Foreign Currency Asset/(Liability) Position (9-18) 1,490,475 475,028 (221,741) 957
20. Monetary Items Net Foreign Currency Asset / (Liability)
Position (1+2a+5+6a-10-11-12a-14-15-16a) (6,367,717) (95,787) (628,953) 957
21. Export - - - -
22. Import - - - -
() Assets and liabilities denominated in other currencies are stated in TRY.
As of December 31,2020, the Company's currency risk analysis is as follows (TRY) :
Exchange Rate Sensitivity Analysis Statement
December 31, 2020
Restated
Profit/Loss Profit/Loss
Appreciation of Depreciation of Appreciation of | Depreciation of

foreign currency

foreign currency

foreign currency

foreign currency

In the event that USD appreciates/depreciates by 20% again

st TRY

1- US Dollar net asset/liability 697,257 (697,257) -

2- Portion hedged for USD (-) - - -

3- USD Net Impact (1+2) 697,257 (697,257) - -
In the event that EUR appreciates/depreciates by 20% against TRY

4- Net asset/liability in Euro (399,355) 399,355 - -

5- Portion hedged for EUR (-) - - - -

6- Euro Net Impact (4+5) (399,355) 399,355 - -

In the event that other foreign currencies appreciate/depreciate by 2

0% against TRY

7- Other foreign currency net asset/liability 191 (191) - -
8- Portion hedged for other foreign currency (-) - - - -
9- Other Foreign Currency Assets Net Impact (7+8) 191 (191) - -
TOTAL (3+6+9) 298,093 (298,093) - -
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34. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont'd)

As of January 1,2020, assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are as follows:

January 1, 2020
Restated

TRY Equivalent Us Dollar Euro Other (*)
1. Trade receivables 2,922 53 152 1,164
2a. Monetary Financial Assets (including safe and bank accounts) 2,161,121 266,699 22,564 163
2b. Non-Monetary Financial Assets - - - -
3. Other 585,420 34,712 36,703 -
4. Current Assets (1+2+3) 2,749,463 301,464 59,419 1,327
5. Trade Receivables - - - -
6a. Monetary Financial Assets 403,861 55,018 - -
6b. Non-Monetary Financial Assets 2,065,191 281,342 - -
7. Other 5,207,581 254,761 370,509 -
8. Non-Current Assets (5+6+7) 7,676,633 591,121 370,509 -
9. Total Assets (4+8) 10,426,096 892,585 429,928 1,327
10. Trade Payables 120,171 3,579 10,383 370
11. Financial Liabilities 2,474,562 252,036 69,327 -
12a. Other Monetary Liabilities 63,914 6,254 1,999 -
12b. Other Non-Monetary Liabilities - - - -
13. Current Liabilities (10+11+12) 2,658,647 261,869 81,709 370
14.Trade Payables - - - -
15. Financial Liabilities 5,597,808 108,248 533,222 -
16a. Other Monetary Liabilities 679,166 47,440 36,738 -
16b. Other Non-Monetary Liabilities - - - -
17. Non-Current Liabilities (14+15+16) 6,276,974 155,688 569,960 -
18. Total Liabilities (13+17) 8,935,621 417,557 651,669 370
19. Net Foreign Currency Asset/(Liability) Position (9-18) 1,490,475 475,028 (221,741) 957
20. Monetary Items Net Foreign Currency Asset / (Liability)
Position (1+2a+5+6a-10-11-12a-14-15-16a) (6,367,717) (95,787) (628,953) 957
21. Export - - - -
22. Import - - - -
(1 Assets and liabilities denominated in other currencies are stated in TRY.
As of January 1,2020, the Company's currency risk analysis is as follows (TRY):

Exchange Rate Sensitivity Analysis Statement
January 1, 2020
Restated
Profit/Loss Profit/Loss

Appreciation of
foreign currency

Depreciation of
foreign currency

Depreciation of
foreign currency

Appreciation of
foreign currency

In the event that USD appreciates/depreciates by 20% against TRY

1- US Dollar net asset/liability 697,389 (697,389) -

2- Portion hedged for USD (-) - - -

3- USD Net Impact (1+2) 697,389 (697,389) - -
In the event that EUR appreciates/depreciates by 20% against TRY

4- Net asset/liability in Euro (399,484) 399,484 -

5- Portion hedged for EUR (-) - - -

6- Euro Net Impact (4+5) (399,484) 399,484 - -

In the event that other foreign currencies apprec

iate/depreciate by 20% against TRY

7- Other foreign currency net asset/liability 191 (197) -

8- Portion hedged for other foreign currency (-) - -

9- Other Foreign Currency Assets

Net Impact (7+8) 191 (191) - -
TOTAL (3+6+9) 298,096 (298,096) - -
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34. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont'd)

v. Capital Risk Management

The Group's objectives in capital management are;

(Convenience translation of the independent auditors’report and consolidated financial statements originally issued in Turkish)

» To be able to provide returns to partners and benefit to other shareholders by ensuring the continuity of their activities

» To increase profitability by pricing services in accordance with the risk level..

The Group determines the amount of capital in proportion to the risk level. The Company regulates the structure of sha-

reholders' equity according to economic conditions and risk characteristics of assets.

The Group monitors capital management by using the debt / equity ratio. This ratio is calculated by dividing net debt by
total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (total of short-term and long-term liabilities stated in the conso-
lidated statement of financial position) less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is the sum of the equity stated in the

consolidated financial statements.

As of December 31,2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020, the ratio of total capital to net liabilities is as follows:

December 31, December 31, January 1,

2021 2020 2020

Restated Restated

Total financial liability 13,698,830 8,949,582 7,038,638
Less: cash and cash equivalents (*) (4,162,769) (2,597,140) (2,624,889)
Net debt 9,536,061 6,352,442 4,413,749
Equity 13,168,525 6,643,916 5,041,489
Net financial debt / equity ratio 0.72 0.96 0.88

' Cash and bank deposits as of December 31, 2021; short-term and long-term financial investments of the Group amounting to TRY
2,182,845, excluding cash and cash equivalents, in the form of deposits and investment funds (December 31, 2020: TRY 970,261, January

1,2020: TRY539,531).
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34. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont'd)

Fair value disclosures

Fair value is defined as the price to be obtained from the sale of an asset or to be paid in the transfer of a debt in the
usual transaction between market participants on the measurement date.

Financial instruments

The Group has determined the estimated fair values of financial instruments using current market information and ap-
propriate valuation methods. However, evaluating market information and estimating fair values requires interpretation
and judgement. As aresult, the estimations presented here cannot be an indication of the amounts that the Group can
obtainin a current market transaction.

The following methods and assumptions are used to estimate the fair values of financial instruments that are practically
possible to estimate fair values:

Financial assets

Since they are short term cash assets, the registered values of cash and cash equivalents are assumed to be close to
their fair values.

As their commercial receivables are short term, their recorded values are expected to reflect the fair value.

Since service concession agreements are a guaranteed income in the contract with the Ministry of Health, it accounts for
the amount calculated based on the construction model, based on the service concession agreement, as a financial asset.

It is foreseen that the fair values of the foreign currency balances, which are converted at the end of the period, are close
to their registered values.

Financial liabilities

Due to the fact that commercial debts and other monetary liabilities are short-term, their fair value is thought to approa-
chthe value they carry.

Bank loans are expressed in amortized cost values and transaction costs are added to the initial cost of the loans. Since
the Group's floating rate bank loans have been repriced recently, their fair values are considered to represent the value
they bear.

Financial Instrument classifications and fair values

Fair value

difference

Fair value reflected in other
difference  comprehensive

Amortized reflected to income and Book Fair
December 31, 2021 cost profit/loss expense value value Note
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1,979,924 - - 1,979,924 1,979,924 5
Trade receivables from third parties 91,808 - - 91,808 91,808 7
Trade receivables from related parties 19,996 - - 19,996 19,996 7-32
Other receivables from third parties 97,394 - - 97,394 97,394 8
Other receivables from related parties 835,164 - - 835,164 835,164 8-32
Financial assets related to
concession agreements - 12,445,309 - 12,445,309 12,445,309 10
Financial investments whose fair value
difference is reflected in profit / loss - 2,182,845 - 2,182,845 2,182,845 22
Financial investments whose fair value difference
is reflected in other comprehensive income - - 3,723,028 3,723,028 3,723,028 -
Financial liabilities
Financial borrowings 13,698,830 - - 13,698,830 13,698,830 6
Trade payables to third parties 141,272 - - 141,272 141,272 7
Trade payables to related parties 9,230 - - 9,230 9230 7-32
Other payables to third parties 41,359 - - 41,359 41,359 8

Other payables to related parties 1,427,497 - - 1,427,497 1,427,497 8-32
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34. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont'd)

Fair value

difference

Fair value reflected in other
difference  comprehensive

Amortized reflected to income and Book Fair
December 31, 2020 (Restated) cost profit / loss expense value value Note
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents® 1,626,879 - - 1,626,879 1,626,879 5
Trade receivables from
third parties 65,743 - - 65,743 65,743 7
Trade receivables from related parties 21,521 - - 21,521 21,521  7-32
Other receivables from third parties 68,009 - - 68,009 68,009 8
Other receivables from related parties 742,776 - - 742,776 742,776  8-32
Financial assets related to
concession agreements - 7,375,570 - 7,375,570 7,375,570 10
Financial investments whose fair value
difference is reflected in profit / loss - 970,261 - 970,261 970,261 22
Financial investments whose fair value difference
is reflected in other comprehensive income - - 2123935 2,123,935 2,123,935 -
Financial liabilities
Financial borrowings 8,949,582 - - 8,949,582 8,949,582 6
Trade payables to third parties 192,475 - - 192,475 192,475 7
Trade payables to related parties 895,171 - - 895,171 895171 7-32
Other payables to third parties 44,879 - - 44,879 44,879 8
Other payables to related parties 566,833 - - 566,833 566,833 8-32

) As of December 31, 2021, the cash and cash equivalents include short-term and long-term financial investments amounting to TRY
2,125,502 (December 31, 2020: TRY 970,261, January 1, 2020: TRY 539,531).

Fair value

difference

Fair value reflected in other
difference  comprehensive

Amortized reflected to income and Book Fair
January 1, 2020 (Restated) cost profit / loss expense value value Note
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 2,085,358 - - 2,085,358 2,085,358 5
Trade receivables from third parties 63,796 - - 63,796 63,796 7
Trade receivables from related parties 24,775 - - 24,775 24,775 7-32
Other receivables from third parties 99,687 - - 99,687 99,687 8
Other receivables from related parties 525,974 - - 525,974 525,974 8-32
Receivables from service concession
agreements / Financial assets related
to concession agreements 783,743 4,783,977 - 5,567,720 5,567,720 10
Financial investments whose fair value
difference is reflected in profit / loss - 539,531 - 539,531 539,531 22
Financial assets at amortized cost 226,533 - - 226,533 226,533 22
Financial investments whose fair value difference
is reflected in other comprehensive income - - 1,668,211 1,668,211 1,668,211 22
Financial liabilities
Financial borrowings 7,038,638 - - 7038,638 7,038,638 6
Trade payables to third parties 127,894 - - 127,894 127,894 7
Trade payables to related parties 1,132,906 - - 1132,906 1,132,906 7-32
Other payables to third parties 56,520 - - 56,520 56,520 8

Other payables to related parties 439,753 - 439,753 439,753 8-32
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34. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont'd)

(Convenience translation of the independent auditors’report and consolidated financial statements originally issued in Turkish)

As of December 31, 2021, 2020 and January 1, 2020 the fair value classifications of financial assets and financial

liabilities measured at fair value are as follows:

December 31, 2021 Fair Value Level
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
TRY TRY TRY
Short term financial investments
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Note 22) 1,023,720 - -
Long term financial investments
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Note 22) 1,159,125 - -
Other financial investments (Note 22) - - 3,723,028
Interest rate swap transactions (Note 12) - (280,559) -
Receivables from service concession agreements/Financial
assets related to concession agreements (Note 10) - - 12,445,309
December 31, 2020 (Restated) Fair Value Level
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
TRY TRY TRY
Short term financial investments
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Note 22) 474,591 - -
Long term financial investments
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Note 22) 495,670 - -
Other financial investments (Note 22) - - 2,123,935
Interest rate swap transactions (Note 12) - (266,190) -
Receivables from service concession agreements/Financial
assets related to concession agreements (Note 10) - - 7,375,570
January 1, 2020 (Restated) Fair Value Level
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
TRY TRY TRY
Short term financial investments
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Note 22) 19,638 -
Long term financial investments
Financial assets at amortized cost (Note 22) 226,533 -
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 519,893 -
Other financial investments (Note 22) - - 1,668,211
Interest rate swap transactions (Note 12) - (141,290)

The fair value of assets and liabilities is determined as follows:

- Level 1: Valued at the quoted market prices for active assets and liabilities

- Level 2: Appraised from inputs used to find the directly or indirectly observable price in the market other
than the market price stated in the first level of the related asset or liability.

- Level 3: Valued at inputs that are not based on observable market data used to determine the fair value of
the asset or liability.
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34. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont'd)

Discounted Cash Flows

Under the discounted cash flows method, the fair value of an asset is estimated using the net assumptions about the ow-
nership benefits and liabilities over the life of the asset, including the output and the final value. This estimation includes
estimating a series of cash flows and a corresponding, market-based discount rate is applied to generate the present
value of the revenue stream.

The duration of cash flow and specific timing of the inflows and outflows are determined by the review of rents, renewal of
lease agreements and related lease periods, leasing, redevelopment and renewal.

Cost incurred during the development of the asset and construction costs, development costs and expected sales reve-
nue are estimated to reach a set of cash flows that are reduced through additional development and marketing expenses
throughout the lease. Certain development risks, such as planning, permits and development permits must be assessed
separately.

Level 3 sensitivity analysis of significant changes in unobservable inputs used in fair value calculations
As of December 31,2021 and 2020, the sensitivity analysis of the important assumptions used in the fair value calculation
of the financial asset regarding the concession agreements are as follows:

December 31, 2021
Sensitivity level
Fair value change

Discount rate change®
1% decrease
890,790

1% increase
(795,874)

Restated

December 31, 2020
Sensitivity level
Fair value change

Discount rate change®
1% decrease
534,761

1% increase
(479,973)

Ot refers to the change in the discount rate expectations of the model used in determining the fair value of the years in the first 10
years of the contract period.

The fair value of MIP, which is recognized as a financial investment in the financial statements of the Group, has been eva-
luated within the scope of TFRS 9 standard as of December 31,2021 and 2020, and the change in the value of the financial
investment has been recognized in the other comprehensive income or expense statement in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. The fair value of MIP, which is recognized as a financial investment in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group, has been calculated using the the market approach method as of December 31, 2021 and 2020.
While applying the market approach method, the Interest Amortization and Pre-Tax Profit (EBITDA) multiplier technique
was used. The market approach used in fair value measurement ideally reflects fair value in current conditions.

Sensitivity analysis of the financial investment in question for unobservable inputs used in the measurement of fair values
is as follows:

ifincreases if decreases

Profit/(Loss) Profit/(Loss)

effect of fair effect of fair

December 31, 2021 Sensitivity analysis value (TRY) value (TRY)
Long term financial investments

Discount rate 0.50% 131,021 (131,021)

if increases if decreases

Profit/(Loss) Profit/(Loss)

effect of fair effect of fair

December 31, 2020 Sensitivity analysis value (TRY) value (TRY)
Long term financial investments

Discount rate 0.50% 72,210 (72,210)
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(Convenience translation of the independent auditors’report and consolidated financial statements originally issued in Turkish)

As of December 31,2021,2020 and January 1, 2020, information on the Group's major subsidiaries in which non-controlling

interests are as follows:

Dec. 31, 2021

Hacettepe Clinic® Akfen Merter Isparta City Hospital Total

Total assets 285,657 73,238 4,115,175 4,474,070

Total liabilities 360,117 22,673 2,706,443 3,089,233

Equity (74,460) 50,565 1,408,731 1,384,836

Profit/(loss) for the period (14,352) (1,657) 662,814 646,805
Non-controlling interest ratio 0.5500 0.0848 0.0012

Equity - Non-controlling interest (40,953) 4,288 1,795 (34,870)

Profit/(loss) for the period - Non-controlling interest (7,894) 141) 814 (7,221)

Dec. 31, 2020

Restated

Hacettepe Clinic® Akfen Merter Isparta City Hospital Total

Total assets 169,989 73,934 2,485,078 2,729,001

Total liabilities 230,096 21,716 1,739,158 1,990,970

Equity (60,108) 52,220 745,920 738,032

Profit/(loss) for the period 5,805 (1,828) 25,116 29,093
Non-controlling interest ratio 0.5500 0.5308 0.0012

Equity - Non-controlling interest (33,059) 27,718 981 (4,360)

Profit/(loss) for the period -

Non-controlling interest 3,193 (970) 30 2,253

January 1, 2020

Restated

Hacettepe Clinic® Akfen Merter Isparta City Hospital Total

Total assets 126,067 75,275 2,192,076 2,393,418

Total liabilities 191,980 21,019 1,471,274 1,684,273

Equity (65,913) 54,256 720,802 709,145

(Loss)/profit for the period (23,850) (1,641) 328,627 303,136
Non-controlling interest ratio 0.5500 0.5308 0.0012

Equity - Non-controlling interest (36,252) 28,799 840 (6,613)

(Loss)/profit for the period -
Non-controlling interest (13,118) (871) 404 (13,585)

 Information about the companies that do not have a controlling interest in Akfen Holding and Akfen Construction.
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36. FEES FOR SERVICES RECEIVED FROM INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The explanation of the Group regarding the fees for the services rendered by the independent audit firms, which is pre-
pared by the KGK pursuant to the Board Decision published in the Official Gazette on March 30, 2021, and the preparation
principles of which are based on the letter of the KGK dated August 19, 2021 are as follows:

January 1,- January 1,-

December 31, December 31,

2021 2020

Independent audit fee for the reporting period 3,509,215 1,986,293
Fees for tax services 644,115 488,618
Fee for other assurance services 167,497 233,369
4,320,827 2,708,280

37. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Group management monitors the developments regarding the events that started between Russia and Ukraine at the
end of February 2022 and continues to evaluate the possible effects of this situation on the Group's activities and financial
situation. Akfen REIT, which is accounted as the Group's investments accounted using the equity method, the operations
of its hotels in Russia continue, and its tenants in the Samara Office building in Russia also continue their activities.
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Abbreviations

Acacia Mining / Acacia Mine

Acacia Mining Operations Inc.

Accor

ACCORS.A.

Adana ipekyolu

Adana ipekyolu Energy

Akfen Consulting

Akfen Consulting and Project Development Inc.

Akfen Construction

Akfen Construction, Tourism and Trade Co.

Akfen Energy Generation

Akfen Enerji Generation and Trade Co. Inc.

Akfen Holding / Akfen Group

Akfen Holding Anonim Sirketi

Akfen International

Akfen International Holding BV

Akfen REIT Akfen Real Estate Investment Trust Inc.

Akfen Thermal Akfen Thermal Energy Investment

Akfen Water Akfen Environment & Water Investment, Construction, Operation Co.
Akfen Solar Akfen Solar Energy Inv. and Trade Co.

Akfen Merter Akfen Merter Real Estate, Tourism and Construction

Akfen Wind Akfen Wind Energy and Trading Co.

Akfen Water Dilovasi

Akfensu Arbiogaz Dilovasi Waste Water Treatment Facilities
Construction and Operation Co.

Akfen Water Gulluk

Akfen Gullik Environment and Water Investment Construction &
Operation Co.

Akfen Tourism

Akfen Tourism Investment Management Co. Inc.

Akfen Renewable Energy

Akfen Renewable Energy Co.

Akinisi / Akinisi Makine

Akinisi Machinery Industry and Trade Co. Inc.

Aquila

Aquila Capital Wasserkraft Invest GmbH ve Aquila
HydropowerINVEST Investitions GmbH & Co. KG

Ayri Real Estate

Ayri Real Estate Investment

BISS Defense

BISS Defense Industry Co.

BiZ Mining BiZ Mining Co. (Formerly: BISS Defense)

CAGR Annual Compound Growth Rate

DEIK Foreign Economic Relations Board

EBITDA Earning Before Income Tax Depreciation and Amortization
EBRD European Bank for Reconstruction and Development
EMH East Mediterrenean Hub

ENR Engineering News Record

EPDK Energy Market Regulatory Autority

E-RTG Electric Rubber-tyred Gantry Crane

Eskisehir City Hospital

Eskisehir City Hospital Investment Co.

Firatcan Tourism

Firatcan ins. Turizm Tic. A.S.

GDP Gross Domestic Product

GWh Giga Watt hour

Hacettepe Technokent Hacettepe Teknokent Egitim ve Klinik Arastirma Merkezi
Saglik AR-GE Danismanlik Proje Sanayi ve Ticaret A.S.

HEPP Hydro Electric Power Plant

IBS /IBS Insurance IBS Insurance and Reinsurance Brokerage-UIB Turkey

ICSG International Copper Study Group

IFC International Finance Corporation
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iDO

istanbul Sea Buses

Isparta Sehir Hastanesi

Isparta City Hospital Investment Co.

izbir Mine

izbir Mining Co.

Karine Karine Solar Power
KYK/ CDI Institution of Student Loans and Dormitories
KAP Public Disclosure Platform

MDO/Marmara Sea Buses

Marmara Investment and Management Inc.

MTA Mineral Research and Exploration General Directorate
Masanda Tourism Masanda Tourism Investment Inc.

Mersin CNGPP Mersin Combined Cycle Natural Gas Power Plant

MIP Mersin International Port

Ministry of Environment

Republic of Turkiye Ministry of Environment, Urbanization and
Climate Change

MW Mega Watt

Olz Organised Industrial Zone

Pak Pak Energy

PSA PSA International PTE Ltd.

SPP Solar Power Plant

Tamaris Tamaris Tourism Co.

TAR Tepe Akfen Reformer

TAV Airports TAV Airports Holding Co.

TAV Construction TAV Tepe-Akfen Investment, Construction & Operations
TAV Investment TAV Investment Holding Co.

TAYCED All Types of Waste and Environmental Management Association
T.C. Republic of Turkiye

TEIAS Turkish Electricity Transmission Corporation
Tekirdag City Hospital Tekirdag City Hospital Investment Co.

Tepe Tepe Construction

TEU Twenty Feet Equivalent Unit

TRNC Turkish Republic of Northern Cyprus

TSKB Industrial Development Bank of Turkey

TTK 6102 Turkish Commercial Code

TurkStat Turkish Statistical Institute

Turklim Port Operators Association of Turkey

uiB United Insurance Brokers

WEPP Wind Energy Power Plant

YEKDEM / FIT Support mechanism for renewable energy resource

Zeki Group

Zeki Group Construction
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